

(REFERENCE COPY - Not for submission)

# Assignments

Lead File Number: 0000145329 | Submit Date: 05/13/2021 | Lead Call Sign: WAOW | FRN: 0024972283

Service: Full Service Television Purpose: Assignment of Authorization Status: Submitted Status Date: 05/13/2021

Filing Status: Active

# General Information

Section	Question	Response
Attachments	Are attachments (other than associated schedules) being filed with this application?	Yes

# Fees, Waivers, and Exemptions

Section	Question	Response
Fees	Is the applicant exempt from FCC application Fees?	No
	Indicate reason for fee exemption:	
Waivers	Does this filing request a waiver of the Commission's rule(s)?	Yes
	Total number of rule sections involved in this waiver request:	1

Application Type	Call Sign	Facility ID	Fee Code	Fee Amount
Assignment of Authorization	WAOW	64546	MPT	\$1,110.00
	WMOW	81503	MPT	\$1,110.00
			Total	\$2,220.00

# Assignments Type

Question	Response
Is this application a pro forma Assignment of Authorization?	No
By answering "Yes" the Applicant certifies that the use of short form pro forma application is appropriate for this transaction?	
Is the Assignment Voluntary or Involuntary:	

# Authorizations to be Assigned

#### **Selected Call Signs**

Call Sign	Facility ID	File Number	Service	City, State
WAOW	64546	0000145329	DTV	WAUSAU, WI
WMOW	81503	0000145330	DTV	CRANDON, WI

# Assignment Questions

Question	Response
Were any of the authorizations that are the subject of this application obtained through the Commission's competitive bidding procedures (see 47 C.F.R. Sections 1.2111(a) and 73.5000)?	No
Were any of the authorizations that are the subject of this application obtained through the Commission's point system for reserved channel noncommercial educational stations (see 47 C.F.R. Sections 73.7001 and 73.7003)?	No

Have all such stations operated for at least 4 years with a minimum operating schedule since grant pursuant to the point system?	
Were any of the authorizations that are the subject of this application obtained after award of a dispositive Section 307(b) preference using the Tribal Priority, through Threshold Qualifications procedures, or through the Tribal Priority as applied before the NCE fair distribution analysis set forth in 47 C.F.R. § 73.7002(b)?	No
Have all such stations operated for at least 4 years with a minimum operating schedule since grant?	
Do both the assignor and assignee qualify for the Tribal Priority in all respects?	
LPFM Licenses Only: Has it been at least 18 months since the initial construction permit for the LPFM station was granted?	
LPFM Licenses Only: Does the assignment of the LPFM authorization satisfy the consideration restrictions of 47 CFR Section 73.865(a)(1)?	
LPFM Licenses Only: Were any of the LPFM authorizations that are subject to this application obtained through the Commission's point system for low power FM stations (see 47 CFR Section 73.872)?	
If yes to question above, have all such LPFM stations operated for at least four years since grant pursuant to the point system?" (options – Y/N. If Yes, nothing further required. No requires attachment as follows) "If no to new sub question, list pertinent authorizations in an Exhibit and include in the Exhibit a showing that the transaction is consistent with the requirements of 47 CFR Section 73.865(a)(3).	

# Assignor Information

# **Assignor Name, Type, and Contact Information**

Assignor	Туре	Address	Phone	Email	FRN
WAOW-WYOW LICENSE, LLC Doing Business As: WAOW-WYOW LICENSE, LLC	Limited Liability Company	WAOW-WYOW TELEVISION, INC. P.O. BOX 909 QUINCY, IL 62306 United States	+1 (217) 223-5100	bdreasler@quincymedia. com	0024972283

# Assignor Contact Representatives (1)

Contact Name	Address	Phone	Email	Contact Type
Elizabeth E. Spainhour	150 Fayetteville Street	+1 (919) 839- 0300	espainhour@brookspierce. com	Legal Representative
Brooks, Pierce et al.	Suite 1700 Raleigh, NC 27601 United States			·

# Assignor Legal Certifications

Section	Question	Response
Agreements for Sale /Transfer of Station	Assignor certifies that:  (i) it has placed in Assignor's public inspection file(s) and submitted to the Commission as an Exhibit to this application copies of all agreements for the assignment /transfer of the station(s);  (ii) these documents embody the complete and final understanding between Assignor and Assignee; and (iii) these agreements comply fully with the Commission's rules and policies	No
	If the transaction is involuntary, the Assignor certifies that court orders or other authorizing documents have been issued and that it has placed in the licensee's/permittee's public inspection file(s) and submitted to the Commission copies of such court orders or other authorizing documents.	

Other Authorizations	Please upload an attachment detailing the call signs, locations, and facility identifiers of all other broadcast stations in which assignor or any party to the application has an attributable interest.	
Character Issues	Assignor certifies that neither licensee/permittee nor any party to the application has or has had any interest in, or connection with:  (a) any broadcast application in any proceeding where character issues were left unresolved or were resolved adversely against the applicant or any party to the application or  (b) any pending broadcast application in which character issues have been raised	Yes
Adverse Findings	Assignor certifies that, with respect to the Assignor and each party to the application, no adverse finding has been made, nor has an adverse final action been taken by any court or administrative body in a civil or criminal proceeding brought under the provisions of any law related to any of the following: any felony; mass media-related antitrust or unfair competition; fraudulent statements to another governmental unit; or discrimination.	Yes
Local Public Notice	Assignor certifies that it has or will comply with the public notice requirements of 47 C.F.R. Section 73.3580.	Yes
Auction Authorization	Assignor certifies that more than five years have passed since the issuance of the construction permit for the station being assigned, where that permit was acquired in an auction through the use of a bidding credit or other special measure.	N/A
Anti-Discrimination Certification	Assignor certifies that neither licensee/permittee nor any party to the application have violated the Commission's prohibition against discrimination on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin or sex in the sale of commercially operated AM, FM, TV, Class A TV or international broadcast stations.	Yes

# Assignee Information

# **Assignee Name, Type, and Contact Information**

Assignee	Туре	Address	Phone	Email	FRN
Wausau TV License Company, LLC	Limited Liability Company	Jeffrey W. Mayes 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067 United States	+1 (310) 277- 3500	JeffreyM@es. tv	0030884985

Section	Question	Response	File Number
Radio Station Applicants Only	If the station(s) being assigned is noncommercial educational or LPFM, the Assignee certifies that the Commission had previously granted a broadcast application, identified here by file number, that found this Assignee qualified as a noncommercial educational entity with a qualifying educational program, and that the Assignee will use the station(s) to advance a program similar to that the Commission has found qualifying in the Assignee's previous application.	N/A	

#### Assignee Contact Representatives (1)

Contact Name	Address	Phone	Email	Contact Type
Robert L. Hoegle  Attorney	101 Constitution Avenue, NW	+1 (202) 689- 2816	bob. hoegle@nelsonmullins.	Legal Representative
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP	Suite 900 Washington, DC 20001 United States		com	·

# Changes in Interest (0)

Party Name Citizenship Address Phone Email Interest Before Assignment Interest After Assignment

Empty

#### Changes in Interest Certification

 Question
 Response

 Applicant certifies that equity and financial interests not set forth by the assignee are nonattributable.

# Parties to the Application (0)

Party Name Citizenship Address Phone Email Positional Interest

Empty

# Parties to the Application Certification

 Question
 Response

 Applicant certifies that equity and financial interests not set forth by the assignee are nonattributable.
 Yes

# Assignee Legal Certifications

Section	Question	Response
Agreements for Sale	Assignee certifies that:  (a) the written agreements in the Assignee's public inspection file and submitted to the Commission embody the complete and final agreement for the sale or transfer of the station(s); and  (b) these agreements comply fully with the Commission's rules and policies.	No
Other Authorizations	Please upload an attachment detailing the call signs, locations, and facility identifiers of all other broadcast stations in which Assignee or any party to the application has an attributable interest.	
Multiple Ownership	Is the assignee or any party to the application the holder of an attributable radio or television joint sales agreement or an attributable radio or television time brokerage agreement with the station(s) subject to this application or with any other station in the same market as the station(s) subject to this application?	No
	Assignee certifies that the proposed assignment complies with the Commission's multiple ownership rules and cross-ownership rules.	No

	Assignee certifies that the proposed assignment:  (1) does not present an issue under the Commission's policies relating to media interests of immediate family members;  (2) complies with the Commission's policies relating to future ownership interests; and  (3) complies with the Commission's restrictions relating to the insulation and nonparticipation of non-party investors and creditors.	Yes
	Does the Assignee claim status as an "eligible entity," that is, an entity that qualifies as a small business under the Small Business Administration's size standards for its industry grouping (as set forth in 13 C.F.R. § 121-201), and holds  (1) 30 percent or more of the stock or partnership interests and more than 50 percent of the voting power of the corporation or partnership that will own the media outlet; or  (2) 15 percent or more of the stock or partnership interests and more than 50 percent of the voting power of the corporation or partnership that will own the media outlet, provided that no other person or entity owns or controls more than 25 percent of the outstanding stock or partnership interests; or  (3) More than 50 percent of the voting power of the corporation that will own the media outlet (if such corporation is a publicly traded company)?	No
	Does this assignment include a grandfathered cluster of stations?	No
	Applicant certifies that it will come in compliance by divesting the necessary station(s) within 12 months of the consummation of this transaction to:	
	A) An Eligible Entity (as defined in Item 6d, above).	
	B) An Irrevocable Trust that will assign the station(s) to an Eligible Entity.	
	NCE Diversity of Ownership Points. Does the assignee or any party to the application have an attributable interest in an NCE FM or NCE TV station received through the award of "diversity of ownership" points in the point system analysis?	No
	If 'Yes,' the assignee certifies that (1) its attributable NCE FM or NCE TV station has been on the air for at least four years; and/or (2) none of the proposed assigned stations overlap the principal community contour of the NCE FM or NCE TV station received through the award of diversity points in the point system analysis (see 47 CFR Section 73.7005(c)).	
Acquisition of Control	Please upload an attachment listing the file number and date of grant of FCC Form 301, 314, or 315 application by which the Commission approved the qualifications of the individual or entity with a pre-existing interest in the licensee/permittee that is now acquiring control of the licensee/permittee as a result of the grant of this application.	

Character Issues	Assignee certifies that neither assignee nor any party to the application has or has had any interest in, or connection with:  (a) any broadcast application in any proceeding where character issues were left unresolved or were resolved adversely against the applicant or any party to the application; or  (b) any pending broadcast application in which character	Yes
	issues have been raised.	
Adverse Findings	Assignee certifies that, with respect to the assignee and each party to the application, no adverse finding has been made, nor has an adverse final action been taken by any court or administrative body in a civil or criminal proceeding brought under the provisions of any law related to any of the following: any felony; mass media-related antitrust or unfair competition; fraudulent statements to another governmental unit; or discrimination.	Yes
Financial Qualifications	Assignee certifies that sufficient net liquid assets are on hand or are available from committed sources to consummate the transaction and operate the station(s) for three months.	Yes
Program Service Certification	Assignee certifies that it is cognizant of and will comply with its obligations as a Commission licensee to present a program service responsive to the issues of public concern facing the station's community of license and service area.	Yes
Auction Authorization	Assignee certifies that where less than five years have passed since the issuance of the construction permit and the permit had been acquired in an auction through the use of a bidding credit or other special measure, it would qualify for such credit or other special measure.	N/A
Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO)	If the applicant proposes to employ five or more full-time employees, applicant certifies that it is filing simultaneously with this application a Model EEO Program Report on FCC Form 396-A.	Yes

## Assignee Alien Ownership

Question	Response
1) Is the applicant a foreign government or the representative of any foreign government as specified in Section 310(a) of the Communications Act?	No
2) Is the applicant an alien or the representative of an alien? (Section 310(b)(1))	No
3) Is the applicant a corporation, or non-corporate entity, that is organized under the laws of any foreign government? (Section 310(b)(2))	No
4) Is the applicant an entity of which more than one-fifth of the capital stock, or other equity or voting interest, is owned of record or voted by aliens or their representatives or by a foreign government or representative thereof or by any entity organized under the laws of a foreign country? (Section 310(b)(3))	No
5) Is the applicant directly or indirectly controlled by any other entity of which more than one-fourth of the capital stock, or other equity or voting interest, is owned of record or voted by aliens, their representatives, or by a foreign government or representative thereof, or by any entity organized under the laws of a foreign country? (Section 310(b)(4))	No
6) Has the applicant received a declaratory ruling(s) under Section 310(b)(4) of the Communications Act?	No
<b>6a)</b> Enter the citation of the applicable declaratory ruling by DA/FCC number, FCC Record citation, release date, or any other identifying information.	
7) Has there been any change in the applicant's foreign ownership since issuance of the declaratory ruling(s) cited in response to Question 6?	

8) Does the applicant certify that it is in compliance with the terms and conditions of the foreign ownership declaratory ruling(s) cited in response to Question 6?	
9) In connection with this application, is the applicant filing a foreign ownership Petition for Declaratory Ruling pursuant to Section 310(b)(4) of the Communications Act?	No

## Assignee Certification

Section	Question	Response
General Certification Statements	Assignee certifies that it has answered each question in this application based on its review of the application instructions and worksheets. Assignee further certifies that where it has made an affirmative certification below, this certification constitutes its representation that the application satisfies each of the pertinentstandards and criteria set forth in the application instructions and worksheets.	
	The Assignee certifies that neither the Assignee nor any other party to the application is subject to a denial of Federal benefits pursuant to §5301 of the Anti-Drug Abuse Act of 1988, 21 U.S.C. § 862, because of a conviction for possession or distribution of a controlled substance. This certification does not apply to applications filed in services exempted under §1.2002(c) of the rules, 47 CFR . See §1. 2002(b) of the rules, 47 CFR § 1.2002(b), for the definition of "party to the application" as used in this certification § 1.2002 (c). The Assignee certifies that all statements made in this application and in the exhibits, attachments, or documents incorporated by reference are material, are part of this application, and are true, complete, correct, and made in good faith.	
Authorized Party to Sign	FAILURE TO SIGN THIS APPLICATION MAY RESULT IN DISMISSAL OF THE APPLICATION AND FORFEITURE OF ANY FEES PAID  Upon grant of this application, the Authorization Holder may be subject to certain construction or coverage requirements. Failure to meet the construction or coverage requirements will result in automatic cancellation of the Authorization. Consult appropriate FCC regulations to determine the construction or coverage requirements that apply to the type of Authorization requested in this application.  WILLFUL FALSE STATEMENTS MADE ON THIS FORM OR ANY ATTACHMENTS ARE PUNISHABLE BY FINE AND /OR IMPRISONMENT (U.S. Code, Title 18, §1001) AND/OR REVOCATION OF ANY STATION AUTHORIZATION (U.S. Code, Title 47, §312(a)(1)), AND/OR FORFEITURE (U.S. Code, Title 47, §503).	
	I certify that this application includes all required and relevant attachments.	Yes
	I declare, under penalty of perjury, that I am an authorized representative of the above-named applicant for the Authorization(s) specified above.	Mark DeVitre Vice President

Assignor Certification Section Question Response

General	Certification
Stateme	nts

Assignor certifies that it has answered each question in this application based on its review of the application instructions and worksheets. Assignor further certifies that where it has made an affirmative certification below, this certification constitutes its representation that the application satisfies each of the pertinentstandards and criteria set forth in the application instructions and worksheets.

The Assignor certifies that neither the Assignor nor any other party to the application is subject to a denial of Federal benefits pursuant to §5301 of the Anti-Drug Abuse Act of 1988, 21 U.S.C. § 862, because of a conviction for possession or distribution of a controlled substance. This certification does not apply to applications filed in services exempted under §1.2002(c) of the rules, 47 CFR . See §1. 2002(b) of the rules, 47 CFR § 1.2002(b), for the definition of "party to the application" as used in this certification § 1.2002 (c). The Assignor certifies that all statements made in this application and in the exhibits, attachments, or documents incorporated by reference are material, are part of this application, and are true, complete, correct, and made in good faith.

#### **Authorized Party to Sign**

# FAILURE TO SIGN THIS APPLICATION MAY RESULT IN DISMISSAL OF THE APPLICATION AND FORFEITURE OF ANY FEES PAID

Upon grant of this application, the Authorization Holder may be subject to certain construction or coverage requirements. Failure to meet the construction or coverage requirements will result in automatic cancellation of the Authorization. Consult appropriate FCC regulations to determine the construction or coverage requirements that apply to the type of Authorization requested in this application. WILLFUL FALSE STATEMENTS MADE ON THIS FORM OR ANY ATTACHMENTS ARE PUNISHABLE BY FINE AND /OR IMPRISONMENT (U.S. Code, Title 18, §1001) AND/OR REVOCATION OF ANY STATION AUTHORIZATION (U.S. Code, Title 47, §312(a)(1)), AND/OR FORFEITURE (U.S. Code, Title 47, §503).

I certify that this application includes all required and relevant attachments.

I declare, under penalty of perjury, that I am an authorized representative of the above-named applicant for the Authorization(s) specified above.

Yes

Ralph M. Oakley
President

05/13/2021

#### **Attachments**

File Name	Uploaded By	Attachment Type	Description	Upload Status
Allen Media-Gray Broadcast Application  Comprehensive Exhibit - 4838-2913-8921 1. pdf	Applicant	All Purpose	Comprehensive Exhibit	Done with Virus Scan and/or Conversion
Other Broadcast Licenses Exhibit.pdf	Applicant	Assignee Legal Certifications	Other Broadcast Licenses	Done with Virus Scan and/or Conversion
Parties to the Application Exhibit.pdf	Applicant	Parties to the Application Certification	Parties to the Application	Done with Virus Scan and/or Conversion

Applicant	Assignor Legal Certifications	QMI - Agreements Exhibit for Divest Stations	Done with Virus Scan and/or Conversion
Applicant	Assignor Legal Certifications	QMI - Other Authorizations Exhibit for Divest Stations	Done with Virus Scan and/or Conversion
Applicant	Assignee Legal Certifications	Transaction Documents	Done with Virus Scan and/or Conversion
Applicant	Assignee Legal Certifications	WMOW Satellite Waiver	Done with Virus Scan and/or Conversion
Applicant	Fees, Waivers and Exemptions	WMOW Satellite Waiver	Done with Virus Scan and/or Conversion
	Applicant  Applicant  Applicant	Applicant Assignor Legal Certifications  Applicant Assignee Legal Certifications  Applicant Assignee Legal Certifications  Applicant Fees, Waivers	Certifications  Exhibit for Divest Stations  Applicant Assignor Legal Certifications  Applicant Assignee Legal Certifications  Applicant Assignee Legal Certifications  Applicant Assignee Legal Certifications  WMOW Satellite Waiver  Applicant Fees, Waivers  WMOW Satellite Waiver

#### **COMPREHENSIVE EXHIBIT**

#### **Table of Contents**

1.	Introduction and Description of Transaction
2.	Other Broadcast Authorizations
3.	Parties to the Application
4.	Transaction Documents
5.	Request for Continuation of Satellite Waivers
	A. Request for Continuation of Satellite Waiver for WMOW
	B. Request for Continuation of Satellite Waiver for WQOW
6.	Pending License Renewal Applications
7.	Pending Applications and Cut-Off Rules
Exl	nibit 1 – Asset Purchase Agreement nibit 2 – WREX Carriage Agreement nibit 3 – WMOW Satellite Waiver Decision

Exhibit 4 – WQOW Satellite Waiver Decision

#### 1. Introduction and Description of Transaction

This transaction (the "Divestiture Transaction") follows on a larger transaction between Quincy Media, Inc. ("Quincy") and Gray Television, Inc. ("Gray") in which Gray will acquire 100% of the capital stock of Quincy from the Quincy stockholders (the "Stock Acquisition"). Under the terms of the stock purchase agreement among the parties thereto, Gray will acquire Quincy for \$925 million (subject to adjustment as set forth in the Agreement).

Immediately following the consummation of the Stock Acquisition, consistent with the *Phipps* rule, Gray will consummate, and will cause each Quincy subsidiary that holds assets of a television station that is being divested to consummate, the Divestiture Transaction. Aside from causing the Quincy subsidiaries to immediately divest the television stations that are the subject of the Divestiture Transaction, at no time will Gray exercise control over any of the divested stations.

The instant application is one of seven (7) concurrently filed applications that seek the Commission's consent to divest the following stations to certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of Allen Media Broadcasting Evansville III, LLC ("Allen Media")<sup>1</sup> listed in this Comprehensive Exhibit:

Divested Quincy Stations	Community of License
KVOA(TV)	Tucson, AZ
WKOW(TV)	Madison, WI
WREX(TV)	Rockford, IL
WSIL-TV and KPOB(TV)	Harrisburg, IL and Poplar Bluff, MO
KWWL(TV)	Cedar Rapids, IA
WXOW(TV) and WQOW(TV)	La Crosse, WI and Eau Claire, WI
WAOW(TV) and WMOW(TV)	Wausau, WI and Crandon, WI

#### 2. Other Broadcast Authorizations

Quincy

The attributable parties of the assignor have attributable interests in the following licensees, broadcast authorizations, and associated authorizations. Applications for Commission consent to the transfer of control of Quincy to Gray are currently pending. Following the consummation of Gray's acquisition of 100% of Quincy's stock, Gray intends to divest those authorizations marked with an asterisk (\*) to certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of Allen Media Broadcasting Evansville III, LLC and maintain all others listed below.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The wholly-owned subsidiaries of Allen Media are Cedar-Rapids TV License Company, LLC; Harrisburg TV License Company, LLC; La Crosse TV License Company, LLC; Madison TV License Company, LLC; Rockford TV License Company, LLC; Tucson TV License Company, LLC and Wausau TV License Company, LLC (collectively, "Assignees").

Call Letters	Facility ID#	Location	Class of Service	Name of Licensee	
KBJR-TV	33658	Superior, Wisconsin	TV		
KDLH	4691	Duluth, Minnesota	TV	KBJR License, LLC	
KRII	82698	Chisholm, Minnesota	TV		
KTIV	66170	Sioux City, Iowa	TV	ETIVI License I I C	
K24JG-D	66171	Norfolk, Nebraska	LD	KTIV License, LLC	
KTTC	35678	Rochester, Minnesota	TV	VTTC I : II C	
W34FC-D	35676	La Crosse, Wisconsin	LD	KTTC License, LLC	
KVOA*	25735	Tucson, Arizona	TV		
K04QP-D*	168403	Casas Adobes, Arizona	DC	KVOA License, LLC	
K28OY-D*	25737	Sierra Vista, Arizona	LD		
KWWL*	593	Waterloo, Iowa	TV	KWWL License, LLC	
WAOW*	64546	Wausau, Wisconsin	TV	w. cow wasters.	
WMOW*	81503	Crandon, Wisconsin	TV	WAOW-WYOW License,	
WYOW	77789	Eagle River, Wisconsin	TV	LLC	
WBNG-TV	23337	Binghamton, New York	TV	WBNG License, LLC	
WEEK-TV	24801	Peoria, Illinois	TV	WEEK License, LLC	
WGEM	54277		AM		
WGEM-TV 54275		Outpay Illinois	TV	WCEM Linear LLC	
WGEM-FM	54281	Quincy, Illinois	FM	WGEM License, LLC	
W255CY	156892		FX		
WKOW*	64545	Madison, Wisconsin	TV	WKOW License, LLC	
WISE-TV	13960	Fart Wayna Indiana	TV	WPTA License, LLC	
WPTA	73905	Fort Wayne, Indiana	TV	WFTA LICEISE, LLC	
WREX*	73940	Rockford, Illinois	TV	WREX License, LLC	
KPOB-TV*	73998	Poplar Bluff, Missouri	TV		
WSIL-TV*	73999	Harrisburg, Illinois	TV	WSIL License, LLC	
K10KM-D*	74000	Cape Girardeau, Missouri	LD		
WSJV	74007	Elkhart, Indiana	TV	WSJV License, LLC	
WVVA	74176	Bluefield, West Virginia	TV	WVVA License, LLC	
WQOW*	64550	Eau Claire, Wisconsin	TV	WXOW-WQOW License,	
WXOW*	64549	La Crosse, Wisconsin	TV	LLC	

#### Allen Media

Certain parties holding attributable interests in the Assignees hold attributable interests in the following broadcast stations:

Call Letters	Facility ID#	Location	Class of Service	Name of Licensee
KITV	64548	Honolulu, HI	TV	17/10/04
KMAU	64551	Wailuku, HI	TV	KITV, Inc.
KHVO	64544	Hilo, HI	TV	1
WTVA	74148	Tupelo, MS	TV	Mississippi TV License Company, LLC
KEZI (TV)	34406	Eugene, OR	TV	
KDRV (TV)	60736	Medford, OR	TV	O TWILL C
KDKF (TV)	60740	Klamath Falls, OR	TV	Oregon TV License Company LLC
KEZI	34406	Elkton, OR	Translator	Libe
KEZI	34406	Oakridge, OR	Translator	
KHSL-TV	24508	Chico, CA	TV	California TV License
KHSL-TV	24508	Redding, CA	Translator	Company, LLC
WTHI-TV	70655	Terre Haute, IN	TV	Terre Haute TV License Company, LLC
WLFI-TV	73204	Lafayette, IN	TV	Lafayette TV License Company, LLC
WFFT-TV	25040	Ft. Wayne, IN	TV	Ft. Wayne TV License Company, LLC
KIMT(TV)	66402	Mason City, IA	TV	Rochester TV License Company, LLC
WAAY-TV	57292	Huntsville, AL	TV	Alabama TV License Company, LLC
WEVV-TV	72041	Evansville, IN	TV	BCBE License Subsidiary,
WEEV-LD	188022	Evansville, IN	LD	LLC
KADN-TV	33261	Lafayette, LA	TV	BCBL License Subsidiary,
KLAF-LD	16535	Lafayette, LA	LPD	LLC

### 3. Parties to the Application

Set forth below are the Allen Media parties to the assignment applications:

### Cedar-Rapids TV License Company, LLC (Assignee)

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity
Cedar-Rapids TV License Company, LLC c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Respondent	N/A	N/A

Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor	U.S.	Chairman, President & CEO	0%	0%
Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Jeffrey W. Mayes c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Carolyn Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Assistant Secretary	0%	0%
Eric H. Gould c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Ronnie Y. Ng c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Terence Hill c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Chief Operating Officer	0%	0%

# Cedar-Rapids TV, LLC

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity
Cedar-Rapids TV, LLC c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Sole Member	100%	100%
Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Chairman, President & CEO	0%	0%
Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%

Jeffrey W. Mayes c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Carolyn Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Assistant Secretary	0%	0%
Eric H. Gould c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Ronnie Y. Ng c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Terence Hill c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Chief Operating Officer	0%	0%

# Harrisburg TV License Company, LLC (Assignee)

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity
Harrisburg TV License Company, LLC c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Respondent	N/A	N/A
Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Chairman, President & CEO	0%	0%
Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Jeffrey W. Mayes c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Carolyn Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Assistant Secretary	0%	0%

Eric H. Gould	U.S.	Vice	0%	0%
c/o 1925 Century Park East		President		
10th Floor				
Los Angeles, CA 90067				
Ronnie Y. Ng	U.S.	Vice	0%	0%
c/o 1925 Century Park East		President		
10th Floor				
Los Angeles, CA 90067				
Terence Hill	U.S.	Vice	0%	0%
c/o 1925 Century Park East		President,	100	
10th Floor		Chief		
Los Angeles, CA 90067		Operating		
		Officer		

### Harrisburg TV, LLC

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity
Harrisburg TV, LLC c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Sole Member	100%	100%
Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Chairman, President & CEO	0%	0%
Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Jeffrey W. Mayes c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Carolyn Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Assistant Secretary	0%	0%
Eric H. Gould c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Ronnie Y. Ng c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%

Terence Hill	U.S.	Vice	0%	0%
c/o 1925 Century Park East		President,		
10th Floor		Chief		
Los Angeles, CA 90067		Operating		
,		Officer		

### La Crosse TV License Company, LLC (Assignee)

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity
La Crosse TV License Company, LLC c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Respondent	N/A	N/A
Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Chairman, President & CEO	0%	0%
Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Jeffrey W. Mayes c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Carolyn Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Assistant Secretary	0%	0%
Eric H. Gould c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Ronnie Y. Ng c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Terence Hill c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Chief Operating Officer	0%	0%

#### La Crosse TV, LLC

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity
La Crosse TV, LLC c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Sole Member	100%	100%
Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Chairman, President & CEO	0%	0%
Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Jeffrey W. Mayes c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Carolyn Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Assistant Secretary	0%	0%
Eric H. Gould c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Ronnie Y. Ng c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Terence Hill c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Chief Operating Officer	0%	0%

### Madison TV License Company, LLC (Assignee)

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity
Madison TV License Company, LLC c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Respondent	N/A	N/A
Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Chairman, President & CEO	0%	0%

Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Los Angeles, CA 90067  Jeffrey W. Mayes c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Carolyn Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Assistant Secretary	0%	0%
Eric H. Gould c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Ronnie Y. Ng c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Terence Hill c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Chief Operating Officer	0%	0%

### Madison TV, LLC

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity
Madison TV, LLC c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Sole Member	100%	100%
Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Chairman, President & CEO	0%	0%
Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Jeffrey W. Mayes c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Carolyn Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Assistant Secretary	0%	0%

Eric H. Gould	U.S.	Vice	0%	0%
c/o 1925 Century Park East		President		
10th Floor				
Los Angeles, CA 90067				
Ronnie Y. Ng	U.S.	Vice	0%	0%
c/o 1925 Century Park East		President		
10th Floor			1 1	
Los Angeles, CA 90067				
Terence Hill	U.S.	Vice	0%	0%
c/o 1925 Century Park East		President,		
10th Floor		Chief		
Los Angeles, CA 90067		Operating		
		Officer		

#### Rockford TV License Company, LLC (Assignee)

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity
Rockford TV License Company, LLC c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Respondent	N/A	N/A
Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Chairman, President & CEO	0%	0%
Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Jeffrey W. Mayes c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Carolyn Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Assistant Secretary	0%	0%
Eric H. Gould c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Ronnie Y. Ng c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%

Terence Hill	U.S.	Vice	0%	0%
c/o 1925 Century Park East		President,		
10th Floor		Chief		
Los Angeles, CA 90067		Operating		
and a substitution of the		Officer		

### Rockford TV, LLC

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity
Rockford TV, LLC c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Sole Member	100%	100%
Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Chairman, President & CEO	0%	0%
Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Jeffrey W. Mayes c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Carolyn Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Assistant Secretary	0%	0%
Eric H. Gould c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Ronnie Y. Ng c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Terence Hill c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Chief Operating Officer	0%	0%

### Tucson TV License Company, LLC (Assignee)

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity
Tucson TV License Company, LLC c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Respondent	N/A	N/A
Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Chairman, President & CEO	0%	0%
Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Jeffrey W. Mayes c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Carolyn Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Assistant Secretary	0%	0%
Eric H. Gould c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Ronnie Y. Ng c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Terence Hill c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Chief Operating Officer	0%	0%

### Tucson TV, LLC

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity
Tucson TV, LLC c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Sole Member	100%	100%
Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Chairman, President & CEO	0%	0%

Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Los Angeles, CA 90067  Jeffrey W. Mayes c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Carolyn Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Assistant Secretary	0%	0%
Eric H. Gould c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Ronnie Y. Ng c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Terence Hill c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Chief Operating Officer	0%	0%

### Wausau TV License Company, LLC (Assignee)

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity
Wausau TV License Company, LLC c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Respondent	N/A	N/A
Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Chairman, President & CEO	0%	0%
Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Jeffrey W. Mayes c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Carolyn Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Assistant Secretary	0%	0%

Eric H. Gould	U.S.	Vice	0%	0%
c/o 1925 Century Park East		President		
10th Floor				
Los Angeles, CA 90067				
Ronnie Y. Ng	U.S.	Vice	0%	0%
c/o 1925 Century Park East		President		
10th Floor	A 1.4			
Los Angeles, CA 90067				
Terence Hill	U.S.	Vice	0%	0%
c/o 1925 Century Park East		President,		
10th Floor		Chief		
Los Angeles, CA 90067		Operating		
		Officer		

### Wausau TV, LLC

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity
Wausau TV, LLC c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Sole Member	100%	100%
Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Chairman, President & CEO	0%	0%
Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Jeffrey W. Mayes c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Carolyn Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Assistant Secretary	0%	0%
Eric H. Gould c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Ronnie Y. Ng c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%

Terence Hill	U.S.	Vice	0%	0%
c/o 1925 Century Park East		President,		
10th Floor		Chief		
Los Angeles, CA 90067		Operating		
8		Officer		

#### Allen Media Broadcasting Evansville III, LLC<sup>2</sup>

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity
Allen Media Broadcasting Evansville III, LLC c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Sole Member	100%	100%
Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Chairman, President & CEO	0%	0%
Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Jeffrey W. Mayes c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Carolyn Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Assistant Secretary	0%	0%
Eric H. Gould c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Ronnie Y. Ng c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Allen Media Broadcasting Evansville III, LLC is the immediate parent company of Cedar-Rapids TV, LLC; Harrisburg TV, LLC; La Crosse TV, LLC; Madison TV, LLC; Rockford TV, LLC; Tucson TV, LLC; and Wausau TV, LLC.

Terence Hill	U.S.	Vice President,	0%	0%
c/o 1925 Century Park East		Chief Operating		
10th Floor		Officer		
Los Angeles, CA 90067			)	

# AMBE III Holdings, LLC

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity
AMBE III Holdings, LLC c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Sole Member	100%	100%
Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Chairman, President & CEO	0%	0%
Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Jeffrey W. Mayes c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Carolyn Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Assistant Secretary	0%	0%
Eric H. Gould c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Ronnie Y. Ng c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Terence Hill c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Chief Operating Officer	0%	0%

# Allen Media Broadcasting Evansville, Inc.

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity
Allen Media Broadcasting Evansville, Inc. c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Sole Member	100%	100%
Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Chairman, President & CEO	0%	0%
Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Carolyn Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Assistant Secretary	0%	0%
Eric H. Gould c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Terence Hill c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Chief Operating Officer	0%	0%
Jeffrey W. Mayes c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Ronnie Y. Ng c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%

# Allen Media Broadcasting LLC

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity
Allen Media Broadcasting LLC c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Sole Shareholder	100%	100%

Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor	U.S.	Chairman	0%	0%
Los Angeles, CA 90067				
Robert S. Prather, Jr. c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	President	0%	0%
Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor	U.S.	Vice President, Co-Secretary	0%	0%
Los Angeles, CA 90067 Carolyn Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Assistant Secretary	0%	0%
Eric H. Gould c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Terence Hill c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Chief Operating Officer	0%	0%
Jeffrey W. Mayes c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co-Secretary	0%	0%
Ronnie Y. Ng c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%

# Allen Media Broadcast Holdings LLC

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity
Allen Media Broadcast Holdings LLC c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Sole Member	100%	100%
Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Chairman, President & CEO	0%	0%

Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor	U.S.	Vice President, Co-Secretary	0%	0%
Los Angeles, CA 90067				
Carolyn Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Assistant Secretary	0%	0%
Eric H. Gould c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Terence Hill c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Chief Operating Officer	0%	0%
Jeffrey W. Mayes c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co-Secretary	0%	0%
Ronnie Y. Ng c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%

# Allen Media, LLC

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity
Allen Media, LLC c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Sole Member	100%	100%
Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	President, CEO & CFO	0%	0%
Terence Hill c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Chief Operating Officer	0%	0%
Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Executive Vice President, General Counsel	0%	0%

Carolyn Folks	U.S.	Secretary	0%	0%
c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor				
Los Angeles, CA 90067				

#### Allen Media Holdings, LLC

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity
Allen Media Holdings, LLC c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Sole Member	100%	100%
Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	President, CEO & CFO	100%	100%
Terence Hill c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Chief Operating Officer	0%	0%
Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Executive Vice President, General Counsel	0%	0%
Carolyn Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Secretary	0%	0%

#### 4. Transaction Documents

A copy of the Asset Purchase Agreement ("APA") governing this assignment transaction is attached as Exhibit 1. Certain exhibits and disclosure schedules to the APA have been excluded from this filing because they contain material that is confidential and proprietary, not germane to the Commission's evaluation of this application or already in the Commission's possession. *See LUJ, Inc. and Long Nine, Inc.*, Memorandum Opinion and Order, 17 FCC Rcd. 16980 (2002). The excluded exhibits and disclosure schedules are identified below. Information contained in the excluded documents will be provided to the Commission upon request.

#### Exhibits to APA:

Exhibit A: Form of Escrow Agreement

Exhibit B: Form of Bill of Sale and Assignment and Assumption Agreement

Exhibit C: Form of Assignment of Seller FCC Authorizations

Exhibit D: Form of Seller Transition Services Agreement

Exhibit E: Form of Reverse Transition Services Agreement

Exhibit F: Form of Trademark License Agreement

Annex 1.1: Knowledge Inquiry Parties

Annex 2.1: Buyer Designees

#### Disclosure Schedules to APA:

Schedule 2.1(t): Purchased Assets

Schedule 2.2(1): Excluded Assets

Schedule 2.7: Determination of Closing Date Working Capital and Purchase Price

Schedule 3.2(e): Authority of the Seller and the Quincy Group

Schedule 3.3: Financial Statements

Schedule 3.4: Operations Since Balance Sheet Date

Schedule 3.5: No Undisclosed Liabilities

Schedule 3.7: Condition and Sufficiency of Assets

Schedule 3.8: Governmental Permits; FCC Matters

Schedule 3.9: Real Property; Real Property Leases

Schedule 3.10: Intellectual Property

Schedule 3.12: Employees

Schedule 3.13: Employee Relations

Schedule 3.14: Contracts

Schedule 3.15: Status of Contracts

Schedule 3.16: No Violation, Litigation or Regulatory Action

Schedule 3.17: Insurance

Schedule 3.18: Employee Plans; ERISA

Schedule 3.19(a): Environmental Protection

Schedule 3.20: MVPD Matters

Schedule 3.21: Transactions with Affiliates

Schedule 3.23: No Finder

Schedule 5.3(e): Required Consents

Schedule 5.4(b): Operations of the Station Prior to the Closing Date

Schedule 5.6(b): Multi-Station Contracts

Schedule 8.9: Release of Encumbrances

Quincy and Gray have entered into a Carriage Agreement (copy attached as Exhibit 2) that will become effective at the close of the transactions whereby WREX(TV) will rebroadcast the signal of Gray's WIFR-LD. The Carriage Agreement will ensure that more over-the-air viewers in the Rockford DMA are able to receive low power station WIFR-LD's signal which has suffered from incoming interference in certain parts of the station's market since it switched to its new post-repack channel.

#### 5. Request for Continuation of Satellite Waivers

#### A. Request for Continuation of Satellite Waiver for WMOW

Assignee Wausau TV License Company, LLC respectfully requests a continuation of the previously-granted satellite waiver to allow WMOW (Crandon, WI) to operate as a satellite station of WAOW (Wausau, WI) pursuant to the Commission's decision in *Streamlined Reauthorization Procedures for Assigned or Transferred Television Satellite Stations*, Report and Order, 34 FCC Rcd. 1539 (2019) ("Streamlined Satellite Procedures Order"). There has been no material change in the underlying circumstances upon which the Commission relied in granting the most recent satellite waiver for WMOW. *See Applications of Selenka Communications, LLC (Assignor) and WAOW-WYOW Television, Inc. (Assignee) for Consent to Assign the License of Station WBIJ(TV), Crandon, Wisconsin*, DA 10-73 (MB 2010) (copy attached as Exhibit 3). Please note that WMOW's previous call sign was WBIJ(TV).

#### B. Request for Continuation of Satellite Waiver for WQOW

Assignee La Crosse TV License Company, LLC respectfully requests a continuation of the previously-granted satellite waiver to allow WQOW (Eau Claire, WI) to operate as a satellite station of WXOW (La Crosse, WI) pursuant to the Streamlined Satellite Procedures Order. There has been no material change in the underlying circumstances upon which the Commission relied in granting the most recent satellite waiver for WQOW. *See Shockley Communications Acquisition, LLC, et al.*, Letter, SMH-1800E3 (MB 2001) (copy attached as Exhibit 4).

#### 6. <u>Pending License Renewal Applications</u>

One or more of the television stations that the Assignees propose to acquire may file license renewal applications during the pendency of these assignment applications. Consistent with the Commission's policy permitting consummation of multi-station assignment transactions during a license renewal cycle, the Assignees hereby assent to succeeding to the place of the current licensees for any pending license renewal applications for any television broadcast stations that the Assignees will acquire pursuant to these applications. *See Cumulus Media, Inc. and Citadel Broadcasting Corp.*, Memorandum Opinion and Order, 26 FCC Rcd. 12956 (MB 2011), at ¶6 (assignment of license subject to renewal proceedings is permissible when assignee agrees to succeed to the position of the assignor).

#### 7. Pending Applications and Cut-Off Rules

The applicants will separately file applications with the International Bureau and the Wireless Telecommunications Bureau requesting consent to the assignment of certain transmit/receive earth station and microwave wireless licenses held by certain assignors. The applicants intend that the assignment applications filed with the Media, International, and Wireless Telecommunications Bureaus include all of the licenses and authorizations held by the assignors. The assignors currently may have on file, and may hereafter file, additional requests for new or modified facilities that may be granted before the Commission takes action on these assignment

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> WAOW-WYOW License, LLC (to be acquired by Gray) will retain WYOW.

applications. Thus, the applicants respectfully request that any approvals of these assignment applications include: (1) any authorizations issued to the assignors while these applications are pending and during the period required for consummation of these assignment transactions; and (2) any applications filed by the assignors that are pending at the time of consummation.

Inclusion of authorizations issued during the pendency of a transaction and during the consummation period, and applications pending at the time of consummation, is consistent with Commission precedent. See, e.g., Applications of AT&T Inc. and Cellco Partnership d/b/a Verizon Wireless, Memorandum Opinion and Order, 25 FCC Rcd. 8704 (2010), at ¶ 165; Applications of AT&T Wireless Services, Inc. and Cingular Wireless Corp. for Consent to Transfer Control of Licenses and Authorizations, Memorandum Opinion and Order, 19 FCC Rcd. 21522 (2004), at ¶ 275.

The applicants also request, to the extent necessary, a blanket exemption from any applicable cut-off rules in cases where the applicants file amendments to pending applications to reflect consummation of these assignment transactions so that such amendments are not treated as disqualifying amendments. Grant of this request would be consistent with Commission decisions that have granted a blanket exemption in cases involving multiple license transactions. See, e.g., Applications of PacificCorp Holdings, Inc., and Century Telephone Enterprises, Inc. for Consent to Transfer Control of Pacific Telecom, Inc., Memorandum Opinion and Order, 13 FCC Rcd. 8891 (WTB 1997), at ¶ 47; Applications of NYNEX Corp. and Bell Atlantic Corp., Memorandum Opinion and Order, 12 FCC Rcd. 19985 (1997), at ¶ 234.

# Exhibit 1 Asset Purchase Agreement

#### ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT

for

#### the SALE of TELEVISION STATIONS

KVOA, TUCSON, ARIZONA,
WKOW, MADISON, WISCONSIN
WREX, ROCKFORD, ILLINOIS
WSIL/KPOB, HARRISBURG, ILLINOIS
KWWL, CEDAR RAPIDS, IOWA
WXOW/WQOW, LA CROSSE, WISCONSIN
and
WAOW/WMOW, WAUSAU, WISCONSIN

by and among

GRAY TELEVISION, INC.

ALLEN MEDIA BROADCASTING EVANSVILLE III, LLC

and

ALLEN MEDIA HOLDINGS II, LLC

Dated as of April 29, 2021

#### Table of Contents

		Page
ARTICLE I DEFINIT	IONS	1
Section 1.1	Definitions	1
ARTICLE II PURCHA	ASE AND SALE OF PURCHASED ASSETS	16
Section 2.1	Purchase and Sale of Purchased Assets	16
Section 2.2	Excluded Assets	18
Section 2.3	Assumption of Liabilities.	20
Section 2.4	Closing Date	22
Section 2.5	Purchase Price	23
Section 2.6	Payment on Closing Date	
Section 2.7	Determination of Closing Date Working Capital and Purchase Price	23
Section 2.8	Escrow Deposit	
Section 2.9	Closing Date Deliveries.	25
Section 2.10	Further Assurances	26
Section 2.11	Allocation of Purchase Price	
Section 2.12	Purchase Price Adjustment	28
Section 2.13	Withholding	28
ARTICLE III REPRE	SENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLER	28
Section 3.1	Organization	28
Section 3.2	Authority of Seller and the Quincy Group.	
Section 3.3	Financial Statements	
Section 3.4	Operations Since Balance Sheet Date.	30
Section 3.5	No Undisclosed Liabilities	30
Section 3.6	Taxes	
Section 3.7	Condition and Sufficiency of Assets	
Section 3.8	Governmental Permits; FCC Matters.	
Section 3.9	Real Property; Real Property Leases	
Section 3.10	Intellectual Property.	
Section 3.11	Title to Assets	
Section 3.12	Employees	
Section 3.13	Employee Relations	
Section 3.14	Contracts	
Section 3.15	Status of Contracts	
Section 3.16	No Violation, Litigation or Regulatory Action	38
Section 3.17	Insurance	39
Section 3.18	Employee Plans; ERISA	39
Section 3.19	Environmental Protection	
Section 3.20	MVPD Matters	41
Section 3.21	Transactions with Affiliates	41
Section 3.22	Governmental Programs	41
Section 3.23	No Finder	

ARTICLE IV REPRE	ESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BUYER	42
Section 4.1	Organization	42
Section 4.2	Authority of Buyer.	
Section 4.3	Litigation	
Section 4.4	No Finder	
Section 4.5	Qualifications as FCC Licensee	
Section 4.6	Financial Capacity; Solvency	
ARTICLE V ACTIO	NS PRIOR TO THE CLOSING DATE	
Section 5.1	Access to the Business	
Section 5.1 Section 5.2	Notification of Certain Matters.	
Section 5.2 Section 5.3	FCC Consent; HSR Act Approval; Other Consents and Approvals	
Section 5.4	Operations of the Stations Prior to the Closing Date	
Section 5.4 Section 5.5	Public Announcement	50 52
Section 5.5	Multi-Station Contracts	
Section 5.7	Financing Commitment	
Section 5.7 Section 5.8	Exclusivity	
Section 5.8 Section 5.9	Purchase Agreement Covenants	
Section 5.10	Monthly Statements	
Section 5.10	Non-Solicitation	
	TONAL AGREEMENTS	
Section 6.1	Taxes	
Section 6.2	Employees; Employee Benefit Plans	
Section 6.3	Control of Operations Prior to Closing Date	
Section 6.4	Bulk Transfer Laws	
Section 6.5	Use of Names	
Section 6.6	R&W Insurance Policy	
Section 6.7	Post-Closing Access to Insurance	
Section 6.8	Treatment of Other Party's Assets	63
ARTICLE VII COND	DITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATIONS OF SELLER	63
Section 7.1	No Breach of Covenants and Warranties	64
Section 7.2	No Restraint	64
Section 7.3	Certain Governmental Approvals	
Section 7.4	Quincy Sale	
Section 7.5	Closing Deliveries	
ARTICLE VIII CONI	DITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATIONS OF BUYER	
Section 8.1	No Breach of Covenants and Warranties	65
Section 8.1 Section 8.2	No Restraint	
Section 8.2	Conduct of Quincy and its Affiliates	
Section 8.4	Certain Governmental Approvals	
Section 8.5	Quincy Sale	
Section 8.5	Material Adverse Effect	۵۰ ۸۸
Section 8.7	Closing Deliveries	
Section 8.7 Section 8.8	Certain Approvals	
Section 8.9	Release of Encumbrances	
500000000000	NOICASC OF EMCHINUTATIONS	

ARTICLE IX INDEM	NIFICATION	66
Section 9.1	Indemnification by Seller	66
Section 9.2	Indemnification by Buyer	66
Section 9.3	Notice of Claims; Determination of Amount	67
Section 9.4	Third Person Claims.	67
Section 9.5	Limitations; Exclusive Remedies	69
Section 9.6	Damages; Mitigation	70
Section 9.7	Special Rule for Fraud.	
ARTICLE X TERMIN	VATION	70
Section 10.1	Termination.	70
Section 10.2	Withdrawal of Certain Filings	72
ARTICLE XI GENERAL PROVISIONS		72
Section 11.1	Survival of Obligations	
Section 11.2	Confidential Nature of Information	73
Section 11.3	Governing Law	73
Section 11.4	Exclusive Jurisdiction; Court Proceedings	
Section 11.5	Notices	74
Section 11.6	Successors and Assigns; Third Party Beneficiaries	
Section 11.7	Access to Records after Closing.	76
Section 11.8	Entire Agreement; Amendments	76
Section 11.9	Interpretation	77
Section 11.10	Waivers	77
Section 11.11	Expenses	77
Section 11.12	Partial Invalidity	77
Section 11.13	Execution in Counterparts	78
Section 11.14	Disclaimer of Warranties	
Section 11.15	Specific Performance	
Section 11.16	Guarantee	
Section 11.17	Seller Release	
Section 11.18	Non-Recourse Against Financing Sources; Waiver of Certain Claims	80

# **EXHIBITS**

Exhibit A - Form of Escrow Agreement
Exhibit B - Form of Bill of Sale and Assignment and Assumption Agreement

Exhibit C - Form of Assignment of Seller FCC Authorizations

Exhibit D - Form of Seller Transition Services Agreement

Exhibit E - Form of Reverse Transition Services Agreement
Exhibit F - Form of Trademark License Agreement

**Knowledge Inquiry Parties** Annex 1.1

Buyer Designees Annex 2.1

#### ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT

This **ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT**, dated as of April 29, 2021 (this "<u>Agreement</u>"), by and among Gray Television, Inc., a Georgia corporation (together with its Affiliates, "<u>Seller</u>"), on the one hand, and Allen Media Broadcasting Evansville III, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("<u>Buyer</u>"), and Allen Media Holdings II, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("<u>Buyer Guarantor</u>"), on the other hand.

#### WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, Seller and Quincy Media, Inc., an Illinois corporation ("Quincy") are parties to that certain Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of January 31, 2021, by and among Seller, Quincy, each of the stockholders of Quincy (the "Quincy Sellers") and Ralph M. Oakley, solely in his capacity as representative of the Quincy Sellers (the "Purchase Agreement"), pursuant to which the Quincy Sellers will sell all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of Quincy (or, pursuant to Section 5.2(c) of the Purchase Agreement, the newly-formed holding company that owns such capital stock) to Seller and Seller will become the direct and indirect parent of Quincy and its direct and indirect subsidiaries (collectively, the "Quincy Sale");

WHEREAS, on the date of this Agreement, the Quincy Group (as defined hereinafter) owns and operates television broadcast stations (i) KVOA, Tucson, Arizona, (ii) WKOW, Madison, Wisconsin, (iii) WREX, Rockford, Illinois, (iv) WSIL/KPOB, Harrisburg, Illinois, (v) KWWL, Cedar Rapids, Iowa, (vi) WXOW/WQOW, La Crosse, Wisconsin and (vii) WAOW/WMOW, Wausau, Wisconsin (each, a "Station" and collectively, the "Stations"), pursuant to certain authorizations issued by the Federal Communications Commission, including any official bureau or division thereof acting on delegated authority, or any successor agency thereto (the "FCC"); and

WHEREAS, immediately following the closing of the Quincy Sale, Buyer desires to purchase the Purchased Assets and assume the Assumed Liabilities, and Seller desires to sell and cause its Affiliates and the Quincy Group, to sell to Buyer the Purchased Assets and transfer the Assumed Liabilities, on the terms and subject to the conditions hereinafter set forth.

**NOW, THEREFORE**, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements hereinafter set forth and for other good and valuable consideration (the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged), it is hereby agreed among the parties as follows:

#### ARTICLE I

## **DEFINITIONS**

Section 1.1 <u>Definitions</u>. As used in this Agreement, the following terms have the meanings specified or referred to in this <u>Section 1.1</u>:

"Action" means any action, suit or proceeding by or before any court, arbitrator, mediator or any Governmental Body or any request to preserve information or any civil investigative demand received by the Seller or Quincy, any of its Affiliates or any Station from the DOJ or any other Governmental Body relating to the potential violation of any Law.

- "Agreement" has the meaning specified in the introductory paragraph hereof.
- "<u>Affiliate</u>" means, with respect to a specified Person, any Person or member of a group of Persons acting together that, directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls, or is controlled by, or is under common control with, such specified Person.
- "Agreed Accounting Principles" means the practices and methodologies used in the preparation of the Balance Sheets in a manner consistent with GAAP.
  - "Agreed Adjustments" has the meaning specified in Section 2.7(b).
  - "Alternative Commitment Letter" has the meaning specified in Section 5.7(c).
  - "Alternative Financing" has the meaning specified in Section 5.7(c).
  - "Alternative Financing Agreement" has the meaning specified in Section 5.7(c).
  - "AMBE Commitment Letter" has the meaning specified in Section 4.6(a).
- "Ancillary Agreements" means the Transition Services Agreements, the Bill of Sale and Assignment and Assumption Agreement, the Assignment of Seller FCC Authorizations and any other certificate, agreement, document or other instrument to be executed and delivered in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- "Antitrust Law" means the HSR Act, the Federal Trade Commission Act of 1914, as amended, the Sherman Antitrust Act of 1890, as amended, the Clayton Antitrust Act of 1914, as amended, and any applicable foreign antitrust Laws and all other applicable Laws that are designed or intended to prohibit, restrict or regulate actions having the purpose or effect of monopolization or restraint of trade or lessening of competition through merger or acquisition.
  - "Arbitrator" has the meaning specified in Section 2.7(c).
  - "Assignment of Seller FCC Authorizations" has the meaning specified in Section 2.9.
  - "Assumed CBA" has the meaning specified in Section 6.2(a).
  - "Assumed Liabilities" has the meaning specified in Section 2.3(a).
  - "Balance Sheet" has the meaning specified in Section 3.3.
  - "Balance Sheet Date" has the meaning specified in Section 3.3.
  - "BA Commitment Letter" has the meaning specified in Section 4.6(a).
  - "BC Commitment Letter" has the meaning specified in Section 4.6(a).
  - "BC Fee Letter" has the meaning specified in Section 4.6(a).

- "Bill of Sale and Assignment and Assumption Agreement" has the meaning specified in Section 2.9(a)(i).
- "Books and Records" means books, records, files, logs, work papers, data and information, including customer, distributor and supplier lists, summaries of financial and accounting records, programming information and studies, technical information and engineering data, news and advertising studies or consulting reports, purchase orders and invoices, sales orders and sales order log books, credit and collection records, cost and pricing information, manuals, product development files, records, correspondence and miscellaneous records with respect to customers, distributors, suppliers and all other general correspondence.
- "Broadcast Incentive Auction" means the FCC reverse broadcast incentive auction conducted pursuant to Section 6403 of the Middle Class Tax Relief and Job Creation Act of 2012 (Pub. L. No. 112-96, § 6403, 126 Stat. 156, 225-230 (2012)), codified at 47 U.S.C. § 1452, which began on May 31, 2016.
- "<u>Business</u>" means the business of the Stations (and shall not include the Other Seller Stations or the other businesses or assets of Seller or Quincy), as such business is or was conducted as of the date hereof and the Closing Date.
- "Business Day" means any day that is not a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on which banks are authorized or required by law to be closed in Quincy, IL.
  - "Buyer" has the meaning specified in the introductory paragraph hereof.
  - "Buyer Ancillary Agreements" has the meaning specified in Section 4.2(a).
  - "Buyer Designees" has the meaning specified in Section 2.1.
- "Buyer Fundamental Representations" means, collectively, the representations and warranties of Buyer set forth in Section 4.1 (Organization), Section 4.2 (Authority of Buyer) and Section 4.4 (No Finder).
- "<u>Buyer Group Member</u>" means Buyer, each of its Affiliates, and each of their successors and assigns, and each of their respective Representatives.
  - "Buyer Guarantor" has the meaning specified in the introductory paragraph hereof.
  - "Buyer Termination Event" has the meaning specified in Section 10.1(d).
- "<u>CARES Act</u>" means the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act or any similar applicable federal, state or local Law.
- "CBA" means any collective bargaining between the Quincy Group and any labor union with respect to the terms of employment of any Employees.
- "<u>CERCLA</u>" means the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 9601 et seq., and any regulations promulgated thereunder.

- "Claim Notice" has the meaning specified in Section 9.3(a).
- "Closing" has the meaning specified in Section 2.4.
- "Closing Date" has the meaning specified in Section 2.4.
- "Closing Date Balance Sheet" means a balance sheet as of the Cutoff Time with respect to the Purchased Assets and the Assumed Liabilities prepared in accordance with the Agreed Accounting Principles, as finally determined pursuant to Section 2.7.
  - "Closing Date Payment" has the meaning specified in Section 2.6.
- "Closing Date Working Capital Amount" means, subject to Schedule 2.7, the amount (expressed as a positive number), if any, as finally determined pursuant to Section 2.7, by which (i) the Current Assets exceed (ii) the Current Liabilities; provided that if such Current Assets are equal to or less than such Current Liabilities, then the Closing Date Working Capital Amount shall be zero.
- "Closing Date Working Capital Deficit" means the amount (expressed as a positive number), if any, as finally determined pursuant to Section 2.7, by which (i) the Current Liabilities exceed (ii) the Current Assets; provided that if such Current Liabilities are equal to or less than such Current Assets, then the Closing Date Working Capital Deficit shall be zero.
- "COBRA" means the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended.
  - "Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
  - "Commitment Letters" has the meaning specified in Section 4.6(a).
- "Communications Act" means the Communications Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules, regulations and written policies of the FCC promulgated under the foregoing, in each case, as in effect from time to time.
  - "Confidentiality Agreement" has the meaning specified in Section 5.1(a).
  - "Continuation Period" has the meaning specified in Section 6.2(a).
  - "Continuing Employees" has the meaning specified in Section 6.2(a).
- "Contract" means any legally binding written or oral contract, agreement, arrangement (excluding any regulatory tariff), note, bond, mortgage, lease, sublease, license or other agreement.
- "Control Room Hub" means the remote master control center that remotely provides ingest, monitoring, playout, automation, discrepancy reporting, encoding, spot download, and support to WEEK, WPTA, WXOW/WQCW and WAOW for the ABC feeds.

"COVID-19 Pandemic" means the SARS-Cov2 or COVID-19 pandemic, including any future resurgence or evolutions or mutations thereof and/or any related or associated disease outbreaks, epidemics and/or pandemics.

"Cure Period" means a period commencing on the date Buyer or Seller receive from the other written notice of breach or default hereunder and continuing until the earlier of (a) thirty (30) calendar days thereafter, or (b) five (5) Business Days after the date otherwise scheduled for Closing; provided, however, that if the breach or default is non-monetary and cannot reasonably be cured within such period but can be cured before the date that is five (5) Business Days after the scheduled Closing Date, and if diligent efforts to cure promptly commence, then the Cure Period shall continue as long as such diligent efforts to cure continue, but not beyond the date that is five (5) Business Days after the date otherwise scheduled for Closing.

"Current Assets" means the sum of all current assets of the Business as of the Cutoff Time, determined in accordance with GAAP, but excluding (i) any Excluded Assets and (ii) all amounts due to the Seller or the Quincy Group related to reimbursements for the TV Repack, if any. Notwithstanding the foregoing, accounts receivable shall be calculated net of a bad debt reserve equal to 2% of the total gross amount of the outstanding advertising receivables (i.e., excluding retransmission and trade receivables).

"<u>Current Liabilities</u>" means the sum of all current liabilities of the Business as of the Cutoff Time, determined in accordance with GAAP, but excluding any Excluded Liabilities.

"Cutoff Time" means 12:01 a.m. central time on the Closing Date.

"Deal Communications" has the meaning specified in Section 2.2(k).

"Debt Commitment Letter" has the meaning specified in Section 4.6(a).

"Debt Fee Letter" has the meaning specified in Section 4.6(a).

"Disputed Items" has the meaning specified in Section 2.7(c).

"DOJ" means the U.S. Department of Justice.

"<u>DOJ Final Judgment</u>" means any proposed final judgment the DOJ may file in any court of law or equity of competent jurisdiction in connection with the Quincy Sale, as such proposed final judgment may be modified with the approval of any court of law or equity of competent jurisdiction.

"Eldridge Commitment Letter" has the meaning specified in Section 4.6(a).

"Eldridge Fee Letter" has the meaning specified in Section 4.6(a).

"Equity Commitment Letters" has the meaning specified in Section 4.6(a).

"<u>Employees</u>" means the individuals employed by Seller or the Quincy Group, as applicable, who are listed on <u>Schedule 3.12</u> and any full-time or part-time employees who become

employed by Seller or the Quincy Group, as applicable, after the date hereof in accordance with Section 5.4 primarily in connection with the Business.

"Employment Agreement" means any contract or agreement of Seller or the Quincy Group with any individual Employee pursuant to which Seller or the Quincy Group, as applicable, has an actual or contingent liability to provide compensation and/or benefits in consideration for past, present or future services.

"Employment Commencement Date" has the meaning specified in Section 6.2(a).

"Employee Plan" means each plan, program, policy, agreement or arrangement providing for (i) pension, retirement, profit sharing, deferred compensation, excess benefit, supplemental retirement, severance, retention, termination pay, periodic incentive, transaction incentive, equity or equity-linked incentive, other stock bonus, tax gross-up or equalization, or other compensation or benefits, (ii) medical, vision, dental, prescription, other health benefits, vacation, paid-time-off, fringe benefits, perquisites, (iii) life, disability or other employee insurance and/or (iv) other compensation or employee benefits in each case, to which Seller and/or the Quincy Group is required to contribute, or which Seller or the Quincy Group or any of their respective Affiliates sponsors for the benefit of Service Providers of Seller and/or the Quincy Group (or the dependents or beneficiaries thereof), as applicable, or under which Service Providers (or their dependents or beneficiaries) of Seller and/or the Quincy Group, as applicable, are eligible to receive compensation or benefits, including any "employee benefit plan" (as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA, whether or not subject to ERISA).

"Encumbrance" means any lien, claim, charge, security interest, mortgage, deed of trust, pledge, easement, right of first refusal, proxies or agreements, transfer restrictions under any Contract, conditional sale or other title retention agreement or defect in title, or any other encumbrance of any kind or nature whatsoever, other than any license of, option to license, or covenant not to assert claims of infringement or misappropriation with respect to, Intellectual Property.

"Entitlements" has the meaning specified in Section 3.9(f).

"Environmental Law" means all Requirements of Laws addressing the prevention of pollution, the environment, Hazardous Materials, natural resources, human health, occupational health or safety, including but not limited to CERCLA, OSHA, RCRA, the Toxic Substances Control Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 2601 et seq.; the Safe Drinking Water Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 300(f) et seq.; the Clean Air Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7401 et seq.; the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1251 et seq.; the Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act of 1986, 42 U.S.C. §§ 11001 et seq.; and any state equivalents thereof.

"ERISA Affiliate" means with respect to Seller, any Person, trade or business (whether or not incorporated) that, together with Seller, is required to be treated as a "single employer" under Section 414(b), (c), (m) or (o) of the Code or Section 4001(b)(i) of ERISA.

"ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.

"Escrow Agent" means Regions Bank.

"<u>Escrow Agreement</u>" means an Escrow Agreement dated as of the date of this Agreement by and among Buyer, Seller and the Escrow Agent in the form of <u>Exhibit A</u> attached hereto.

"Escrow Deposit" has the meaning specified in Section 2.9.

"Estimated Purchase Price" has the meaning specified in Section 2.5.

"Excluded Assets" has the meaning specified in Section 2.2.

"Excluded Liabilities" has the meaning specified in Section 2.3(b).

"Expense" means any and all expenses (including interest) incurred in connection with investigating, defending or asserting any claim, action, suit or proceeding (including third-party claims) incident to any matter indemnified against hereunder (including court filing fees, court costs, arbitration fees or costs, witness fees, and reasonable fees and disbursements of legal counsel, investigators, expert witnesses, consultants, accountants and other professionals).

"FCC" has the meaning specified in the second recital hereof.

"FCC Applications" has the meaning specified in Section 5.3(a).

"FCC Consent" means action by the FCC (including action by staff acting on delegated authority) granting its consent to the FCC Applications filed with the FCC Media Bureau.

"Fee Letters" has the meaning specified in Section 4.6(a).

"Financing" has the meaning specified in Section 4.6(a).

"Financing Agreement" has the meaning specified in Section 5.7(a).

"Financing Sources" means the entities that have committed to provide or otherwise entered into agreements in connection with the Financing (or any alternative or replacement Financing) in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, including the parties to the Commitment Letter and any joinder agreements or credit agreements relating thereto, each of their respective Affiliates (including any of their and their respective Affiliates' respective successors and assigns) and each of their and their respective Affiliates' (and their respective successors and assigns) former, current or future Representatives.

"Final Purchase Price Allocation" has the meaning specified in Section 2.11.

"<u>Fraud</u>" means with respect to any party, such party's common law fraud solely with respect to the making of representations and warranties in Article III and Article IV, as determined under the jurisprudence of the State of Illinois.

"FTC" means the U.S. Federal Trade Commission.

"GAAP" means, with respect to any date of determination, United States generally accepted accounting principles as in effect on such date of determination, consistently applied.

"Governmental Body" means any (a) foreign, federal, state, municipal or local government, (b) any governmental or quasi-governmental authority (including any governmental agency, branch, department, official or entity) or judicial or regulatory body or (c) body exercising or entitled to exercise any administrative, executive, judicial, legislative, police, regulatory, or taxing authority or power of any nature, including any arbitral tribunal.

"Governmental Consents" means (i) the FCC Consent, and (ii) all authorizations, consents, Orders and approvals of all Governmental Bodies, including any State Attorney General, that are or may become necessary for the execution, delivery and consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.

"Governmental Permits" has the meaning specified in Section 3.8(a).

"<u>Hazardous Materials</u>" means any substance, material or waste listed, defined, regulated under or classified as a "pollutant" or "contaminant" or words of similar meaning or effect under any Environmental Law, including petroleum, petroleum products, asbestos, mold and polychlorinated biphenyls.

"HSR Act" means the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended.

"Indemnified Party" has the meaning specified in Section 9.3(a).

"Indemnitor" has the meaning specified in Section 9.3(a).

"Intellectual Property" means all Trademarks, patents, inventions, trade secrets, knowhow, processes, methods, techniques, internet domain names, social media identifiers, websites, web content, databases, software or applications (including user-applications, source code, executable code, operating systems, development tools, data, firmware and related documentation), copyrights and other works of authorship, programs and programming material, jingles, software (including source code, executable code, systems, tools, databases, firmware and related documentation), all rights of privacy and publicity, all applications, registrations and renewals relating to any of the foregoing, any other intellectual property rights or proprietary rights in or arising from any of the foregoing, and in all tangible embodiments of the foregoing, including all licenses, sublicenses and other rights granted and obtained with respect thereto, and rights thereunder, including rights to collect royalties, products and proceeds, rights to sue and bring other claims and seek remedies against past, present and future infringements or misappropriations thereof or other conflicts therewith, rights to recover damages or lost profits in connection therewith, and other rights to recover damages (including attorneys' fees and expenses) or lost profits in connection therewith, and otherwise to seek protection or enforcement of interests therein, and all other corresponding rights, under the laws of all jurisdictions, and whether arising by operations of law, contract, license or otherwise.

"<u>Knowledge of Seller</u>" means, as to a particular matter, the actual knowledge of the following persons, after reasonable inquiry of personnel of Seller and the Quincy Group listed on Annex 1.1: Kevin Latek and Jim Ryan.

"Laws" means any and all domestic (federal, state or local) or foreign laws, statutes, ordinances, rules, published regulations, judgments, orders, injunctions or decrees.

"Leased Real Property" has the meaning specified in Section 3.9(b).

"<u>Liabilities</u>" any and all debts, liabilities, Taxes and obligations of any kind or nature whatsoever, whether asserted or unasserted, absolute or contingent, accrued or unaccrued, liquidated or unliquidated, and whether due or to become due and regardless of when asserted.

"Loss" means any and all losses, costs, settlement payments, awards, judgments, fines, penalties or damages (excluding (i) any punitive or exemplary damages, except to the extent such damages are payable to a third Person, or (ii) any incidental, consequential, special or indirect damages, including loss of future profits, revenue or income, damages based on any multiple of revenue or income, diminution in value or loss of business reputation or opportunity relating to the breach or alleged breach of this Agreement, regardless of whether such damages were foreseeable, except to the extent such damages are actually awarded to a third Person).

"Market" means, with respect to each Station, the "Designated Market Area," as determined by The Nielsen Company, of such Station.

"Marketing Period" means the first period of fifteen (15) consecutive Business Days commencing on the first Business Day after the date of this Agreement that each of the following is true throughout and at the end of such period: (a) Buyer shall have received the Required Information, and the Required Information shall be complete; (b) FCC Consent shall have been granted and shall be in full force and effect; (c) any applicable waiting period under the HSR Act relating to the transactions contemplated hereunder shall have expired or been terminated; (d) all other conditions set forth in Article VII and Article VIII (other than those that by their nature will not be satisfied until the Closing) have been satisfied and nothing has occurred and no condition exists that would cause any of the conditions in such Article VII and Article VIII not to be satisfied assuming the Closing Date were to occur at any time during such consecutive fifteen (15) Business Day period; and (e) the Seller shall have been provided (or caused to be provided) all cooperation that it is obligated to provide under the terms of Section 5.7(c). If the Seller in good faith reasonably believes it has delivered the Required Information, it may deliver to Buyer a written notice to that effect (stating when it believes it completed such delivery), in which case the Required Information will be deemed to have been delivered on the date specified in such notice unless Buyer in good faith reasonably believes the Required Information has not been delivered and, within three (3) Business Days after the delivery of such notice by the Seller, delivers a written notice to the Seller to that effect, stating with specificity which Required Information has not been delivered. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) (A) the periods (1) from (and including) April 1, 2021 to (and including) April 5, 2021, (2) from (and including) July 5, 2021 to (and including) July 9, 2021, (3) from (and including) August 30, 2021 through September 6, 2021, (4) from (and including) November 24, 2021 through November 28, 2021 and (5) from (and including) April 14, 2022 through April 18, 2022 shall, in each case, be disregarded for purposes of calculating the consecutive business day period required above, (B) if such period shall not have ended on or prior to August 27, 2021, such period shall not commence before September 7, 2021 and (C) if such period shall not have ended prior to December 17, 2021, such period shall not commence before January 7, 2022, and (ii) (x) the Marketing Period shall not be deemed to have commenced if the Marketing Period (as defined in the Purchase Agreement) shall not have commenced and (y) the Marketing Period shall not be deemed to have ended if the Marketing Period (as defined in the Purchase Agreement) shall not have ended.

"Material Adverse Effect" means any event, circumstance, development, change, effect or occurrence (an "Effect") that, individually or in the aggregate with any other Effect, has had, or would reasonably be expected to have, a materially adverse effect on (x) the business, properties, assets, financial condition or results of operations of the Business, taken as a whole, or (y) on the ability of Seller to perform its material obligations under this Agreement, other than any Effect arising out of or resulting from (a) any Effect affecting the economy of the United States generally, including changes in the United States or foreign credit, debt, capital or financial markets (including changes in interest or exchange rates) or the economy of any town, city, region, state or country in which the Business is conducted; (b) general changes or developments in the broadcast television industry; (c) the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the announcement of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, the identity of Buyer or its Affiliates, the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, the compliance with the terms of this Agreement or the taking of any action required by this Agreement (other than the requirements set forth in Section 5.4 hereof); (d) earthquakes, hurricanes, tornadoes, pandemics or epidemics impacting the United States, Orders to shut-down or stay-at-home, natural disasters or global, national or regional political conditions, including hostilities, military actions, political instability, acts of terrorism or war or any escalation or material worsening of any such hostilities, military actions, political instability, acts of terrorism or war existing or underway as of the date hereof; (e) any failure, in and of itself, by the Business to meet any internal or published projections, forecasts or revenue or earnings predictions for any period ending on or after the date of this Agreement (it being understood that the facts or occurrences giving rise to such failure may be deemed to constitute, or be taken into account in determining whether there has been or will be, a Material Adverse Effect); or (f) changes in applicable Law or GAAP or the interpretation thereof (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any change in any rule or policy and the issuance of any order, in any case, the effect of which is to restrict in any respect the ability accorded to Buyer under FCC rules and policies in effect as of the date of this Agreement to enter into and perform ioint sales, shared services, and such other operational arrangements and agreements related to any Station); except in the case of clauses (a), (b), (d) and (f), to the extent not having a disproportionate effect on the Business, taken as a whole, relative to other participants in the broadcast television industry.

"Monthly Statements" has the meaning specified in Section 5.11.

"Multi-Station Contract" has the meaning specified in Section 5.6.

"MVPD" means any multi-channel video programming distributor, including, without limitation, cable systems, wireline telecommunications companies and direct broadcast satellite operators.

"Objection Notice" has the meaning specified in Section 2.7(b).

"Offering Materials" has the meaning specified in Section 5.7(d)(i).

"<u>Order</u>" means any order, judgment, injunction, awards, stipulations, decree or writ handed down, promulgated, entered, adopted, issued or imposed by, including any consent decree, settlement agreement or similar written agreement with, any Governmental Body.

"OSHA" means the Occupational Safety and Health Act, 29 U.S.C. §§ 651 et seq., and any regulations promulgated thereunder.

"Other Seller Stations" has the meaning specified in Section 5.6.

"Owned Real Property" has the meaning specified in Section 3.9(a).

"Permitted Encumbrance" means (a) liens for Taxes, assessments or other governmental charges which are not yet due and payable or Taxes being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, (b) zoning laws and ordinances and similar Laws that are not violated by any existing improvement and that do not prohibit the use of the Real Property as currently used in the operation of the Business; (c) in the case of any leased asset, (i) the rights of any lessor under the applicable lease agreement or any Encumbrance granted by any lessor, developer or third-party on any fee interest underlying the Leased Real Property or any Encumbrance that the applicable contract is subject to, (ii) any subleases listed in Schedule(s) 3.9(b) hereto, or (iii) any statutory Lien for amounts that are not yet delinquent or that are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and for which appropriate reserves have been created in accordance with GAAP; (d) easements, rights of way, restrictive covenants and other encumbrances, encroachments or other similar matters affecting title that do not materially adversely affect title to the property subject thereto or impair the continued use of the property in the ordinary course of the Business; (e) statutory Encumbrances of landlords and inchoate statutory materialmens', mechanics', workmen's, carriers', warehousemen's, materialmen's, repairmen's or other like statutory Encumbrances arising in the ordinary course of business for amounts that are not yet due and payable or that are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings; (f) Encumbrances that will be released prior to or as of the Closing Date, including all mortgages and security interests securing indebtedness of Seller or the Quincy Group; (g) licenses of Intellectual Property granted in the ordinary course of business that do not secure any indebtedness; and (h) any right reserved to any Governmental Body to regulate the affected property (including restrictions stated in any permits) except to the extent such right is violated by the current operation of the Business.

"Person" means any person, employee, individual, corporation, limited liability company, partnership, trust, or any other non-governmental entity or any governmental or regulatory authority or body.

"Phase I Environmental Assessment" has the meaning specified in Section 5.1(b).

"Pre-Closing COBRA Liability" means any liability arising under COBRA in respect of any current or former Service Provider (or any beneficiary or dependent thereof), in any case, with respect to any "qualifying event" which occurs on or prior to the Closing Date.

"Pre-Closing Tax Period" means any Tax period ending on or prior to the Closing Date.

- "<u>Pre-Closing WARN Act Liability</u>" shall mean any liability arising under the WARN Act with respect to any mass layoff, plant closing or other termination of employees, in any case, occurring on or prior to the Closing Date.
- "Preliminary Closing Date Balance Sheet" has the meaning specified in Section 2.7(a)(i).
- "Preliminary Closing Date Working Capital Calculation" has the meaning specified in Section 2.7(a)(iii).
  - "Preliminary Purchase Price" has the meaning specified in Section 2.7(a)(ii).
- "<u>Program Rights</u>" means all rights of the Stations to broadcast television programs or shows as part of the Stations' programming, including all rights of the Stations under film and program barter agreements, sports rights agreements, news rights or service agreements, affiliation agreements and syndication agreements.
  - "Proposed Purchase Price Allocation" has the meaning specified in Section 2.11.
- "Prorated Taxes" means all personal property, real property, intangible property and other ad valorem Taxes imposed on or with respect to the Business and/or the Purchased Assets for any Straddle Period.
  - "Purchase Agreement" has the meaning specified in the first recital hereof.
  - "Purchased Asset Claim" has the meaning specified in Section 6.7.
  - "Purchased Assets" has the meaning specified in Section 2.1.
  - "Purchased Intellectual Property" has the meaning specified in Section 2.1(d).
- "Purchased JV Interests" means all issued and outstanding equity interests held by the Quincy Group in Southern Arizona TV Stations, Inc. (the "JV").
  - "Purchase Price" has the meaning specified in Section 2.5.
  - "Quincy" has the meaning specified in the first recital hereof.
  - "Quincy Group" means Quincy and the Quincy Subs collectively.
  - "Quincy Sale" has the meaning specified in the first recital hereof.
  - "Quincy Sellers" has the meaning specified in the first recital hereof.
  - "Quincy Sale Closing Date" means the date upon which the Quincy Sale is consummated.
- "Quincy Subs" means the direct and indirect subsidiaries of Quincy which own and operate the Stations or any assets relating thereto.

"<u>RCRA</u>" means the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 6901 et seq., and any regulations promulgated thereunder.

"Real Property" has the meaning specified in Section 3.9(b).

"Real Property Lease" has the meaning specified in Section 3.9(b).

"Representative" means, with respect to any Person, any director, manager, officer, employee, agent, consultant, advisor or other representative of such Persons, including legal counsel, accountants, and financial advisors.

"Required Consents" has the meaning specified in Section 5.3(e).

"Required Information" means (i) the unaudited balance sheets of each Station for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 and each subsequent fiscal year ending at least 90 days prior to the Closing Date, together with the related unaudited statements of operations for each such fiscal year and in the case of such statements of operations, including results for the fiscal year to date and comparisons to the corresponding fiscal year to date periods in each of the prior two fiscal years; (ii) the unaudited balance sheets of each Station as of each fiscal quarter ending after December 31, 2020 and ending at least 45 days prior to the Closing Date, together with the related unaudited statements of operations for each such fiscal quarter and in the case of such statements of operations, including results for the fiscal year to date and comparisons to the corresponding fiscal year to date periods in each of the prior two fiscal years; and (iii) income statements for each Station for the most recently completed fiscal year, for the most recently completed interim period and for the twenty-four (24) month period ending on the last day of the most recently completed four (4) fiscal quarter period ended at least forty-five (45) days before the Closing Date (or ninety (90) days in case such period includes the end of the Quincy Group's fiscal year).

"Requirements of Law" means any foreign, federal, state or local law, rule or regulation, Governmental Permit or other binding determination of any Governmental Body.

"Resolution Period" has the meaning specified in Section 2.7(b).

"Retained Names and Marks" means all (a) Trademarks containing or incorporating the term "Gray" or "Quincy", (b) other Trademarks owned by Seller or the Quincy Group (other than Trademarks included in the Purchased Intellectual Property), (c) variations or acronyms of any of the foregoing and (d) Trademarks confusingly similar to or dilutive of any of the foregoing.

"Reverse Transition Services Agreement" has the meaning specified in Section 2.9(a)(iii).

"Review Period" has the meaning specified in Section 2.7(b).

"Ripple Commitment Letter" has the meaning specified in Section 4.6(a).

"Ripple Fee Letter" has the meaning specified in Section 4.6(a).

"R&W Insurance Policy" has the meaning specified in Section 6.6.

"R&W Insurance Costs" shall mean any premium, commission, deposit, underwriting or diligence fees, surplus line taxes and related stamping fees, or other fees incurred in relation to the R&W Insurance Policy.

"Satellite Waiver" has the meaning specified in Section 5.3(f).

"Seller" has the meaning specified in the introductory paragraph hereof.

"Seller Employee Liabilities" means the following liabilities of Seller, the Quincy Group and/or any of their respective Affiliates: (a) any liability arising at any time under or in connection with any Employee Plan; (b) any liability that constitutes a Pre-Closing COBRA Liability or Pre-Closing WARN Act Liability; (c) any liability that is or may be imposed on Seller, the Quincy Group and/or any of their respective Affiliates due to such entity's status as an ERISA Affiliate of any other entity; (d) any liability arising in connection with the actual or prospective employment or engagement, the retention and/or discharge by Seller, the Quincy Group and/or any of their respective Affiliates of any current, former or prospective Employee or other Service Provider; (e) any liability for wages, remuneration, compensation (including any equity grants, bonuses or commissions due any Employee or other Service Provider), benefits, severance or other compensatory or accrued obligations (i) associated with any current or former Employee or other Service Provider who does not become a Continuing Employee for any reason (or any spouse, dependent or beneficiary thereof), and (ii) with respect to any Continuing Employee, arising on or prior to the Closing; and (f) any claim in any jurisdiction of an unfair labor practice, or any claim under any state unemployment compensation or worker's compensation law or regulation or under any federal or state employment law or other law or regulation relating to employment, termination of employment or engagement, automatic transfer of employment, failure to inform or consult, discrimination, classification or other matters relating to Employees or other Service Providers; in any case, with respect to (i) any current, former or prospective Employee of other Service Provider who does not become a Continuing Employee (or any dependent or beneficiary thereof), and (ii) any Continuing Employee, to the extent arising on or prior to the Closing Date. For clarity, any obligations arising after Closing under any Assumed CBA shall not constitute Seller Employee Liabilities.

"Seller Fundamental Representations" means, collectively, the representations and warranties of Seller set forth in Section 3.1 (Organization), Section 3.2 (Authority of Seller and the Quincy Group), Section 3.6 (Taxes), Section 3.7(b) (Sufficiency of Assets), Section 3.11 (Title to Assets) and Section 3.23 (No Finder).

"Seller FCC Authorizations" means those Governmental Permits (including any renewals and modifications thereof and assignable pending applications therefor) issued to Seller or the Quincy Group by the FCC with respect to the Stations that are material to the Stations' operations.

"Seller Group Member" means Seller, each of its Affiliates, each of their successors and assigns, and each of their respective Representatives.

"Service Provider" means any employee (including any Employee), officer, director, manager or individual independent contractor or consultant of Seller, the Quincy Group and/or

any of their respective Affiliates, as applicable, in all cases, where such individual's performance of services for Seller, the Quincy Group and/or any of their respective Affiliates relates primarily to the Business.

# "Seller Transition Services Agreement" has the meaning specified in Section 2.9(a)(iii).

"Solvent" means, when used with respect to any Person or group of Persons on a combined basis, that, as of any date of determination, (A) the Present Fair Salable Value of its assets will, as of such date, exceed all of its Stated Liabilities and Contingent Liabilities, as of such date, (B) such Person will not have, as of such date, an unreasonably small amount of capital for the business in which it is engaged or will be engaged and (C) such Person will be able to pay its Stated Liabilities and Contingent Liabilities as they mature, in the ordinary course of business, taking into account the timing of and amounts of cash to be received by it and the timing of and amounts of cash to be payable on or in respect of its indebtedness, in each case after giving effect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. As used herein, (i) "Stated Liabilities" means the recorded liabilities of a Person, determined in accordance with GAAP consistently applied; (ii) "Identified Contingent Liabilities" means the maximum estimated amount of liabilities reasonably likely to result from pending litigation, asserted claims and assessments, guaranties, uninsured risks and other contingent liabilities of a Person (including all fees and expenses related thereto but exclusive of such contingent liabilities to the extent reflected in Stated Liabilities), as identified and explained in terms of their nature and estimated magnitude by responsible officers of such Person; and (iii) "Present Fair Salable Value" means the amount that could be obtained by an independent willing seller from an independent selling buyer if the assets (both tangible and intangible) of a Person (including goodwill) are sold with reasonable promptness in an arm'slength transaction under present conditions for the sale of comparable business enterprises insofar as such conditions can be reasonably evaluated.

"Stations" has the meaning specified in the second recital hereof.

"Station Agreements" has the meaning specified in Section 3.15.

"<u>Straddle Period</u>" means any taxable period beginning on or before and ending after the Closing Date.

"Tangible Personal Property" has the meaning specified in Section 2.1(c).

"Tax" means any federal, state, local or foreign income, branch profits, excise, severance, occupation, premium, windfall profits, customs duties, disability, ad valorem, estimated, alternative or add-on minimum, gross income, gross receipts, property, sales, use, transfer, gains, license, employment, payroll, capital stock, environmental, franchise, social security, stamp, registration and value-added taxes, withholding or minimum tax, or other tax of any kind whatsoever, together with any interest or any penalty, addition to tax or additional amount imposed by any Governmental Body with respect thereto, whether disputed or not.

"<u>Tax Return</u>" means any return, declaration, report, claim for refund or other document relating to Taxes, including any schedule or attachment thereto, and amendment thereof.

"Termination Date" has the meaning specified in Section 10.1(a)(v).

"Third Person Claim Notice" has the meaning specified in Section 9.4(a).

"<u>Trade Agreement</u>" means any contract, agreement or commitment, oral or written, other than film and program barter agreements, pursuant to which Seller or the Quincy Group has agreed to sell or trade commercial air time or commercial production services of a Station in consideration for any property or service in lieu of cash.

"Trademark License Agreement" has the meaning specified in Section 2.9(a)(v).

"<u>Trademarks</u>" means trademarks, service marks, Internet domain names, trade dress, trade names, and corporate names, all applications and registrations for the foregoing, and all goodwill connected with the use thereof and symbolized thereby.

"Transfer Taxes" means all transfer, documentary, excise, sales, value added, goods and services, use, stamp, registration and other similar taxes, and all conveyance fees, recording charges and other similar fees and charges, incurred in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

"Transition Services Agreements" has the meaning specified in Section 2.9(a)(iii).

"<u>Treasury Regulations</u>" means regulations promulgated by the United States Department of the Treasury under the Code.

"TV Repack" means the repacking of broadcast spectrum following the Broadcast Incentive Auction.

"Unaudited Financial Statements" has the meaning specified in Section 3.3.

"Ungranted Licenses" has the meaning specified in Section 6.9.

"<u>Union Employees</u>" shall mean all Employees whose terms of employment are subject to a CBA and who are members of the applicable union.

"<u>WARN Act</u>" shall mean the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Act of 1988, as amended, or any similar state or local plant closing or mass layoff statute, rule or regulation.

#### ARTICLE II

#### PURCHASE AND SALE OF PURCHASED ASSETS

Section 2.1 <u>Purchase and Sale of Purchased Assets</u>. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, at the Closing, Seller shall, and shall cause its Affiliates, including the Quincy Group, to sell, transfer, assign, convey and deliver to Buyer (and/or one or more Affiliates of Buyer designated by Buyer set forth on <u>Annex 2.1</u>, "<u>Buyer Designees</u>"), and Buyer (or, if applicable, Buyer Designee(s)) shall purchase from Seller and its Affiliates, including the Quincy Group, pursuant to this Agreement, free and clear of all Encumbrances (except for Permitted Encumbrances), all of the right, title and interest of Seller, including the Quincy Group, to the assets, properties and business (excepting only the Excluded Assets) of every kind and

description, real, personal or mixed, tangible or intangible, then owned or held by Seller, including the Quincy Group, and used primarily in the Business (herein collectively referred to as the "<u>Purchased Assets</u>"), including, all right, title and interest of Seller, including the Quincy Group, as of Closing to the following (excepting only the Excluded Assets):

- (a) (x) The Seller FCC Authorizations and (y) all other Governmental Permits (including any under Environmental Laws) that may be transferred under applicable Law primarily related to the Stations and necessary to operate the Business, and including any applications therefor and renewals or modifications thereof between the date hereof and Closing;
- (b) All Owned Real Property together with all of the fixtures and improvements thereon;
- (c) All machinery, equipment (including cameras, computers and office equipment), auxiliary and translator facilities, transmitting towers, transmitters, broadcast equipment, antennae, supplies, inventory (including all films, programs, records, tapes, recordings, compact discs, cassettes, spare parts and equipment), vehicles, furniture and other tangible personal property owned by Seller or its Affiliates, including the Quincy Group, and used primarily in the Business except for any retirements or dispositions thereof made between the date hereof and Closing in accordance with Section 5.4 ("Tangible Personal Property");
- (d) All Intellectual Property owned by Seller or its Affiliates, including the Quincy Group, and used primarily in the Business (the "Purchased Intellectual Property"), including the Stations' call signs KVOA, WKOW, WREX, WSIL, KPOB, KWWL, WXOW, WQOW, WAO and WMOW and all copyrighted works and clips produced by or for the Stations or the Business but, for the avoidance of doubt, excluding any Intellectual Property used primarily in connection with any Other Seller Stations;
- (e) Subject to Section 5.6, all Contracts primarily related to the Business, including (i) all Contracts of the Stations to the extent such Contracts are for the sale or barter of broadcast time on the Stations for advertising or other purposes; (ii) all Contracts of Seller or its Affiliates, including the Quincy Group, to the extent such Contracts are for the purchase or lease, as applicable, of merchandise, supplies, equipment or other personal property, or for the receipt of services, in each case used primarily in the Business; (iii) all Contracts listed or described in Schedule 3.14, and (iv) any other Contract entered into by Seller or its Affiliates, including the Quincy Group, primarily for the Business that (A) is of the general nature described in Section 3.14, but which, by virtue of the threshold amounts or other specific terms set forth in such section, is not required to be listed in Schedule 3.14 or (B) is entered into after the date hereof and that primarily relates to the Business, which shall be entered into consistent with the provisions of Section 5.4 of this Agreement;
- (f) All accounts and notes receivable (whether current or noncurrent) outstanding at the Cutoff Time generated by the Business prior to the Closing;
- (g) All claims or causes of action of Seller or the Quincy Group, as applicable, against third parties solely to the extent that any such claims or causes of action arise out of the Purchased Assets or Assumed Liabilities, the Stations or the Business;

- (h) All management and other systems (including computers and peripheral equipment), databases, computer software, disks and similar assets owned by Seller or the Quincy Group, which are used primarily in the Business, and all licenses of Seller or the Quincy Group, to the extent relating thereto;
- (i) All prepaid expenses, credits, advance payments, security deposits, charges, sums and fees related to the Purchased Assets; and, including without limitation, prepayments by, or deposits received from, customers;
- (j) All personnel records relating to the Continuing Employees, to the extent the transfer thereof is not prohibited by applicable Law;
- (k) All attorney work product and privileged communications of the Business, other than the Deal Communications;
- (l) All available supplies, sales literature, promotional literature, customer, supplier, and distributor lists, art work, telephone and fax numbers, and purchasing records related to the Business;
- (m) All rights under or pursuant to all warranties, representations, indemnities and guarantees and similar rights against third parties to the extent related to the Purchased Assets;
- (n) All insurance benefits, including rights and proceeds, arising from or relating to the Business, the Purchased Assets or the Assumed Liabilities;
  - (o) All goodwill and going-concern value of the Business;
- (p) All Books and Records of Seller or the Quincy Group, to the extent primarily related to the Business, the Purchased Assets, the Assumed Liabilities or the employment of the Continuing Employees, but excluding any Books and Records relating to Excluded Assets or the Other Seller Stations (except for copies thereof to the extent such Books and Record relate to the Business, the Purchased Assets, the Assumed Liabilities or the employment of the Continuing Employees);
- (q) Subject to Section 6.1(c), Tax Returns (or the portions thereof) relating to Prorated Taxes;
  - (r) The Control Room Hub;
  - (s) The Purchased JV Interests; and
  - (t) The items designated in <u>Schedule 2.1(t)</u> as "Purchased Assets".
- Section 2.2 <u>Excluded Assets</u>. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Purchased Assets shall not include the following (herein referred to as the "<u>Excluded Assets</u>"):

- (a) Any cash or cash equivalents (including any marketable securities or certificates of deposit) of Seller or the Quincy Group, other than petty cash held at the Stations or as provided for in Section 2.1(i);
  - (b) All bank and other depository accounts of Seller or the Quincy Group;
- (c) All Tangible Personal Property of Seller or the Quincy Group, sold, transferred, retired or otherwise disposed of between the date of this Agreement and Closing in compliance with the terms of this Agreement;
- (d) All Station Agreements that are terminated or expire (and are not renewed or extended by Seller or the Quincy Group) prior to Closing;
- (e) All claims, rights and interests of Seller or the Quincy Group, in and to any refunds of Taxes relating to the Business, the Purchased Assets or the Assumed Liabilities for, or applicable to, taxable periods (or portions thereof) ending on or prior to the Closing Date;
- (f) Any rights, claims or causes of action of Seller or the Quincy Group, against third parties (including in respect of Taxes) relating to the assets, properties or operations of the Business prior to the Closing Date (including all amounts payable to Seller, if any, from the United States Copyright Office or such arbitration panels as may be appointed by the United States Copyright Office that relate to the Business prior to the Closing that have not been paid as of the Closing);
- (g) All bonds held, Contracts or policies of insurance and prepaid insurance with respect to such Contracts or policies, other than those set forth in Section 2.1(n);
- (h) Minute books, stock transfer books, records relating to formation or incorporation, Tax Returns and related documents and supporting work papers and any other records and returns relating to Taxes, assessments and similar governmental levies (other than Tax Returns (or the portions thereof) described in Section 2.1(q)) and any Books and Records that are not (i) exclusively related to the Business, the Purchased Assets, the Assumed Liabilities or the employment of the Continuing Employees or (ii) otherwise set forth in Section 2.1(p) or Section 2.1(q) (including the original versions of the Books and Records set forth in Section 2.1(p) and Section 2.1(q), as applicable);
- (i) Any rights under any non-transferable shrink-wrapped or click-wrapped licenses of computer software and any other non-transferable licenses of computer software;
- (j) All records prepared in connection with or relating to the sale or transfer of the Stations, including bids received from others and analyses relating to the Stations and the Purchased Assets;
- (k) All attorney work product and privileged communications to the extent relating to the negotiation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement ("<u>Deal</u> Communications");
  - (1) The items designated in <u>Schedule 2.2(1)</u> as "Excluded Assets";

- (m) The Retained Names and Marks;
- (n) All Intellectual Property of Seller and the Quincy Group (other than the Purchased Intellectual Property);
- (o) Except for the items designated in <u>Schedule 2.1(t)</u>, all real and personal, tangible and intangible assets of Seller and the Quincy Group, that are used or held for use primarily in the operation of the Other Seller Stations;
- (p) All Books and Records to the extent not (i) exclusively related to the Business, the Purchased Assets, the Assumed Liabilities or the employment of the Continuing Employees or (ii) otherwise set forth in Section 2.1(p) or Section 2.1(q) (including the original versions of the Books and Records set forth in Section 2.1(q));
- (q) Except for the Purchased JV Interests, all capital stock or other equity securities of Seller and the Quincy Group, and all other equity interests in any entity that are owned beneficially or of record by Seller, the Quincy Group or their Affiliates;
- (r) All of the employee benefit agreements, plans or arrangements sponsored or maintained by Seller, the Quincy Group and/or any of their respective Affiliates (including, without limitation, all Employee Plans) and any assets held in trust to fund the liabilities of any Employee Plan;
- (s) Any intercompany receivables of the Business from Seller or the Quincy Group; and
- (t) Any rights of or payment due to Seller or the Quincy Group, under or pursuant to this Agreement or the Ancillary Agreements.

# Section 2.3 Assumption of Liabilities.

- (a) Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, as of the Closing, Buyer (or Buyer Designee(s), as applicable) shall assume and shall thereafter be obligated for, and shall agree to pay, perform and discharge in accordance with their terms, the following Liabilities (whether imposed on Buyer or Seller), whether direct or indirect, known or unknown (except to the extent such Liabilities constitute Excluded Liabilities) (collectively, the "Assumed Liabilities"):
- (i) all Current Liabilities included in the calculation of the Closing Date Working Capital Amount or Closing Date Working Capital Deficit;
- (ii) the Liabilities arising with, or relating to, the operation of the Stations, including the owning or holding of the Purchased Assets, on and after the Closing (except to the extent that such Liabilities were required by the terms thereof to be discharged prior to the Closing and excluding, for clarity, all Employee Plans);
- (iii) all Liabilities relating to the Business or the Purchased Assets arising out of Environmental Laws after the Closing Date, whether or not presently existing, except

for Liabilities arising out of a breach of <u>Section 3.19</u> or that are disclosed on <u>Schedule 3.19</u> or required to be disclosed on <u>Schedule 3.19</u> but which are not so disclosed;

- (iv) subject to <u>Section 5.6</u>, all Liabilities under the Station Agreements and other Contracts included as Purchased Assets on or after Closing (except to the extent that such Liabilities were required by the terms thereof to be discharged prior to the Closing and excluding, for clarity, all Employee Plans);
- (v) (x) all Taxes imposed on or with respect to the Purchased Assets or the Business for any taxable period beginning after the Closing Date, (y) any Prorated Taxes for the portion of any Straddle Period beginning after the Closing Date (determined in accordance with Section 6.1) and (z) any Transfer Taxes that are the responsibility of Buyer pursuant to Section 6.1(e); and
- (vi) all Liabilities of Buyer or its Affiliates pursuant to <u>Section 6.2</u> hereof.
- (b) Notwithstanding the provisions of <u>Section 2.3(a)</u> or any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, Buyer (and the Buyer Designee(s), as applicable) shall not assume or be obligated for any of or become responsible for, and Seller and the Quincy Group, shall solely retain, pay, perform, defend and discharge all of the Liabilities of any and every kind whatsoever, direct or indirect, known or unknown, absolute or contingent, not expressly assumed by Buyer under <u>Section 2.3(a)</u> (herein referred to as "<u>Excluded Liabilities</u>") and, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in <u>Section 2.3(a)</u>, none of the following shall be "Assumed Liabilities" for purposes of this Agreement (and shall instead be Excluded Liabilities):
- (i) any and all Liabilities, whether arising before, on or after the Closing Date, relating to or arising out of the past, present, or future ownership or use of any of the Excluded Assets;
- (ii) (x) all Taxes (other than any Prorated Taxes or Transfer Taxes) of Seller or any of its Affiliates, including the Quincy Group, for any Tax period, including without limitation any liability of Seller or any of its Affiliates for the Taxes of any other Person under Treasury Regulations Section 1.1502-6 (or any similar provision of state, local or foreign Law), as a transferee or successor, or by Contract (other than any Contract that is a Purchased Asset), and (y) any Prorated Taxes for the portion of any Straddle Period ending on the Closing Date (determined in accordance with Section 6.1) and any Taxes otherwise imposed on or with respect to the Purchased Assets or the Business for any taxable period ending on or before the Closing Date, and (z) any Transfer Taxes that are the responsibility of Seller pursuant to Section 6.1(e);
  - (iii) all Seller Employee Liabilities;
- (iv) any intercompany payables of the Business owing to Seller or the Quincy Group;
- (v) any Liabilities of Seller or the Quincy Group, arising out of or relating to the operation of the Business or the Purchased Assets (or the operation of the JV) prior

to the Cut-off Time (other than Current Liabilities included in the calculation of the Closing Date Working Capital Amount or Closing Date Working Capital Deficit);

- (vi) any Liabilities for funded indebtedness, loans or credit facilities;
- (vii) any Liabilities arising or incurred in connection with the negotiation, preparation, investigation and performance of this Agreement, the Ancillary Documents and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, including, fees and expenses of counsel, accountants, consultants, advisers and others;
- (viii) except to the extent such Liability is an Assumed Liability under <u>Section 2.3(a)(iii)</u>, (x) all Liabilities relating to any contamination by Hazardous Materials at, from or under any Real Property prior to the Closing Date, and (y) all Liabilities arising from any noncompliance of the Business with any Environmental Law prior to the Closing Date;
- (ix) Liabilities that Seller has expressly has agreed to be responsible for pursuant to this Agreement;
- (x) Any cost and expense of or other Liability for remediation of any environmental condition that is identified in any environmental assessment (or the results thereof) in accordance with the Purchase Agreement that is not remediated prior to the Closing;
- (xi) Any Liability owed to any current, former or purported direct or indirect equityholder of the Quincy Group (in their capacity as such) related to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; and
- (xii) any Seller Liabilities under this Agreement or the Ancillary Agreements.
- Closing Date. Subject to any prior termination of this Agreement pursuant Section 2.4 to Section 10.1, the purchase and sale of the Purchased Assets provided for in Section 2.1 (the "Closing") shall be consummated at 10:00 A.M., central time, on the first of the month following the month in which the conditions set forth in Articles VII and VIII are satisfied or, if legally permissible, waived (other than those conditions that by their nature are to be satisfied (or validly waived) at the Closing, but subject to such satisfaction or waiver), at the offices of Cooley LLP, 1299 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W., Suite 700, Washington, DC 20004, unless such time or date is changed by mutual agreement of Seller and Buyer (the "Closing Date"); provided, that, if the Marketing Period has not ended on or before the date on which all of the conditions precedent set forth above have been satisfied or waived, the Closing shall not occur until the first of the month following the month in which the earlier of the following occurs: (x) a date during the Marketing Period specified by Buyer on three (3) Business Days' written notice to the Seller or (y) the third (3rd) Business Day immediately following the end of the Marketing Period; provided, further, that if the first of the month occurs on a date that is not a Business Day, such Closing Date shall be the following Business Day; provided, further, that, in such event, the Cutoff Time shall be deemed 12:01 a.m., central time on the first of such month.

- Section 2.5 <u>Purchase Price</u>. The purchase price for the Purchased Assets (the "<u>Purchase Price</u>") shall be determined in accordance with this <u>Section 2.5</u> and <u>Section 2.7</u> and shall be equal to:
  - (i) Three Hundred Eighty Million Dollars (\$380,000,000), plus
  - (ii) the Closing Date Working Capital Amount, or minus
  - (iii) the Closing Date Working Capital Deficit.

At least two (2) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, Seller shall deliver to Buyer a statement, setting forth, in reasonable detail, Seller's good faith estimate of (i) the Closing Date Working Capital Amount or the Closing Date Working Capital Deficit, as the case may be, and (ii) the Purchase Price (the "Estimated Purchase Price").

Section 2.6 Payment on Closing Date. On the Closing Date, (a) Buyer shall pay Seller an amount equal to the Estimated Purchase Price minus the amount of the Escrow Deposit (the "Closing Date Payment") by bank wire transfer of immediately available funds to such bank account or accounts designated by Seller for such purpose not less than two (2) Business Days before the Closing Date, and (b) Buyer and Seller shall jointly instruct the Escrow Agent to pay the Escrow Deposit to Seller by bank wire transfer of immediately available funds to such bank account or accounts designated by Seller for such purpose not less than two (2) Business Days before the Closing Date.

# Section 2.7 Determination of Closing Date Working Capital and Purchase Price.

- (a) Not later than thirty (30) days after the Closing Date, Buyer shall:
- (i) prepare, in accordance with the Agreed Accounting Principles, a balance sheet setting forth the Current Assets and Current Liabilities as of the Cutoff Time with respect to the Purchased Assets and the Assumed Liabilities (the "Preliminary Closing Date Balance Sheet");
- (ii) determine the Purchase Price in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement (such Purchase Price as determined by Buyer being called the "<u>Preliminary Purchase Price</u>"); and
- (iii) deliver to Seller a certificate executed by Buyer setting forth or attaching the Preliminary Closing Date Balance Sheet and Buyer's calculation of the Closing Date Working Capital Amount or the Closing Date Working Capital Deficit, as the case may be (the "Preliminary Closing Date Working Capital Calculation") derived therefrom and the Preliminary Purchase Price.
- (b) Seller shall have thirty (30) Business Days following receipt of the certificate referenced in Section 2.7(a) (the "Review Period") in which to review the Preliminary Closing Date Balance Sheet, the Preliminary Purchase Price and the Preliminary Closing Date Working Capital Calculation. In the event Seller does not object to the Preliminary Closing Date Balance Sheet, the Preliminary Purchase Price or the Preliminary Closing Date Working Capital

Calculation prior to expiration of the Review Period, the Preliminary Closing Date Balance Sheet, the Preliminary Purchase Price and the Preliminary Closing Date Working Capital Calculation shall become (i) the "Closing Date Balance Sheet," (ii) the "Purchase Price" and (iii) the "Closing Date Working Capital Amount" or the "Closing Date Working Capital Deficit," as the case may be, respectively, for all purposes of this Agreement, including for purposes of determining the adjustment payment (if any) specified in Section 2.12. In the event Seller objects to the Preliminary Closing Date Balance Sheet, the Preliminary Purchase Price or the Preliminary Closing Date Working Capital Calculation, Seller shall give written notice to Buyer specifying its objections in reasonable detail and the basis therefor prior to the expiration of the Review Period (the "Objection Notice"). During the fifteen (15) Business Day period following Buyer's receipt of the Objection Notice (the "Resolution Period"), Buyer and Seller shall attempt to resolve the differences specified in the Objection Notice, and any resolution by them (evidenced in writing) of such differences (the "Agreed Adjustments") shall be final, binding and conclusive. In the event Buyer and Seller resolve all disputed items set forth in the Objection Notice by the Agreed Adjustments, the Preliminary Closing Date Balance Sheet, the Preliminary Purchase Price and the Preliminary Closing Date Working Capital Calculation, in each case as adjusted by the Agreed Adjustments, shall become (x) the "Closing Date Balance Sheet," (y) the "Purchase Price" and (z) the "Closing Date Working Capital Amount" or the "Closing Date Working Capital Deficit," as the case may be, respectively, for all purposes of this Agreement, including for purposes of determining the adjustment payment (if any) specified in Section 2.12.

- If at the conclusion of the Resolution Period, any objections raised by Seller (c) remain unresolved, then the amounts so in dispute (the "Disputed Items") shall be submitted to PricewaterhouseCoopers or another firm of independent public accountants (the "Arbitrator") mutually selected by Seller and Buyer within ten (10) Business Days after the expiration of the Resolution Period. The Arbitrator shall determine and resolve, based solely on presentations by Buyer and Seller, and not by independent review, the proper calculation of the Disputed Items, consistent with GAAP. In resolving the Disputed Items, the Arbitrator's determination shall be no higher or lower than the respective amounts proposed by Buyer and Seller. The Arbitrator's determination shall be made within thirty (30) Business Days of its selection, shall be set forth in a written statement delivered to Buyer and Seller and shall be final, binding and conclusive on the parties hereto. The Preliminary Closing Date Balance Sheet, the Preliminary Purchase Price and the Preliminary Closing Date Working Capital Calculation shall be adjusted to reflect all Agreed Adjustments and the resolution of all Disputed Items by the Arbitrator and, as so adjusted, shall be (i) the "Closing Date Balance Sheet," (ii) the "Purchase Price" and (iii) the "Closing Date Working Capital Amount" or the "Closing Date Working Capital Deficit," as the case may be, respectively, for all purposes of this Agreement, including for purposes of determining the adjustment payment (if any) specified in Section 2.12.
- (d) The parties hereto shall maintain and make available to Buyer, Seller and, if applicable, the Arbitrator, such books, records and other information (including work papers) as any of the foregoing may reasonably request to prepare or review the Preliminary Closing Date Balance Sheet, the Preliminary Purchase Price and the Preliminary Closing Date Working Capital Calculation or any matters submitted to the Arbitrator; provided that any access provided to a party hereto or its Representatives pursuant to this Section 2.7(d) shall be (A) upon advance notice and during regular business hours and in compliance with and subject to such party's health, safety and security requirements (including relating to COVID-19 Pandemic), and (B) in a manner which

will not unreasonably interfere with the operation of the Business. The fees and expenses of the Arbitrator shall be paid proportionately by Buyer and Seller based on the determination of the Arbitrator of the unresolved objections submitted to it pursuant to Section 2.7(c). The calculation of such proportionate payments shall be based on the relative position of the determination of the Arbitrator in comparison to the positions submitted to it by Buyer and Seller pursuant to Section 2.7(c).

(e) The "Purchase Price" and the "Closing Date Working Capital Amount" or the "Closing Date Working Capital Deficit," as the case may be, and the determinations and calculations contained in each of them, shall be prepared and calculated in accordance with GAAP, except that such statements, calculations and determinations: (i) shall not include any purchase accounting or other adjustment arising out of the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and (ii) shall follow the Agreed Accounting Principles and the defined terms contained in this Agreement.

**Section 2.8** Escrow Deposit. By May 3, 2021, Buyer shall deposit (or cause to be deposited) a cash amount equal to Ten Million Dollars (\$10,000,000) (the "Escrow Deposit") with the Escrow Agent pursuant to the Escrow Agreement. At Closing, the Escrow Deposit shall be treated as an advance on the Purchase Price. Buyer and Seller shall jointly instruct the Escrow Agent in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the Escrow Agreement to disburse the Escrow Deposit and all interest and earnings thereon to the party entitled thereto, and neither party shall, by act or omission, delay or prevent any such disbursement.

# Section 2.9 Closing Date Deliveries.

- (a) At the Closing, Seller shall deliver or cause to be delivered to Buyer:
- (i) a bill of sale and assignment and assumption agreement from Seller and the applicable members of the Quincy Group in substantially the form of Exhibit B (the "Bill of Sale and Assignment and Assumption Agreement"), providing for the conveyance of all of the Purchased Assets (other than the Owned Real Property and the Seller FCC Authorizations) and the assumption of all of the Assumed Liabilities;
- (ii) an assignment of the Seller FCC Authorizations from the applicable members of the Quincy Group in substantially the form of <u>Exhibit C</u> (the "<u>Assignment of Seller FCC Authorizations</u>"), assigning to Buyer the Seller FCC Authorizations for which the FCC has granted the applicable FCC Application;
- (iii) (a) a transition services agreement for the provision of transition services by Seller and the applicable members of the Quincy Group in substantially the form of Exhibit D (the "Seller Transition Services Agreements") and (b) a transition services agreement for the provision of transition services by Buyer in substantially the form of Exhibit E (the "Reverse Transition Services Agreement", and together with the Seller Transition Services Agreement, the "Transition Services Agreements");
- (iv) special or limited warranty deeds (in the customary and recordable form for the jurisdiction in which the applicable Owned Real Property is located), duly executed and properly notarized, conveying to Buyer the Owned Real Property;

- (v) a trademark license agreement with respect to the license of certain Trademarks owned by Seller or the Quincy Group to Buyer in substantially the form of <u>Exhibit F</u> (the "<u>Trademark License Agreement</u>");
- (vi) all of the documents and instruments required to be delivered by Seller pursuant to <u>Article VIII</u>;
- (vii) specific assignment and assumption agreements duly executed by Seller and the applicable members of the Quincy Group relating to any agreements included as Purchased Assets that Buyer or Seller have determined to be reasonably necessary to assign such agreements to Buyer and for Buyer to assume the Assumed Liabilities thereunder;
- (viii) a properly completed and duly executed IRS Form W-9 of Seller; and
- (ix) such other documents and instruments as Buyer has determined to be reasonably necessary to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby, including without limitation, (i) owner's affidavits, gap indemnities such other affidavits, certificates and documents as the title company insuring Buyer's title may reasonably require and (ii) customary intellectual property transfer and recordation instruments.
  - (b) At the Closing, Buyer shall deliver to Seller:
    - (i) the Closing Date Payment;
    - (ii) the Bill of Sale and Assignment and Assumption Agreement;
    - (iii) the Transition Services Agreements;
    - (iv) the Trademark License Agreement;
- (v) all of the documents and instruments required to be delivered by Buyer pursuant to Article VII;
- (vi) specific assignment and assumption agreements duly executed by Buyer (or Buyer Designee(s), as applicable) relating to any agreements included as Purchased Assets that Buyer or Seller have determined to be reasonably necessary to assign such agreements to Buyer and for Buyer to assume the Assumed Liabilities thereunder; and
- (vii) such other documents and instruments as Seller has determined to be reasonably necessary to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby.

#### Section 2.10 Further Assurances.

(a) From time to time following the Closing, Seller shall execute and deliver, or cause its Affiliates, including the Quincy Group, to execute and deliver, to Buyer such other instruments of conveyance and transfer as Buyer may reasonably request or as may be otherwise necessary to effectively convey and transfer to, and vest in, Buyer (or Buyer Designee(s), as

applicable) and put Buyer (or Buyer Designee(s), as applicable) in possession of any part of the Purchased Assets.

- (b) Without limiting Section 5.3(e), to the extent that any Station Agreement or other agreement or contract included as a Purchased Asset cannot be assigned without consent and such consent is not obtained prior to the Closing, Seller shall, and shall cause its Affiliates and the Quincy Group to, use all commercially reasonable efforts to provide Buyer the benefits of any such agreement and if Seller or its Affiliates, including the Quincy Group, are able to do so, Buyer shall perform or discharge on behalf of Seller or the Quincy Group, the obligations and liabilities under such agreement that constitute Assumed Liabilities. In addition to Buyer's obligation pursuant to the foregoing sentence, as to any Station Agreement or other agreement or contract included as a Purchased Asset that is not effectively assigned to Buyer as of the Closing Date but is thereafter effectively assigned to Buyer, Buyer shall, from and after the effective date of such assignment, assume, and shall thereafter pay, perform and discharge as and when due, all Assumed Liabilities of Seller or the Quincy Group, arising under such agreement from and after the effective date of such assignment.
- (c) From time to time following the Closing, Buyer shall execute and deliver, or cause to be executed and delivered, to Seller such other undertakings and assumptions as Seller may reasonably request or as may be otherwise necessary to effectively evidence Buyer's assumption of and obligation to pay, perform and discharge the Assumed Liabilities.
- (d) Buyer may obtain, at its sole option and expense, ALTA extended owner's policies of title insurance for the Owned Real Property in form reasonably satisfactory to Buyer, and Seller shall take commercially reasonable actions as reasonably requested by Buyer to facilitate Buyer's procurement of such title insurance (including, if requested by Buyer, by providing access to the Owned Real Property for survey and/or inspection, by providing an owner's affidavit, a gap indemnity and other affidavits, certificates and documents as the title company may reasonably request).
- Section 2.11 Allocation of Purchase Price. No later than ninety (90) days after the Closing Date, Seller shall provide to Buyer a proposed allocation of the Purchase Price (and Assumed Liabilities to the extent properly taken into account for income Tax purposes) among the Purchased Assets in accordance with Section 1060 of the Code and the Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder (and any similar provisions of state, local, or non-U.S. Law, as appropriate) (the "Proposed Purchase Price Allocation"). Buyer shall provide Seller with any comments to the Proposed Purchase Price Allocation within thirty (30) days after the date of receipt by Buyer, and Buyer and Seller shall negotiate in good faith to finalize such allocation no later than sixty (60) days prior to the earliest due date (taking into account, for these purposes, any applicable extension of a due date) for the filing of a Tax Return to which such allocation is relevant (unless Buyer does not provide any comments within such thirty-day period, in which case the Proposed Purchase Price Allocation shall be deemed final). The Proposed Purchase Price Allocation, (a) as prepared by Seller if Buyer does not provide any comments within the required period, or (b) as adjusted pursuant to any agreement among Seller and Buyer (in any such case, the "Final Purchase Price Allocation"), shall be conclusive and binding upon the parties to the extent provided in this Section 2.11. Seller and Buyer agree to file all Tax Returns (including IRS Form 8594) in a manner consistent with the Final Purchase Price Allocation unless required by a

Governmental Body; provided, that, if Buyer provides comments on the draft allocation in accordance with this <u>Section 2.11</u> and Seller and Buyer are unable to mutually agree upon a Final Purchase Price Allocation then the Seller and Buyer shall have no further obligation under this <u>Section 2.11</u>, and each of Seller and Buyer shall make its own determination of such allocation for financial and tax reporting purposes, which determination, for the avoidance of doubt, shall not be binding on the other party. If the Purchase Price is adjusted pursuant to <u>Section 6.1(f)</u>, any Final Purchase Price Allocation shall be adjusted in a manner consistent with the procedures set forth in this Section 2.11.

- **Section 2.12** <u>Purchase Price Adjustment</u>. Promptly (but not later than five (5) Business Days) after the determination of the Purchase Price pursuant to <u>Section 2.7</u> that is final and binding as set forth herein:
- (a) if the Purchase Price as finally determined pursuant to <u>Section 2.7</u> exceeds the Estimated Purchase Price, Buyer shall pay to Seller, by wire transfer of immediately available funds to such bank accounts of Seller as Seller shall designate in writing to Buyer, the difference between the Purchase Price and the Estimated Purchase Price; or
- (b) if the Purchase Price as finally determined pursuant to <u>Section 2.7</u> is less than the Estimated Purchase Price, Seller shall pay to Buyer, by wire transfer of immediately available funds to such bank accounts of Buyer as Buyer shall designate in writing to Seller, the difference between the Purchase Price and the Estimated Purchase Price.
- Section 2.13 Withholding. Buyer, its Affiliates and the Escrow Agent shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from the consideration otherwise payable pursuant to this Agreement to Seller or any other Person such amounts as Buyer, its Affiliates and the Escrow Agent are required to deduct and withhold under the Code, or any Tax Law, with respect to the making of such payment. To the extent that amounts are so withheld and paid to the applicable Governmental Body in accordance with applicable Law, such withheld amounts shall be treated for all purposes of this Agreement as having been paid to the Person in respect of whom such deduction and withholding was made.

#### ARTICLE III

## REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLER

As an inducement to Buyer to enter into this Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby, Seller represents and warrants to Buyer, as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date, as follows:

**Section 3.1** Organization. Each of Seller and each member of the Quincy Group is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of its state of incorporation. Each of Seller and each member of the Quincy Group has the requisite organizational power and authority to operate the Stations as now operated by it, to use the Purchased Assets as now used by it and to carry on the Business as now conducted by it. Each member of the Quincy Group is licensed or qualified to do business under the laws of each jurisdiction in which the character of

its properties or the transaction of its business makes such licensure or qualification necessary, except where the failure to be so licensed or qualified would not have a Material Adverse Effect.

## Section 3.2 Authority of Seller and the Quincy Group.

- (a) Each of Seller and the members of the Quincy Group has the requisite organizational power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements to be executed and delivered by it pursuant hereto, to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder and to comply with the terms, conditions and provisions hereof and thereof.
- (b) The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements by each of Seller and the members of the Quincy Group (to the extent a party thereto) has been duly authorized and approved by all necessary organizational action on the part of Seller and the members of the Quincy Group and does not require any further authorization or consent on the part of Seller, its Affiliates or the Quincy Group. This Agreement is, and each other Ancillary Agreement when executed and delivered by Seller and the members of the Quincy Group (to the extent a party thereto) will be, a legal, valid and binding agreement of Seller and the members of the Quincy Group, enforceable in accordance with its respective terms, except in each case as such enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, moratorium, insolvency, reorganization or other similar Laws affecting or limiting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally and except as such enforceability is subject to general principles of equity (regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law).
- (c) Except for the FCC Consent and as set forth in <u>Schedule 3.2(c)</u>, none of the execution, delivery and performance by each of Seller and the members of the Quincy Group of this Agreement or the Ancillary Agreements (to the extent a party thereto), the consummation by Seller and the members of the Quincy Group of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby or the compliance by Seller and the members of the Quincy Group with or fulfillment by Seller and the members of the Quincy Group of the terms, conditions and provisions hereof or thereof will:
- (i) conflict with, result in a violation or breach of the terms, conditions or provisions of, or constitute a default, an event of default or an event which with the giving of notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute an event of default or give others rights of acceleration, amendment, termination or cancellation or a loss of rights under, or result in the creation or imposition of any Encumbrance upon any of the Purchased Assets under, (A) the certificate of incorporation, bylaws or other organizational documents of Seller, its Affiliates, or any member of the Quincy Group, (B) any Station Agreement, (C) any Governmental Permit, (D) any Order to which Seller or the Quincy Group is a party or any of the Purchased Assets is subject or by which Seller or the Quincy Group is bound, (E) any material indenture, note, mortgage, lease, guaranty or material agreement to which Seller or the Quincy Group is a party or (F) the Laws applicable to the Business, except, in the case of each of the foregoing clauses (B), (C), (D), (E) or (F), as would not, individually or in the aggregate, be reasonably likely to (i) prevent or materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or (ii) have a Material Adverse Effect; or

- (ii) require the approval, consent, authorization or act of, or the making by Seller, its Affiliates or the Quincy Group of any declaration, filing or registration with, any third Person or any Governmental Body, except for such of the foregoing as are necessary pursuant to the HSR Act, and except, in any case, as would not, individually or in the aggregate, be reasonably likely to (i) prevent or materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or (ii) have a Material Adverse Effect.
- Section 3.3 Financial Statements. Schedule 3.3 contains true and complete copies of (a) the unaudited balance sheets of each Station as of (i) except with respect to KVOA and WSIL/KPOB, December 31, 2018 and (ii) December 31, 2019, respectively, and the related statements of income for the fiscal years then ended (b) the unaudited balance sheet (the "Balance Sheets") of each Station as of December 31, 2020 (the "Balance Sheet Date") and the related statements of income for the fiscal year then ended (collectively, the "Financial Statements"). Except as set forth in Schedule 3.3 or in the accompanying notes, each of the Financial Statements (i) have been prepared in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis throughout the period involved, subject to the absence of footnotes and year-end adjustments and other adjustments necessary to reflect the stand alone financial operations of each Station for the periods indicated, (ii) are based on the books of account and other financial records of each Station and (iii) present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position and results of operations of each Station as of their respective dates and for the respective periods covered thereby.

# **Section 3.4** Operations Since Balance Sheet Date.

- (a) Except as set forth in <u>Schedule 3.4(a)</u>, from the Balance Sheet Date through the date of this Agreement, there has been no change, event, occurrence, or state of facts which, individually or in the aggregate, has had or would be reasonably likely to have had a Material Adverse Effect.
- (b) Except as set forth in <u>Schedule 3.4(b)</u>, from the Balance Sheet Date through the date of this Agreement, the Business has been conducted in all material respects in the ordinary course of the business consistent with past practice other than in connection with the Quincy Sale and the process relating to the sale of the Business.
- Section 3.5 No Undisclosed Liabilities. Except as set forth in Schedule 3.5, neither Seller nor the Quincy Group is subject, with respect to the Business, to any Liability (including unasserted claims), whether absolute, contingent, accrued or otherwise, that would be required to be disclosed on a balance sheet of each Station prepared in accordance with the Agreed Accounting Principles or the notes thereto, except for liabilities that are (a) reflected or reserved for on the Balance Sheets, (b) liabilities incurred in the ordinary course of business since the Balance Sheet Date, (c) liabilities to be performed in the ordinary course of business pursuant to the Station Agreements and other agreements included in the Purchased Assets, or (d) which, individually or in the aggregate, are not material.

#### Section 3.6 Taxes.

(a) Seller or the Quincy Group, as applicable, have filed or caused to be filed on a timely basis (including all extensions) all income Tax Returns and all material other Tax

Returns with respect to the Business and the Purchased Assets required to be filed by them, and all such Tax Returns are true, correct and complete in all material respects. All Taxes shown as due on any Tax Return filed by Seller or the Quincy Group, as applicable, have been timely paid, and Seller and the Quincy Group have no material liability for unpaid Taxes with respect to the Business and the Purchased Assets (whether or not shown on any Tax Return). Neither Seller nor the Quincy Group, as applicable, is currently the beneficiary of any extension of time within which to file any Tax Return relating to the Business or the Purchased Assets. No claim has ever been made in writing by an authority in a jurisdiction in which Seller or the Quincy Group, as applicable, does not file a Tax Return that a member of the Quincy Group is or may be subject to taxation, by or required to file a Tax Return in, that jurisdiction.

- (b) Seller or the Quincy Group, as applicable, is in compliance with the provisions of the Code relating to the withholding and payment of income and other material Taxes with respect to the Business and the Purchased Assets and has, within the time and in the manner prescribed by Law in all material respects, withheld from employee wages and paid over to the proper Governmental Body all required amounts with respect thereto.
- (c) There are no Encumbrances for Taxes on any of the Purchased Assets other than Permitted Encumbrances.
- (d) Neither the Quincy Group nor Seller, as applicable, has received written notice of, and to the Knowledge of Quincy (as defined in the Purchase Agreement) or the Knowledge of Seller, as applicable, there is not currently pending or threatened in writing, any audit, examination, investigation or Action by any Governmental Body of any material Tax Return or material Taxes relating to the Business or the Purchased Assets. Seller or the Quincy Group, as applicable, has not waived any statute of limitations in respect of material Taxes or agreed to any extension of time with respect to a material Tax assessment or deficiency with respect to the Business or the Purchased Assets.
- (e) The Financial Statements reflect all material liabilities for unpaid Taxes of the Quincy Group with respect to the Business and the Purchased Assets for taxable periods (or portions of periods) through the Balance Sheet Date to the extent required under GAAP. Since the Balance Sheet Date, neither Seller nor the Quincy Group, as applicable, has incurred any material liability for Taxes with respect to the Business and the Purchased Assets outside the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, except as contemplated in this Agreement or the Purchase Agreement.

#### Section 3.7 Condition and Sufficiency of Assets

- (a) Except as set forth in <u>Schedule 3.7(a)</u>, the material items of Tangible Personal Property included in the Purchased Assets are in good operating condition and repair, ordinary wear and tear excepted.
- (b) Except as set forth in <u>Schedule 3.7(b)</u>, the Purchased Assets, taken together with the assets and services to be provided pursuant to the Seller Transition Services Agreement, (i) constitute all of the material assets and rights of Seller, its Affiliates and the Quincy Group (x) that are used or held for use in the conduct of the Business as presently conducted and as conducted

in the twelve (12) months prior to the Closing and (y) that are sufficient to conduct the Business in substantially the manner as presently conducted by Seller, its Affiliates and the Quincy Group and as conducted in the twelve (12) months prior to the Closing, except for such assets and rights the absence of which would not reasonable be expected to materially impair the ability of Buyer to conduct the Business as presently conducted and as conducted in the twelve (12) months prior to the Closing.

## Section 3.8 Governmental Permits; FCC Matters.

- (a) As of the date of this Agreement, Seller or the Quincy Group holds or possesses all material registrations, licenses, permits, approvals and regulatory authorizations from a Governmental Body that are reasonably necessary to entitle it to own or lease, operate and use the assets of the Stations and to carry on and conduct the Business substantially as conducted immediately prior to the date of this Agreement (herein collectively called "Governmental Permits"). Schedule 3.8(a) sets forth a list of each of the Seller FCC Authorizations, held by Seller or the Quincy Group as of the date of this Agreement. The Seller FCC Authorizations constitute all material registrations, licenses, franchises, permits, approvals and regulatory authorizations issued by the FCC to Seller or the Quincy Group in respect of the Stations and held by Seller or the Quincy Group as of the date of this Agreement.
- Seller or the Quincy Group, as applicable, has fulfilled and performed in all (b) material respects its obligations under each of the Governmental Permits. Each of the Governmental Permits is valid, subsisting and in full force and effect and has not been revoked, suspended, canceled, rescinded or terminated. The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby shall not materially and adversely affect any Governmental Permit, or, except for the FCC Consent, require consent from, or notice to, any Governmental Body with respect to such Governmental Permit, other than any such approvals, permits or licenses that are ministerial in nature and are normally issued in due course upon application therefore without further action by the applicant. The Quincy Group is not in violation of any material term or provision or requirement of any Governmental Permit, and to the Knowledge of Seller, no Governmental Body has threatened in writing to revoke or suspend or commence Actions to revoke or suspend any such material Governmental Permit. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.8(b), to the Knowledge of Seller, no event has occurred or circumstance exists that would (with or without notice or lapse of time) (i) constitute or result directly or indirectly in a violation of, or a failure to comply with, any term or requirement of any Governmental Permit, or (ii) result directly or indirectly in the revocation, withdrawal, suspension, cancellation or termination of, or material adverse modification to, any Governmental Permit.
- (c) The Stations are being operated in all material respects in accordance with the Seller FCC Authorizations and in compliance in all material respects with the Communications Act and all other Laws applicable to the Stations. Except as disclosed in Schedule 3.8(c), there is not (i) pending, or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened, any material action or legal proceeding, other than Actions affecting broadcast television stations generally, by or before the FCC to revoke, suspend, cancel, rescind, terminate, materially adversely modify or refuse to renew in the ordinary course any Seller FCC Authorization (other than, in the case of modifications, proceedings to amend the FCC rules of general applicability), or (ii) issued or outstanding, by or before the FCC, any (A) order to show cause, (B) notice of violation, (C) notice of apparent liability

or (D) order of forfeiture, in each case, against any Station, Seller or the Quincy Group with respect to any Station that has resulted or would reasonably be expected to result in any action or legal proceeding described in the foregoing clause (i) with respect to such Seller FCC Authorizations. Neither Seller nor Quincy Group, nor any of their respective subsidiaries, nor any of the Stations, has entered into a tolling agreement or otherwise waived any statute of limitations relating to the Stations during which the FCC may assess any fine or forfeiture or take any other action or agreed to any extension of time with respect to any FCC investigation or proceeding as to which the statute of limitations time period so waived or tolled or the time period so extended remains open as of the date of this Agreement. The Seller FCC Authorizations have been issued by the FCC for full terms customarily issued by the FCC for each class of Station, and the Seller FCC Authorizations are not subject to any condition except for those conditions appearing on the face of the Seller FCC Authorizations and conditions applicable to broadcast licenses generally. Seller and the Quincy Group have (i) paid or caused to be paid all FCC regulatory fees due and payable by it in respect of the Stations, (ii) timely filed or caused to be filed all material registrations and reports required to have been filed by it with the FCC relating to the Seller FCC Authorizations (which registrations and reports were accurate in all material respects as of the time such registrations and reports were filed) and (iii) have completed or caused to be completed the construction of all facilities or changes contemplated by any of the Seller FCC Authorizations or construction permits issued to modify the Seller FCC Authorizations to the extent required to be completed as of the date hereof. This Section 3.8 does not relate to Governmental Permits for environmental, health and safety matters, which are the subject solely of Section 3.19.

## Section 3.9 Real Property; Real Property Leases.

- (a) Schedule 3.9(a) contains a true, complete and accurate list, by address, of all real property owned by Seller and the Quincy Group as of the date of this Agreement primarily for use in the Business (the "Owned Real Property"). Seller or the Quincy Group, as applicable, has, and immediately prior to Closing will have, good, marketable and valid fee simple title (free and clear of any Encumbrances other than Permitted Encumbrances) to the Owned Real Property. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.9(a), neither Seller nor the Quincy Group is obligated under, nor is a party to, any option, right of first refusal or other contractual right to purchase, acquire, sell, assign or dispose of any of the Owned Real Property or any portion thereof or interest therein. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.9(a), neither Seller nor the Quincy Group has leased or otherwise granted to any Person the right to use or occupy any of the Owned Real Property or any portion thereof.
- (b) <u>Schedule 3.9(b)</u> sets forth a true, complete and accurate list of each and every lease, sublease, license, use or occupancy agreement or similar contract or agreement under which Seller or the Quincy Group is a lessee or licensee of, or occupies or uses, primarily for use in the Business, any real property owned by any third Person (each such lease, contract or agreement, whether or not material, a "<u>Real Property Lease</u>," and the property leased under the Real Property Leases is referred to herein as the "<u>Leased Real Property</u>" and, together with the Owned Real Property, as the "<u>Real Property</u>") that is in effect as of the date of this Agreement. Seller or the Quincy Group, as applicable, has a good and valid leasehold interest in, sub-leasehold interest in, or other use or occupancy right with respect to, the Leased Real Property and, to the Knowledge of Seller, each Real Property Lease is in full force and effect. Seller has made available

to Buyer a true, correct and accurate copy of each Real Property Lease, including all amendments, modifications, supplements, waivers and side letters related thereto.

- (c) None of Seller or the Quincy Group, nor, to the Knowledge of Seller, any other party to any Real Property Lease has failed to perform its obligations under such Real Property Lease in any material respect. To the Knowledge of Seller, (i) no event has occurred which would constitute a breach or default (with or without notice or lapse of time or both) or permit termination, modification or acceleration under any Real Property Lease, and (ii) no party to a Real Property Lease has repudiated any material provision thereof.
- (d) Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 3.9(d)</u>, neither Seller nor the Quincy Group has subleased, licensed or otherwise granted any Person the right to use or occupy any portion of the Leased Real Property. The Owned Real Property and Leased Real Property constitute all real property used primarily in the present conduct of the Business.
- (e) The buildings, structures, fixtures and other improvements upon any Real Property, including all material components thereof, are in reasonable condition and repair in accordance with normal and customary industry practices (ordinary wear and tear excepted).
- (f) Seller or the Quincy Group, as applicable, has all certificates of occupancy and other material land use permits, approvals and entitlements from all applicable Governmental Bodies necessary for the current use and operation of the Real Property (collectively, the "Entitlements"). To the Knowledge of Seller, no material default or material violation (with or without notice or lapse of time or both) has occurred in the due observance of any Entitlement. All Entitlements are in full force and effect in all material respects.
- (g) Neither the whole nor any part of the Owned Real Property nor, to the Knowledge of Seller, the Leased Real Property is subject to any pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened suit for condemnation or other taking by any public authority or proceeding to impose any special assessment relating to any Real Property or any material portion thereof, which, in either such case, would reasonably be expected to curtail or interfere with the use of such property for the present conduct of the Business. Seller's or the Quincy Group's, as applicable, use and occupancy of the Real Property complies with all regulations, codes, ordinances and statutes of all applicable Governmental Bodies in all material respects.

# Section 3.10 Intellectual Property.

- (a) <u>Schedule 3.10(a)</u> contains a list of all registered patents and patent applications (including provisional applications), registered trademarks, registered service marks, applications to register trademarks and service marks, registered and applications to register trade dress, intent-to-use trademark or service mark applications, other registrations or applications for trademarks and service marks or trade dress, copyright registrations and applications for registration, and Internet domain name registrations, in each case, that are included in the Purchased Intellectual Property. To the Knowledge of Seller, each material registration included in the Purchased Intellectual Property (i) is valid and enforceable and (ii) is subsisting.
- (b) Except as set forth in <u>Schedule 3.10(b)</u>, (i) the Business is not infringing, misappropriating or otherwise violating any Intellectual Property owned by any third party and,

- (ii) to the Knowledge of the Seller, the material Purchased Intellectual Property is not being infringed, misappropriated or otherwise violated with by any third party, in either case, in any material respect.
- (c) To the Knowledge of Seller, there are no Actions which are pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened regarding or disputing the infringement, misappropriation, ownership, registrability or enforceability, or use by Seller or the Quincy Group, of any Purchased Intellectual Property, other than the review of pending patent and trademark applications by applicable Governmental Bodies. There is no outstanding Order that restricts the validity, use, enforceability ownership of any Purchased Intellectual Property. In the past three (3) years, neither Seller nor the Quincy Group has received any written claim or notice asserting that the Business infringes, misappropriates, violates or otherwise conflicts with the Intellectual Property of any other Person or challenging the ownership, use, validity or enforceability of any material Purchased Intellectual Property.
- (d) There have been no breakdowns, continued substandard performance or other adverse events affecting the computer software, hardware, communications devices, networks or other information technology owned, leased or licensed by Seller or the Quincy Group in the conduct of the Business in the past twelve (12) months that have caused a material disruption or interruption outside of the ordinary course in the operation of the Business.
- Section 3.11 <u>Title to Assets</u>. Except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, be material to the Business, Seller and the Quincy Group have good and valid legal title or a valid and binding leasehold, license or similar interest in or to all Purchased Assets. All Purchased Assets are free and clear of all Encumbrances, except for Permitted Encumbrances.
- Section 3.12 <u>Employees</u>. <u>Schedule 3.12</u> contains: (a) a list of all full-time and part-time Employees of Seller and/or the Quincy Group as of the date of this Agreement whose employment relates primarily to the Business; and (b) the current rate of annual base salary provided by Seller or the Quincy Group, as applicable, to each such Employee as of the date hereof, along with such Employee's bonus opportunity, hire date, accrued vacation and paid time off balance, principal work location, employing entity, current leave status (*e.g.*, active, inactive, on leave, furloughed), status as being a Union Employee (and the applicable union for Union Employees), and status as being exempt or nonexempt from the overtime provisions of applicable wage and hour laws. The Employees comprise all of the employees of Seller, the Quincy Group and their respective Affiliates who perform material services specific to the Business, not including administrative functions, in the course of employment.

# Section 3.13 Employee Relations.

(a) Except as disclosed on Schedule 3.13(a), neither Seller nor the Quincy Group is a party to any CBA in respect of the Stations or covering any Employee as of the date hereof, and no labor union, works council or other labor organization or representative body represents any Employee or, to the knowledge of Seller, is attempting or purporting to represent any Employee. With respect to the Employees, each of the Seller, the Quincy Group and their respective Affiliates is in compliance in all material respects with the terms and conditions of each CBA, as applicable.

- (b) Except as disclosed on <u>Schedule 3.13(b)</u>, as of the date of this Agreement, no unfair labor practice charge against Seller or the Quincy Group in respect of any Station is pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened before the National Labor Relations Board, any state labor relations board or any court or tribunal. As of the date of this Agreement, there is no (and during the past three (3) years there has not been any) strike, lock-out, organized slowdown or other material labor dispute pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened in respect of any Station.
- (c) Seller, the Quincy Group and their respective Affiliates are in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Laws, statutes, rules and regulations respecting employment and employment practices, terms and conditions of employment, wages and hours, discrimination in employment, wrongful discharge, classification, collective bargaining, fair labor standards, occupational health and safety, or any other labor and employment-related matters, in each case, with respect to the Employees. Without limiting the foregoing, each of Seller and the Quincy Group is in compliance in all material respects with the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986, as amended.
- (d) Each Service Provider engaged by Seller, the Quincy Group and/or any of their respective Affiliates primarily in relation to the Business who has been paid and classified as an independent contractor by Seller, the Quincy Group or such Affiliate has been correctly classified as an independent contractor.
- (e) During the ninety (90) days prior to the date of this Agreement, neither Seller, the Quincy Group nor any Affiliate thereof has engaged in or effectuated any "plant closing" or employee "mass layoff" (in each case, as defined in the WARN Act), or any similar action, giving rise to a notice obligation under the WARN Act or any similar state or local Law, statute, rule or regulation affecting any of the former Employees.
- (f) Since January 1, 2020, neither Seller, the Quincy Group nor any of their respective Affiliates has materially reduced the compensation or benefits of any Employee or otherwise reduced the working schedule of any Employee, in each case for any reason relating to the COVID-19 pandemic.
- Section 3.14 <u>Contracts</u>. Except as set forth in <u>Schedule 3.14</u>, as of the date of this Agreement, neither Seller nor the Quincy Group is party to or bound by:
- (a) any Contract for the purchase, sale, license or lease of material assets used or to be used primarily in the Business which it would reasonably be expected that the Business would make annual payments of \$100,000 or more during any twelve (12) month period or the remaining term of such Contract;
- (b) any programming Contract relating primarily to the Business under which it would reasonably be expected that the Business would make annual payments of \$100,000 or more during any twelve (12) month period or the remaining term of such Contract;
- (c) any retransmission consent Contract with any MVPDs with more than 5,000 paid subscribers with respect to any Station for November 2020 in such Station's Market with respect to such Station;

- (d) any Contract that is a "local marketing agreement" or time brokerage agreement, joint sales agreement, shared services agreement, management services agreement, local news sharing agreement or similar Contract primarily related to the Business;
- (e) any partnership, joint venture or other similar Contract related to the Business;
- (f) any affiliation Contract with a Big 5 national television network for any Station;
- (g) any Contract for capital expenditures with respect to the Business for an amount in excess of \$100,000 during any twelve (12) month period or the remaining term of such contract;
- (h) any Contract with any Service Provider providing annual aggregate compensation that may exceed \$250,000;
  - (i) any material Real Property Lease;
- (j) any CBA or other labor Contract under which the Business has any obligation or Liability;
- (k) any sales agency, advertising representative or advertising or public relations Contract with respect to the Business which (i) is not terminable without penalty on thirty (30) days' notice or less, and (ii) provides for payments in an amount in excess of \$100,000 during any twelve (12) month period;
- (l) except for such Contracts that shall not apply to the Business upon Closing, any contracts that relate to funded debt (excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, Contracts evidencing immaterial Liabilities with respect to deposits and accounts, trade payables, letters of credit or capital leases made in the ordinary course of business) and are related to the Business;
- (m) any Contract with a broker, consultant or other third party which provides for or relates to the payment of a commission or other compensation based on the amount of revenue received by any Station under any Contract described in clause Section 3.14(c) above;
- (n) any Contract granting or containing Encumbrances (other than Permitted Encumbrances) upon any Purchased Assets;
- (a) any Contract (i) containing covenants that limit or restrict the Business from (A) engaging in any business or (B) engaging in any line of business or competing with any Person, in any geographic area, or (ii) that materially limits the ability of the Business to own, operate or transfer the Purchased Assets;
- (p) any Contract with any Governmental Body relating to the Business, excluding advertising Contracts; or

- (q) any Contract (other than any Contract of the type described in clauses (a) through (u) above) (1) that relates to the Business that is not terminable by Seller or the Quincy Group without penalty on sixty (60) days' notice or less and which is reasonably expected to involve the payment by Seller or the Quincy Group after the date hereof of more than \$100,000 during any twelve (12) month period or the remaining term of such contract (2) reasonably deemed necessary to maintaining the ongoing operations and financial position of the Business; (3) otherwise considered by Seller or the Quincy Group to be material to the financial condition, profitability, results of operations, or business of the Business; and
- (r) any other Contract not made in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice that is material to the Business.
- Section 3.15 Status of Contracts. Except as set forth in Schedule 3.15 or as individually or in the aggregate, is not material to the Business, each of (a) the leases, contracts and other agreements required to be listed in Schedule 3.14 (collectively, the "Station Agreements") and (b) the Purchase Agreement constitutes a valid and binding obligation of Seller or the Quincy Group, as applicable, and, to the Knowledge of Seller, the other parties thereto and is in full force and effect (in each case, subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other similar laws relating to or affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally and except as such enforceability is subject to general principles of equity (regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law)). Each of Seller and the Quincy Group is not (and has not received any notice that it is) in breach of, or default under, any Station Agreement or the Purchase Agreement in any material respect and, (i) to the Knowledge of Seller, no other party to any Station Agreement or the Purchase Agreement is in material breach of, material default under, any Station Agreement or the Purchase Agreement and (ii) to the Knowledge of Seller, no event has occurred which would result in a material breach of, material default or event of noncompliance under, by any party under any Station Agreement or the Purchase Agreement (in each case, with or without notice or lapse of time or both). True, complete and accurate copies of each of the Station Agreements, together with all amendments thereto, have heretofore been made available to Buyer by Seller.

# Section 3.16 No Violation, Litigation or Regulatory Action. Except as set forth in Schedule 3.16:

- (a) Seller and the Quincy Group are in compliance in all material respects with all Laws and Orders which are applicable to the Purchased Assets, any Station or the Business;
- (b) since January 1, 2018 and through the date of this Agreement, neither Seller nor the Quincy Group has received any written notice or other written communication or, to the Knowledge of Seller, oral communications of material violation of or noncompliance with any applicable Laws or Orders which are applicable to the Purchased Assets, any Station or the Business and there are no material temporary restraining orders or other Orders handed down, adopted or imposed by, including any consent decree, settlement agreement or similar written agreement with any Governmental Body which are applicable to the Purchased Assets, the Assumed Liabilities, the Continuing Employees, any Station or the Business; and

- (c) as of the date of this Agreement, there are no Actions by or before any court or any Governmental Body which are pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened against Seller or the Quincy Group, in respect of the Purchased Assets, any Station or the Business other than matters arising in the ordinary course of business or that are not material to the Business.
- Section 3.17 <u>Insurance</u>. Seller, its Affiliates or the Quincy Group maintain, in respect of the Purchased Assets, the Assumed Liabilities, the Continuing Employees, the Stations and the Business, policies of fire and extended coverage and casualty, Liability and other forms of insurance in such amounts and against such risks and losses as are in the good-faith, reasonable judgment of Seller and the Quincy Group, as applicable, prudent for the Business. Seller has made available to Buyer copies of all of the material insurance policies or binders for which Seller is a policyholder in respect to insurance that covers the Purchased Assets, the Assumed Liabilities, the Continuing Employees, the Stations and the Business. Except as set forth in <u>Schedule 3.17</u>, with respect to the Business, there are no outstanding claims under any insurance policy other than claims arising in the ordinary course of business or that are not material to the Business. None of Seller, its Affiliates or the Quincy Group has received any written notice of cancellation, material change in premium or denial of renewal in respect of any of such insurance policies.

# Section 3.18 Employee Plans; ERISA.

- (a) Schedule 3.18(a) sets forth a list of each material Employee Plan in effect as of the date of this Agreement. A true and correct copy of (i) each Employee Plan (including any amendments thereto) and descriptions of all material terms of any such plan that is not in writing; (ii) the summary plan description (or other written summary of the material terms) of each such Employee Plan, as applicable; (iii) the most recent annual reports with accompanying schedules and attachments, filed with respect to each Employee Plan required to make such a filing; (iv) the most recently received determination letter, if any, issued by the Internal Revenue Service and each currently pending application for a determination letter with respect to any Employee Plan that is intended to qualify under Section 401(a) of the Code, and (v) the most recent actuarial or financial statements of such Employee Plan, if applicable, has in each case been made available to Buyer.
- (b) All Employee Plans are (and have been) maintained and operated in compliance in all material respects with their applicable terms and with the provisions of ERISA, the Code and other applicable Laws and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder to the extent that ERISA, the Code and other applicable Laws and such rules and regulations are intended to apply. None of Seller, the Quincy Group nor any ERISA Affiliate thereof has, with respect to any Service Provider, incurred any obligation or liability with respect to or under any employee benefit plan, program or arrangement (including any Employee Plan) which has created or will create any obligation with respect to, or has resulted in or will result in any liability to, Buyer or any of its Affiliates.
- (c) Each Employee Plan that is intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code has received a favorable determination letter from the Internal Revenue Service or is the subject of a favorable opinion letter from the Internal Revenue Service on the form of such Employee Plan and, to the Knowledge of Seller, there are no facts or circumstances that would be reasonably likely to adversely affect the qualified status of any such Employee Plan.

- (d) No Employee Plan is, and neither Seller, the Quincy Group nor any of their respective Affiliates (or their respective ERISA Affiliates) has, with respect to any Service Provider, sponsored, maintained, participated in, contributed to, or has been required to participate in or contribute to, or has any liability with respect to, a "multiemployer plan" (as defined in Section 3(37) of ERISA) or other pension plan subject to Title IV or Part 3 of Title I of ERISA or Section 412 of the Code. None of the Purchased Assets are, or could reasonably be expected to become, the subject of any lien under ERISA or the Code. No event has occurred and there does not now exist, nor does any condition or circumstances exist, in any case, with respect to any Purchased Asset that would reasonably be expected to result in any material liabilities of Buyer or its Affiliates following the Closing.
- (e) Seller, the Quincy Group and their respective Affiliates are each in compliance in all material respects with the requirements of the applicable health care continuation and notice provisions of COBRA and any similar state or local Law. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.18(e), none of Seller, the Quincy Group or any of their respective Affiliates has any obligation to provide (whether under an Employee Plan or otherwise) health, accident, disability, life or other welfare benefits to any current or former employee or such employee's beneficiary beyond the termination of employment, other than health continuation coverage pursuant to COBRA.
- (f) Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement, nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, either alone or in combination with another event (whether contingent or otherwise) will (i) entitle any current or former Service Provider to any payment or benefit; (ii) increase the amount of compensation or benefits due to any such Service Provider(s); or (iii) accelerate the vesting, funding or time of payment of any compensation, equity award or other benefit. Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement, nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, either alone or in combination with another event (whether contingent or otherwise) will result in any "parachute payment" under Section 280G of the Code (or any corresponding provision of state, local, or foreign Tax law).

# Section 3.19 Environmental Protection.

# (a) Except as set forth in <u>Schedule 3.19(a)</u>:

- (i) The Business is in compliance in all material respects with all Environmental Laws. The Business is not the subject of any pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened action alleging material Liability of the Business under, or any failure of the Business to comply materially with, any Environmental Laws. Since January 1, 2018, Seller has not received any written notice of potential Liability under Environmental Law related to the Business's prior use of Owned Real Property or Leased Real Property and/or disposal or arrangement for disposal of a Hazardous Substance;
- (ii) Seller and the Quincy Group have, in respect of the Business, obtained all material Governmental Permits required under Environmental Law necessary for its operation, all such Governmental Permits are valid, subsisting and in full force and effect, and a list of all such permits is provided at Schedule 3.19(a)(ii). Seller and the Quincy Group are now

and always have been in compliance in all material respects with all terms and conditions of such Governmental Permits. No action needs to be taken prior to the Closing with respect to any such Governmental Permits in order for such Governmental Permits to remain valid and in full effect immediately following the Closing, other than any such approvals, permits or licenses that are ministerial in nature and that are normally issued in due course upon application therefore without further action by the applicant;

- (iii) As of the date of this Agreement, Seller and the Quincy Group, with respect to the Business, are not the subject of any pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened action, claim, order, complaint, decree, agreement, judgment, settlement, inquiry, investigation or notice of noncompliance or potential responsibility or other proceedings alleging or relating to any material failure of the Business to comply with, or material Liability of the Business under, any Environmental Law; and
- (iv) To the Knowledge of Seller, there has been no release, generation, storage, treatment, disposal or arrangement for disposal of, or exposure of any Person to, Hazardous Materials at, under, about or from any Real Property. Neither Seller nor the Quincy Group has received any written notice of potential Liability or responsibility to conduct any investigation, remediation, cleanup or other response action, or incur Losses, under Environmental Law with respect to the Business.
- (b) Seller has made available to Buyer true, complete and accurate copies of all environmental Governmental Permits, material sampling results, environmental or safety audits or inspections, Phase I or II environmental site assessments, or other material written reports or documents concerning the Business, in each case, which are in the possession or control of Seller or the Quincy Group.
- Section 3.20 MVPD Matters. Schedule 3.20 contains, as of the date hereof, a list of each Station's retransmission consent contract(s) existing as of the date hereof to which Seller, its Affiliates or the Quincy Group is a party with any MVPD that has more than 5,000 paid subscribers in such Station's Market for November 2020. To the Knowledge of Seller, Seller or Quincy Group has entered into retransmission consent contracts with respect to each MVPD that has more than 5,000 paid subscribers in each Station's Market as of November 2020. Seller or Quincy Group has entered into retransmission consent contracts with respect to each MVPD that has more than 5,000 paid subscribers in each Station's Market as of November 2020.
- Section 3.21 <u>Transactions with Affiliates</u>. Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 3.21</u>, neither Seller nor the Quincy Group is a party to any transaction or agreement with any Affiliate, stockholder, director or executive officer of the Seller or the Quincy Group or "associate" (as such term is defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act) of any of the foregoing with respect to the Business, and no such Person has any interest in any material Purchased Assets.
- Section 3.22 <u>Governmental Programs</u>. No agreements, loans, funding arrangements or assistance programs are outstanding in favor of Seller or the Quincy Group in connection with the Business from any Governmental Body. Neither Seller nor the Quincy Group applied for or received any loan provided pursuant to that certain SBA Paycheck Protection Program under the CARES Act in connection with the Business.

Section 3.23 No Finder. None of Seller, its Affiliates or the Quincy Group is obligated to pay any fee or commission to any broker, finder or intermediary for or on account of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement for which Buyer may become liable.

#### ARTICLE IV

#### REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BUYER

As an inducement to Seller to enter into this Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby, Buyer represents and warrants to Seller, as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date, as follows:

Section 4.1 <u>Organization</u>. Each of Buyer and Buyer Guarantor is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the state of its organization. Each of Buyer and Buyer Guarantor has the requisite organizational power and authority to own, lease and operate the properties and assets used in connection with its business as currently being conducted or to be acquired pursuant hereto.

# Section 4.2 Authority of Buyer.

- (a) Each of Buyer and Buyer Guarantor has the requisite organizational power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and all of the other agreements and instruments to be executed and delivered by Buyer or Buyer Guarantor, as applicable, pursuant hereto (collectively, the "Buyer Ancillary Agreements"), to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder and to comply with the terms, conditions and provisions hereof and thereof.
- Ancillary Agreements by each of Buyer and Buyer Guarantor have been duly authorized and approved by all necessary organizational action on the part of Buyer, Buyer Guarantor and their Affiliates and do not require any further authorization or consent on the part of Buyer, Buyer Guarantor or any of their Affiliates. This Agreement is, and each other Buyer Ancillary Agreement when executed and delivered by Buyer, Buyer Guarantor or any of their Affiliates and the other parties thereto will be, a legal, valid and binding agreement of Buyer, Buyer Guarantor or such Affiliates party thereto enforceable in accordance with its respective terms, except in each case as such enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, moratorium, insolvency, reorganization or other similar laws affecting or limiting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally and except as such enforceability is subject to general principles of equity (regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law).
- (c) Except for the FCC Consent and as set forth in <u>Schedule 4.2</u>, none of the execution, delivery and performance by Buyer or Buyer Guarantor of this Agreement, or by Buyer, Buyer Guarantor or any of their Affiliates, as applicable, of the Buyer Ancillary Agreements to which it is a party, the consummation by Buyer, Buyer Guarantor or their Affiliates, as applicable, of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby or compliance by Buyer, Buyer Guarantor or any of their Affiliates, as applicable, with or fulfillment by Buyer, Buyer Guarantor or their Affiliates, as applicable, of the terms, conditions and provisions hereof or thereof will:

- (i) conflict with, result in a violation or breach of the terms, conditions or provisions of, or constitute a default, an event of default or an event which with the giving of notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute an event of default or give others rights of acceleration, amendment, termination or cancellation or a loss of rights under, or result in the creation or imposition of any Encumbrance upon any assets of Buyer under, (A) the certificate of incorporation, bylaws or other organizational documents of Buyer or Buyer Guarantor, or (B) any material indenture, note, mortgage, lease, guaranty or material agreement, or any judgment, order, award or decree, to which Buyer, Buyer Guarantor or any of their Affiliates is a party; or
- (ii) require the approval, consent, authorization or act of, or the making by Buyer, Buyer Guarantor or any of their Affiliates of any declaration, filing or registration with, any third Person or any foreign, federal, state or local court, governmental or regulatory authority or body, except for such of the foregoing as are necessary pursuant to the HSR Act.
- Section 4.3 <u>Litigation</u>. None of Buyer, Buyer Guarantor or any of their Affiliates is a party to any action, suit or proceeding pending or, to the knowledge of Buyer, threatened which, if adversely determined, would reasonably be expected to restrict the ability of Buyer to consummate promptly the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. There is no order to which Buyer, Buyer Guarantor or any of their Affiliates is subject which would reasonably be expected to restrict the ability of Buyer or Buyer Guarantor to consummate promptly the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- **Section 4.4** No Finder. None of Buyer, Buyer Guarantor or any of their Affiliates, or any party acting on any of their behalf has paid or become obligated to pay any fee or commission to any broker, finder or intermediary for or on account of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- Section 4.5 Qualifications as FCC Licensee. Subject to obtaining the Satellite Waiver, Buyer is legally, financially and otherwise qualified to be the licensee of, and to acquire, own, operate and control, the Stations under the Communications Act, including the provisions relating to media ownership and attribution, foreign ownership and control, and character qualifications. There are no facts or circumstances that would, under the Communications Act or any other applicable Laws, disqualify Buyer as the assignee of the Seller FCC Authorizations with respect to the Stations or as the owner and operator of the Stations. There are no facts or circumstances that might reasonably be expected to: (i) materially delay the FCC's processing of the FCC Applications, or (ii) cause the FCC to impose a material condition or conditions on its granting of the FCC Consent. Except with respect to the Satellite Waiver, no waiver of or exemption from, whether temporary or permanent, any provision of the Communications Act, or any divestiture or other disposition by Buyer or any of their respective Affiliates of any asset or property, is necessary for the FCC Consent to be obtained under the Communications Act.

# Section 4.6 Financial Capacity; Solvency.

(a) Buyer has delivered to the Seller complete and correct copies of (i) a fully executed commitment letter from Royal Bank of Canada (the "<u>Debt Commitment Letter</u>") and a fully executed fee letter in connection therewith (with only fee amounts, economic terms (including pricing flex), other sensitive numbers and syndication levels redacted) (the "<u>Debt Fee Letter</u>"), (ii) a fully

executed commitment letter from Boundary Creek Master Fund LP (the "BC Commitment Letter") and a fully executed fee letter in connection therewith (with only fee amounts, economic terms (including pricing flex) and other sensitive numbers redacted) (the "BC Fee Letter"), (iii) a fully executed commitment letter from NSE Poppy LLC (the "Ripple Commitment Letter") and a fully executed fee letter in connection therewith (with only fee amounts, economic terms (including pricing flex) and other sensitive numbers redacted) (the "Ripple Fee Letter"), (iv) a fully executed commitment letter from Triple8, LLC (the "Eldridge Commitment Letter") and a fully executed fee letter in connection therewith (with only fee amounts, economic terms (including pricing flex) and other sensitive numbers redacted) (the "Eldridge Fee Letter" and together with the BC Fee Letter, the Ripple Fee Letter and the Debt Fee Letter, the "Fee Letters"), (iv) a fully executed commitment letter from Byron Allen (the "BA Commitment Letter") and (v) a fully executed commitment letter from Allen Media Broadcasting Evansville, Inc. (the "AMBE Commitment Letter" and together with the BA Commitment Letter, the BC Commitment Letter, the Ripple Commitment Letter and the Eldridge Commitment Letter, collectively, the "Equity Commitment Letters", and together with the Debt Commitment Letter, collectively, the "Commitment Letters"), pursuant to which such Persons have committed, upon the terms and subject only to the conditions set forth therein, to provide the debt financing and equity financing, as applicable, in the amounts described therein in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. The financing contemplated pursuant to the Commitment Letters is hereinafter referred to as the "Financing."

As of the date hereof, each Commitment Letter is in full force and effect and is the valid (assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by the other parties thereto) and binding obligation of Buyer and, to the knowledge of Buyer, the other parties thereto, except as enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent transfer, reorganization, moratorium or other similar Laws relating to for affecting the rights of creditors generally and by equitable principles, including those limiting the availability of specific performance, injunctive relief and other equitable remedies and those providing for equitable defenses; and no event has occurred which, with or without notice, lapse of time or both, would constitute a material breach or default by Buyer thereunder. All commitment fees required to be paid under any Commitment Letter have been paid in full or, if not yet due, will be duly paid in full when due. The consummation of the Financing is subject to no conditions precedent other than those set forth in the Commitment Letters and the unredacted portions of the Fee Letters delivered to the Seller (or as set forth in any such documents as amended, or in documents replacing such documents, in each case after the date hereof and not in violation of the provisions hereof). Assuming the accuracy of the Seller's representations and warranties in this Agreement and the performance by the Seller of its obligations hereunder, the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Article VII and Article VIII and the completion of the Marketing Period, (i) as of the date of this Agreement, Buyer does not have reason to believe that any of the conditions to the Financing that are in Buyer's control will not be satisfied or the Financing will not be consummated as contemplated by the Commitment Letters and (ii) the aggregate proceeds of the Financing available on the Closing Date, together with cash on hand, will be sufficient if funded in accordance with the Commitment Letters to enable Buyer to pay or cause to be paid in cash all amounts required to be paid by it in cash at Closing in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Purchase Price and all payments, fees and expenses (each due and payable on the Closing Date) of Buyer related to or arising out of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (assuming that all rights to flex the terms of the Financing are exercised to their maximum extent).

(c) Buyer is Solvent as of the date of this Agreement and will, immediately after giving effect to all of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including payment of the Purchase Price and all other amounts required to be paid, borrowed or refinanced in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and all related fees and expenses, be Solvent at and after the Closing Date.

#### ARTICLE V

# ACTIONS PRIOR TO THE CLOSING DATE

The respective parties hereto covenant and agree to the following covenants between the date hereof and the Closing Date:

# Section 5.1 Access to the Business.

- Upon the written request of Buyer, Seller shall use commercially reasonable (a) efforts to cause (including by enforcing its rights under the Purchase Agreement) the Quincy Group to afford to the Representatives of Buyer (including independent public accountants, attorneys and consultants) reasonable access during normal business hours under the supervision of Buyer's or its Affiliates' personnel in compliance with and subject to Buyer's or its Affiliates' health, safety and security requirements (including relating to COVID-19 Pandemic), and upon reasonable prior notice, to the offices, properties, employees and business and financial records of the Business to the extent reasonably necessary for Buyer's transition planning and shall furnish to Buyer or its Representatives such additional information concerning the Business as shall be reasonably requested to the extent reasonably necessary for Buyer's transition planning; provided, however, that Seller and the Quincy Group shall not be required to violate any obligation of confidentiality or other obligation under applicable Law to which Seller or the Quincy Group is subject in discharging their obligations pursuant to this Section 5.1. Buyer agrees that any such access shall be conducted in such a manner as not to interfere unreasonably with the operations of Business, the Quincy Group or Seller. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Seller shall not be required to (and shall not be required to cause the Quincy Group to) (i) take any action that would constitute a waiver of attorney-client or other privilege or would compromise the confidential information of Seller or the Quincy Group not related to the Business or (ii) supply Buyer with any information that, in the reasonable judgment of Seller or the Quincy Group, Seller or the Quincy Group, as applicable, is under a contractual or legal obligation not to supply. Any information disclosed to Buyer by Seller or the Quincy Group under this Section 5.1 shall be held in accordance with the Non-Disclosure Agreement, dated as of February 5, 2021 (the "Confidentiality Agreement"), by and among Seller, Quincy and Buyer.
- (b) Prior to Closing, Buyer shall have the right, at its sole cost and expense, to, within sixty (60) days from the date of this Agreement, engage an environmental consultant to conduct a Phase I Environmental Assessment and Compliance Review (the "Phase I Environmental Assessment") with respect to any and all Real Property, provided that any such Phase I Environmental Assessment shall be conducted only (i) during regular business hours, (ii) with no less than five (5) Business Days prior written notice to Seller, (iii) in a manner which will not unduly interfere with the operation of the Business or the use of access to or egress from the Real Property, (iv) with respect to Leased Real Property, if the owner has the right to deny access

for a Phase I Environmental Site Assessment, shall only be done if the owner of such property consents, provided that Seller shall use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain such consent as promptly as practicable, and (v) in a manner which will not involve any subsurface sampling. Any damage to the Real Property caused by Buyer and its consultants in conducting any such Phase I Environmental Assessment shall be repaired by Buyer at its sole cost and expense. Following the Phase I Environmental Assessment and prior to Closing, Buyer shall have the right, at its sole cost and expense, to order a Phase II environment assessment or any other test, investigation, or supplemental assessment recommended in the Phase I Environmental Assessment. In the event that either such Phase I or Phase II environmental assessment identifies any recognized environmental conditions or noncompliance, Seller shall, at Seller's sole cost and expense up to an amount not in excess of \$10,000,000 in the aggregate for all Owned Real Property, promptly cause such identified conditions to be remediated so that the Owned Real Property is in compliance with Environmental Laws.

# Section 5.2 Notification of Certain Matters.

- (a) Buyer or Buyer Guarantor, on the one hand, and Seller, on the other hand, shall promptly notify the other upon becoming aware of any material breach of any representation or warranty contained in this Agreement (including, in the case of Buyer or Buyer Guarantor, upon any of their Representatives becoming aware of such a breach as a result of the access to the Business permitted by Section 5.1), which breach would be reasonably likely to result in the failure of any condition to the Closing set forth in Article VII or Article VIII to be satisfied.
- (b) Each party shall promptly notify the other of any Action that shall be instituted or threatened against such party to restrain, prohibit or otherwise challenge the legality of any transaction contemplated by this Agreement. Seller shall promptly notify Buyer and Buyer Guarantor, and Buyer and Buyer Guarantor shall promptly notify Seller, of any Action that may be threatened, brought, asserted or commenced against the other that would have been listed in Schedule Section 3.16 or would be an exception to Section 4.3 if such Action had arisen prior to the date hereof.
- (c) Each party shall promptly notify the other party hereto and provide copies to the other party of (i) any materials and information such party is obligated to provide notice and copies of pursuant to Section 5.2(a) and Section 5.2(b); (ii) any other written notice that is material from any Person alleging that the approval or consent of such Person is or may be required in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; or (iii) the occurrence of any event which would or would be reasonably likely to (x) prevent or materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or (y) result in the failure of any condition to the Closing set forth in Article VII or Article VIII to be satisfied; provided, that the delivery of any notice pursuant to this Section 5.2(c) shall not (A) affect or be deemed to modify any representation, warranty, covenant, right, remedy, or condition to any obligation of any party or (B) update any section of the Disclosure Schedule.

# Section 5.3 FCC Consent; HSR Act Approval; Other Consents and Approvals.

(a) As promptly as practicable after the date hereof, but in any event no later than ten (10) Business Days hereafter, Buyer and its Affiliates, as applicable, shall file, and Seller

shall use reasonable best efforts (including by enforcing its rights under the Purchase Agreement) to cause the Quincy Group or its Affiliates to file, with the FCC the necessary applications requesting its consent to the Assignment of Seller FCC Authorizations to Buyer as contemplated by this Agreement (the "FCC Applications"). Seller shall, and shall use reasonable best efforts (including by enforcing its rights under the Purchase Agreement) to cause the Quincy Group and its Affiliates to, and Buyer shall, or shall cause its Affiliates to, cooperate in the preparation of such applications and shall diligently take, or cooperate in the taking of, all necessary, desirable and proper steps, provide any additional information required by the FCC and shall use reasonable best efforts to obtain promptly the FCC Consent; provided, however, that the parties hereto acknowledge and agree that Seller and the Quincy Group may take various actions related to obtaining necessary approvals for the Quincy Sale and to consummate the Quincy Sale, including amending the FCC Applications (which may affect the timing of FCC action with respect to the FCC Applications), but that would not otherwise adversely affect Buyer's interests in the transaction, and such actions shall not be deemed a violation of this obligation. Seller, on the one hand, and Buyer, on the other hand, shall bear the cost of FCC filing fees relating to the FCC Applications equally. Buyer and Seller shall (including, in the case of Seller, by using reasonable best efforts (including by enforcing its rights under the Purchase Agreement) to cause the Quincy Group to) oppose any petitions to deny or other objections filed with respect to the FCC Applications to the extent such petition or objection relates to any such party. Neither Seller nor Buyer shall, and each shall cause its Affiliates not to, take (and, in the case of Seller, shall use reasonable best efforts (including by enforcing its rights under the Purchase Agreement) to prevent the Quincy Group and its Affiliates from taking) any intentional action that would, or intentionally fail to take such action the failure of which to take would, reasonably be expected to have the effect of materially delaying the receipt of the FCC Consent; provided, however, that the parties hereto acknowledge and agree that Seller and the Quincy Group may take various actions related to obtaining necessary approvals for the Quincy Sale and to consummate the Quincy Sale, including amending the FCC Applications (which may affect the timing of FCC action with respect to the FCC Applications) but that would not otherwise adversely affect Buyer's interests in the transaction, and such actions shall not be deemed a violation of this obligation. The parties hereto agree that they will cooperate to amend the FCC Applications as may be necessary or required to reflect the consummation of the Quincy Sale or to otherwise obtain the timely grant of the FCC Consent. In the event that in order to obtain the FCC Consent in an expeditious manner it is necessary for Buyer or any of its Affiliates to enter into a customary assignment, assumption, tolling, or other similar arrangement with the FCC to resolve any complaints with the FCC relating to the Stations, Buyer shall enter, or cause its Affiliates, as applicable, to enter, into such a customary assignment, assumption, tolling or other arrangement with the FCC as may reasonably be necessary to facilitate the grant of the FCC Consent. If the Closing Date shall not have occurred for any reason within the original effective period of the FCC Consent, and neither party hereto shall have terminated this Agreement pursuant to Article X, Seller and Buyer shall jointly request extensions of the effective period of the FCC Consent until the Closing Date occurs or this Agreement is otherwise terminated; provided, however, no such extension of the FCC Consent shall limit the right of either party hereto to exercise such party's rights under Article X.

(b) As promptly as practicable after the date hereof, but in any event no later than ten (10) Business Days thereafter, to the extent required by applicable Laws, Seller and Buyer shall file (and, in the case of Seller, shall use reasonable best efforts (including by enforcing its rights under the Purchase Agreement) to cause the Quincy Group and its Affiliates to file), and

shall cause their respective Affiliates to file (if necessary), with the FTC and the Antitrust Division of the DOJ any notifications and other information required to be filed with such commission or department under the HSR Act, or any rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and shall request early termination of the waiting period thereunder (if available). Each of Seller and Buyer shall file (and, in the case of Seller, shall use reasonable best efforts (including by enforcing its rights under the Purchase Agreement) to cause the Quincy and its Affiliates to file), and shall cause their respective Affiliates to file, as promptly as practicable such additional information as may be requested to be filed by such commission or department. Seller and Buyer shall bear the cost of any filing fees payable under the HSR Act in connection with the notifications and information described in this Section 5.3(b) equally.

- Subject to the terms and conditions herein, Seller and Buyer shall use their (c) respective reasonable best efforts to consummate and make effective the transactions contemplated hereby and to cause the conditions set forth in Article VII and Article VIII to be satisfied as promptly as reasonably practicable after the date hereof, including (i) in the case of Buyer and Seller, the obtaining of all necessary consents, approvals, waivers and authorizations of, actions or nonactions by, and making of all required filings and submissions with, any Governmental Body or any third party required in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, (ii) cooperating with each other in (A) determining which filings are required to be made prior to the Closing with, and which consents, approvals, permits, notices or authorizations are required to be obtained prior to Closing from, Governmental Bodies or third parties in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement and related agreements, and consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby and (B) timely making all necessary filings and timely seeking all consents, approvals, permits, notices or authorizations, (iii) the defending of any lawsuits or other legal proceedings, whether judicial or administrative, challenging this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions performed or consummated by such party in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, including seeking to have any stay or temporary restraining order entered by any court or other Governmental Body vacated or reversed and (iv) taking, or causing to be taken (including, in the case of Seller, by using reasonable best efforts (including by enforcing its rights under the Purchase Agreement) to cause the Quincy Group to take or cause to be taken), all other actions and doing, or causing to be done, and cooperating with each other in order to do, all other things necessary or appropriate to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby as soon as practicable; provided, however, that the parties hereto acknowledge and agree that Seller and the Quincy Group may take various actions related to obtaining necessary approvals for the Quincy Sale and to consummate the Quincy Sale, including amending the FCC Applications (which may affect the matters referred to in clauses (ii), (iii) and (iv) above), and such actions shall not be deemed a violation of this obligation. Buyer agrees not to, and shall cause its Affiliates not to, take any action that would reasonably be expected to materially delay, materially impede or prevent receipt of the Governmental Consents.
- (d) In furtherance of and without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Buyer shall, and shall cause its Affiliates to, (i) use their respective reasonable best efforts to (x) obtain approval of the transactions by the DOJ or the FTC as required under the HSR Act (if necessary) and the DOJ Final Judgment, including using such reasonable best efforts prior to the filing of the DOJ Final Judgment in any court, and (y) take promptly any and all steps necessary to avoid or eliminate each and every impediment and obtain all consents under any Antitrust Laws or

communications or broadcast Laws that may be required by any U.S. federal, state or local antitrust or competition Governmental Body, or by the FCC or similar Governmental Body, in each case with competent jurisdiction or by the DOJ Final Judgment, so as to enable the parties to close the transactions contemplated by this Agreement as promptly as practicable, (ii) vigorously contest (including by means of litigation) (x) any actions, arbitrations, litigations, suits or other civil or criminal proceedings brought, or threatened to be brought, by any Governmental Body or any other Person seeking to enjoin, restrain, prevent, prohibit or make illegal the consummation of any of the transactions contemplated hereby or seeking damages or to impose any terms or conditions in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, and (y) any Order that enjoins, restrains, prevents, prohibits or makes illegal the consummation of any of the transactions contemplated hereby or imposes any damages, terms or conditions in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby and (iii) resolve any objections any Governmental Body may assert under any applicable Law with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and to obtain any clearance required under the HSR Act, any DOJ Final Judgment or broadcast Laws or any objection that any other third party relating to the obtaining of any consent, approval, waiver or authorization required from such third party in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement other approval, consent or authorization necessary under applicable Law for the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby (including agreeing to and making divestitures, entering into hold separate arrangements, terminating, assigning or modifying contracts (or portions thereof) or other business relationships, accepting restrictions on business operations and entering into of commitments and obligations). Further, and for the avoidance of doubt, Buyer shall, and shall cause its Affiliates to, take any and all actions necessary in order to ensure that (x) no requirement for any non-action, consent or approval of the FTC, the DOJ, any authority enforcing applicable Antitrust Laws or communications or broadcast Laws, any state attorney general or other Governmental Body, (y) no decree, judgment, injunction, temporary restraining order or any other order in any suit or proceeding, and (z) no other matter relating to any Antitrust Laws or any communications or broadcast Laws, would preclude consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement by the Termination Date; provided, however, that if the FTC or DOJ rejects Buyer as the acquirer of the Stations in writing, Seller may terminate this Agreement with immediate effect. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this Agreement shall require Buyer to undertake any of the foregoing obligations in this Section 5.3 to the extent such obligations would be reasonably likely to have an adverse effect on any asset, equity holdings, business or any portion of the foregoing, or any contractual or business relationship, in each case that is owned or operated by Buyer or any of its Affiliates, or that Buyer or any of its Affiliates is a party to, as of the date of this Agreement.

(e) Seller and Buyer shall, and shall cause their respective Affiliates to, (including, in the case of Seller, by using reasonable best efforts (including by enforcing its rights under the Purchase Agreement) to cause the Quincy Group to) use reasonable best efforts to obtain all consents and amendments from the parties to the Station Agreements that are required by the terms thereof or this Agreement for the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; provided, however, that neither Seller, Buyer, the Quincy Group nor any of their respective Affiliates shall have any obligation to offer or pay any consideration in order to obtain any such consents or amendments, including, with respect to Seller and the Quincy Group, any obligation to amend, modify or otherwise alter the terms of any contract or agreement with any such party that is not included in the Purchased Assets or, insofar as any Multi-Station Contract relates to Other Seller Stations, the terms thereof relating to Other Seller Stations; provided,

further, that the parties acknowledge and agree that such third party consents are not conditions to Closing, except for the certain third party consents applicable to the Stations and Station Contracts set forth on Schedule 5.3(e) (the "Required Consents").

(f) Buyer and Seller acknowledge that under the rules and policies of the FCC in effect as of the date of this Agreement, a waiver of the FCC's local television ownership rule is necessary to obtain the FCC Consent to Buyer's assumption of the FCC Licenses for WXOW(TV) and WQOW(TV)/WAOW(TV) and WMOW(TV) (the "Satellite Waiver"). Buyer shall pay all costs of third parties incurred in the preparation of the request for the Satellite Waiver. Seller shall (including by enforcing its rights under the Quincy Sale Agreement) cause the Quincy Group and its Affiliates to cooperate fully in the preparation of the request for the Satellite Waiver and shall promptly respond to requests from the FCC to provide information concerning the Satellite Waiver or the FCC Applications.

# Section 5.4 Operations of the Stations Prior to the Closing Date.

- Prior to the Closing Date, except as approved in writing in advance by Buyer (which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned), Seller (x) shall and, prior to the Quincy Sale Closing Date, shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause (including by enforcing its rights under the Purchase Agreement) the Quincy Group and its Affiliates to, and (y) following the Quincy Sale Closing Date shall, and shall cause its Affiliates, including the Quincy Group to, use commercially reasonable efforts to operate and carry on the Business in all material respects in the ordinary course of the Business consistent with past practice and in compliance with applicable Laws, and to the extent consistent therewith (i) continue to promote and conduct advertising on behalf of the Stations at levels substantially consistent with past practice, (ii) keep and maintain the Purchased Assets in good operating condition and repair (ordinary wear and tear excepted), (iii) preserve the goodwill of and commercial relationships with the suppliers, contractors, licensors, employees, customers, distributors and others having business relations with the Business, (iv) maintain the business organization of the Stations intact, (v) pay the debts, Taxes and other obligations of the Business in the ordinary course and subject to good faith disputes with respect to such debts, Taxes and obligations, and (vi) collect trade accounts and other receivable in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice.
- (b) Notwithstanding Section 5.4(a) and subject to Section 6.3 regarding control of the Stations, except (w) as expressly contemplated by this Agreement, (x) as set forth in Schedule 5.4(b), (y) as required by applicable Laws or by any Governmental Body of competent jurisdiction, or (z) with the prior written consent of Buyer (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned), Seller, (i) prior to the Quincy Sale Closing Date, shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Quincy Group and its Affiliates (including by enforcing Seller's rights under the Purchase Agreement) not to, and (ii) following the Quincy Sale Closing Date, shall not, and shall cause each of its Affiliates not to, in respect of the Purchased Assets, any Station or the Business:
- (i) other than in the ordinary course of the Business, enter into any Contract that would be binding on the Business after the Closing Date and that involves the payment or potential payment by the Business of more than \$100,000 per annum or cannot be

terminated without penalty at the discretion of Seller or the Quincy Group upon not more than thirty (30) calendar days' notice;

- (ii) make or authorize any new capital expenditures, other than capital expenditures to address exigent circumstances that do not exceed \$100,000 individually or \$250,000 in the aggregate; provided, that the foregoing shall not apply to capital expenditures necessary for emergency repairs, provided that Seller informs Buyer of such expenditures within five (5) Business Days;
- (iii) sell, lease (as lessor), transfer or otherwise dispose of or mortgage or pledge, or impose or suffer to be imposed any Encumbrance on, any of the material assets or properties relating to the Purchased Assets, other than (x) the sale, lease (as lessor), transfer or other disposal of property in the ordinary course of the Business or pursuant to existing Contracts not to exceed \$150,000 individually or \$500,000 in the aggregate, and (y) Permitted Encumbrances;
- (iv) fail to use all reasonable best efforts to maintain in full force and effect any of the material Seller FCC Authorizations;
- (v) (a) enter into any new, or materially modify the terms of any existing, Employment Agreement, offer letter, or consulting agreement with any Employee or other Service Provider whose annual aggregate compensation would exceed \$100,000 after giving effect to such action, (b) enter into, adopt, materially amend or terminate any Employee Plan applicable to the Employees; (c) hire or engage any Service Provider to engage in services primarily relating to the Business with an annual salary or wage rate or consulting fees (as applicable) in excess of \$100,000;
- (vi) increase or accelerate (or commit to increase or accelerate) the compensation or consulting fees (as applicable), bonus, pension, welfare, fringe or other benefits, severance or termination pay of any Service Provider of the Business, other than (a) increases in annual salary or wage rate in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice that do not exceed 3% individually or in the aggregate, and (b) in accordance with existing obligations to increase under employment agreements in effect as of the date hereof (which are set forth on Schedule 3.18(a));
- (vii) adopt, or institute any increase in, any profit sharing, bonus, incentive, deferred compensation, insurance, pension, retirement, medical, hospital, disability, welfare or other employee benefit plan, with respect to its employees, other than in the ordinary course of business or as required by any such plan's existing terms or requirement of Law;
- (viii) in respect of the Business, materially change any accounting period or change in any material respect its accounting methods (or underlying assumptions), principles or practices affecting its assets, Liabilities or business, in each case, in effect on the date hereof;
- (ix) (A) enter into or amend any CBA or recognize or certify any union, works council or other labor union organization as the bargaining representative, in all cases, covering or with respect to any Employee and (B) except as otherwise contemplated by Section 6.2 of this Agreement or to the extent directed by Buyer, layoff or terminate Employees in a

manner that could result in a material liability to the Business or, following the Closing, Buyer under the WARN Act;

- (x) make, change or revoke any Tax election, file any amended Tax Return, enter into any closing agreement, settle or compromise any Tax claim or assessment, or consent to any extension or waiver of the limitation period applicable to any claim or assessment with respect to Taxes, in each case, to the extent such action would adversely affect the Purchased Assets or the Business;
- (xi) amend or modify in any material respect, accelerate in any material respect or terminate any Station Agreement, other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;
- (xii) terminate or cancel any insurance coverage maintained by Seller with respect to any material assets without replacing such coverage with a comparable amount of insurance coverage other than in the ordinary course of business;
- (xiii) enter into any channel sharing agreement, interference acceptance agreement, or other agreement providing for (x) the use by any Person of any portion of any Station's spectrum, (y) any Station's use of any portion of broadcast spectrum licensed to any Person, and/or (z) any material restriction on, or modification of, a Station's license, technical operations, hours of operation, coverage area, and/or population served;
- (xiv) settle or compromise any material rights or claims, or any material litigation or arbitration to be transferred or that is transferrable to the Buyer as a Purchased Asset hereunder, unless the aggregate amount paid or payable in connection therewith does not exceed \$20,000 or is paid in full prior to the Closing; or
  - (xv) agree or commit to do any of the foregoing.
- Public Announcement. Neither Seller, Buyer nor any of their Affiliates Section 5.5 shall, (and Seller will use commercially reasonable efforts (including by enforcing its rights under the Purchase Agreement) to cause the Quincy Group not to) without the approval of the other, make any press release or other public announcement concerning the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, except as and to the extent that any such party shall be so obligated by Laws or by the rules, regulations or policies of any national securities exchange or association; provided, that if permitted by applicable Laws, the disclosing party provides copies of such disclosure or announcement (as applicable) to the other party prior to such disclosure or announcement. Buyer and Seller shall consult with each other and seek one another's prior written consent (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld delayed or conditioned) before issuing any press release, or otherwise making any public statements, with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby, and shall not issue any such press release or make any such public statement prior to such consultation and consent. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing contained or implied herein shall preclude any party from releasing any information in connection with enforcing its rights under this Agreement or the Ancillary Agreements or in connection with the preparation and filing such party's Tax Returns.

# Section 5.6 <u>Multi-Station Contracts</u>.

- (a) Except as agreed by the parties in writing, prior to the Closing, Buyer and Seller shall, and shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause their respective Affiliates and the Quincy Group to, cooperate in good faith and use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain any consents required in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby from any third parties pursuant to the terms of any Contracts transferred as a Purchased Asset and any Multi-Station Contract (defined below); provided, however, that such efforts shall not include any requirement that either party or any of its respective Affiliates commence, defend or participate in any litigation or offer or grant any accommodation (financial or otherwise) to any third party.
- (b) Schedule 5.6(b) contains a list as of the date hereof of all Station Agreements to which one or more television stations of Seller or the Quincy Group other than the Stations (each, an "Other Seller Station") is party to, or has rights or obligations thereunder (any such contract or agreement, a "Multi-Station Contract"). The rights and obligations under the Multi-Station Contracts that are assigned to and assumed by Buyer (and included in the Purchased Assets and Assumed Liabilities, as the case may be) shall include only those rights and obligations under such Multi-Station Contracts that are applicable to the Stations. The rights of each Other Seller Station with respect to such Contracts and the obligations of each Other Seller Station to such contract or agreement shall not be assigned to and assumed by Buyer (and shall be Excluded Assets and Excluded Liabilities, as applicable). Buyer and Seller shall, and shall each cause their Affiliates to, cooperate in good faith and use their commercially reasonable efforts to assign the rights and obligations of the Business to Buyer (or Buyer Designee(s), as applicable) prior to the Closing. For purposes of determining the scope of the rights and obligations of the Multi-Station Contracts, the rights and obligations under each Multi-Station Contract shall be equitably allocated among (1) the Stations, on the one hand, and (2) the Other Seller Stations, on the other hand, on a reasonable, good-faith and arms' length basis pursuant to a framework to be agreed mutually by Seller and Buyer.
- (c) Subject to any applicable third-party consents, such allocation and assignment with respect to any Multi-Station Contract shall be effectuated, upon agreement between Buyer and Seller, by termination of such Multi-Station Contract in its entirety with respect to the Stations and the execution of new contracts with respect to the Stations or by an assignment to and assumption by Buyer of the related rights and obligations under such Multi-Station Contract. The parties shall use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain any such new contracts or assignments to, and assumptions by, Buyer in accordance with this Section 5.6; provided, that completion of documentation of any such allocation under this Section 5.6 is not a condition to Closing other than with regards to those conditions described in Section 8.8 below.

# Section 5.7 Financing Commitment.

(a) Buyer shall obtain the Financing on the terms and conditions set forth in the Commitment Letters (including, as necessary, any "flex" provisions of the Debt Fee Letter), including by (i) maintaining in effect the Commitment Letters and negotiate the definitive agreements (the "Financing Agreements") with respect to the Commitment Letters on the terms and conditions set forth in the Commitment Letters, (ii) complying with all covenants and agreements of Buyer set forth in the Commitment Letters and the Financing Agreements and (iii) assuming the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Article VII and Article VIII, the completion

of the Marketing Period and the satisfaction of the other conditions set forth in the Commitment Letters, consummating the Financing on the terms set forth in the Commitment Letters at the Closing; provided, that, Buyer may amend or amend and restate the Commitment Letters and/or the Fee Letters or enter into additional commitment documents with the Financing Sources under the Commitment Letters or replace any Commitment Letter with a commitment for Alternative Financing (as defined below) so long as such amendment, amendment and restatement or replacement does not reduce the amount of the Financing, add any conditionality to the terms and conditions of applicable to the Financing, or delay the obtaining of the FCC Consent; provided further that Buyer may terminate or amend any Commitment Letter and/or Fee Letter so long as it is able to meet the representation set forth in Section 4.6(b)(ii) after such termination and any such termination or amendment does not delay the obtaining of the FCC Consent.

- (b) Buyer shall keep Seller reasonably informed concerning material developments relating to the Financing and shall give Seller prompt notice of any material adverse change with respect to the Financing. Without limiting the foregoing, Buyer agrees to notify Seller promptly if at any time prior to the Closing Date (i) any Commitment Letter expires, is modified, or is terminated for any reason, (ii) any Financing Source refuses in writing to provide the portion of the Financing contemplated by the applicable Commitment Letter on the terms set forth therein or on terms permitted by this Section 5.7 with respect to an Alternative Financing or (iii) Buyer no longer believes in good faith that it will be able to obtain all or any portion of the Financing on or prior to the Termination Date on the terms and conditions of any Commitment Letter with respect to such Financing Source after giving effect to any applicable "flex" provisions of the Debt Fee Letter (other than as a result of the failure of the conditions set forth in Article VII and Article VIII to be satisfied or the Marketing Period to be completed); provided that in no event shall Buyer be required to disclose any information the disclosure of which in the reasonable good faith opinion of legal counsel to Buyer, is prohibited by applicable law or court order or that is subject to attorney-client or similar privilege if Buyer shall have used its commercially reasonable efforts to disclose such information in a way that would not waive such privilege.
- If all or any portion of the Financing becomes unavailable on the terms (c) (including any "market flex" terms) and conditions contemplated in any Commitment Letter or any Financing Agreement (other than a breach by Buyer of this Agreement which prevents or renders impracticable the consummation of the Financing) or Buyer and the Financing Sources determine that it is in Buyer's best interest to replace all or a portion of the Financing contemplated by any Commitment Letter with a commitment with respect to an alternative financing, Buyer shall arrange to promptly obtain such Financing from alternative sources on terms and conditions no less favorable in the aggregate to Seller than the terms and conditions in such Commitment Letter (including any "market flex" provisions in the Debt Fee Letters) and in an amount sufficient, when added to the portion of the Financing that is otherwise available, to pay in cash all amounts required to be paid by it in cash in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including all payments, fees and expenses of Buyer related to or arising out of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (an "Alternative Financing") and obtain one or more new financing commitment letters (each, an "Alternative Commitment Letter") and one or more new definitive agreements (each, an "Alternative Financing Agreement") providing therefor; provided that Buyer shall have no obligation to obtain an Alternative Commitment Letter or Alternative Financing to the extent its cash on hand is sufficient to make the representations set forth in Section 4.6(b)(ii). In the event that Alternative Financing is contemplated, the term

"Financing" as used in this Agreement shall be deemed to include any Alternative Financing, the term "Commitment Letters" as used in this Agreement shall be deemed to include any Alternative Commitment Letter, the term "Financing Agreements" as used in this Agreement shall be deemed to include any Alternative Financing Agreement, and the term "Financing Sources" as used in this Agreement shall be deemed to include the lending institution(s) under any Alternative Commitment Letter or Alternative Financing Agreement. Buyer will furnish correct and complete copies of any Alternative Commitment Letter or Alternative Financing Agreement to Seller promptly upon the execution thereof.

- (d) Prior to the Closing, Seller shall use its reasonable best efforts to provide to Buyer all timely cooperation reasonably requested by Buyer in causing the conditions and covenants related to any Financing to be satisfied and such cooperation as is otherwise reasonably requested by Buyer in connection with obtaining any Financing in accordance with its terms, including cooperation that consists of:
- (i) (A) furnishing (and using its reasonable best efforts to cause the Quincy Group to furnish) Buyer and any Financing Sources as promptly as practicable with the Required Information and (B) assisting (and using its reasonable best efforts to cause the Quincy Group to assist) Buyer in the preparation (i) by Buyer of customary rating agency presentations, lender presentations, bank offering memoranda, syndication memoranda, private offering memoranda, registration statement, prospectus and other marketing materials or memoranda, including pro forma financial statements and (ii) by Buyer's auditors of audited balance sheets and income statements for the Stations on a consolidated basis for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2020, in each case, in connection with any Financing, filing or other regulatory or other disclosure requirement of Buyer (the "Offering Materials");
- (ii) participating (and using its reasonable best efforts to cause the Quincy Group to participate) in a reasonable number of due diligence sessions and drafting sessions in connection with any Financing;
- (iii) executing and delivering authorization and representation letters (including representations with respect to material non-public information) to any Financing Sources authorizing the distribution of information to prospective lenders or investors;
- Group to facilitate) the execution and delivery on the Closing Date of any securities purchase agreement, credit agreement, indenture, note, guarantee, pledge and security document, supplemental indenture, currency or interest rate hedging arrangement, other definitive financing document, representation letter to auditors and other certificates or documents and back-up therefor and for legal opinions as may be reasonably requested by Buyer or any Financing Sources or their respective counsel (including consents of accountants for use of their reports in any materials relating to any Financing or any filings by Buyer with the SEC) and otherwise reasonably facilitating the pledging of collateral; provided neither Seller nor the Quincy Group nor their respective officers and employees shall be required to execute any document in connection with this Section 5.7(d)(iv) that would be effective at any time before the time immediately prior to the Closing or that is not conditioned upon the occurrence of the Closing (other than any representation

letters to auditors, which shall be delivered prior to the pricing of any bonds or securities being offered in any Financing);

- (v) cooperating (and using its reasonable best efforts to cause the Quincy Group to cooperate) with Buyer and Buyer's efforts to obtain customary and reasonable corporate and facilities ratings, consents, legal opinions, surveys and title insurance (including providing reasonable access to Buyer and its Representatives to all Real Property) as reasonably requested by any Financing Sources;
- (vi) obtaining (and using its reasonable best efforts to cause the Quincy Group to obtain) customary payoff letters, Lien terminations and instruments of discharge to be delivered at Closing to allow for the payoff, discharge and termination in full on the Closing Date of all Indebtedness;
- (vii) at least three (3) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, furnishing (and using its reasonable best efforts to cause the Quincy Group to furnish) Buyer and any Financing Sources promptly with all documentation and other information that any Financing Source has reasonably requested at least ten (10) Business Days prior to the Closing Date and that such Financing Source has determined is required by regulatory authorities in connection with any Financing under applicable "know your customer" and anti-money laundering rules and regulations, including without limitation the PATRIOT Act;
- (viii) furnishing (and using its reasonable best efforts to cause the Quincy Group to furnish) Buyer and any Financing Sources as promptly as practicable within the periods specified in Section 5.7(d)(i) above, with information regarding the Purchased Assets, including customary "comfort" (including "negative assurance" comfort), together with drafts of customary comfort letters that such independent accountants are prepared to deliver (and causing such independent accountants to deliver) upon "pricing" of any bonds being issued in lieu of any portion of any Financing, with respect to the financial information to be included in such Offering Materials; and
- the Quincy Group to cooperate) with the marketing efforts of Buyer and its Financing Sources for any Financing as necessary or reasonably requested by Buyer or its Financing Sources, including, without limitation, by exercise of its rights under Section 5.5 of the Purchase Agreement; provided that (w) nothing in this Section 5.7(c) shall require such cooperation to the extent it would require Seller to waive or amend any terms of this Agreement or agree to pay any fees or reimburse any expenses prior to the Closing for which it has not received prior reimbursement by or on behalf of Buyer (except to the extent Buyer has provided the indemnities set forth in Section 5.7(e)), (x) nothing herein shall require such cooperation from Seller to the extent it would unreasonably interfere with the ongoing operations of Seller or the Quincy Group, and (y) neither Seller, nor any of Seller's Representatives, shall have any liability or obligation under any certificate, agreement, arrangement, document or instrument relating to any Financing that is not contingent upon the Closing (including the entry into any agreement) or that would be effective prior to the Closing (other than customary authorization and representation letters described above).

- (e) Buyer shall indemnify and hold harmless Seller, its Affiliates and their respective Representatives from and against any and all losses suffered or incurred by them in connection with the arrangement of any Financing (including any action taken in accordance with this Section 5.7) and any information utilized in connection therewith, other than to the extent any of the foregoing arises from (i) the Fraud, willful misconduct, gross negligence or material breach of its obligations by any of Seller or the Quincy Group or their respective Affiliates or Representatives or (ii) any incorrect information provided by any of Seller or the Quincy Group or their respective Affiliates or Representatives. Buyer shall, promptly upon request by Seller, reimburse Seller, as applicable, for all of its and its Affiliates' documented reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred by Seller or its Affiliates in connection with this Section 5.7. Buyer's indemnification obligation pursuant to this Section 5.7(e) shall be on a dollar-for-dollar basis and shall not be subject to any limitation of liability set forth in this Agreement.
- (f) Seller shall cause the Quincy Group to consent to the use of the Quincy Group's logos in connection with any Financing; provided that such logos are used solely in a manner that is not intended to or reasonably likely to harm or disparage the Quincy Group or the reputation or goodwill of the Quincy Group.
- Exclusivity. From the date of this Agreement until the earlier of the Closing Section 5.8 or termination of this Agreement in accordance with Article X, Seller shall not, and shall not permit its Affiliates (or its or their Affiliates' Representatives to) directly or indirectly, and shall cause the Ouincy Group not to (including by enforcing its rights under the Purchase Agreement): (a) solicit, initiate or encourage the submission of any proposal from any Person relating to the acquisition of the Purchased Assets, Assumed Liabilities and Continuing Employees or any similar transaction or any alternative to the transaction contemplated hereby; (b) enter into or consummate any transaction relating to, the acquisition of the Purchased Assets, Assumed Liabilities and Continuing Employees or any similar transaction or any alternative to the transaction contemplated hereby; or (c) participate in any discussions regarding, furnish any information with respect to, assist or participate in, or facilitate in any other manner, any attempt by any Person to do any of the foregoing; provided, that the foregoing clauses (a) and (c) (and the foregoing clause (b), but only to the extent that any purchase agreement entered into is expressly subject to and not consummated prior to the termination of this Agreement in accordance with Article X) shall not apply after such time that a reasonable person under similar circumstances would determine that it is more likely than not that: (i) the FCC Consent or any approval of the transaction that may be required under any communications or broadcast Laws by the FCC or similar Governmental Body; or (ii) any approval by the DOJ (or the FTC) as required under the HSR Act (if necessary), the DOJ Final Judgment, or any other consents under any Antitrust Laws or any U.S. federal, state or local antitrust or competition Governmental Body, in each case with competent jurisdiction, will not be obtained. Seller will promptly notify Buyer if any Person makes any proposal, offer, inquiry or contact with respect to any of the foregoing.
- Section 5.9 <u>Purchase Agreement Covenants</u>. From the date of this Agreement until the earlier of the Quincy Sale Closing Date or termination of this Agreement in accordance with <u>Article X</u>, Seller shall use commercially reasonable efforts not, and shall use commercially reasonable efforts not to permit any of its Affiliates, to take any action in connection with the Purchase Agreement, including amending, waiving or modifying any provision thereof or granting any consent thereunder, that would materially and adversely affect (i) Buyer, the Business, the

Stations, the Purchased Assets or Assumed Liabilities, without the prior written consent of Buyer or (ii) the Financing Sources, without the prior written consent of the Financing Sources.

Section 5.10 <u>Monthly Statements</u>. As soon as reasonably practicable after they become available, but in no event more than twenty-one (21) Business Days after the end of each calendar month ending after the date of this Agreement, Seller shall furnish to Buyer (i) final monthly general ledger reports for each Station and (ii) entity-only financial statements (including balance sheets and statements of operations) for each Station of and for such month then-ended, in each case prepared on the same basis as and in a manner consistent with the Company Financial Statements (collectively, the "Monthly Statements").

Seller shall not, directly or indirectly through another Person, (including the Quincy Group) encourage, induce, solicit or attempt to encourage, induce or solicit any employee of Buyer or any of its Affiliates that Seller is aware is employed by Buyer or any of its Affiliates to leave the employ of Buyer or any of its Affiliates; provided, however, that this provision shall not preclude Seller from engaging in public advertising or placing general solicitations not specifically directed at any of the employees of Buyer or Buyer's Affiliates or using search firms so long as such firms are not advised to solicit any of the employees of Buyer or Buyer's Affiliates and, in each case, engaging in discussions with or hiring any such employee of Buyer or Buyer's Affiliates responding thereto.

#### ARTICLE VI

#### ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS

# Section 6.1 Taxes.

- (a) The party legally obligated to file any Tax Return for Prorated Taxes shall prepare and timely file such Tax Return and timely pay to the applicable Governmental Body any Taxes due with respect to such Tax Return. Upon receipt of any bill for Prorated Taxes, Buyer or Seller, as applicable, shall present a statement to the other setting forth the amount of reimbursement to which each is entitled under Section 6.1(b) together with such supporting evidence as is reasonably necessary to calculate the proration amount. The proration amount shall be paid by the party owing it to the other within ten (10) days after delivery of such statement. In the event that Buyer or Seller makes any payment for which it is entitled to reimbursement under Section 6.1(b), the applicable party shall make such reimbursement promptly but in no event later than ten (10) days after the presentation of a statement setting forth the amount of reimbursement to which the presenting party is entitled along with such supporting evidence as is reasonably necessary to calculate the amount of reimbursement.
- (b) In the case of any Prorated Taxes for any Straddle Period, the portion of such Prorated Taxes that are allocable to the portion of such Straddle Period ending on the Closing Date and that constitute an Excluded Liability shall be deemed to equal the amount of such Taxes for the entire Straddle Period multiplied by a fraction the numerator of which is the number of calendar days in the portion of the Straddle Period ending on the Closing Date and the denominator of which is the number of calendar days in the entire Straddle Period, and the remaining portion

of such Prorated Taxes shall be allocable to the portion of such Straddle Period beginning after the Closing Date and shall constitute an Assumed Liability.

- Seller and Buyer shall (i) provide assistance to each other party as reasonably requested in writing in preparing and filing Tax Returns, the making of any election relating to Taxes, the preparation for any audit by any Governmental Body and the prosecution or defense of any claim, suit or proceeding relating to any Tax; (ii) make available to each other party as reasonably requested in writing all information, records, documents and Tax Returns to the extent relating solely to Taxes concerning the Business or the Purchased Assets for any Pre-Closing Tax Period or Straddle Period; (iii) retain any Books and Records that could reasonably be expected to be necessary or useful in connection with any preparation by any other party of any Tax Return, or for any audit, examination or other proceeding relating to Taxes, with respect to the Business or the Purchased Assets for any Pre-Closing Tax Period or Straddle Period, for a period of at least six (6) years following the Closing Date; and (iv) cooperate fully, as and to the extent reasonably requested by any other party in writing in connection with audit, examination or other proceeding with respect to Taxes relating to the Business or the Purchased Assets, which shall be governed by Section 9.4, except to the extent of any inconsistency with this Section 6.1(c) or Section 6.1(d); provided, that, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, Seller and its Affiliates shall not be required to provide any consolidated, combined or unitary income Tax Return filed by Seller, its Affiliates or the Quincy Group.
- (d) Seller shall promptly notify Buyer in writing upon receipt by Seller of notice of any pending or threatened Tax audits or assessments relating to the income, properties or operations of Seller that reasonably may be expected to relate to or give rise to a Encumbrance on the Purchased Assets or the Business. Each of Buyer and Seller shall promptly notify the other in writing upon receipt of notice of any pending or threatened Tax audit or assessment (i) challenging the Final Purchase Price Allocation or (ii) that may reasonably be expected to result in an indemnity claim under Article IX.
- (e) Buyer and Seller shall each pay fifty percent (50%) of any Transfer Taxes. Seller and Buyer shall reasonably cooperate in the preparation, execution and filing of all Tax Returns, questionnaires, applications or other documents regarding any such Transfer Taxes.
- (f) Any payments pursuant to <u>Section 2.12</u> or <u>Article IX</u> shall be treated as an adjustment to the Purchase Price for all applicable Tax purposes, unless otherwise required by applicable Law.

# Section 6.2 Employees; Employee Benefit Plans.

(a) Buyer shall (or shall cause one of its Affiliates to) extend an offer of employment to all of the Employees, including any Employee who is absent due to any approved leave of absence (it being understood that any such leave employees shall only commence employment with Buyer or its Affiliate upon his or her return from such leave). Each Employee who accepts such an offer of employment shall be referred to as a "Continuing Employee". Buyer will employ each Continuing Employee for at least sixty (60) days following the Closing Date, except in the event of such Continuing Employee's death, disability (consistent with applicable Law), retirement, termination for "cause", or voluntary termination (such period, the

"Continuation Period"). Buyer shall (or shall cause an Affiliate of Buyer that will employ the Continuing Employee to) provide to each Continuing Employee who continues to be employed by Buyer or by an Affiliate of Buyer as of the Closing Date during the Continuation Period: (i) a base salary or hourly wage rate, as applicable, and target annual cash incentive compensation as in effect that is the same or greater than the base salary or hourly wage rate and target annual cash incentive compensation provided by Seller or its Affiliate to such Employee immediately prior to the Closing and (ii) health and retirement benefits, including those pursuant to qualified retirement and savings plans (excluding any defined benefit pension benefits, equity or other incentive compensation, and any severance or termination benefits, if applicable) that are at least as favorable, in the aggregate, as those provided to similarly situated employees of Buyer and its Affiliates. For the purposes hereof, the "Employment Commencement Date" as referred to herein shall mean the Closing Date or such later date on which the Continuing Employee begins employment with Buyer or any of its Affiliates for any employees absent due to approved leave of absence as of the Closing Date (as applicable). Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything herein to the contrary, any offer of employment made to any Union Employee shall be made on terms and conditions consistent with the applicable CBA without regard to the foregoing.

- (b) Prior to the Closing Date, each of Seller and the Quincy Group shall pay in full to its Service Providers, and neither Buyer nor any of its Affiliates shall have any responsibility for, any and all compensation and benefits, including, without limitation, base salary, wages, bonuses, commissions and other forms of incentive compensation, accrued vacation and other paid-time-off (if any) and other employee benefits in each case, that have been earned or accrued, as applicable, through the Closing Date. By action taken prior to the Closing, Seller shall (or shall cause the Quincy Group to) take all actions necessary or appropriate to cause all Continuing Employees to cease any active participation in, and any benefit accrual under, all Employee Plans.
- (c) Buyer, Seller and the Quincy Group each intend that the Continuing Employees shall have continuous and uninterrupted employment immediately before and immediately after the Closing and for a period of at least sixty (60) days. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, Buyer shall not have any responsibility for, and Seller shall retain and hold Buyer harmless and indemnify Buyer with respect to, any and all liabilities (including statutory or contractual severance benefits) arising as a result of the actual or constructive termination of an Employee's employment by Seller and/or the Quincy Group, except to the extent any such termination is directed by Buyer or Buyer fails to comply with its obligation under Section 6.2(a), as a result of the transactions contemplated hereby, including, without limiting the foregoing, any obligations or liability under the WARN Act or any similar state, local or foreign Law (but excluding, for clarity, any such liabilities arising as a result of any actual or constructive termination by Buyer after the Closing). Following the Closing Date, Sellers shall have no WARN Act liabilities and obligations.
- (d) To the extent required by applicable Law, Buyer shall (i) notify any union or employee representative under the CBA of the transactions contemplated this Agreement and (ii) engage in effects bargaining with such union or employee representative with respect to any effects, impact or other consequences of the transactions contemplated hereby. Buyer shall (x) comply with the National Labor Relations Act and other applicable Law regarding the transition of employment of any Union Employee to employment with Buyer following the Closing (if

applicable); and (y) if applicable, assume (or cause its Affiliates to assume) the obligations of Seller, the Quincy Group or any of their respective Affiliates' under each applicable CBA (if any case, an "Assumed CBA").

- (e) As of the Closing Date, Buyer shall (or shall cause its Affiliates to) provide to each Continuing Employee under each employee benefit plan, program, arrangement, policy or practice, including without limitation severance, vacation and paid time off plans, established or maintained by Buyer in which any Continuing Employee is eligible to participate after the Employment Commencement Date (the "Post-Closing Plans"), credit for all purposes (including eligibility to participate, vesting, benefit accrual, early retirement subsidies and severance) for full or partial years of service with Seller or the Quincy Group or its Affiliates performed at any time prior to the Closing Date; provided, that no such prior service shall be taken into account to the extent it would result in the duplication of benefits to any Continuing Employee.
- (f) For purposes of each Post-Closing Plan providing medical, dental, prescription drug, and/or vision benefits to any Continuing Employee, Buyer shall (or shall cause its Affiliates to) use commercially reasonable efforts to: (i) cause all pre-existing condition exclusions, actively-at-work requirements, and waiting periods of such Post-Closing Plan to be waived for such Continuing Employee and his or her covered dependents, to the extent any such exclusions or requirements were waived or were inapplicable under the analogous Employee Plan immediately prior to the Closing Date; and (ii) cause any Post-Closing Plan to provide each Continuing Employee with credit for any co-payments and deductibles paid by such Continuing Employee and his or her covered dependents prior to the Closing Date and in the same plan year as the plan year in which the Closing Date occurs for purposes of satisfying any applicable deductible, coinsurance or maximum out-of-pocket requirements under the analogous Post-Closing Plan for its plan year in which the Closing Date occurs, to the extent consistent with the governing terms of the Post-Closing Plan.
- (g) Notwithstanding any contrary provision of this Agreement, Buyer shall be responsible and liable for providing, or continuing to provide, health care continuation coverage as required under Section 4980B of the Code with respect to any Continuing Employees who experiences a COBRA "qualifying event" following the Closing Date under any Buyer employee benefit plan subject to COBRA.
- (h) Without limiting the generality of Section 11.6, nothing in this Section 6.2, express or implied, is intended to confer on any Person (including any Continuing Employees and any current or former Employees or other Service Providers) other than the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns, any rights, benefits, remedies, obligations or liabilities (including any third-party beneficiary rights) under or by reason of this Section 6.2. Accordingly, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 6.2, the parties expressly acknowledge and agree that this Agreement is not intended to create a contract between Buyer, Seller or any of their respective Affiliates, on the one hand, and any Service Provider of Seller or the Quincy Group on the other hand, and no employee of Seller may rely on this Agreement as the basis for any breach of contract claim against Buyer, Seller or any of their respective Affiliates. Nothing in this Section 6.2 shall constitute an amendment to or modification of any Employee Plan or other compensation or benefit plan, program, policy, agreement or arrangement. Except as expressly provided in Section 6.2(a) above, nothing in this Agreement will, or will be construed so as to (i)

prevent or restrict in any way the right of Buyer or its Affiliates to terminate, reassign, promote or demote any Continuing Employee, or to change the title, powers, duties, responsibilities, functions, locations, salaries, other compensation or terms or conditions of employment or service of any such Continuing Employee, in each case, at any time after the Continuation Period; or (ii) obligate Buyer or any of its Affiliates to adopt or maintain any Employee Plan or other compensation or benefit plan, program, policy, agreement or arrangement at any time or prevent Buyer or any of its Affiliates from modifying or terminating any such compensatory or benefits arrangement at any time or from time to time.

- (i) Following the date of this Agreement, Seller and Buyer shall reasonably cooperate in all matters reasonably necessary to effect the transactions contemplated by this Section 6.2.
- (j) The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that all Seller Employee Liabilities shall be and remain solely obligations of Seller, and neither Buyer nor its Affiliates shall assume or otherwise incur any obligation with respect to any Seller Employee Liability. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, neither Buyer nor its Affiliates shall assume any of the Employee Plans or any obligation or liability thereunder or with respect thereto, and Seller shall be and remain solely responsible for any liabilities arising under or with respect to all such Employee Plans and all obligations and liabilities thereunder (including, without limitation, any severance or similar obligations under any Employee Plan or otherwise that becomes payable as a result of the termination of employment or service of any Service Provider in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- Section 6.3 <u>Control of Operations Prior to Closing Date</u>. Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, the sale of the Purchased Assets contemplated hereby shall not be consummated prior to the grant by the FCC of the FCC Consent. Seller and Buyer acknowledge and agree that at all times commencing on the date hereof and ending on the Closing Date, (x) nothing in this Agreement, including <u>Section 5.4</u>, shall be construed to give Buyer any right to control, direct or otherwise supervise, or attempt to control, direct or otherwise supervise, any of the management or operations of any Station(s) and (y) (A) prior to the Quincy Sale Closing Date, the Quincy Group and (B) following the Quincy Sale Closing Date, Seller shall have complete control and supervision of the programming, operations, policies and all other matters relating to the Stations until the Closing.
- Section 6.4 <u>Bulk Transfer Laws</u>. Buyer hereby waives compliance by Seller and the Quincy Group with the provisions of any so-called bulk sales or bulk transfer Law of any jurisdiction in connection with the sale of the Purchased Assets to Buyer hereunder.
- Section 6.5 <u>Use of Names</u>. Seller is not conveying ownership rights or granting Buyer a license to use any of the Retained Names and Marks and, after the Closing, Buyer shall not and shall not permit any of its Affiliates to use in any manner the Retained Names and Marks or any word that is similar in sound or appearance to such names or marks (other than limited and incidental uses of the Retained Names and Marks (including in existing footage and clips), which are hereby authorized). In the event Buyer violates any of its obligations under this <u>Section 6.5</u>, Seller may proceed against Buyer in law or in equity for such damages or other relief as a court may deem appropriate. Buyer acknowledges that a violation of this <u>Section 6.5</u> may cause Seller

irreparable harm, for which money damages may not be adequate compensation. Buyer therefore agrees that in the event of any actual or threatened violation of this <u>Section 6.5</u>, any of such parties shall be entitled, in addition to other remedies that they may have, to a temporary restraining order and to preliminary and final injunctive relief against Buyer or any such Affiliate of Buyer to prevent any violations of this <u>Section 6.5</u>, without the necessity of posting a bond.

Section 6.6 <u>R&W Insurance Policy</u>. Following the execution of this Agreement, at Buyer's sole election, Buyer may elect to obtain a representations and warranties insurance policy (an "R&W Insurance Policy"). Any such R&W Insurance Policy shall provide that (i) the insurers under the R&W Insurance Policy shall have no, and shall waive any, right of subrogation against Seller or any of Seller's Affiliates, except in the case of Fraud; and (ii) that Seller shall be the express third party beneficiary of such waiver. Seller shall pay the lesser of: (a) fifty percent (50%) of any R&W Insurance Costs and (b) \$500,000 in the aggregate of any R&W Insurance Costs, and Buyer shall pay any remaining R&W Insurance Costs. Seller shall use commercially reasonable efforts to assist Buyer in obtaining any such R&W Insurance Policy.

Section 6.7 <u>Post-Closing Access to Insurance</u>. If at any time after the Closing, any Person (other than Buyer or any of its Affiliates) asserts a claim with respect to any casualty or damage to any Purchased Asset occurring prior to the Closing Date (a "<u>Purchased Asset Claim</u>") against Buyer or any of its Affiliates, then Seller shall use commercially reasonable efforts to provide Buyer with reasonable access to any insurance policies covering the Purchased Assets that relate to such Purchased Asset Claim. Seller will reasonably cooperate with Buyer with respect to such insurance coverage for any such Purchased Asset Claim. Seller shall not assign or otherwise transfer any interest or right in or to any such insurance policy without obtaining the prior written consent of Buyer, which shall not be unreasonably withheld.

Section 6.8 <u>Treatment of Other Party's Assets</u>. In the event that following the Closing Seller or Buyer (and/or any applicable Buyer Designee(s)) receives or discovers that it holds any asset belonging to the other party, such party shall promptly remit or otherwise transfer such asset to the other party.

Section 6.9 <u>Ungranted Licenses</u>. In the event that the FCC has not granted its consent to the assignment of certain non-broadcast Seller FCC Authorizations as of the Closing (the "<u>Ungranted Licenses</u>"), at Closing, Seller and Buyer will enter into a Sharing Agreement in a form to be mutually acceptable with respect to such Ungranted Licenses, pending review and approval by the FCC of the applications for consent to assignment of such Ungranted Licenses to Buyer, which Sharing Agreement shall provide for Buyer's use of such Ungranted Licenses, subject to Seller's supervision and control, at no cost, and the automatic transfer of such Ungranted Licenses to Buyer once FCC consent is obtained.

# ARTICLE VII

# CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATIONS OF SELLER

The obligations of Seller under this Agreement to consummate the sale of the Purchased Assets contemplated hereby shall be subject to the satisfaction, fulfillment or, where legally possible, waiver, on or prior to the Closing Date, of the following conditions:

# Section 7.1 No Breach of Covenants and Warranties.

- (a) Buyer shall have performed and complied in all material respects with its covenants and agreements contained herein required to be performed or complied with by it as of or prior to the Closing.
- (b) (i) Each of the representations and warranties of Buyer contained in Article IV of this Agreement (other than the Buyer Fundamental Representations) shall be true and correct on the Closing Date as though made on the Closing Date (except to the extent that they expressly speak as of a specific date or time other than the Closing Date, in which case they need only have been true and correct as of such specified date or time), except where the failure of such representations and warranties to be true and correct (without giving effect to any qualifiers or exceptions relating to "materiality" set forth in such representations and warranties), individually or in the aggregate, has not had and would not be reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on the ability of Buyer to perform its obligations under this Agreement or the Buyer Ancillary Agreements and (ii) the Buyer Fundamental Representations shall be true and correct in all material respects on the Closing Date as though made on the Closing Date (except to the extent that they expressly speak as of a specific date or time other than the Closing Date, in which case they need only have been true and correct as of such specified date or time).
- (c) Buyer shall have delivered to Seller a certificate, dated as of the Closing Date, signed by an executive officer on behalf of Buyer (without personal liability) and certifying as to the satisfaction of the conditions specified in this Section 7.1.
- Section 7.2 <u>No Restraint</u>. There shall not be in effect any Law or Order (whether temporary, preliminary or permanent) issued by any U.S. federal or state court of competent jurisdiction preventing the consummation of the sale of the Purchased Assets contemplated hereby.

# Section 7.3 Certain Governmental Approvals.

- (a) The FCC Consent shall have been granted and shall be effective; and
- (b) Any waiting period (and any extension thereof) applicable to consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement under the HSR Act shall have expired or shall have been terminated, if necessary and/or approval by the DOJ pursuant to the DOJ Final Judgment has been obtained.
  - Section 7.4 Quincy Sale. The Quincy Sale shall have been consummated.
- Section 7.5 <u>Closing Deliveries</u>. Buyer shall have made, or stands ready at the Closing to make, the deliveries contemplated by <u>Section 2.9</u> to Seller.

# ARTICLE VIII

# CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATIONS OF BUYER

The obligations of Buyer under this Agreement to consummate the sale of the Purchased Assets contemplated hereby shall, be subject to the satisfaction, fulfillment or, where legally possible, waiver on or prior to the Closing Date, of the following conditions:

# Section 8.1 No Breach of Covenants and Warranties.

- (a) Seller shall have performed and complied with in all material respects its covenants and agreements contained herein required to be performed or complied with by it as of or prior to the Closing.
- (b) (i) Each of the representations and warranties of Seller contained in Article III of this Agreement (other than the Seller Fundamental Representations) shall be true and correct on the Closing Date as though made on the Closing Date (except to the extent that they expressly speak as of a specific date or time other than the Closing Date, in which case they need only have been true and correct as of such specified date or time), except where the failure of such representations and warranties to be true and correct (without giving effect to any qualifiers or exceptions relating to "materiality" or "Material Adverse Effect" set forth in such representations and warranties), would not, individually or in the aggregate, be reasonably likely to have a Material Adverse Effect and (ii) the Seller Fundamental Representations shall be true and correct in all material respects on the Closing Date as though made on the Closing Date (except to the extent that they expressly speak as of a specific date or time other than the Closing Date, in which case they need only have been true and correct as of such specified date or time).
- (c) Seller shall have delivered to Buyer a certificate, dated as of the Closing Date, signed by an executive officer of Seller and certifying as to the satisfaction of the conditions specified in this Section 8.1 and Section 8.6.
- **Section 8.2 No Restraint**. There shall not be in effect any Law or Order (whether temporary, preliminary or permanent) issued by any U.S. federal or state court of competent jurisdiction preventing the consummation of the sale of the Purchased Assets contemplated hereby.
- Section 8.3 <u>Conduct of Quincy and its Affiliates</u>. From and after the date of this Agreement, Quincy and its Affiliates shall have (i) operated and carried on the Business in all material respects in the ordinary course of the Business in accordance with <u>Section 5.4(a)</u> and (ii) complied in all material respects with the restrictions set forth in <u>Section 5.4(b)</u>, subject to the exceptions set forth in clauses (w)-(z) of the introductory sentence of <u>Section 5.4(b)</u>.

# Section 8.4 Certain Governmental Approvals.

- (a) The Satellite Waiver and FCC Consent shall have been granted and shall be effective; and
- (b) Any waiting period (and any extension thereof) applicable to consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement under the HSR Act shall have expired or shall

have been terminated, if necessary and/or approval by the DOJ pursuant to the DOJ Final Judgment has been obtained.

- Section 8.5 Quincy Sale. The Quincy Sale shall have been consummated.
- Section 8.6 <u>Material Adverse Effect</u>. There shall not have occurred any Material Adverse Effect since the date of this Agreement.
- Section 8.7 <u>Closing Deliveries</u>. Seller shall have made, or stands ready at the Closing to make, the deliveries contemplated by <u>Section 2.9</u> to Buyer.
  - Section 8.8 <u>Certain Approvals</u>. The Required Consents shall have been obtained.
- Section 8.9 <u>Release of Encumbrances</u>. Effective immediately prior to or as of the Closing, Seller shall have obtained full release of all Encumbrances set forth on <u>Schedule 8.9</u> over the Purchased Assets as evidenced in writing from Seller's or the Quincy Group's lenders in a manner reasonably satisfactory to Buyer (accompanied by draft UCC termination statements).

#### ARTICLE IX

#### INDEMNIFICATION

- Section 9.1 <u>Indemnification by Seller</u>. From and after the Closing and subject to <u>Section 11.1</u>, Seller agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Buyer from and against any and all Losses and Expenses imposed upon, or incurred or suffered by, any Buyer Group Member as a result of or arising out of:
- (i) any breach by Seller of, or any other failure of Seller to perform, any of its covenants, agreements or obligations pursuant to this Agreement;
  - (ii) any Excluded Liabilities; or
- (iii) any breach or inaccuracy of the Seller Fundamental Representations.
- Section 9.2 <u>Indemnification by Buyer</u>. From and after the Closing and subject to <u>Section 11.1</u>, Buyer agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Seller from and against any and all Losses and Expense imposed upon, or incurred or suffered by, any Seller Group Member as a result of or arising out of:
- (i) any breach by Buyer of, or any other failure of Buyer to perform, any of its covenants, agreements or obligations in this Agreement;
  - (ii) any Assumed Liabilities; or
- (iii) any breach or inaccuracy of the Buyer Fundamental Representations.

# Section 9.3 Notice of Claims; Determination of Amount.

- (a) Any party seeking indemnification hereunder (the "<u>Indemnified Party</u>") shall give promptly to the party or parties, as applicable, obligated to provide indemnification to such Indemnified Party (the "<u>Indemnitor</u>") a written notice (a "<u>Claim Notice</u>") describing in reasonable detail the facts giving rise to the claim for indemnification hereunder and shall include in such Claim Notice (if then known) the amount or the method of computation of the amount of such claim, and a reference to the provision of this Agreement upon which such claim is based. Subject to <u>Section 11.1</u>, the failure of any Indemnified Party to give the Claim Notice promptly as required by this <u>Section 9.3</u> shall not affect such Indemnified Party's rights under this Article IX except to the extent such failure is actually prejudicial to the rights and obligations of the Indemnitor.
- (b) In calculating any Loss or Expense there shall be deducted (i) any insurance recovery in respect thereof and (ii) any recovery in respect thereof that is obtained from any other third Person (and no right of subrogation shall accrue hereunder to any such insurer or other third Person).
- (c) After the giving of any Claim Notice pursuant hereto, the amount of indemnification to which an Indemnified Party shall be entitled under this <u>Article IX</u> shall be determined: (i) by the written agreement between the Indemnified Party and the Indemnitor; (ii) by a decree of any court of competent jurisdiction; or (iii) by any other means to which the Indemnified Party and the Indemnitor shall agree.
- (d) For the purposes of determining whether there has been a breach of a representation, warranty or covenant, and for the purposes of determining the amount of any Losses suffered or Expenses incurred by a Buyer Group Member resulting therefrom, the representations, warranties and covenants of Seller set forth in this Agreement shall be considered without regard to any materiality or Material Adverse Effect qualification therein.

# Section 9.4 Third Person Claims.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in <u>Section 9.3</u>, in order (a) for a party to be entitled to any indemnification provided for under this Agreement in respect of, arising out of or involving a claim or demand made by any third Person against the Indemnified Party, such Indemnified Party must notify the Indemnitor in writing, and in reasonable detail, of the third Person claim promptly after receipt by such Indemnified Party of written notice of the third Person claim, which notification must include a copy of the written notice of the third Person claim that was received by the Indemnified Party (the "Third Person Claim Notice"). Thereafter, the Indemnified Party shall deliver promptly to the Indemnitor, after the Indemnified Party's receipt thereof, copies of all notices and documents (including court papers) received by the Indemnified Party relating to the third Person claim. Notwithstanding the foregoing, should a party be physically served with a complaint with regard to a third Person claim, the Indemnified Party must notify the Indemnitor with a copy of the complaint promptly after receipt thereof and shall deliver to the Indemnitor promptly after the receipt of such complaint copies of notices and documents (including court papers) received by the Indemnified Party relating to the third Person claim. Subject to Section 11.1, the failure of any Indemnified Party to promptly provide such notices as required by this <u>Section 9.4</u> shall not affect such Indemnified Party's rights under this <u>Article IX</u> and shall not relieve the Indemnitor of its indemnification obligations hereunder, except and only to the extent such failure is materially prejudicial to the rights or defenses of the Indemnitor.

In the event of the initiation of any legal proceeding against the Indemnified (b) Party by a third Person, the Indemnitor shall have the sole and absolute right after the receipt of a Third Person Claim Notice, at its option and at its own expense, to be represented by counsel of its choice and to control, defend against, negotiate, settle or otherwise deal with any proceeding, claim, or demand which relates to any loss, liability or damage indemnified against hereunder; provided, however, that the Indemnified Party may participate in any such proceeding with counsel of its choice and at its expense. The parties hereto agree to cooperate fully with each other in connection with the defense, negotiation or settlement of any such proceeding, claim or demand. Prior to the time the Indemnified Party is notified by the Indemnitor as to whether the Indemnitor will assume the defense of such proceeding, claim or demand, the Indemnified Party shall take all actions reasonably necessary to timely preserve the collective rights of the parties with respect to such proceeding, claim or demand, including responding timely to legal process. To the extent the Indemnitor elects not to defend such proceeding, claim or demand (or fails to confirm its election) within thirty (30) days after the giving by the Indemnified Party to the Indemnitor of a Third Person Claim Notice, the Indemnified Party may retain counsel, reasonably acceptable to the Indemnitor, at the expense of the Indemnitor, and control the defense of, or otherwise deal with, such proceeding, claim or demand. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Indemnitor will not be entitled to control, and the Indemnified Party will be entitled to have control over, the defense or settlement of any Third Person Claim if (i) the Third Person Claim involves a criminal proceeding, action, indictment, allegation or investigation against the Indemnified Party, (ii) if the Third Person Claim seeks material injunctive or nonmonetary equitable relief, (iii) if the applicable claimant in the Third Person Claim is a Governmental Body, or (iv) a conflict of interest arises that, under applicable principles of legal ethics, in the reasonable judgment of counsel to the Indemnified Party, would prohibit a single counsel from representing both the Indemnitor and the Indemnified Party in connection with the defense of such Third Person Claim. The Indemnitor will be liable for the reasonable and documented fees and expenses of counsel employed by the Indemnified Party for any period during which the Indemnified Party is controlling the defense. Regardless of which party assumes the defense of such proceeding, claim or demand, the parties agree to cooperate with one another in connection therewith. Such cooperation shall include providing records and information that are relevant to such proceeding, claim or demand, and making each parties' employees and officers available on a mutually convenient basis to provide additional information and explanation of any material provided hereunder and to act as a witness or respond to legal process. Whether or not the Indemnitor assumes the defense of such proceeding, claim or demand, the Indemnified Party shall not admit any liability with respect to, or settle, compromise or discharge, such proceeding, claim or demand without the Indemnitor's prior written consent (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed). The Indemnitor shall not consent to a settlement of, or the entry of any judgment arising from, any such proceeding, claim or demand without the Indemnified Party's prior written consent (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed) unless such settlement or judgment (a) relates solely to monetary damages for which the Indemnitor shall be responsible and (b) includes as an unconditional term thereof the release of the Indemnified Party from all liability with respect to such proceeding, claim or demand, in which event no such consent shall be required. After any

final judgment or award shall have been rendered by a court, arbitration board or administrative agency of competent jurisdiction and the time in which to appeal therefrom has expired, or a settlement shall have been consummated, or the Indemnified Party and the Indemnitor shall arrive at a mutually binding agreement with respect to each separate matter alleged to be indemnified by the Indemnitor hereunder, the Indemnified Party shall forward to the Indemnitor notice of any sums due and owing by it with respect to such matter and the Indemnitor shall pay all of the sums so owing to the Indemnified Party by wire transfer, certified or bank cashier's check within thirty (30) days after the date of such notice.

(c) The party that has assumed the control or defense of any such proceeding, claim or demand made by a third Person against the other party shall (a) provide the other party with the right to participate in any meetings or negotiations with any Governmental Body or other third Person and reasonable advance notice of any such meetings or negotiations, (b) provide the other party with the right to review in advance and provide comments on any draft or final documents proposed to be submitted to any Governmental Body or other third Person, and (c) keep the other party reasonably informed with respect to such proceeding, demand or claim, including providing copies of all documents provided to, or received from, any Governmental Body or any other third Person in connection with such proceeding, demand or claim. Buyer Group Members, on the one hand, and Seller Group Members, on the other hand, covenant and agree to maintain the confidence of all such drafts and comments provided by the other.

# Section 9.5 Limitations; Exclusive Remedies.

- (a) In any case where the Indemnified Party recovers from third Persons any amount in respect of a matter with respect to which the Indemnitor has indemnified it pursuant to this <u>Article IX</u>, the Indemnified Party shall promptly pay over to the Indemnitor the amount so recovered (after deducting therefrom the full amount of the expenses incurred by it in procuring such recovery), but not in excess of any amount previously so paid by the Indemnitor to or on behalf of the Indemnified Party in respect of such matter.
- (b) Except for remedies that cannot be waived as a matter of law and injunctive and provisional relief, claims arising from Fraud, this <u>Article IX</u> shall be the exclusive remedy for breaches of this Agreement (including any covenant, obligation, representation or warranty contained in this Agreement or in any certificate delivered pursuant to this Agreement) or otherwise relating to the subject matter of this Agreement, including any claims arising under any Environmental Laws. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this <u>Section 9.5</u> shall not (i) interfere with or impede the operation of the provisions of <u>Section 2.7</u> providing for the resolution of certain disputes in accordance with the procedures set forth therein, (ii) interfere with or impede the operation of the provisions of <u>Section 6.1</u> related to Taxes, (iii) limit the rights of the parties to injunctive and provisional relief, including specific performance in accordance with <u>Section 11.15</u> or (iv) prevent a party from bringing a claim arising from Fraud.
- (c) Subject to Section 9.7, after the Closing, the Buyer's sole and exclusive remedy for, and sole and exclusive source of funds for payment of, any Losses (whether such Losses result from a claim framed in tort, contract or otherwise) arising out of or in connection with this Agreement, any of the Ancillary Agreements, or the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, other than in respect of Excluded Assets or Excluded Liabilities, shall be a claim for

indemnification under this <u>Article IX</u> for which the Buyer is entitled to indemnification from Seller pursuant to this <u>Article IX</u>; provided, that, the maximum total liability of Seller with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall not exceed the Purchase Price.

Section 9.6 <u>Damages; Mitigation</u>. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, none of the parties hereto (nor shall any Financing Source) shall have any liability under any provision of this Agreement for any punitive or exemplary damages, except to the extent such damages are payable to a third Person, or any incidental, consequential, special or indirect damages, including loss of future profits, revenue or income, damages based on any multiple of revenue or income, diminution in value or loss of business reputation or opportunity relating to the breach or alleged breach of this Agreement, regardless of whether such damages were foreseeable except to the extent such damages are actually awarded to a third Person. Each of the parties agrees to take steps to mitigate their respective Losses and Expenses as required by applicable Laws upon and after becoming aware of any event or condition which could reasonably be expected to give rise to any Losses and Expenses that are indemnifiable hereunder.

Section 9.7 Special Rule for Fraud. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, any Ancillary Agreement or any Buyer Ancillary Agreement, no party shall be precluded from seeking any and all available remedies that are based upon any Fraud by or on behalf of any other party hereto (including any Fraud committed by any Representative of any party) in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, any Ancillary Agreement or any Buyer Ancillary Agreement (regardless of whether such claim's basis also constitutes a breach of a representation, warranty, covenant, agreement or obligation in this Agreement, any Ancillary Agreement or any Buyer Ancillary Agreement). For the avoidance of doubt, the limitations set forth in this Article IX shall not apply to any Losses or Expenses that a Buyer Group Member or a Seller Group Member, may suffer, sustain or become subject to, as a result of, arising out of, relating to or in connection with any such claim based upon any Fraud by or on behalf of any other Party hereto.

### ARTICLE X

### **TERMINATION**

### Section 10.1 <u>Termination.</u>

- (a) Notwithstanding anything contained in this Agreement to the contrary, this Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the Closing:
  - (i) by the mutual written consent of Seller and Buyer;
- (ii) by Seller, if (x) Seller is not in material breach of its obligations under this Agreement, (y) Buyer materially breaches its representations or warranties, or defaults in the performance of its covenants, contained in this Agreement, and (z) all breaches and defaults that are not cured within the Cure Period, if any, would prevent the conditions to the obligations of Seller set forth in Section 7.1 from being satisfied
- (iii) by Buyer, if (i) Buyer is not in material breach of its obligations under this Agreement, (ii) Seller materially breaches its representations or warranties, or defaults

in the performance of its covenants, contained in this Agreement, and (iii) all breaches and defaults that are not cured within the Cure Period, if any, would prevent the conditions to the obligations of Buyer set forth in <u>Section 8.1</u> from being satisfied;

- (iv) by Seller or Buyer, if any U.S. federal or state court of competent jurisdiction shall have issued an Order or any other Action permanently enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, and such Order or Action has become final and non-appealable; provided, that, notwithstanding the foregoing, the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 10.1(a)(iv) shall not be available to any party whose breach or failure to perform or observe the covenants and agreements of such party set forth in this Agreement has been the cause of, or resulted in, such Order or other Action;
- (v) by Seller or Buyer if the Closing shall not have been consummated on or before January 31, 2022 (the "Termination Date"); provided, that (i) if the "Outside Date" is extended pursuant to Section 11.1(d) of the Purchase Agreement as in effect on January 31, 2021, then the Termination Date shall be extended automatically to the same date as the "Outside Date" under the Purchase Agreement and (ii) if the Outside Date under the Purchase Agreement is otherwise extended, then Buyer shall have the option to extend the Termination Date to the same date as the Outside Date under the Purchase Agreement; provided, further, that, notwithstanding the foregoing, the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 10.1(a)(v) shall not be available to any party if the failure of the Closing to occur by such date shall be due to the failure of such party to perform or observe the covenants and agreements of such party set forth in this Agreement;
- (vi) by Seller or Buyer, upon the termination of the Purchase Agreement for any reason; or
- (vii) by Seller, if Buyer fails to deliver the Escrow Deposit to the Escrow Agent by May 3, 2021.
- (b) The party desiring to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 10.1(a) (other than pursuant to Section 10.1(a)(i)) shall give written notice of such termination to the other party or parties, as applicable.
- (c) In the event that this Agreement shall be terminated pursuant to Section 10.1(a), subject to Section 10.1(f) below, all further obligations of the parties under this Agreement (other than Section 4.4, Section 5.5, this Article X and Article XI, and, for the avoidance of doubt, the Confidentiality Agreement, which, in each case, shall remain in full force and effect) shall be terminated without further liability of any party; provided, that nothing herein shall relieve any party from liability for any breach of this Agreement or liability for Fraud.
- (d) If this Agreement is terminated by Seller pursuant to Section 10.1(a)(ii), and Seller is not in material breach of this Agreement (a "Buyer Termination Event"), then Seller shall be entitled to the Escrow Deposit and all interest and earnings thereon as liquidated damages. The parties understand and agree that the amount of the Escrow Deposit and all interest and earnings thereon represents Seller's and Buyer's reasonable estimate of actual damages and does not constitute a penalty. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, in the

event that this Agreement is terminated as a result of a Buyer Termination Event, payment of the Escrow Deposit and all interest and earnings thereon pursuant to this <u>Section 10.1(d)</u> shall be Seller's sole and exclusive remedy for damages of any nature or kind that Seller may suffer under this Agreement, and Seller shall have no further remedy against Buyer for any claim or damages arising out of, relating to or in connection with this Agreement or the transaction contemplated hereby, except in the case of fraud or willful misconduct.

- (e) Upon termination, (i) if this Agreement is terminated for any reason other than a Buyer Termination Event, the Escrow Deposit and any interest or earnings thereon shall be returned to Buyer by the Escrow Agent and (ii) subject to Section 10.1(f) below, (1) if neither Seller nor Buyer is in material breach of any provision of this Agreement, neither shall have any further liability to each other; and (2) if either party shall be in material breach of any provision of this Agreement, the non-breaching party shall have the rights and remedies provided in Section 11.15, or otherwise available at law or equity; for the avoidance of doubt, Buyer's failure to deliver the Escrow Deposit by May 3, 2021 shall be deemed a material breach of this Agreement by Buyer.
- (f) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, in the event that this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Section 10.1(a)(vi), Seller shall reimburse Buyer for its reasonable and documented out-of-pocket fees, costs and expenses (including the fees and disbursements of attorneys, accountants and other advisors), incurred in connection with the evaluation, negotiation, execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.
- (g) Each party agrees to take such action as is necessary or desirable to effectuate the distribution of the Escrow Deposit and all interest or earnings thereon as set forth in this Section 10.1, including promptly providing to the Escrow Agent written instructions related to the payment thereof in the manner set forth in the Escrow Agreement.
- Section 10.2 <u>Withdrawal of Certain Filings</u>. In the event of termination under the provisions of this <u>Article X</u>, all filings, applications and other submissions relating to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement as to which termination has occurred shall, to the extent practicable, be withdrawn from the Governmental Body or other Person to which made.

### ARTICLE XI

#### GENERAL PROVISIONS

### Section 11.1 Survival of Obligations.

(a) None of the representation and warranties (other than the Buyer Fundamental Representations and the Seller Fundamental Representations), covenants, agreements and obligations contained in this Agreement shall survive the consummation of the Closing, except to the extent such covenants, agreements and obligations contemplate performance after the Closing, in which case each such covenant, agreement and obligation shall survive in accordance with its terms; provided, that, if the terms do not provide for a survival period, then such covenant, agreement and obligation shall survive and remain in full force and effect for two

years; provided, further, solely with respect to Seller's indemnification obligation under Section 9.1, such obligation shall survive until the date ending thirty (30) days following the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations for each of the applicable matters set forth therein.

- (b) The Buyer Fundamental Representations and the Seller Fundamental Representations shall survive and remain in full force and effect until the date ending sixty (60) days following the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations for each of the matters set forth therein.
- (c) No claim may be brought under this Agreement unless written notice describing in reasonable detail the facts giving rise to the claim is given on or prior to the last day of the applicable survival period. In the event such notice is given, the right to indemnification with respect thereto shall survive the applicable survival period until such claim is finally resolved and any obligations with respect thereto are fully satisfied.

Section 11.2 Confidential Nature of Information. Each party agrees that it will treat in confidence all documents, materials and other information which it shall have obtained regarding the other party or parties during the course of the negotiations leading to the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby (whether obtained before or after the date of this Agreement), the investigation provided for herein and the preparation of this Agreement and other related documents, and, in the event the transactions contemplated hereby shall not be consummated, each party will return to the other party or parties all copies of nonpublic documents and materials which have been furnished in connection therewith. Without limiting the right of either party to pursue all other legal and equitable rights available to it for violation of this Section 11.2 by the other party, it is agreed that other remedies cannot fully compensate the aggrieved party for such a violation of this Section 11.2 and that the aggrieved party shall be entitled to injunctive relief to prevent a violation or continuing violation hereof.

Section 11.3 Governing Law. This Agreement and all claims or causes of action (whether in contract, tort or otherwise) that may be based upon, arise out of or relate to this Agreement or the negotiation, execution or performance of this Agreement (including any claim or cause of action based upon, arising out of or related to any representation or warranty made in or in connection with this Agreement or as an inducement to enter into this Agreement) shall be governed and construed in accordance with the internal Laws of the State of Delaware applicable to contracts made and wholly performed within the State of Delaware, without regard to any applicable conflicts of law principles that would result in the application of the Laws of any other jurisdiction. Each of the parties to this Agreement irrevocably agrees that, except as specifically set forth in the Commitment Letters, all claims or causes of action, whether at law or in equity, whether in contract, in tort or otherwise, against any Financing Source in any way relating to this Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including, but not limited to, any dispute arising out of or relating in any way to any Commitment Letter or the performance thereof, shall be exclusively governed by, and construed in accordance with, the internal laws of the State of New York, without giving effect to the principles or rules or conflict of laws to the extent such principles or rules would require or permit the applicable of laws of another jurisdiction. Each of the parties to this Agreement hereto agrees that it will not bring or support any action, cause of action, claim, cross claim or third party claim of any kind or description, whether in law or in equity, whether in contract or in tort or otherwise, against any Financing

Source in any way relating to this Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including, but not limited to, any dispute arising out of or relating in any way to any Commitment Letter or the performance thereof, in any forum other than any state or federal court sitting in the State of New York.

Section 11.4 Exclusive Jurisdiction; Court Proceedings. The parties hereto agree that any suit, action or proceeding seeking to enforce any provision of, or based on any matter arising out of or in connection with, this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby shall be brought exclusively in the Chancery Court of the State of Delaware and any state appellate court therefrom or, if such court lacks subject matter jurisdiction, the United States District Court sitting in New Castle County in the State of Delaware, and each of the parties hereby irrevocably consents to the exclusive jurisdiction of such courts (and of the appropriate appellate courts therefrom) in any such suit, action or proceeding and irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by Law, any objection that it may now or hereafter have to the laying of the venue of any such suit, action or proceeding in any such court or that any such suit, action or proceeding brought in any such court has been brought in an inconvenient forum. Process in any such suit, action or proceeding may be served on any party anywhere in the world, whether within or without the jurisdiction of any such court. Without limiting the foregoing, each party agrees that service of process on such party as provided in this Section 11.4 shall be deemed effective service of process on such party. EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY AND ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING (WHETHER IN CONTRACT OR TORT OR OTHERWISE) ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY (INCLUDING ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING, CLAIM OR COUNTERCLAIM INVOLVING ANY FINANCING SOURCE AND THEIR RESPECTIVE NONPARTY AFFILIATES).

Section 11.5 Notices. Any notice or other communication required or permitted to be delivered to any party under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed properly delivered, given and received (a) when delivered by hand, by registered mail, by courier or express delivery service or (b) upon confirmation of receipt (other than an automatically-generated confirmation) when sent by electronic mail to the address or email address, as applicable, set forth beneath the name of such party below (or to such other address or email address, as applicable, as such party shall have specified in a written notice given to the other parties hereto):

If to Seller:

Gray Television, Inc. 4370 Peachtree Rd NE Atlanta, GA, 30319 Attention: Kevin P. Latek Email: Kevin.Latek@gray.tv with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Cooley LLP 1299 Pennsylvania Ave., NW Suite 700 Washington, DC 20004 Attention: John Feore Email: jfeore@cooley.com

### If to Buyer, to:

Allen Media Broadcasting Evansville III, LLC 1925 Century Park East, 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067 Attention: General Counsel Email: legal@es.tv and mark@es.tv

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Latham & Watkins LLP 10250 Constellation Blvd., Ste. 1100 Los Angeles, CA 90067 Attention: Joseph A. Calabrese, Jason H. Silvera and Rick Offsay Email: joseph.calabrese@lw.com, jason.silvera@lw.com and rick.offsay@lw.com

## Section 11.6 Successors and Assigns; Third Party Beneficiaries.

- (a) This Agreement and all of its terms shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns, including any successor by a merger or conversion referenced below. Except as provided in this Section 11.6(a), this Agreement shall not be assigned by any party hereto. Any party (including, for this purpose, Seller) may assign or transfer any of its rights and obligations under this Agreement to any of its Affiliates, provided that no such assignment or transfer materially delays the grant of the FCC Consent, clearance under the HSR Act, if necessary, or approval by the DOJ pursuant to the DOJ Final Judgment, and, provided further, that no such assignment or transfer shall operate to relieve a party of any of its liabilities or obligations hereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Buyer shall be permitted to collaterally assign its rights, benefits and remedies under this Agreement to any Financing Source in respect of the Financing.
- (b) Nothing in this Agreement, expressed or implied, is intended or shall be construed to confer upon any Person other than the parties and successors and assigns permitted by this Section 11.6 any right, remedy or claim under or by reason of this Agreement; provided, however, that the provisions of Section 4.6, Section 5.7, Section 5.9, Section 5.10, Section 9.6, Section 11.3, Section 11.4, this Section 11.6, Section 11.8, Section 11.15 and Section 11.18 are intended for the benefit of the Financing Sources and their respective Representatives, successors and assigns.

### Section 11.7 Access to Records after Closing.

- For a period of six (6) years after the Closing Date, Seller and its (a) representatives shall have reasonable access to all of the Books and Records of the Business transferred to Buyer hereunder to the extent that such access may reasonably be required by Seller in connection with matters relating to or affected by the operations of the Business prior to the Closing Date. Such access shall be afforded by Buyer upon receipt of reasonable advance notice and during normal business hours under the supervision of Buyer's or its Affiliates' personnel in compliance with and subject to Buyer's or its Affiliates' health, safety and security requirements (including relating to COVID-19 Pandemic). Seller shall be solely responsible for any costs or expenses incurred by it pursuant to this Section 11.7(a). If Buyer shall desire to dispose of any of such Books and Records prior to the expiration of such six (6) year period, it shall, prior to such disposition, give Seller a reasonable opportunity, at Seller's expense, to segregate and remove such Books and Records as the other party may select. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Buyer shall not be required to (i) take any action which would constitute a waiver of attorney-client privilege or would compromise the confidential information of Buyer not related to the Business or (ii) supply Seller with any information which, in the reasonable judgment of Buyer, is under a contractual or legal obligation not to supply.
- (b) For a period of six (6) years after the Closing Date, Buyer and its representatives shall have reasonable access to all of the Books and Records relating to the Business that Seller may retain after the Closing Date. Such access shall be afforded by Seller upon receipt of reasonable advance notice and during normal business hours under the supervision of Seller's or its Affiliates' personnel in compliance with and subject to Seller's or its Affiliates' health, safety and security requirements (including relating to COVID-19 Pandemic). Buyer shall be solely responsible for any costs and expenses incurred by it pursuant to this Section 11.7(b). If Seller shall desire to dispose of any of such Books and Records prior to the expiration of such six (6) year period, such party shall, prior to such disposition, give Buyer a reasonable opportunity, at Buyer's expense, to segregate and remove such Books and Records as the other party may select. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Seller shall not be required to (i) take any action which would constitute a waiver of attorney-client privilege or would compromise the confidential information of Seller not related to the Business or (ii) supply Buyer with any information which, in the reasonable judgment of Seller, is under a contractual or legal obligation not to supply.
- (c) Seller agrees that it shall, and shall cause its Affiliates to, cooperate with and provide reasonable assistance to Buyer and its auditors and accounting advisors to conduct financial and accounting review of the Business, the Stations, the Purchased Assets and the Assumed Liabilities, as reasonably requested by Buyer
- Section 11.8 Entire Agreement; Amendments. This Agreement, the Exhibits, the Annexes and Schedules referred to herein and the other documents delivered pursuant hereto contain the entire understanding of the parties hereto with regard to the subject matter contained herein or therein, and supersede all prior agreements, understandings or intents between or among any of the parties hereto. The parties hereto, by mutual agreement in writing, may amend, modify and supplement this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing and Section 11.10 below, to the extent any amendment or waiver to this Section 11.8, Section 4.6, Section 5.7, Section 5.9, Section 5.10, Section 9.6, Section 11.3, Section 11.4, Section 11.6, Section 11.15 and

Section 11.18 is sought which is materially adverse to the rights of the Financing Sources or their respective Representatives, successors and assigns (or any definition set forth in, or other provisions of, this Agreement to the extent that an amendment or modification of such definition or other provision would amend or modify the substance of any such Section), the prior written consent of the Financing Sources shall be required before such amendment or waiver is rendered effective.

Section 11.9 Interpretation. Article titles and headings to Sections herein are inserted for convenience of reference only and are not intended to be a part of or to affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement. The Schedules, Annexes and Exhibits referred to herein shall be construed with and as an integral part of this Agreement to the same extent as if they were set forth verbatim herein. For purposes of this Agreement, (i) the words "include," "includes" and "including" shall be deemed to be followed by the words "without limitation," (ii) the word "or" is not exclusive and (iii) the words "herein", "hereof", "hereby", "hereto" and "hereunder" refer to this Agreement as a whole. Unless the context otherwise requires, references herein (a) to Articles, Sections, Exhibits, Annexes and Schedules mean the Articles and Sections of, and the Exhibits, Annexes and Schedules attached to, this Agreement and (b) to an agreement, instrument or other document means such agreement, instrument or other document as amended, supplemented and modified from time to time to the extent permitted by the provisions thereof and by this Agreement. This Agreement, the Buyer Ancillary Agreements and the Ancillary Agreements shall be construed without regard to any presumption or rule requiring construction or interpretation against the party drafting an instrument or causing any instrument to be drafted. References to a "party hereto" or the "parties hereto" or similar phrases shall refer to Seller and Buyer. An asset or right shall be deemed to be "primarily related" to or "primarily used in" the Business if in the ordinary course of the Business such asset or right is used in the Business to a greater extent than it is used by the other businesses and operations of Seller. For the avoidance of doubt, all members of the Quincy Group shall be deemed to be Affiliates of Seller as of the Quincy Closing Date.

Section 11.10 <u>Waivers</u>. Any term or provision of this Agreement may be waived, or the time for its performance may be extended, by the party or parties entitled to the benefit thereof. The failure of any party hereto to enforce at any time any provision of this Agreement shall not be construed to be a waiver of such provision, nor in any way to affect the validity of this Agreement or any part hereof or the right of any party thereafter to enforce each and every such provision. No waiver of any breach of this Agreement shall be held to constitute a waiver of any other or subsequent breach.

Section 11.11 Expenses. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, each of Seller and Buyer will pay all of its own respective costs and expenses incident to its negotiation and preparation of this Agreement and to its performance and compliance with all agreements and conditions contained herein on its part to be performed or complied with, including the fees, expenses and disbursements of its counsel and accountants.

Section 11.12 <u>Partial Invalidity</u>. Wherever possible, each provision hereof shall be interpreted in such manner as to be effective and valid under applicable law, but in case any one or more of the provisions contained herein shall, for any reason, be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any

other provisions of this Agreement, and this Agreement shall be construed as if such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision or provisions had never been contained herein.

Section 11.13 Execution in Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be considered an original instrument, but all of which shall be considered one and the same agreement, and shall become binding when one or more counterparts have been signed by each of the parties and delivered to each of Seller and Buyer.

Section 11.14 Disclaimer of Warranties. Seller makes no representations or warranties with respect to any projections, forecasts or forward-looking information provided to Buyer. There is no assurance that any projected or forecasted results will be achieved. EXCEPT AS TO THOSE MATTERS EXPRESSLY COVERED BY THE REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES IN Article III OF THIS AGREEMENT AND THE CERTIFICATES DELIVERED BY SELLER PURSUANT TO SECTION 8.1, (A) SELLER IS SELLING THE BUSINESS AND THE PURCHASED ASSETS ON AN "AS IS, WHERE IS" BASIS AND SELLER DISCLAIMS ALL OTHER WARRANTIES, REPRESENTATIONS AND GUARANTIES WHETHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED AND (B) SELLER MAKES NO REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY AS TO MERCHANTABILITY, SUITABILITY OR FITNESS FOR ANY PARTICULAR PURPOSE AND NO IMPLIED WARRANTIES WHATSOEVER. Buyer acknowledges that neither Seller nor any of its Representatives or Affiliates nor any other Person has made any representation or warranty, express or implied, as to the accuracy or completeness of any memoranda, charts, summaries or schedules heretofore made available by Buyer or its Representatives or Affiliates or any other information which is not included in this Agreement or the Schedules hereto, and neither Seller nor any of its Representatives or Affiliates nor any other Person will have or be subject to any liability to Buyer, any Affiliate of Buyer or any other Person resulting from the distribution of any such information to, or use of any such information by, Buyer, any Affiliate of Buyer or any of their Representatives, except in the case of Fraud. In making its determination to proceed with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement Buyer and its Affiliates have relied solely on (a) the results of their own independent investigation and (b) the representations and warranties of Seller expressly and specifically set forth in Article III of this Agreement. Buyer and its Affiliates expressly and specifically disclaim that they are relying upon or have relied upon any representation or warranty of any kind or nature, whether express or implied, not included in this Agreement that may have been made by any Person, and acknowledge and agree that Seller expressly and specifically disclaims any such other representations and warranties.

Section 11.15 Specific Performance. The parties agree that irreparable damage would occur in the event that any provision of this Agreement was not performed in accordance with its specific terms or was otherwise breached or the Closing was not consummated, and that money damages would not be an adequate remedy, even if available. It is accordingly agreed that the parties shall be entitled to an injunction or injunctions, or any other appropriate form of specific performance or equitable relief, to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions hereof (including the parties' obligations to consummate the Closing) in any court of competent jurisdiction, this being in addition to any other remedy to which they are entitled at law or in equity. Each of the parties agrees that it will not oppose the granting of an injunction, specific performance and other equitable relief on the basis that any other party has an adequate remedy at law or that any award of specific performance is not an appropriate remedy for any reason at law or in equity. Any party seeking an injunction or injunctions to prevent

breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions of this Agreement shall not be required to post any bond or other security in connection with any such order or injunction. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall Seller or the Quincy Group be entitled to seek the remedy of specific performance of this Agreement against any Financing Source, solely in its respective capacity as a lender or arranger in connection with the Financing.

Section 11.16 Guarantee. As consideration for the benefits that Buyer and Buyer Guarantor will receive as a result of Buyer entering into this Agreement, Buyer Guarantor hereby agrees that it shall be responsible for all of the obligations of Buyer (and any Person to whom Buyer assigns any of its rights or delegates any of its obligations under this Agreement, in whole or in part) under any of the provisions of this Agreement, and Buyer Guarantor hereby guarantees to Seller the due and punctual performance and payment in full of all financial obligations of Buyer or its assignee hereunder. This guaranty by Buyer Guarantor is an absolute, unconditional, present and continuing guaranty of payment and performance (as opposed to a guaranty only of collection) and Seller may enforce its rights under this guaranty without notice of default or undertaking any proceeding or filing any cause of action against Buyer (or any Person to whom Buyer assigns any of its rights or delegates any of its obligations under this Agreement, in whole or in part). Buyer Guarantor hereby waives any and all defenses applicable to a guarantor or a surety under applicable Law in connection with its obligations under this guaranty and, without limiting the foregoing, the terms and conditions of the obligations of Buyer (or any Person to whom Buyer assign any of its rights or delegates any of its obligations under this Agreement, in whole or in part) under this Agreement may be modified, amended or supplemented without the consent or approval of Buyer Guarantor and the guaranty of Buyer Guarantor shall continue in full force and effect as so modified, amended or supplemented. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Buyer Guarantor does not waive, and shall have all defenses to the payment of its obligations hereunder that would be available to Buyer under this Agreement with respect to the obligations guaranteed by the Buyer Guarantor (other than defenses arising from bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, or moratorium on Buyer).

Section 11.17 Seller Release. Effective upon the Closing, Seller, on behalf of itself and its Affiliates (including the Quincy Group) and each of their current or former officers, directors, managers, stockholders, members, employees, agents, attorneys, heirs, executors, administrators, advisors and other successors and assigns (collectively, the "Seller Releasing Parties"), shall be deemed to have remised, released and forever discharged Buyer and its Affiliates and each of their current or former officers, directors, managers, stockholders, members, employees, agents, attorneys, heirs, assigns, executors, administrators, advisors and other successors and assigns (collectively, the "Buyer Released Parties"), of and from any and all claims that the Seller Releasing Parties, or any of them, now have, ever had, or at the Closing may have, or hereafter can, shall or may have, against the Buyer Released Parties, or any of them, for, upon or by reason of any matter, cause or thing whatsoever, from the beginning of time through the date of the Closing, arising out of or relating to the organization, management or operation of the Business, the Stations or the Purchased Assets, except to the extent (1) arising under this Agreement, any Ancillary Agreement or any Buyer Ancillary Agreement, (2) arising out of, relating to or in connection with any such claim based upon any Fraud by or on behalf of any Buyer Release Party or (3) arising in the ordinary course of business between Seller and members of the Quincy Group under Contracts listed on the Disclosure Schedules hereto. Seller, on behalf of each of the Seller Releasing Parties, hereby agree that if any Seller Releasing Party hereafter commences, joins in, or in any manner seeks relief through any suit arising out of, based upon, or relating to any claim released hereunder, or in any manner asserts against any Buyer Released Party any claim released hereunder, then such Seller Releasing Party or Seller will pay to such Buyer Released Party, in addition to all other direct or indirect Losses suffered by such Buyer Released Party as a result of such suit or claim, including all attorneys' fees incurred in defending or otherwise responding to such suit or claim.

Section 11.18 Non-Recourse Against Financing Sources; Waiver of Certain Claims. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, the parties hereto hereby agree that no Financing Source shall have any liability to Seller or the Quincy Group or any other Person relating to or arising out of this Agreement, any of the other Ancillary Agreements or the Financing (including any claim for any Losses suffered as a result of any breach of this Agreement, any of the other Ancillary Agreements or the terms of the Financing), or any document related thereto (including any willful breach thereof), or the failure of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby to be consummated), whether at law or equity, in contract or in tort or otherwise, and Seller and the Quincy Group shall not have any rights or claims whatsoever against any of the Financing Sources under this Agreement, any of the other Ancillary Agreements or in connection with the Financing, whether at law or equity, in contract or in tort, or otherwise. Seller hereby agrees, that none of the Financing Sources shall have any liability or obligations to Seller or the Quincy Group relating to this Agreement, any of the other Ancillary Agreements or any of the transactions contemplated herein or therein (including with respect to the Financing). Seller hereby waives any and all claims and causes of action (whether at law, in equity, in contract, in tort or otherwise) against the Financing Sources that may be based upon, arise out of or relate to this Agreement, any of the other Ancillary Agreements, any financing commitment or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby (including the Financing). This Section 11.18 is intended to benefit and may be enforced by the Financing Sources and shall be binding on all successors and assigns of Seller.

[Signatures on following page]

**IN WITNESS WHEREOF**, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the day and year first above written.

## **SELLER**

GRAY TELEVISION, INC.

By:

Name: Kevin P. Latek

Title: Executive Vice President

### **BUYER**

ALLEN MEDIA BROADCASTING EVANSVILLE III, LI	LC
---------------------------------------------	----

By: Byron Allen Folks
Title: Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

## **BUYER GUARANTOR**

ALLEN MEDIA HOLDINGS II, LLC

By: Byron Allen Folks

Title: Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

## Exhibit 2 WREX Carriage Agreement

### **CARRIAGE AGREEMENT**

This carriage agreement ("Agreement") is made and entered into as of April 28, 2021 ("Effective Date"), by and between Gray Media Group, Inc. ("Gray"), and WREX Television, LLC ("Station Owner") (each, a "Party" and collectively, the "Parties").

WHEREAS, Station Owner owns television station WREX(TV) ("Station") in Rockford, IL;

WHEREAS, Gray owns television station WIFR-LD in Rockford, IL, and wishes to simulcast WIFR-LD's high-definition primary program stream ("**Program Stream**") on Station's D2 multicast channel;

WHEREAS, pursuant to that certain Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of January 31, 2021, as it may be amended from time to time ("SPA"), Gray Television, Inc. ("Gray Television") has agreed to acquire Quincy Media, Inc. ("Quincy") and its direct and indirect subsidiaries, subject to the divestiture of assets associated with certain of Quincy's stations including WREX(TV) to a third-party (the "Buyer");

WHEREAS, Gray Television, Quincy, and the Buyer will consummate the transactions set forth in the SPA and the purchase agreements relating to the associated station divestitures to the third-party on the "Closing Date";

WHEREAS, upon the Closing Date, Station will cease broadcasting CW Plus Network programming on its D2 multicast channel, and, pursuant to this Agreement, will commence simulcasting the Program Stream on its D2 multicast channel utilizing essentially the same amount of bandwidth currently utilized by the CW Plus Network programming, and such substitution will not cause Station to reduce the bandwidth currently utilized for the Station's primary channel or any of its other multicast channels; and

WHEREAS, Station Owner agrees to permit such simulcast of the Program Stream, as set forth below.

NOW, THEREFORE, the Parties, incorporating the foregoing recitals, agree as follows:

### 1. Obligations of the Parties.

(a) **Program Stream**. Commencing on the Closing Date and provided that Gray is delivering at its end-to-end cost, the Program Stream to Station in a manner that permits Station Owner to comply with its obligations under this Section 1(a), Station Owner shall transmit the 24/7 high-definition feed of the Program Stream to Station's transmitter and shall cause Station to broadcast (over the air only) the Program Stream in pattern and without any changes on Station's D2 multicast channel in the Rockford, IL DMA, as a simulcast of the Program Stream broadcast on WIFR-LD. Gray hereby grants Station Owner the rights necessary to fulfill Station Owner's obligations hereunder and, pursuant to 47 C.F.R. § 73.1207, consents to the rebroadcast contemplated herein. Station Owner will

allocate sufficient bandwidth within Station's signal to rebroadcast the Program Stream in 1080i HD format; provided, however, that Gray shall have the right to access an average bit rate of up to 8.0 megabits per second to rebroadcast such Program Stream. The Parties acknowledge that the performance of this Agreement does not violate any of the Station's or WIFR-LD's affiliation agreements in existence as of the Effective Date as applicable to such Party. If the Station's existing encoder(s), including any redundant encoder(s), is (are) not the latest-generation encoder(s) currently capable of (1) employing statistical multiplexing, (2) processing the Program Stream to at least an equal level as any of the Station's program streams, and (3) setting the target average bit rate for the Program Stream of 8.0 mbps with a minimum bit rate of 3.5 mbps and a maximum of 13.5 mbps (the "Target Settings"), Gray shall replace Station's existing encoder(s) at its expense (including purchase, installation, and related costs) with the latest-generation encoder(s) that permit(s) the Station to achieve the Target Settings ("New Encoder(s)"). In either case, the Station shall operate with the Target Settings during the Term of this Agreement. The New Encoder(s) shall be owned by Station Owner, and the Station's existing encoder(s) shall be transferred to Gray (and each party hereby agrees to execute any reasonable documentation evidencing such ownership).

- (b) Inventory/Advertising. Neither Station Owner nor Station shall have any right to use, sell, control, or otherwise exploit any commercial or promotional inventory or any other advertising in, or relating to, the Program Stream, and all such commercial and promotional inventory and other advertising shall be solely for the benefit of Gray.
- (c) Reservation of Rights/Non-exclusive. Any rights with respect to the Program Stream and the Equipment not expressly granted herein to Station Owner or Station in this Agreement are reserved entirely for Gray. The rights granted to Station Owner by Gray in this Agreement are non-exclusive. Rights granted by Station Owner to Gray under this Agreement shall be non-subleasable and, except as provided in Section 5(h), non-assignable and non-transferrable.
- Gray will cooperate to identify, install, and test all new equipment (including software updates) reasonably necessary to permit Station Owner to comply with its obligations in Section 1(a) (the "Equipment"), provided, however, that Gray shall be solely responsible for all reasonable costs to acquire, install, and test such Equipment. Except as described in Section 1(a) above with respect to the New Encoder(s), all Equipment provided by Gray will remain Gray's equipment, Station Owner will at all times maintain such equipment in good repair and condition, and Gray may remove such equipment upon the termination or expiration of this Agreement. Installation, repair, replacement, and maintenance costs related to the Equipment shall be borne by Gray, provided that Station Owner shall not incur any costs associated with Station Owner's obligation to maintain the equipment without Gray's prior consent, and provided further that Gray shall promptly reimburse Station Owner for all such costs. Gray shall

promptly provide the Buyer with a list of the Equipment and timely updates on the installation and testing of Equipment, provided that the manner of installation of the Equipment, and any access by Gray to the Station throughout the Term, shall be subject to Station Owner's reasonable consent and supervision.

- (e) **No Satellite/Cable Carriage**. Station Owner will <u>not</u> grant to any cable system, satellite system, MVPD, streaming service, or any other media platform the right to retransmit or otherwise carry the Program Stream.
- (f) Music Performance Rights. Station Owner represents that it has music performance licenses administered by ASCAP, SESAC and/or BMI for the Station, and will so throughout the term of this Agreement.
- (g) **Compliance.** Each Party shall comply with all applicable laws in connection with its respective performance under this Agreement.

### 2. Term, Termination, and Carriage Fee.

- (a) **Term**. The term of this Agreement ("**Term**") shall commence on Closing Date and shall expire on the tenth anniversary of the Closing Date, unless earlier terminated as set forth herein. The Agreement may be renewed or extended only by written instrument signed by both parties.
- (b) **Termination by Gray**. Gray will have the right to terminate this Agreement by providing sixty (60) days advance written notice to Station Owner.
- (c) Fee. Gray will pay Station Owner the Carriage Fee as provided for in Exhibit A.
- 3. <u>Limited Preemption/Interruptions.</u> Except as set forth below in this Section 3, Station Owner will not permit any preemptions or other interruptions of the broadcast of the Program Stream on Station's D2 multicast channel:(a) FCC. Nothing in this Agreement shall limit Station Owner's rights in good faith to reject or refuse any programming that Station Owner reasonably believes violates FCC rules. Station Owner shall provide written notice to Gray (email to WIFR-LD's GM is sufficient) of any such rejection or refusal as soon as possible.
  - (b) **Emergency Alert System**. Station Owner may interrupt the Program Stream for Emergency Alert System ("EAS") messages, when and as required.

### 4. Indemnification.

(a) Indemnification. Except for music performance rights as set forth in Section 1 above, Gray agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless Station Owner, including the Station, from and against any and all third party and/or governmental claims and/or actions arising out of the content of the Program Stream or the simulcast of the Program Stream by Station in accordance with this Agreement. This Section 4 shall survive the termination or expiration of this Agreement.

### 5. Miscellaneous.

- (a) **Expenses**. Except as otherwise provided for in this Agreement, each of Station Owner and Gray shall be responsible for the costs and expenses relating to its respective performance under this Agreement and the operation of its respective stations.
- (b) **Notices**. All notices to any Party hereunder shall be in writing and shall be given by reputable overnight courier, on the next business day, or certified or registered mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, at the addresses set forth below or such other addresses as either Party may hereafter specify to the other Party.

### If to Gray:

Attn: General Counsel Gray Media Group, Inc. 4370 Peachtree Rd., NE, Suite 400 Atlanta, GA 30319

### If to Station Owner:

Attn: General Manager WREX License, LLC 10322 Auburn Road Rockford, IL 61103

- (c) Entire Agreement/Amendments. This Agreement, including the exhibits, constitutes the complete and exclusive statement of the agreement by and between the Parties with respect to the subject matter contained herein. This Agreement shall not be altered, changed, supplemented or amended, except by written instruments signed by both Parties.
- (d) Specific Performance. In addition to any other available remedies, in the event of failure or threatened failure by a Party to comply with the terms of this Agreement, the other Party may seek an injunction restraining such failure or threatened failure and, subject to obtaining any necessary FCC consent, enforcing this Agreement by a decree of specific performance requiring compliance with this Agreement.
- (e) Remedies Cumulative. All rights and remedies provided in this Agreement are cumulative and not exclusive of any other rights or remedies that may be available to the Parties, whether provided by law, equity, statute, in any other agreement between the Parties or otherwise.
- (f) Confidentiality. Subject to the requirements of applicable law, all non-public information regarding the Parties and their respective businesses and properties that is disclosed in connection with the performance of this Agreement shall be confidential and shall not be disclosed to any other person

- or entity, except on a confidential basis to the parties' representatives. This Section 5(f) shall survive any termination or expiration of this Agreement.
- (g) Governing Law. The laws of the State of Illinois, without reference to conflict of laws principles, shall govern the validity, construction and interpretation of this Agreement.
- (h) Successors and Assigns; Assignment. This Agreement is not assignable by either Party without the other Party's prior written consent. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Station Owner (including any successors, assignees or transferees of Station Owner) shall assign this Agreement in its entirety to any person or entity acquiring all (or substantially all) of the assets of WREX(TV) or equity of Station Owner, and Gray shall not be required to obtain consent from Station Owner for an assignment of this Agreement to any person or entity acquiring all (or substantially all) of the assets of WIFR-LD or equity of Gray (in each case the assigning Party will require the purchaser to assume all of the obligations hereunder after such assignment). The Parties agree that this Agreement shall be binding on all successors, assignees, and transferees.
- (i) **Relationship of Parties.** Neither Party will be deemed to be the agent, partner, or representative or joint venturer of the other Party, and neither Party is authorized to bind the other to any contract, agreement, or understanding.
- (j) Severability. If any court or governmental authority holds any provision of this Agreement invalid, illegal, or unenforceable under any applicable law, then so long as no Party is deprived of the benefits of this Agreement in any material respect, this Agreement shall be construed with the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision(s) deleted and the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions contained herein shall not be affected or impaired thereby.
- (k) Waiver. No consent or waiver, express or implied, by a Party to or of any breach or default by the other Party in the performance by such other Party of its obligations hereunder shall be deemed or construed to be a consent to or waiver of any other breach or default in the performance by such other Party of the same or any other obligation of such other Party hereunder.
- (1) Force Majeure. Neither Party shall be liable to the other Party for loss, injury, delay or damages or other casualty suffered or incurred by the other Party due to governmental regulations or directions, outbreak of a state of emergency, act of God, warlike hostilities, civil commotion, riots, terrorism, storms, fires, strikes, lockouts, and any other similar cause or causes beyond the reasonable control of the Party whose performance is affected by such cause or causes.
- (m) **Counterparts**. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts with the same effect as if the Parties executing the several counterparts had all executed one counterpart. Any counterpart may be executed by facsimile signature or PDF

or other electronic transmission and such facsimile or electronic signature shall be deemed an original.

## Accepted & Agreed:

WREX Television, LLC		Gray Media Group, Inc.
Ву:	5202 m. Odez	By:
Name:	Ralph M. Oakley	Name:
Γitle:	President/CEO	Title:

or other electronic transmission and such facsimile or electronic signature shall be deemed an original.

WREX Television, LLC	Gray Media Group, Inc.  By:	
Ву:	By: Chim! latele	
Name:	Name: Kevin P. Latek	
Title:	Title: Executive Vice President	

Accepted & Agreed:

## **EXHIBIT A**Carriage Fee

Gray shall pay to Station Owner \$1.00 on Closing Date and on each anniversary thereafter until such time the agreement expires or is terminated in accordance with this Agreement.

# **Exhibit 3 WMOW Satellite Waiver Decision**

## Before the Federal Communications Commission Washington, D.C. 20554

In the Matter of	)
Application of	) File No. BALCT -20090211ABY
Selenka Communications, LLC, (Assignor)	) Facility ID No. 81503
and	)
WAOW-WYOW Television, Inc, (Assignee)	)
	)
For Consent to Assign the License of Station	)
WBIJ(TV), Crandon, Wisconsin	)
	)
Request for Satellite Waiver	)

### MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

Adopted: January 13, 2010 Released: January 14, 2010

By the Chief, Media Bureau:

### I. INTRODUCTION

1. The Commission, by the Chief, Media Bureau, pursuant to delegated authority, has before it for consideration the above-captioned, unopposed application seeking consent to assign the license of station WBIJ(TV), channel 12 (FamilyNet), Crandon, Wisconsin ("WBIJ(TV)"), from Selenka Communications, LLC ("Selenka Communications") to WAOW-WYOW Television, Inc. ("WAOW-WYOW Television"). WAOW-WYOW Television is the licensee of WAOW(TV), channel 9 (ABC), Wausau, Wisconsin ("WAOW(TV)"). WBIJ(TV) and WAOW(TV) have noise-limited overlap and are located within the Wausau-Rhinelander, Wisconsin Designated Market Area ("Wausau DMA"). To permit common ownership of WBIJ(TV) and WAOW(TV), WAOW-WYOW Television proposes to operate WBIJ(TV), which is currently a full-service station, as a satellite of WAOW(TV), and requests grant of its assignment application pursuant to Note 5 of Section 73.3555 of the Commission's rules, which exempts satellite stations from the duopoly prohibition.

### II. BACKGROUND

2. In Television Satellite Stations, the Commission adopted "a presumption that TV satellite operations are in the public interest if individual applicants can satisfy certain public interest criteria." The presumptive satellite exemption to the duopoly rule is therefore met if the following three public interest criteria are satisfied: (1) there is no City Grade overlap between the parent and the satellite; (2) the proposed satellite would provide service to an underserved area; and (3) no alternative operator is ready and able to construct or to purchase and operate the satellite as a full-service station. If an applicant does not qualify for the presumption, the Commission will evaluate the proposal on an ad hoc

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> WAOW-WYOW Television currently operates station WYOW(TV), Eagle River, Wisconsin as a satellite of WAOW(TV).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Television Satellite Stations Review of Policy and Rules, MM Docket No. 87-8, Report and Order, 6 FCC Rcd 4212, 4213 (1991) ("Television Satellite Stations") (subsequent history omitted).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> *Id.* at 4213-14.

basis and grant the application if there are compelling circumstances that warrant approval.<sup>4</sup>

#### III. DISCUSSION

- 3. As to the first criterion, WAOW-WYOW Television submits an engineering study, which demonstrates that there was no analog City Grade contour overlap between WBIJ(TV) and WAOW(TV). However, the digital transition has occurred and analog City Grade contours no longer exist. Instead, full-power television stations have Principle Community contours that serve much larger areas than their former analog City Grade contours. As a result, the digital Principle Community contour is not an equivalent standard to use in determining whether a proposed satellite station qualifies for the presumptive satellite exemption to the duopoly rule.
- 4. With respect to the second criterion, WAOW-WYOW Television demonstrates, using the Commission's transmission test, that the respective area is underserved. The "transmission" test deems an area underserved if there are two or fewer full-service television stations licensed to a proposed satellite's community of license. WBIJ(TV) is the only full-power television station licensed to Crandon, Wisconsin.
- 5. Regarding the third criterion, an applicant must show that there is no alternative operator ready and able to construct, or to purchase and operate, the proposed satellite as a full-service station. In support of its satellite waiver request, WAOW-WYOW Television submits a declaration from Brian N. Byrnes, the President of Paramount Media Advisors, Inc. ("Paramount"), a media brokerage company, which demonstrates that there are no alternative operators ready and able to purchase and operate the proposed satellite as a full-service station. In this regard, Byrnes states that Selenka Communications retained Paramount in November 2006, and Paramount marketed WBIJ(TV) to approximately 25 buyers. Despite Paramount's marketing efforts, Byrnes explains that only one prospective buyer, an out-of-market broadcaster, expressed interest in purchasing WBIJ(TV). Following the site inspection of WBIJ(TV), however, Byrnes states that the potential buyer informed Paramount that "in their judgment the additional costs involved in making WBIJ(TV) a viable part of the Wausau-Rhinelander, Wisconsin market as a stand-alone station would not result in a successful investment."
- 6. Furthermore, in Byrnes opinion, Paramount could not market WBIJ(TV) to an out-of-market buyer for three reasons. First, Byrnes opines that "buyers usually look for revenue ranking to match or exceed the television home's size ranking," and that in this case the Wausau DMA is ranked 134<sup>th</sup> in size, yet is ranked 141<sup>st</sup> in television revenue. Next, he asserts that all five of the major broadcast networks already have current affiliations in the Wausau DMA. Finally, Byrnes explains that WBIJ(TV) requires a considerable investment to implement its digital television facility. Based on the information presented, we are satisfied that WAOW-WYOW television has demonstrated the unfeasibility of finding an out-of-market purchaser willing to operate the station on a stand-alone basis.
- 7. While the instant request does not satisfy the Commission's presumptive satellite standard, this proposal can be evaluated under an *ad hoc* analysis taking into account other compelling circumstances. As explained by the applicants, Mr. Dennis Selenka, the sole member and manager of Selenka Communications, suffered a debilitating stroke in July of 2008 and subsequently passed away on September 20, 2008. On February 10, 2009, the Commission granted an application for involuntary transfer of control of Selenka Communications to Joanne L. Selenka, personal representative of Mr.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> *Id.* at 4212.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Id. at 4215.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Supra  $\P$  3.

Selenka's estate and widow of Mr. Selenka.<sup>8</sup> Prior to his death, Mr. Selenka sought to sell the station, and since his death, his widow does not wish to continue to operate the station. WBIJ(TV) is currently silent and Selenka Communications does not have the funds necessary to complete construction of the station's DTV facilities.<sup>9</sup> The assignment of WBIJ(TV), Crandon, Wisconsin to WAOW-WYOW Television is Crandon's only hope to restore local service, as Selenka Communications currently has neither the funds nor interest to continue to operate the station.

### IV. CONCLUSION

- 8. Based on our review of the information submitted, including the circumstances surrounding the death of Mr. Dennis Selenka and Selenka Communications' current financial inability to construct WBIJ(TV)'s DTV facilities, we find that the WAOW-WYOW Television has set forth information sufficient to warrant satellite operation for WBIJ(TV) under our *ad hoc* analysis. We, therefore, find that the operation of WBIJ(TV) as a satellite of WAOW(TV) would be in the public interest. In view of the foregoing, and having determined that the applicants are qualified in all respects, we find that a grant of the application to assign the license for station WBIJ(TV) from Selenka Communications, LLC to WAOW-WYOW Television, Inc. will serve the public interest, convenience, and necessity.
- 9. ACCORDINGLY, IT IS ORDERED, That the request of WAOW-WYOW Television, Inc. to operate station WBIJ(TV), Crandon, Wisconsin, pursuant to the satellite exemption to the duopoly rule, Section 73.3555, Note 5, of the Commission's rules, IS GRANTED.
- 10. FURTHERMORE, IT IS ORDERED, That the above-captioned application to assign the license of station WBIJ(TV), Crandon, Wisconsin, from Selenka Communications, LLC to WAOW-WYOW Television, Inc., File No. BALCT-20090211ABY, IS GRANTED.

FEDERAL COMMUNICATIONS COMMISSION

William T. Lake Chief, Media Bureau

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> File No. BTCCT-20081022AAC.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> File No. BLSTA-20090616ABH, Exhibit 1.

# **Exhibit 4 WQOW Satellite Waiver Decision**

## Federal Communications Commission Washington, D.C. 20554

APR 1 7 2001

SMH-1800E3

Kenneth Satten, Esq. Wilkinson Barker Knauer, LLP 2300 N Street, NW Suite 700 Washington, DC 20037-1128

Re: WAOW-TV, Wausau, Wisconsin
WYOW(TV), Eagle River, Wisconsin
WQOW-TV, Eau Claire, Wisconsin
WXOW-TV, La Crosse, Wisconsin
Applications for Assignment of License
Request for Continued Satellite Exemption

Shockley Communications Acquisition, LLC File Nos. BALCT-20010123ABK-ABN

Quincy Newspapers, Inc.
File Nos. BALCT-20010129ACK-CAN

### Dear Counsel:

This is in reference to the above-captioned applications for assignment of license from Shockley Communications Corp. ("Shockley") to Shockley Communications Acquisition, LLC ("Shockley LLC") and from Shockley LLC to Quincy Newspapers, Inc. ("Quincy"). The stations will first be assigned from Shockley Communications Corp. to Shockley LLC and then immediately assigned from Shockley LLC to Quincy. As part of this transaction, Shockley and Quincy request continuing satellite authority for WQOW-TV, Eau Claire, Wisconsin, which operates as a satellite of WXOW-TV, LaCrosse, Wisconsin and WYOW(TV), Eagle River, Wisconsin, which operates as a satellite of WAOW-TV, Wausau, Wisconsin. See 47 C.F.R. § 73.3555, Note 5. Stations WQOW-TV and WXOW-TV are within the La Crosse-Eau Claire, Wisconsin DMA and stations WYOW(TV) and WAOW-TV are located in the Wausau-Rhinelander, Wisconsin DMA.

The above-captioned applications are involved in a three-part transaction. In Part I, Shockley, the licensee of six television and six radio stations (including the four television stations referenced above) seeks to assign all twelve stations to Shockley LLC. The eight remaining stations to be assigned to Shockley LLC include: WKOW-TV, Madison, WI (File No. BALCT-20010123ABJ); KXLT-TV, Rochester, MN (File No. BALCT-20010123ABO); KDAL(AM), Duluth, MN (File No. BAL-20010123ABP); KDAL-FM, Duluth, MN (File No. BALH-20010123ABQ); KTCO(FM), Duluth, MN (File No. BALH-20010123ABR); KRBR-FM, Superior, WI (File No. BALH-20010123ABS); KXTP(AM), Superior, WI (File No. BAL-20010123ABU). In Part II, Shockley LLC seeks to assign five of the six television stations, including the four above-captioned stations and station WKOW-TV, Madison, Wisconsin (File No. BALCT-20010129ACJ) to Quincy Newspapers, Inc. In Part III, Shockley LLC seeks to assign the remaining television station, KXLT-TV, Rochester, New York (File No. BALCT-20010123ABO), to Shockley Broadcasting, LLC. Shockley LLC will remain as the licensee of the six radio stations.

In Television Satellite Stations, 6 FCC Rcd 4212, 4215 (1991) (subsequent citations omitted), the Commission established the requirement that all applicants seeking to transfer or assign satellite stations justify continued satellite status by demonstrating compliance with a three-part "presumptive" satellite exemption standard applicable to new satellite stations. The presumptive satellite exemption is met if the following three public interest criteria are satisfied: (1) there is no City Grade overlap between the parent and the satellite; (2) the proposed satellite would provide service to an underserved area; and (3) no alternative operator is ready and able to construct or to purchase and operate the satellite as a full-service station. Id. at 4213-14. If an applicant does not qualify for the presumption, the Commission will evaluate the proposal on an ad hoc basis, and grant the application if there are compelling circumstances that warrant approval. Id. at 4212.

As to the first criterion, the applicants have submitted an engineering study, which demonstrates that there is no City Grade contour overlap between WQOW-TV and WXOW-TV or between WYOW(TV) and WAOW-TV. Thus, the proposed satellite operations meet the first component of the presumption. With respect to the second criterion, applicants can use two different tests to demonstrate that an area is underserved. Under the "transmission test" a proposed satellite community of license is considered undeserved if there are two or fewer television stations already licensed to it. Television Satellite Stations, 6 FCC Rcd at 4215. The applicants assert that WYOW(TV) is the only full service station licensed to Eagle River. Furthermore, the applicants state that WQOW-TV is one of only two full-service television stations licensed to Eau Claire. Accordingly, Eagle River and Eau Claire qualify as underserved areas.

Regarding the third criterion, an applicant must show that no alternative operator is ready and able to construct, or to purchase and operate, the proposed satellite as a full-service station. 6 FCC Rcd at 4215. Initially, we note that the applicants do not base their satisfaction of the third criteria on efforts to sell stations WYOW(TV) and WQOW-TV. In support of the waiver request, the applicants submit a letter from Mr. Richard L. Beesemyer, Vice President of Kalil & Co., Inc., a media brokerage firm dealing in television, radio and cable properties. Mr. Bessemyer has served as Vice President of Kalil & Co. for 15 years. In addition, he has over 50 years of experience in the broadcast industry. Based on his experience in the broadcast industry and, more particularly, the media brokerage business, as well as his familiarity with the Wausau/Rhinelander and La Cross-Eau Claire DMAs, Mr. Beesemyer states that neither WYOW(TV) nor WQOW-TV could successfully operate as a stand-alone facility.

Based on our review of the materials submitted, we find that the applicants have set forth information sufficient to warrant continued satellite operation for WQOW-TV and WYOW(TV) under our ad hoc analysis. Station WQOW-TV has been a satellite of station WXOW-TV for 20 years, and the Commission last approved its continued operation as a satellite in 1995. See Tak Communications, Inc., 10 FCC Rcd 2564 (1995). Station WYOW(TV) was granted authority to operate as a satellite of station WAOW-TV in 1998. See Northwoods Educational Television Association, 13 FCC Rcd 24138 (MMB 1998). In making these determinations, the Commission relied, in part, on statements from Mr. Beesemyer, demonstrating that it would not be feasible to find a purchaser willing to operate the stations on a stand alone basis due to their small viewer and advertising bases. The applicants have submitted further evidence demonstrating the unfeasibility of finding a purchaser willing to operate these stations on a stand alone basis. We, therefore, find that

### REDACTED FOR PUBLIC INSPECTION

the continued operation of WQOW-TV as a satellite of WXOW-TV and WYOW(TV) as a satellite of WAOW-TV would be in the public interest. In view of the foregoing, and having determined that the applicants are qualified in all respects we find that a grant of the above-referenced applications would serve the public interest, convertience and necessity.

ACCORDINGLY, the requests of the applicants for the continued operation of WQOW-TV, Eau Claire, Wisconsin and WYOW(TV), Factor, Wisconsin, pursuant to the satellite exception to the duopoly rule, Section 73.35% of the Commission's rules, ARE GRANTED. FURTHERMORE, the above-referenced applications for consent to assign the licenses for the above-referenced stations ARE GRANTED.

Sincerely,

Barbara A. Kreisman

Chief, Video Services Division

Mass Media Bureau

## **COMPREHENSIVE EXHIBIT**

## **Table of Contents**

1.	Introduction and Description of Transaction
2.	Other Broadcast Authorizations
3.	Parties to the Application
4.	Transaction Documents
5.	Request for Continuation of Satellite Waivers
	A. Request for Continuation of Satellite Waiver for WMOW
	B. Request for Continuation of Satellite Waiver for WQOW
6.	Pending License Renewal Applications
7.	Pending Applications and Cut-Off Rules
Exl	nibit 1 – Asset Purchase Agreement nibit 2 – WREX Carriage Agreement nibit 3 – WMOW Satellite Waiver Decision

Exhibit 4 – WQOW Satellite Waiver Decision

### 1. Introduction and Description of Transaction

This transaction (the "Divestiture Transaction") follows on a larger transaction between Quincy Media, Inc. ("Quincy") and Gray Television, Inc. ("Gray") in which Gray will acquire 100% of the capital stock of Quincy from the Quincy stockholders (the "Stock Acquisition"). Under the terms of the stock purchase agreement among the parties thereto, Gray will acquire Quincy for \$925 million (subject to adjustment as set forth in the Agreement).

Immediately following the consummation of the Stock Acquisition, consistent with the *Phipps* rule, Gray will consummate, and will cause each Quincy subsidiary that holds assets of a television station that is being divested to consummate, the Divestiture Transaction. Aside from causing the Quincy subsidiaries to immediately divest the television stations that are the subject of the Divestiture Transaction, at no time will Gray exercise control over any of the divested stations.

The instant application is one of seven (7) concurrently filed applications that seek the Commission's consent to divest the following stations to certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of Allen Media Broadcasting Evansville III, LLC ("Allen Media")<sup>1</sup> listed in this Comprehensive Exhibit:

<b>Divested Quincy Stations</b>	Community of License		
KVOA(TV)	Tucson, AZ		
WKOW(TV)	Madison, WI		
WREX(TV)	Rockford, IL		
WSIL-TV and KPOB(TV)	Harrisburg, IL and Poplar Bluff, MO		
KWWL(TV)	Cedar Rapids, IA		
WXOW(TV) and WQOW(TV)	La Crosse, WI and Eau Claire, WI		
WAOW(TV) and WMOW(TV)	Wausau, WI and Crandon, WI		

## 2. Other Broadcast Authorizations

Quincy

The attributable parties of the assignor have attributable interests in the following licensees, broadcast authorizations, and associated authorizations. Applications for Commission consent to the transfer of control of Quincy to Gray are currently pending. Following the consummation of Gray's acquisition of 100% of Quincy's stock, Gray intends to divest those authorizations marked with an asterisk (\*) to certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of Allen Media Broadcasting Evansville III, LLC and maintain all others listed below.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The wholly-owned subsidiaries of Allen Media are Cedar-Rapids TV License Company, LLC; Harrisburg TV License Company, LLC; La Crosse TV License Company, LLC; Madison TV License Company, LLC; Rockford TV License Company, LLC; Tucson TV License Company, LLC and Wausau TV License Company, LLC (collectively, "Assignees").

Call Letters	Facility ID#	Location	Class of Service	Name of Licensee	
KBJR-TV	33658	Superior, Wisconsin	TV		
KDLH	4691	Duluth, Minnesota	TV	KBJR License, LLC	
KRII	82698	Chisholm, Minnesota	TV		
KTIV	66170	Sioux City, Iowa	TV	ETIVI License I I C	
K24JG-D	66171	Norfolk, Nebraska	LD	KTIV License, LLC	
KTTC	35678	Rochester, Minnesota	TV	VTTC I : II C	
W34FC-D	35676	La Crosse, Wisconsin	LD	KTTC License, LLC	
KVOA*	25735	Tucson, Arizona	TV		
K04QP-D*	168403	Casas Adobes, Arizona	DC	KVOA License, LLC	
K28OY-D*	25737	Sierra Vista, Arizona	LD		
KWWL*	593	Waterloo, Iowa	TV	KWWL License, LLC	
WAOW*	64546	Wausau, Wisconsin	TV	w. cow wasters.	
WMOW*	81503	Crandon, Wisconsin	TV	WAOW-WYOW License,	
WYOW	77789	Eagle River, Wisconsin	TV	LLC	
WBNG-TV	23337	Binghamton, New York	TV	WBNG License, LLC	
WEEK-TV	24801	Peoria, Illinois	TV	WEEK License, LLC	
WGEM	54277		AM		
WGEM-TV	54275	Outpay Illinois	TV	WGEM License, LLC	
WGEM-FM	54281	Quincy, Illinois	FM		
W255CY	156892		FX		
WKOW*	64545	Madison, Wisconsin	TV	WKOW License, LLC	
WISE-TV	13960	Fart Wayna Indiana	TV	WPTA License, LLC	
WPTA	73905	Fort Wayne, Indiana	TV	WFTA LICEISE, LLC	
WREX*	73940	Rockford, Illinois	TV	WREX License, LLC	
KPOB-TV*	73998	Poplar Bluff, Missouri	TV		
WSIL-TV*	73999	Harrisburg, Illinois	TV	WSIL License, LLC	
K10KM-D*	74000	Cape Girardeau, Missouri	LD		
WSJV	74007	Elkhart, Indiana	TV	WSJV License, LLC	
WVVA	74176	Bluefield, West Virginia	TV	WVVA License, LLC	
WQOW*	64550	Eau Claire, Wisconsin	TV	WXOW-WQOW License,	
WXOW*	64549	La Crosse, Wisconsin	TV	LLC	

## Allen Media

Certain parties holding attributable interests in the Assignees hold attributable interests in the following broadcast stations:

Call Letters	Facility ID#	Location	Class of Service	Name of Licensee
KITV	64548	Honolulu, HI	TV	17/10/04
KMAU	64551	Wailuku, HI	TV	KITV, Inc.
KHVO	64544	Hilo, HI	TV	1
WTVA	74148	Tupelo, MS	TV	Mississippi TV License Company, LLC
KEZI (TV)	34406	Eugene, OR	TV	
KDRV (TV)	60736	Medford, OR	TV	O TWILL C
KDKF (TV)	60740	Klamath Falls, OR	TV	Oregon TV License Company LLC
KEZI	34406	Elkton, OR	Translator	Libe
KEZI	34406	Oakridge, OR	Translator	
KHSL-TV	24508	Chico, CA	TV	California TV License
KHSL-TV	24508	Redding, CA	Translator	Company, LLC
WTHI-TV	70655	Terre Haute, IN	TV	Terre Haute TV License Company, LLC
WLFI-TV	73204	Lafayette, IN	TV	Lafayette TV License Company, LLC
WFFT-TV	25040	Ft. Wayne, IN	TV	Ft. Wayne TV License Company, LLC
KIMT(TV)	66402	Mason City, IA	TV	Rochester TV License Company, LLC
WAAY-TV	57292	Huntsville, AL	TV	Alabama TV License Company, LLC
WEVV-TV	72041	Evansville, IN	TV	BCBE License Subsidiary,
WEEV-LD	188022	Evansville, IN	LD	LLC
KADN-TV	33261	Lafayette, LA	TV	BCBL License Subsidiary,
KLAF-LD	16535	Lafayette, LA	LPD	LLC

## 3. Parties to the Application

Set forth below are the Allen Media parties to the assignment applications:

## Cedar-Rapids TV License Company, LLC (Assignee)

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity
Cedar-Rapids TV License Company, LLC c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Respondent	N/A	N/A

Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor	U.S.	Chairman, President & CEO	0%	0%
Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Jeffrey W. Mayes c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Carolyn Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Assistant Secretary	0%	0%
Eric H. Gould c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Ronnie Y. Ng c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Terence Hill c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Chief Operating Officer	0%	0%

## Cedar-Rapids TV, LLC

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity
Cedar-Rapids TV, LLC c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Sole Member	100%	100%
Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Chairman, President & CEO	0%	0%
Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%

Jeffrey W. Mayes c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Carolyn Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Assistant Secretary	0%	0%
Eric H. Gould c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Ronnie Y. Ng c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Terence Hill c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Chief Operating Officer	0%	0%

## Harrisburg TV License Company, LLC (Assignee)

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity
Harrisburg TV License Company, LLC c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Respondent	N/A	N/A
Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Chairman, President & CEO	0%	0%
Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Jeffrey W. Mayes c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Carolyn Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Assistant Secretary	0%	0%

Eric H. Gould	U.S.	Vice	0%	0%
c/o 1925 Century Park East		President		
10th Floor				
Los Angeles, CA 90067				
Ronnie Y. Ng	U.S.	Vice	0%	0%
c/o 1925 Century Park East		President		
10th Floor				
Los Angeles, CA 90067				
Terence Hill	U.S.	Vice	0%	0%
c/o 1925 Century Park East		President,	100	
10th Floor		Chief		
Los Angeles, CA 90067		Operating		
		Officer		

## Harrisburg TV, LLC

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity
Harrisburg TV, LLC c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Sole Member	100%	100%
Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Chairman, President & CEO	0%	0%
Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Jeffrey W. Mayes c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Carolyn Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Assistant Secretary	0%	0%
Eric H. Gould c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Ronnie Y. Ng c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%

Terence Hill	U.S.	Vice	0%	0%
c/o 1925 Century Park East		President,		
10th Floor		Chief		
Los Angeles, CA 90067		Operating		
		Officer		

## La Crosse TV License Company, LLC (Assignee)

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity
La Crosse TV License Company, LLC c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Respondent	N/A	N/A
Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Chairman, President & CEO	0%	0%
Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Jeffrey W. Mayes c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Carolyn Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Assistant Secretary	0%	0%
Eric H. Gould c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Ronnie Y. Ng c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Terence Hill c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Chief Operating Officer	0%	0%

## La Crosse TV, LLC

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity
La Crosse TV, LLC c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Sole Member	100%	100%
Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Chairman, President & CEO	0%	0%
Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Jeffrey W. Mayes c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Carolyn Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Assistant Secretary	0%	0%
Eric H. Gould c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Ronnie Y. Ng c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Terence Hill c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Chief Operating Officer	0%	0%

# Madison TV License Company, LLC (Assignee)

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity
Madison TV License Company, LLC c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Respondent	N/A	N/A
Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Chairman, President & CEO	0%	0%

Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Los Angeles, CA 90067  Jeffrey W. Mayes c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Carolyn Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Assistant Secretary	0%	0%
Eric H. Gould c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Ronnie Y. Ng c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Terence Hill c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Chief Operating Officer	0%	0%

## Madison TV, LLC

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity
Madison TV, LLC c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Sole Member	100%	100%
Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Chairman, President & CEO	0%	0%
Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Jeffrey W. Mayes c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Carolyn Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Assistant Secretary	0%	0%

Eric H. Gould	U.S.	Vice	0%	0%
c/o 1925 Century Park East		President		
10th Floor				
Los Angeles, CA 90067				
Ronnie Y. Ng	U.S.	Vice	0%	0%
c/o 1925 Century Park East		President		
10th Floor			1 1	
Los Angeles, CA 90067				
Terence Hill	U.S.	Vice	0%	0%
c/o 1925 Century Park East		President,		
10th Floor		Chief		
Los Angeles, CA 90067		Operating		
		Officer		

### Rockford TV License Company, LLC (Assignee)

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity
Rockford TV License Company, LLC c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Respondent	N/A	N/A
Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Chairman, President & CEO	0%	0%
Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Jeffrey W. Mayes c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Carolyn Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Assistant Secretary	0%	0%
Eric H. Gould c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Ronnie Y. Ng c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%

Terence Hill	U.S.	Vice	0%	0%
c/o 1925 Century Park East		President,		
10th Floor		Chief		
Los Angeles, CA 90067		Operating		
and a substitution of the		Officer		

## Rockford TV, LLC

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity
Rockford TV, LLC c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Sole Member	100%	100%
Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Chairman, President & CEO	0%	0%
Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Jeffrey W. Mayes c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Carolyn Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Assistant Secretary	0%	0%
Eric H. Gould c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Ronnie Y. Ng c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Terence Hill c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Chief Operating Officer	0%	0%

## Tucson TV License Company, LLC (Assignee)

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity
Tucson TV License Company, LLC c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Respondent	N/A	N/A
Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Chairman, President & CEO	0%	0%
Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Jeffrey W. Mayes c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Carolyn Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Assistant Secretary	0%	0%
Eric H. Gould c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Ronnie Y. Ng c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Terence Hill c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Chief Operating Officer	0%	0%

## Tucson TV, LLC

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity
Tucson TV, LLC c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S. Sole Member		100%	100%
Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Chairman, President & CEO	0%	0%

Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Los Angeles, CA 90067  Jeffrey W. Mayes c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Carolyn Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Assistant Secretary	0%	0%
Eric H. Gould c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Ronnie Y. Ng c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Terence Hill c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Chief Operating Officer	0%	0%

## Wausau TV License Company, LLC (Assignee)

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity
Wausau TV License Company, LLC c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Respondent	N/A	N/A
Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Chairman, President & CEO	0%	0%
Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Jeffrey W. Mayes c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Carolyn Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Assistant Secretary	0%	0%

Eric H. Gould	U.S.	Vice	0%	0%
c/o 1925 Century Park East		President		
10th Floor				
Los Angeles, CA 90067				
Ronnie Y. Ng	U.S.	Vice	0%	0%
c/o 1925 Century Park East		President	1 - 1	
10th Floor				
Los Angeles, CA 90067				
Terence Hill	U.S.	Vice	0%	0%
c/o 1925 Century Park East		President,		
10th Floor		Chief		
Los Angeles, CA 90067		Operating		
		Officer		

## Wausau TV, LLC

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity	
Wausau TV, LLC c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Sole Member	100%	100%	
Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Chairman, President & CEO	0%	0%	
Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%	
Jeffrey W. Mayes c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%	
Carolyn Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Assistant Secretary	0%	0%	
Eric H. Gould c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%	
Ronnie Y. Ng c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%	

Terence Hill	U.S.	Vice	0%	0%
c/o 1925 Century Park East		President,		
10th Floor		Chief		
Los Angeles, CA 90067		Operating		
8		Officer		

## Allen Media Broadcasting Evansville III, LLC<sup>2</sup>

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity
Allen Media Broadcasting Evansville III, LLC c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Sole Member	100%	100%
Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Chairman, President & CEO	0%	0%
Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Jeffrey W. Mayes c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Carolyn Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Assistant Secretary	0%	0%
Eric H. Gould c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Ronnie Y. Ng c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Allen Media Broadcasting Evansville III, LLC is the immediate parent company of Cedar-Rapids TV, LLC; Harrisburg TV, LLC; La Crosse TV, LLC; Madison TV, LLC; Rockford TV, LLC; Tucson TV, LLC; and Wausau TV, LLC.

Terence Hill	U.S.	Vice President,	0%	0%
c/o 1925 Century Park East		Chief Operating		
10th Floor		Officer		
Los Angeles, CA 90067			)	

# AMBE III Holdings, LLC

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity
AMBE III Holdings, LLC c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Sole Member	100%	100%
Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Chairman, President & CEO	0%	0%
Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Jeffrey W. Mayes c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Carolyn Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Assistant Secretary	0%	0%
Eric H. Gould c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Ronnie Y. Ng c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Terence Hill c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Chief Operating Officer	0%	0%

## Allen Media Broadcasting Evansville, Inc.

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity
Allen Media Broadcasting Evansville, Inc. c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Sole Member	100%	100%
Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Chairman, President & CEO	0%	0%
Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Carolyn Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Assistant Secretary	0%	0%
Eric H. Gould c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Terence Hill c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Chief Operating Officer	0%	0%
Jeffrey W. Mayes c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co- Secretary	0%	0%
Ronnie Y. Ng c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%

# Allen Media Broadcasting LLC

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity
Allen Media Broadcasting LLC c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Sole Shareholder	100%	100%

Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor	U.S.	Chairman	0%	0%
Los Angeles, CA 90067				
Robert S. Prather, Jr. c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	President	0%	0%
Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor	U.S.	Vice President, Co-Secretary	0%	0%
Los Angeles, CA 90067 Carolyn Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Assistant Secretary	0%	0%
Eric H. Gould c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Terence Hill c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Chief Operating Officer	0%	0%
Jeffrey W. Mayes c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co-Secretary	0%	0%
Ronnie Y. Ng c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%

# Allen Media Broadcast Holdings LLC

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity
Allen Media Broadcast Holdings LLC c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Sole Member	100%	100%
Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Chairman, President & CEO	0%	0%

Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor	U.S.	Vice President, Co-Secretary	0%	0%
Los Angeles, CA 90067				
Carolyn Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Assistant Secretary	0%	0%
Eric H. Gould c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%
Terence Hill c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Chief Operating Officer	0%	0%
Jeffrey W. Mayes c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President, Co-Secretary	0%	0%
Ronnie Y. Ng c/o 1925 Century Park East 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Vice President	0%	0%

# Allen Media, LLC

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity
Allen Media, LLC c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Sole Member	100%	100%
Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	President, CEO & CFO	0%	0%
Terence Hill c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Chief Operating Officer	0%	0%
Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Executive Vice President, General Counsel	0%	0%

Carolyn Folks	U.S.	Secretary	0%	0%
c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor				
Los Angeles, CA 90067				

### Allen Media Holdings, LLC

Name and Address	Citizenship	Positional Interest	Percent Voting	Percent Equity
Allen Media Holdings, LLC c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Sole Member	100%	100%
Byron Allen Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	President, CEO & CFO	100%	100%
Terence Hill c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Chief Operating Officer	0%	0%
Mark P. DeVitre c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Executive Vice President, General Counsel	0%	0%
Carolyn Folks c/o 1925 Century Park East 10 <sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067	U.S.	Secretary	0%	0%

#### 4. Transaction Documents

A copy of the Asset Purchase Agreement ("APA") governing this assignment transaction is attached as Exhibit 1. Certain exhibits and disclosure schedules to the APA have been excluded from this filing because they contain material that is confidential and proprietary, not germane to the Commission's evaluation of this application or already in the Commission's possession. *See LUJ, Inc. and Long Nine, Inc.*, Memorandum Opinion and Order, 17 FCC Rcd. 16980 (2002). The excluded exhibits and disclosure schedules are identified below. Information contained in the excluded documents will be provided to the Commission upon request.

#### Exhibits to APA:

Exhibit A: Form of Escrow Agreement

Exhibit B: Form of Bill of Sale and Assignment and Assumption Agreement

Exhibit C: Form of Assignment of Seller FCC Authorizations

Exhibit D: Form of Seller Transition Services Agreement

Exhibit E: Form of Reverse Transition Services Agreement

Exhibit F: Form of Trademark License Agreement

Annex 1.1: Knowledge Inquiry Parties

Annex 2.1: Buyer Designees

#### Disclosure Schedules to APA:

Schedule 2.1(t): Purchased Assets

Schedule 2.2(1): Excluded Assets

Schedule 2.7: Determination of Closing Date Working Capital and Purchase Price

Schedule 3.2(e): Authority of the Seller and the Quincy Group

Schedule 3.3: Financial Statements

Schedule 3.4: Operations Since Balance Sheet Date

Schedule 3.5: No Undisclosed Liabilities

Schedule 3.7: Condition and Sufficiency of Assets

Schedule 3.8: Governmental Permits; FCC Matters

Schedule 3.9: Real Property; Real Property Leases

Schedule 3.10: Intellectual Property

Schedule 3.12: Employees

Schedule 3.13: Employee Relations

Schedule 3.14: Contracts

Schedule 3.15: Status of Contracts

Schedule 3.16: No Violation, Litigation or Regulatory Action

Schedule 3.17: Insurance

Schedule 3.18: Employee Plans; ERISA

Schedule 3.19(a): Environmental Protection

Schedule 3.20: MVPD Matters

Schedule 3.21: Transactions with Affiliates

Schedule 3.23: No Finder

Schedule 5.3(e): Required Consents

Schedule 5.4(b): Operations of the Station Prior to the Closing Date

Schedule 5.6(b): Multi-Station Contracts

Schedule 8.9: Release of Encumbrances

Quincy and Gray have entered into a Carriage Agreement (copy attached as Exhibit 2) that will become effective at the close of the transactions whereby WREX(TV) will rebroadcast the signal of Gray's WIFR-LD. The Carriage Agreement will ensure that more over-the-air viewers in the Rockford DMA are able to receive low power station WIFR-LD's signal which has suffered from incoming interference in certain parts of the station's market since it switched to its new post-repack channel.

### 5. Request for Continuation of Satellite Waivers

### A. Request for Continuation of Satellite Waiver for WMOW

Assignee Wausau TV License Company, LLC respectfully requests a continuation of the previously-granted satellite waiver to allow WMOW (Crandon, WI) to operate as a satellite station of WAOW (Wausau, WI) pursuant to the Commission's decision in *Streamlined Reauthorization Procedures for Assigned or Transferred Television Satellite Stations*, Report and Order, 34 FCC Rcd. 1539 (2019) ("Streamlined Satellite Procedures Order"). There has been no material change in the underlying circumstances upon which the Commission relied in granting the most recent satellite waiver for WMOW. *See Applications of Selenka Communications, LLC (Assignor) and WAOW-WYOW Television, Inc. (Assignee) for Consent to Assign the License of Station WBIJ(TV), Crandon, Wisconsin*, DA 10-73 (MB 2010) (copy attached as Exhibit 3). Please note that WMOW's previous call sign was WBIJ(TV).

### B. Request for Continuation of Satellite Waiver for WQOW

Assignee La Crosse TV License Company, LLC respectfully requests a continuation of the previously-granted satellite waiver to allow WQOW (Eau Claire, WI) to operate as a satellite station of WXOW (La Crosse, WI) pursuant to the Streamlined Satellite Procedures Order. There has been no material change in the underlying circumstances upon which the Commission relied in granting the most recent satellite waiver for WQOW. *See Shockley Communications Acquisition, LLC, et al.*, Letter, SMH-1800E3 (MB 2001) (copy attached as Exhibit 4).

### 6. <u>Pending License Renewal Applications</u>

One or more of the television stations that the Assignees propose to acquire may file license renewal applications during the pendency of these assignment applications. Consistent with the Commission's policy permitting consummation of multi-station assignment transactions during a license renewal cycle, the Assignees hereby assent to succeeding to the place of the current licensees for any pending license renewal applications for any television broadcast stations that the Assignees will acquire pursuant to these applications. *See Cumulus Media, Inc. and Citadel Broadcasting Corp.*, Memorandum Opinion and Order, 26 FCC Rcd. 12956 (MB 2011), at ¶6 (assignment of license subject to renewal proceedings is permissible when assignee agrees to succeed to the position of the assignor).

#### 7. Pending Applications and Cut-Off Rules

The applicants will separately file applications with the International Bureau and the Wireless Telecommunications Bureau requesting consent to the assignment of certain transmit/receive earth station and microwave wireless licenses held by certain assignors. The applicants intend that the assignment applications filed with the Media, International, and Wireless Telecommunications Bureaus include all of the licenses and authorizations held by the assignors. The assignors currently may have on file, and may hereafter file, additional requests for new or modified facilities that may be granted before the Commission takes action on these assignment

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> WAOW-WYOW License, LLC (to be acquired by Gray) will retain WYOW.

applications. Thus, the applicants respectfully request that any approvals of these assignment applications include: (1) any authorizations issued to the assignors while these applications are pending and during the period required for consummation of these assignment transactions; and (2) any applications filed by the assignors that are pending at the time of consummation.

Inclusion of authorizations issued during the pendency of a transaction and during the consummation period, and applications pending at the time of consummation, is consistent with Commission precedent. See, e.g., Applications of AT&T Inc. and Cellco Partnership d/b/a Verizon Wireless, Memorandum Opinion and Order, 25 FCC Rcd. 8704 (2010), at ¶ 165; Applications of AT&T Wireless Services, Inc. and Cingular Wireless Corp. for Consent to Transfer Control of Licenses and Authorizations, Memorandum Opinion and Order, 19 FCC Rcd. 21522 (2004), at ¶ 275.

The applicants also request, to the extent necessary, a blanket exemption from any applicable cut-off rules in cases where the applicants file amendments to pending applications to reflect consummation of these assignment transactions so that such amendments are not treated as disqualifying amendments. Grant of this request would be consistent with Commission decisions that have granted a blanket exemption in cases involving multiple license transactions. See, e.g., Applications of PacificCorp Holdings, Inc., and Century Telephone Enterprises, Inc. for Consent to Transfer Control of Pacific Telecom, Inc., Memorandum Opinion and Order, 13 FCC Rcd. 8891 (WTB 1997), at ¶ 47; Applications of NYNEX Corp. and Bell Atlantic Corp., Memorandum Opinion and Order, 12 FCC Rcd. 19985 (1997), at ¶ 234.

# Exhibit 1 Asset Purchase Agreement

#### ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT

for

#### the SALE of TELEVISION STATIONS

KVOA, TUCSON, ARIZONA,
WKOW, MADISON, WISCONSIN
WREX, ROCKFORD, ILLINOIS
WSIL/KPOB, HARRISBURG, ILLINOIS
KWWL, CEDAR RAPIDS, IOWA
WXOW/WQOW, LA CROSSE, WISCONSIN
and
WAOW/WMOW, WAUSAU, WISCONSIN

by and among

GRAY TELEVISION, INC.

ALLEN MEDIA BROADCASTING EVANSVILLE III, LLC

and

ALLEN MEDIA HOLDINGS II, LLC

Dated as of April 29, 2021

#### Table of Contents

		Page
ARTICLE I DEFINIT	TIONS	1
Section 1.1	Definitions	1
ARTICLE II PURCH	ASE AND SALE OF PURCHASED ASSETS	16
Section 2.1	Purchase and Sale of Purchased Assets	16
Section 2.2	Excluded Assets	18
Section 2.3	Assumption of Liabilities.	20
Section 2.4	Closing Date	22
Section 2.5	Purchase Price	
Section 2.6	Payment on Closing Date	
Section 2.7	Determination of Closing Date Working Capital and Purchase Price	23
Section 2.8	Escrow Deposit	25
Section 2.9	Closing Date Deliveries.	25
Section 2.10	Further Assurances	26
Section 2.11	Allocation of Purchase Price	
Section 2.12	Purchase Price Adjustment	
Section 2.13	Withholding	28
ARTICLE III REPRE	SENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLER	28
Section 3.1	Organization	28
Section 3.2	Authority of Seller and the Quincy Group.	29
Section 3.3	Financial Statements.	30
Section 3.4	Operations Since Balance Sheet Date.	
Section 3.5	No Undisclosed Liabilities	
Section 3.6	Taxes	
Section 3.7	Condition and Sufficiency of Assets	
Section 3.8	Governmental Permits; FCC Matters.	
Section 3.9	Real Property; Real Property Leases	
Section 3.10	Intellectual Property.	
Section 3.11	Title to Assets	
Section 3.12	Employees	35
Section 3.13	Employee Relations	
Section 3.14	Contracts	36
Section 3.15	Status of Contracts	38
Section 3.16	No Violation, Litigation or Regulatory Action	38
Section 3.17	Insurance	39
Section 3.18	Employee Plans; ERISA	39
Section 3.19	Environmental Protection	40
Section 3.20	MVPD Matters	
Section 3.21	Transactions with Affiliates	41
Section 3.22	Governmental Programs	41
Section 3.23	No Finder	42

ARTICLE IV REPRE	ESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BUYER	42
Section 4.1	Organization	42
Section 4.2	Authority of Buyer.	
Section 4.3	Litigation	
Section 4.4	No Finder	
Section 4.5	Qualifications as FCC Licensee	
Section 4.6	Financial Capacity; Solvency	
ARTICLE V ACTIO	NS PRIOR TO THE CLOSING DATE	
Section 5.1	Access to the Business	
Section 5.1 Section 5.2	Notification of Certain Matters.	
Section 5.2 Section 5.3	FCC Consent; HSR Act Approval; Other Consents and Approvals	
Section 5.4	Operations of the Stations Prior to the Closing Date	
Section 5.4 Section 5.5	Public Announcement	50 52
Section 5.5	Multi-Station Contracts	
Section 5.7	Financing Commitment	
Section 5.7 Section 5.8	Exclusivity	
Section 5.8 Section 5.9	Purchase Agreement Covenants	
Section 5.10	Monthly Statements	
Section 5.10	Non-Solicitation	
	TONAL AGREEMENTS	
Section 6.1	Taxes	
Section 6.2	Employees; Employee Benefit Plans	
Section 6.3	Control of Operations Prior to Closing Date	
Section 6.4	Bulk Transfer Laws	
Section 6.5	Use of Names	
Section 6.6	R&W Insurance Policy	
Section 6.7	Post-Closing Access to Insurance	
Section 6.8	Treatment of Other Party's Assets	63
ARTICLE VII COND	DITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATIONS OF SELLER	63
Section 7.1	No Breach of Covenants and Warranties	64
Section 7.2	No Restraint	64
Section 7.3	Certain Governmental Approvals	
Section 7.4	Quincy Sale	
Section 7.5	Closing Deliveries	
ARTICLE VIII CONI	DITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATIONS OF BUYER	
Section 8.1	No Breach of Covenants and Warranties	65
Section 8.1 Section 8.2	No Restraint	
Section 8.2	Conduct of Quincy and its Affiliates	
Section 8.4	Certain Governmental Approvals	
Section 8.5	Quincy Sale	
Section 8.5	Material Adverse Effect	۵۰ ۸۸
Section 8.7	Closing Deliveries	
Section 8.7 Section 8.8	Certain Approvals	
Section 8.9	Release of Encumbrances	
500000000000	NOICASC OF EMCHINOIAMOCS	

ARTICLE IX INDEM	NIFICATION	66
Section 9.1	Indemnification by Seller	66
Section 9.2	Indemnification by Buyer	66
Section 9.3	Notice of Claims; Determination of Amount	67
Section 9.4	Third Person Claims.	67
Section 9.5	Limitations; Exclusive Remedies	69
Section 9.6	Damages; Mitigation	70
Section 9.7	Special Rule for Fraud.	
ARTICLE X TERMIN	VATION	70
Section 10.1	Termination.	70
Section 10.2	Withdrawal of Certain Filings	72
ARTICLE XI GENER	AL PROVISIONS	72
Section 11.1	Survival of Obligations	
Section 11.2	Confidential Nature of Information	73
Section 11.3	Governing Law	73
Section 11.4	Exclusive Jurisdiction; Court Proceedings	
Section 11.5	Notices	74
Section 11.6	Successors and Assigns; Third Party Beneficiaries	
Section 11.7	Access to Records after Closing.	76
Section 11.8	Entire Agreement; Amendments	76
Section 11.9	Interpretation	77
Section 11.10	Waivers	77
Section 11.11	Expenses	77
Section 11.12	Partial Invalidity	77
Section 11.13	Execution in Counterparts	78
Section 11.14	Disclaimer of Warranties	
Section 11.15	Specific Performance	
Section 11.16	Guarantee	
Section 11.17	Seller Release	
Section 11.18	Non-Recourse Against Financing Sources; Waiver of Certain Claims	80

### **EXHIBITS**

Exhibit A - Form of Escrow Agreement
Exhibit B - Form of Bill of Sale and Assignment and Assumption Agreement

Exhibit C - Form of Assignment of Seller FCC Authorizations

Exhibit D - Form of Seller Transition Services Agreement

Exhibit E - Form of Reverse Transition Services Agreement
Exhibit F - Form of Trademark License Agreement

**Knowledge Inquiry Parties** Annex 1.1

Buyer Designees Annex 2.1

#### ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT

This **ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT**, dated as of April 29, 2021 (this "<u>Agreement</u>"), by and among Gray Television, Inc., a Georgia corporation (together with its Affiliates, "<u>Seller</u>"), on the one hand, and Allen Media Broadcasting Evansville III, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("<u>Buyer</u>"), and Allen Media Holdings II, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("<u>Buyer Guarantor</u>"), on the other hand.

#### WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, Seller and Quincy Media, Inc., an Illinois corporation ("Quincy") are parties to that certain Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of January 31, 2021, by and among Seller, Quincy, each of the stockholders of Quincy (the "Quincy Sellers") and Ralph M. Oakley, solely in his capacity as representative of the Quincy Sellers (the "Purchase Agreement"), pursuant to which the Quincy Sellers will sell all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of Quincy (or, pursuant to Section 5.2(c) of the Purchase Agreement, the newly-formed holding company that owns such capital stock) to Seller and Seller will become the direct and indirect parent of Quincy and its direct and indirect subsidiaries (collectively, the "Quincy Sale");

WHEREAS, on the date of this Agreement, the Quincy Group (as defined hereinafter) owns and operates television broadcast stations (i) KVOA, Tucson, Arizona, (ii) WKOW, Madison, Wisconsin, (iii) WREX, Rockford, Illinois, (iv) WSIL/KPOB, Harrisburg, Illinois, (v) KWWL, Cedar Rapids, Iowa, (vi) WXOW/WQOW, La Crosse, Wisconsin and (vii) WAOW/WMOW, Wausau, Wisconsin (each, a "Station" and collectively, the "Stations"), pursuant to certain authorizations issued by the Federal Communications Commission, including any official bureau or division thereof acting on delegated authority, or any successor agency thereto (the "FCC"); and

WHEREAS, immediately following the closing of the Quincy Sale, Buyer desires to purchase the Purchased Assets and assume the Assumed Liabilities, and Seller desires to sell and cause its Affiliates and the Quincy Group, to sell to Buyer the Purchased Assets and transfer the Assumed Liabilities, on the terms and subject to the conditions hereinafter set forth.

**NOW, THEREFORE**, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements hereinafter set forth and for other good and valuable consideration (the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged), it is hereby agreed among the parties as follows:

#### ARTICLE I

#### **DEFINITIONS**

Section 1.1 <u>Definitions</u>. As used in this Agreement, the following terms have the meanings specified or referred to in this <u>Section 1.1</u>:

"Action" means any action, suit or proceeding by or before any court, arbitrator, mediator or any Governmental Body or any request to preserve information or any civil investigative demand received by the Seller or Quincy, any of its Affiliates or any Station from the DOJ or any other Governmental Body relating to the potential violation of any Law.

- "Agreement" has the meaning specified in the introductory paragraph hereof.
- "<u>Affiliate</u>" means, with respect to a specified Person, any Person or member of a group of Persons acting together that, directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls, or is controlled by, or is under common control with, such specified Person.
- "Agreed Accounting Principles" means the practices and methodologies used in the preparation of the Balance Sheets in a manner consistent with GAAP.
  - "Agreed Adjustments" has the meaning specified in Section 2.7(b).
  - "Alternative Commitment Letter" has the meaning specified in Section 5.7(c).
  - "Alternative Financing" has the meaning specified in Section 5.7(c).
  - "Alternative Financing Agreement" has the meaning specified in Section 5.7(c).
  - "AMBE Commitment Letter" has the meaning specified in Section 4.6(a).
- "Ancillary Agreements" means the Transition Services Agreements, the Bill of Sale and Assignment and Assumption Agreement, the Assignment of Seller FCC Authorizations and any other certificate, agreement, document or other instrument to be executed and delivered in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- "Antitrust Law" means the HSR Act, the Federal Trade Commission Act of 1914, as amended, the Sherman Antitrust Act of 1890, as amended, the Clayton Antitrust Act of 1914, as amended, and any applicable foreign antitrust Laws and all other applicable Laws that are designed or intended to prohibit, restrict or regulate actions having the purpose or effect of monopolization or restraint of trade or lessening of competition through merger or acquisition.
  - "Arbitrator" has the meaning specified in Section 2.7(c).
  - "Assignment of Seller FCC Authorizations" has the meaning specified in Section 2.9.
  - "Assumed CBA" has the meaning specified in Section 6.2(a).
  - "Assumed Liabilities" has the meaning specified in Section 2.3(a).
  - "Balance Sheet" has the meaning specified in Section 3.3.
  - "Balance Sheet Date" has the meaning specified in Section 3.3.
  - "BA Commitment Letter" has the meaning specified in Section 4.6(a).
  - "BC Commitment Letter" has the meaning specified in Section 4.6(a).
  - "BC Fee Letter" has the meaning specified in Section 4.6(a).

- "Bill of Sale and Assignment and Assumption Agreement" has the meaning specified in Section 2.9(a)(i).
- "Books and Records" means books, records, files, logs, work papers, data and information, including customer, distributor and supplier lists, summaries of financial and accounting records, programming information and studies, technical information and engineering data, news and advertising studies or consulting reports, purchase orders and invoices, sales orders and sales order log books, credit and collection records, cost and pricing information, manuals, product development files, records, correspondence and miscellaneous records with respect to customers, distributors, suppliers and all other general correspondence.
- "Broadcast Incentive Auction" means the FCC reverse broadcast incentive auction conducted pursuant to Section 6403 of the Middle Class Tax Relief and Job Creation Act of 2012 (Pub. L. No. 112-96, § 6403, 126 Stat. 156, 225-230 (2012)), codified at 47 U.S.C. § 1452, which began on May 31, 2016.
- "<u>Business</u>" means the business of the Stations (and shall not include the Other Seller Stations or the other businesses or assets of Seller or Quincy), as such business is or was conducted as of the date hereof and the Closing Date.
- "Business Day" means any day that is not a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on which banks are authorized or required by law to be closed in Quincy, IL.
  - "Buyer" has the meaning specified in the introductory paragraph hereof.
  - "Buyer Ancillary Agreements" has the meaning specified in Section 4.2(a).
  - "Buyer Designees" has the meaning specified in Section 2.1.
- "Buyer Fundamental Representations" means, collectively, the representations and warranties of Buyer set forth in Section 4.1 (Organization), Section 4.2 (Authority of Buyer) and Section 4.4 (No Finder).
- "<u>Buyer Group Member</u>" means Buyer, each of its Affiliates, and each of their successors and assigns, and each of their respective Representatives.
  - "Buyer Guarantor" has the meaning specified in the introductory paragraph hereof.
  - "Buyer Termination Event" has the meaning specified in Section 10.1(d).
- "<u>CARES Act</u>" means the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act or any similar applicable federal, state or local Law.
- "CBA" means any collective bargaining between the Quincy Group and any labor union with respect to the terms of employment of any Employees.
- "<u>CERCLA</u>" means the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 9601 et seq., and any regulations promulgated thereunder.

- "Claim Notice" has the meaning specified in Section 9.3(a).
- "Closing" has the meaning specified in Section 2.4.
- "Closing Date" has the meaning specified in Section 2.4.
- "Closing Date Balance Sheet" means a balance sheet as of the Cutoff Time with respect to the Purchased Assets and the Assumed Liabilities prepared in accordance with the Agreed Accounting Principles, as finally determined pursuant to Section 2.7.
  - "Closing Date Payment" has the meaning specified in Section 2.6.
- "Closing Date Working Capital Amount" means, subject to Schedule 2.7, the amount (expressed as a positive number), if any, as finally determined pursuant to Section 2.7, by which (i) the Current Assets exceed (ii) the Current Liabilities; provided that if such Current Assets are equal to or less than such Current Liabilities, then the Closing Date Working Capital Amount shall be zero.
- "Closing Date Working Capital Deficit" means the amount (expressed as a positive number), if any, as finally determined pursuant to Section 2.7, by which (i) the Current Liabilities exceed (ii) the Current Assets; provided that if such Current Liabilities are equal to or less than such Current Assets, then the Closing Date Working Capital Deficit shall be zero.
- "COBRA" means the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended.
  - "Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
  - "Commitment Letters" has the meaning specified in Section 4.6(a).
- "Communications Act" means the Communications Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules, regulations and written policies of the FCC promulgated under the foregoing, in each case, as in effect from time to time.
  - "Confidentiality Agreement" has the meaning specified in Section 5.1(a).
  - "Continuation Period" has the meaning specified in Section 6.2(a).
  - "Continuing Employees" has the meaning specified in Section 6.2(a).
- "Contract" means any legally binding written or oral contract, agreement, arrangement (excluding any regulatory tariff), note, bond, mortgage, lease, sublease, license or other agreement.
- "Control Room Hub" means the remote master control center that remotely provides ingest, monitoring, playout, automation, discrepancy reporting, encoding, spot download, and support to WEEK, WPTA, WXOW/WQCW and WAOW for the ABC feeds.

"COVID-19 Pandemic" means the SARS-Cov2 or COVID-19 pandemic, including any future resurgence or evolutions or mutations thereof and/or any related or associated disease outbreaks, epidemics and/or pandemics.

"Cure Period" means a period commencing on the date Buyer or Seller receive from the other written notice of breach or default hereunder and continuing until the earlier of (a) thirty (30) calendar days thereafter, or (b) five (5) Business Days after the date otherwise scheduled for Closing; provided, however, that if the breach or default is non-monetary and cannot reasonably be cured within such period but can be cured before the date that is five (5) Business Days after the scheduled Closing Date, and if diligent efforts to cure promptly commence, then the Cure Period shall continue as long as such diligent efforts to cure continue, but not beyond the date that is five (5) Business Days after the date otherwise scheduled for Closing.

"Current Assets" means the sum of all current assets of the Business as of the Cutoff Time, determined in accordance with GAAP, but excluding (i) any Excluded Assets and (ii) all amounts due to the Seller or the Quincy Group related to reimbursements for the TV Repack, if any. Notwithstanding the foregoing, accounts receivable shall be calculated net of a bad debt reserve equal to 2% of the total gross amount of the outstanding advertising receivables (i.e., excluding retransmission and trade receivables).

"<u>Current Liabilities</u>" means the sum of all current liabilities of the Business as of the Cutoff Time, determined in accordance with GAAP, but excluding any Excluded Liabilities.

"Cutoff Time" means 12:01 a.m. central time on the Closing Date.

"Deal Communications" has the meaning specified in Section 2.2(k).

"Debt Commitment Letter" has the meaning specified in Section 4.6(a).

"Debt Fee Letter" has the meaning specified in Section 4.6(a).

"Disputed Items" has the meaning specified in Section 2.7(c).

"DOJ" means the U.S. Department of Justice.

"<u>DOJ Final Judgment</u>" means any proposed final judgment the DOJ may file in any court of law or equity of competent jurisdiction in connection with the Quincy Sale, as such proposed final judgment may be modified with the approval of any court of law or equity of competent jurisdiction.

"Eldridge Commitment Letter" has the meaning specified in Section 4.6(a).

"Eldridge Fee Letter" has the meaning specified in Section 4.6(a).

"Equity Commitment Letters" has the meaning specified in Section 4.6(a).

"<u>Employees</u>" means the individuals employed by Seller or the Quincy Group, as applicable, who are listed on <u>Schedule 3.12</u> and any full-time or part-time employees who become

employed by Seller or the Quincy Group, as applicable, after the date hereof in accordance with Section 5.4 primarily in connection with the Business.

"Employment Agreement" means any contract or agreement of Seller or the Quincy Group with any individual Employee pursuant to which Seller or the Quincy Group, as applicable, has an actual or contingent liability to provide compensation and/or benefits in consideration for past, present or future services.

"Employment Commencement Date" has the meaning specified in Section 6.2(a).

"Employee Plan" means each plan, program, policy, agreement or arrangement providing for (i) pension, retirement, profit sharing, deferred compensation, excess benefit, supplemental retirement, severance, retention, termination pay, periodic incentive, transaction incentive, equity or equity-linked incentive, other stock bonus, tax gross-up or equalization, or other compensation or benefits, (ii) medical, vision, dental, prescription, other health benefits, vacation, paid-time-off, fringe benefits, perquisites, (iii) life, disability or other employee insurance and/or (iv) other compensation or employee benefits in each case, to which Seller and/or the Quincy Group is required to contribute, or which Seller or the Quincy Group or any of their respective Affiliates sponsors for the benefit of Service Providers of Seller and/or the Quincy Group (or the dependents or beneficiaries thereof), as applicable, or under which Service Providers (or their dependents or beneficiaries) of Seller and/or the Quincy Group, as applicable, are eligible to receive compensation or benefits, including any "employee benefit plan" (as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA, whether or not subject to ERISA).

"Encumbrance" means any lien, claim, charge, security interest, mortgage, deed of trust, pledge, easement, right of first refusal, proxies or agreements, transfer restrictions under any Contract, conditional sale or other title retention agreement or defect in title, or any other encumbrance of any kind or nature whatsoever, other than any license of, option to license, or covenant not to assert claims of infringement or misappropriation with respect to, Intellectual Property.

"Entitlements" has the meaning specified in Section 3.9(f).

"Environmental Law" means all Requirements of Laws addressing the prevention of pollution, the environment, Hazardous Materials, natural resources, human health, occupational health or safety, including but not limited to CERCLA, OSHA, RCRA, the Toxic Substances Control Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 2601 et seq.; the Safe Drinking Water Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 300(f) et seq.; the Clean Air Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7401 et seq.; the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1251 et seq.; the Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act of 1986, 42 U.S.C. §§ 11001 et seq.; and any state equivalents thereof.

"ERISA Affiliate" means with respect to Seller, any Person, trade or business (whether or not incorporated) that, together with Seller, is required to be treated as a "single employer" under Section 414(b), (c), (m) or (o) of the Code or Section 4001(b)(i) of ERISA.

"ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.

"Escrow Agent" means Regions Bank.

"<u>Escrow Agreement</u>" means an Escrow Agreement dated as of the date of this Agreement by and among Buyer, Seller and the Escrow Agent in the form of <u>Exhibit A</u> attached hereto.

"Escrow Deposit" has the meaning specified in Section 2.9.

"Estimated Purchase Price" has the meaning specified in Section 2.5.

"Excluded Assets" has the meaning specified in Section 2.2.

"Excluded Liabilities" has the meaning specified in Section 2.3(b).

"Expense" means any and all expenses (including interest) incurred in connection with investigating, defending or asserting any claim, action, suit or proceeding (including third-party claims) incident to any matter indemnified against hereunder (including court filing fees, court costs, arbitration fees or costs, witness fees, and reasonable fees and disbursements of legal counsel, investigators, expert witnesses, consultants, accountants and other professionals).

"FCC" has the meaning specified in the second recital hereof.

"FCC Applications" has the meaning specified in Section 5.3(a).

"FCC Consent" means action by the FCC (including action by staff acting on delegated authority) granting its consent to the FCC Applications filed with the FCC Media Bureau.

"Fee Letters" has the meaning specified in Section 4.6(a).

"Financing" has the meaning specified in Section 4.6(a).

"Financing Agreement" has the meaning specified in Section 5.7(a).

"Financing Sources" means the entities that have committed to provide or otherwise entered into agreements in connection with the Financing (or any alternative or replacement Financing) in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, including the parties to the Commitment Letter and any joinder agreements or credit agreements relating thereto, each of their respective Affiliates (including any of their and their respective Affiliates' respective successors and assigns) and each of their and their respective Affiliates' (and their respective successors and assigns) former, current or future Representatives.

"Final Purchase Price Allocation" has the meaning specified in Section 2.11.

"<u>Fraud</u>" means with respect to any party, such party's common law fraud solely with respect to the making of representations and warranties in Article III and Article IV, as determined under the jurisprudence of the State of Illinois.

"FTC" means the U.S. Federal Trade Commission.

"GAAP" means, with respect to any date of determination, United States generally accepted accounting principles as in effect on such date of determination, consistently applied.

"Governmental Body" means any (a) foreign, federal, state, municipal or local government, (b) any governmental or quasi-governmental authority (including any governmental agency, branch, department, official or entity) or judicial or regulatory body or (c) body exercising or entitled to exercise any administrative, executive, judicial, legislative, police, regulatory, or taxing authority or power of any nature, including any arbitral tribunal.

"Governmental Consents" means (i) the FCC Consent, and (ii) all authorizations, consents, Orders and approvals of all Governmental Bodies, including any State Attorney General, that are or may become necessary for the execution, delivery and consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.

"Governmental Permits" has the meaning specified in Section 3.8(a).

"<u>Hazardous Materials</u>" means any substance, material or waste listed, defined, regulated under or classified as a "pollutant" or "contaminant" or words of similar meaning or effect under any Environmental Law, including petroleum, petroleum products, asbestos, mold and polychlorinated biphenyls.

"HSR Act" means the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended.

"Indemnified Party" has the meaning specified in Section 9.3(a).

"Indemnitor" has the meaning specified in Section 9.3(a).

"Intellectual Property" means all Trademarks, patents, inventions, trade secrets, knowhow, processes, methods, techniques, internet domain names, social media identifiers, websites, web content, databases, software or applications (including user-applications, source code, executable code, operating systems, development tools, data, firmware and related documentation), copyrights and other works of authorship, programs and programming material, jingles, software (including source code, executable code, systems, tools, databases, firmware and related documentation), all rights of privacy and publicity, all applications, registrations and renewals relating to any of the foregoing, any other intellectual property rights or proprietary rights in or arising from any of the foregoing, and in all tangible embodiments of the foregoing, including all licenses, sublicenses and other rights granted and obtained with respect thereto, and rights thereunder, including rights to collect royalties, products and proceeds, rights to sue and bring other claims and seek remedies against past, present and future infringements or misappropriations thereof or other conflicts therewith, rights to recover damages or lost profits in connection therewith, and other rights to recover damages (including attorneys' fees and expenses) or lost profits in connection therewith, and otherwise to seek protection or enforcement of interests therein, and all other corresponding rights, under the laws of all jurisdictions, and whether arising by operations of law, contract, license or otherwise.

"<u>Knowledge of Seller</u>" means, as to a particular matter, the actual knowledge of the following persons, after reasonable inquiry of personnel of Seller and the Quincy Group listed on Annex 1.1: Kevin Latek and Jim Ryan.

"<u>Laws</u>" means any and all domestic (federal, state or local) or foreign laws, statutes, ordinances, rules, published regulations, judgments, orders, injunctions or decrees.

"Leased Real Property" has the meaning specified in Section 3.9(b).

"<u>Liabilities</u>" any and all debts, liabilities, Taxes and obligations of any kind or nature whatsoever, whether asserted or unasserted, absolute or contingent, accrued or unaccrued, liquidated or unliquidated, and whether due or to become due and regardless of when asserted.

"Loss" means any and all losses, costs, settlement payments, awards, judgments, fines, penalties or damages (excluding (i) any punitive or exemplary damages, except to the extent such damages are payable to a third Person, or (ii) any incidental, consequential, special or indirect damages, including loss of future profits, revenue or income, damages based on any multiple of revenue or income, diminution in value or loss of business reputation or opportunity relating to the breach or alleged breach of this Agreement, regardless of whether such damages were foreseeable, except to the extent such damages are actually awarded to a third Person).

"Market" means, with respect to each Station, the "Designated Market Area," as determined by The Nielsen Company, of such Station.

"Marketing Period" means the first period of fifteen (15) consecutive Business Days commencing on the first Business Day after the date of this Agreement that each of the following is true throughout and at the end of such period: (a) Buyer shall have received the Required Information, and the Required Information shall be complete; (b) FCC Consent shall have been granted and shall be in full force and effect; (c) any applicable waiting period under the HSR Act relating to the transactions contemplated hereunder shall have expired or been terminated; (d) all other conditions set forth in Article VII and Article VIII (other than those that by their nature will not be satisfied until the Closing) have been satisfied and nothing has occurred and no condition exists that would cause any of the conditions in such Article VII and Article VIII not to be satisfied assuming the Closing Date were to occur at any time during such consecutive fifteen (15) Business Day period; and (e) the Seller shall have been provided (or caused to be provided) all cooperation that it is obligated to provide under the terms of Section 5.7(c). If the Seller in good faith reasonably believes it has delivered the Required Information, it may deliver to Buyer a written notice to that effect (stating when it believes it completed such delivery), in which case the Required Information will be deemed to have been delivered on the date specified in such notice unless Buyer in good faith reasonably believes the Required Information has not been delivered and, within three (3) Business Days after the delivery of such notice by the Seller, delivers a written notice to the Seller to that effect, stating with specificity which Required Information has not been delivered. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) (A) the periods (1) from (and including) April 1, 2021 to (and including) April 5, 2021, (2) from (and including) July 5, 2021 to (and including) July 9, 2021, (3) from (and including) August 30, 2021 through September 6, 2021, (4) from (and including) November 24, 2021 through November 28, 2021 and (5) from (and including) April 14, 2022 through April 18, 2022 shall, in each case, be disregarded for purposes of calculating the consecutive business day period required above, (B) if such period shall not have ended on or prior to August 27, 2021, such period shall not commence before September 7, 2021 and (C) if such period shall not have ended prior to December 17, 2021, such period shall not commence before January 7, 2022, and (ii) (x) the Marketing Period shall not be deemed to have commenced if the Marketing Period (as defined in the Purchase Agreement) shall not have commenced and (y) the Marketing Period shall not be deemed to have ended if the Marketing Period (as defined in the Purchase Agreement) shall not have ended.

"Material Adverse Effect" means any event, circumstance, development, change, effect or occurrence (an "Effect") that, individually or in the aggregate with any other Effect, has had, or would reasonably be expected to have, a materially adverse effect on (x) the business, properties, assets, financial condition or results of operations of the Business, taken as a whole, or (y) on the ability of Seller to perform its material obligations under this Agreement, other than any Effect arising out of or resulting from (a) any Effect affecting the economy of the United States generally, including changes in the United States or foreign credit, debt, capital or financial markets (including changes in interest or exchange rates) or the economy of any town, city, region, state or country in which the Business is conducted; (b) general changes or developments in the broadcast television industry; (c) the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the announcement of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, the identity of Buyer or its Affiliates, the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, the compliance with the terms of this Agreement or the taking of any action required by this Agreement (other than the requirements set forth in Section 5.4 hereof); (d) earthquakes, hurricanes, tornadoes, pandemics or epidemics impacting the United States, Orders to shut-down or stay-at-home, natural disasters or global, national or regional political conditions, including hostilities, military actions, political instability, acts of terrorism or war or any escalation or material worsening of any such hostilities, military actions, political instability, acts of terrorism or war existing or underway as of the date hereof; (e) any failure, in and of itself, by the Business to meet any internal or published projections, forecasts or revenue or earnings predictions for any period ending on or after the date of this Agreement (it being understood that the facts or occurrences giving rise to such failure may be deemed to constitute, or be taken into account in determining whether there has been or will be, a Material Adverse Effect); or (f) changes in applicable Law or GAAP or the interpretation thereof (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any change in any rule or policy and the issuance of any order, in any case, the effect of which is to restrict in any respect the ability accorded to Buyer under FCC rules and policies in effect as of the date of this Agreement to enter into and perform joint sales, shared services, and such other operational arrangements and agreements related to any Station); except in the case of clauses (a), (b), (d) and (f), to the extent not having a disproportionate effect on the Business, taken as a whole, relative to other participants in the broadcast television industry.

"Monthly Statements" has the meaning specified in Section 5.11.

"Multi-Station Contract" has the meaning specified in Section 5.6.

"MVPD" means any multi-channel video programming distributor, including, without limitation, cable systems, wireline telecommunications companies and direct broadcast satellite operators.

"Objection Notice" has the meaning specified in Section 2.7(b).

"Offering Materials" has the meaning specified in Section 5.7(d)(i).

"<u>Order</u>" means any order, judgment, injunction, awards, stipulations, decree or writ handed down, promulgated, entered, adopted, issued or imposed by, including any consent decree, settlement agreement or similar written agreement with, any Governmental Body.

"OSHA" means the Occupational Safety and Health Act, 29 U.S.C. §§ 651 et seq., and any regulations promulgated thereunder.

"Other Seller Stations" has the meaning specified in Section 5.6.

"Owned Real Property" has the meaning specified in Section 3.9(a).

"Permitted Encumbrance" means (a) liens for Taxes, assessments or other governmental charges which are not yet due and payable or Taxes being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, (b) zoning laws and ordinances and similar Laws that are not violated by any existing improvement and that do not prohibit the use of the Real Property as currently used in the operation of the Business; (c) in the case of any leased asset, (i) the rights of any lessor under the applicable lease agreement or any Encumbrance granted by any lessor, developer or third-party on any fee interest underlying the Leased Real Property or any Encumbrance that the applicable contract is subject to, (ii) any subleases listed in Schedule(s) 3.9(b) hereto, or (iii) any statutory Lien for amounts that are not yet delinquent or that are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and for which appropriate reserves have been created in accordance with GAAP; (d) easements, rights of way, restrictive covenants and other encumbrances, encroachments or other similar matters affecting title that do not materially adversely affect title to the property subject thereto or impair the continued use of the property in the ordinary course of the Business; (e) statutory Encumbrances of landlords and inchoate statutory materialmens', mechanics', workmen's, carriers', warehousemen's, materialmen's, repairmen's or other like statutory Encumbrances arising in the ordinary course of business for amounts that are not yet due and payable or that are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings; (f) Encumbrances that will be released prior to or as of the Closing Date, including all mortgages and security interests securing indebtedness of Seller or the Quincy Group; (g) licenses of Intellectual Property granted in the ordinary course of business that do not secure any indebtedness; and (h) any right reserved to any Governmental Body to regulate the affected property (including restrictions stated in any permits) except to the extent such right is violated by the current operation of the Business.

"Person" means any person, employee, individual, corporation, limited liability company, partnership, trust, or any other non-governmental entity or any governmental or regulatory authority or body.

"Phase I Environmental Assessment" has the meaning specified in Section 5.1(b).

"Pre-Closing COBRA Liability" means any liability arising under COBRA in respect of any current or former Service Provider (or any beneficiary or dependent thereof), in any case, with respect to any "qualifying event" which occurs on or prior to the Closing Date.

"Pre-Closing Tax Period" means any Tax period ending on or prior to the Closing Date.

- "<u>Pre-Closing WARN Act Liability</u>" shall mean any liability arising under the WARN Act with respect to any mass layoff, plant closing or other termination of employees, in any case, occurring on or prior to the Closing Date.
- "Preliminary Closing Date Balance Sheet" has the meaning specified in Section 2.7(a)(i).
- "Preliminary Closing Date Working Capital Calculation" has the meaning specified in Section 2.7(a)(iii).
  - "Preliminary Purchase Price" has the meaning specified in Section 2.7(a)(ii).
- "Program Rights" means all rights of the Stations to broadcast television programs or shows as part of the Stations' programming, including all rights of the Stations under film and program barter agreements, sports rights agreements, news rights or service agreements, affiliation agreements and syndication agreements.
  - "Proposed Purchase Price Allocation" has the meaning specified in Section 2.11.
- "Prorated Taxes" means all personal property, real property, intangible property and other ad valorem Taxes imposed on or with respect to the Business and/or the Purchased Assets for any Straddle Period.
  - "Purchase Agreement" has the meaning specified in the first recital hereof.
  - "Purchased Asset Claim" has the meaning specified in Section 6.7.
  - "Purchased Assets" has the meaning specified in Section 2.1.
  - "Purchased Intellectual Property" has the meaning specified in Section 2.1(d).
- "Purchased JV Interests" means all issued and outstanding equity interests held by the Quincy Group in Southern Arizona TV Stations, Inc. (the "JV").
  - "Purchase Price" has the meaning specified in Section 2.5.
  - "Quincy" has the meaning specified in the first recital hereof.
  - "Quincy Group" means Quincy and the Quincy Subs collectively.
  - "Quincy Sale" has the meaning specified in the first recital hereof.
  - "Quincy Sellers" has the meaning specified in the first recital hereof.
  - "Quincy Sale Closing Date" means the date upon which the Quincy Sale is consummated.
- "Quincy Subs" means the direct and indirect subsidiaries of Quincy which own and operate the Stations or any assets relating thereto.

"<u>RCRA</u>" means the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 6901 et seq., and any regulations promulgated thereunder.

"Real Property" has the meaning specified in Section 3.9(b).

"Real Property Lease" has the meaning specified in Section 3.9(b).

"Representative" means, with respect to any Person, any director, manager, officer, employee, agent, consultant, advisor or other representative of such Persons, including legal counsel, accountants, and financial advisors.

"Required Consents" has the meaning specified in Section 5.3(e).

"Required Information" means (i) the unaudited balance sheets of each Station for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 and each subsequent fiscal year ending at least 90 days prior to the Closing Date, together with the related unaudited statements of operations for each such fiscal year and in the case of such statements of operations, including results for the fiscal year to date and comparisons to the corresponding fiscal year to date periods in each of the prior two fiscal years; (ii) the unaudited balance sheets of each Station as of each fiscal quarter ending after December 31, 2020 and ending at least 45 days prior to the Closing Date, together with the related unaudited statements of operations for each such fiscal quarter and in the case of such statements of operations, including results for the fiscal year to date and comparisons to the corresponding fiscal year to date periods in each of the prior two fiscal years; and (iii) income statements for each Station for the most recently completed fiscal year, for the most recently completed interim period and for the twenty-four (24) month period ending on the last day of the most recently completed four (4) fiscal quarter period ended at least forty-five (45) days before the Closing Date (or ninety (90) days in case such period includes the end of the Quincy Group's fiscal year).

"Requirements of Law" means any foreign, federal, state or local law, rule or regulation, Governmental Permit or other binding determination of any Governmental Body.

"Resolution Period" has the meaning specified in Section 2.7(b).

"Retained Names and Marks" means all (a) Trademarks containing or incorporating the term "Gray" or "Quincy", (b) other Trademarks owned by Seller or the Quincy Group (other than Trademarks included in the Purchased Intellectual Property), (c) variations or acronyms of any of the foregoing and (d) Trademarks confusingly similar to or dilutive of any of the foregoing.

"Reverse Transition Services Agreement" has the meaning specified in Section 2.9(a)(iii).

"Review Period" has the meaning specified in Section 2.7(b).

"Ripple Commitment Letter" has the meaning specified in Section 4.6(a).

"Ripple Fee Letter" has the meaning specified in Section 4.6(a).

"R&W Insurance Policy" has the meaning specified in Section 6.6.

"R&W Insurance Costs" shall mean any premium, commission, deposit, underwriting or diligence fees, surplus line taxes and related stamping fees, or other fees incurred in relation to the R&W Insurance Policy.

"Satellite Waiver" has the meaning specified in Section 5.3(f).

"Seller" has the meaning specified in the introductory paragraph hereof.

"Seller Employee Liabilities" means the following liabilities of Seller, the Quincy Group and/or any of their respective Affiliates: (a) any liability arising at any time under or in connection with any Employee Plan; (b) any liability that constitutes a Pre-Closing COBRA Liability or Pre-Closing WARN Act Liability; (c) any liability that is or may be imposed on Seller, the Quincy Group and/or any of their respective Affiliates due to such entity's status as an ERISA Affiliate of any other entity; (d) any liability arising in connection with the actual or prospective employment or engagement, the retention and/or discharge by Seller, the Quincy Group and/or any of their respective Affiliates of any current, former or prospective Employee or other Service Provider; (e) any liability for wages, remuneration, compensation (including any equity grants, bonuses or commissions due any Employee or other Service Provider), benefits, severance or other compensatory or accrued obligations (i) associated with any current or former Employee or other Service Provider who does not become a Continuing Employee for any reason (or any spouse, dependent or beneficiary thereof), and (ii) with respect to any Continuing Employee, arising on or prior to the Closing; and (f) any claim in any jurisdiction of an unfair labor practice, or any claim under any state unemployment compensation or worker's compensation law or regulation or under any federal or state employment law or other law or regulation relating to employment, termination of employment or engagement, automatic transfer of employment, failure to inform or consult, discrimination, classification or other matters relating to Employees or other Service Providers; in any case, with respect to (i) any current, former or prospective Employee of other Service Provider who does not become a Continuing Employee (or any dependent or beneficiary thereof), and (ii) any Continuing Employee, to the extent arising on or prior to the Closing Date. For clarity, any obligations arising after Closing under any Assumed CBA shall not constitute Seller Employee Liabilities.

"Seller Fundamental Representations" means, collectively, the representations and warranties of Seller set forth in Section 3.1 (Organization), Section 3.2 (Authority of Seller and the Quincy Group), Section 3.6 (Taxes), Section 3.7(b) (Sufficiency of Assets), Section 3.11 (Title to Assets) and Section 3.23 (No Finder).

"Seller FCC Authorizations" means those Governmental Permits (including any renewals and modifications thereof and assignable pending applications therefor) issued to Seller or the Quincy Group by the FCC with respect to the Stations that are material to the Stations' operations.

"Seller Group Member" means Seller, each of its Affiliates, each of their successors and assigns, and each of their respective Representatives.

"Service Provider" means any employee (including any Employee), officer, director, manager or individual independent contractor or consultant of Seller, the Quincy Group and/or

any of their respective Affiliates, as applicable, in all cases, where such individual's performance of services for Seller, the Quincy Group and/or any of their respective Affiliates relates primarily to the Business.

# "Seller Transition Services Agreement" has the meaning specified in Section 2.9(a)(iii).

"Solvent" means, when used with respect to any Person or group of Persons on a combined basis, that, as of any date of determination, (A) the Present Fair Salable Value of its assets will, as of such date, exceed all of its Stated Liabilities and Contingent Liabilities, as of such date, (B) such Person will not have, as of such date, an unreasonably small amount of capital for the business in which it is engaged or will be engaged and (C) such Person will be able to pay its Stated Liabilities and Contingent Liabilities as they mature, in the ordinary course of business, taking into account the timing of and amounts of cash to be received by it and the timing of and amounts of cash to be payable on or in respect of its indebtedness, in each case after giving effect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. As used herein, (i) "Stated Liabilities" means the recorded liabilities of a Person, determined in accordance with GAAP consistently applied; (ii) "Identified Contingent Liabilities" means the maximum estimated amount of liabilities reasonably likely to result from pending litigation, asserted claims and assessments, guaranties, uninsured risks and other contingent liabilities of a Person (including all fees and expenses related thereto but exclusive of such contingent liabilities to the extent reflected in Stated Liabilities), as identified and explained in terms of their nature and estimated magnitude by responsible officers of such Person; and (iii) "Present Fair Salable Value" means the amount that could be obtained by an independent willing seller from an independent selling buyer if the assets (both tangible and intangible) of a Person (including goodwill) are sold with reasonable promptness in an arm'slength transaction under present conditions for the sale of comparable business enterprises insofar as such conditions can be reasonably evaluated.

"Stations" has the meaning specified in the second recital hereof.

"Station Agreements" has the meaning specified in Section 3.15.

"<u>Straddle Period</u>" means any taxable period beginning on or before and ending after the Closing Date.

"Tangible Personal Property" has the meaning specified in Section 2.1(c).

"Tax" means any federal, state, local or foreign income, branch profits, excise, severance, occupation, premium, windfall profits, customs duties, disability, ad valorem, estimated, alternative or add-on minimum, gross income, gross receipts, property, sales, use, transfer, gains, license, employment, payroll, capital stock, environmental, franchise, social security, stamp, registration and value-added taxes, withholding or minimum tax, or other tax of any kind whatsoever, together with any interest or any penalty, addition to tax or additional amount imposed by any Governmental Body with respect thereto, whether disputed or not.

"<u>Tax Return</u>" means any return, declaration, report, claim for refund or other document relating to Taxes, including any schedule or attachment thereto, and amendment thereof.

"Termination Date" has the meaning specified in Section 10.1(a)(v).

"Third Person Claim Notice" has the meaning specified in Section 9.4(a).

"<u>Trade Agreement</u>" means any contract, agreement or commitment, oral or written, other than film and program barter agreements, pursuant to which Seller or the Quincy Group has agreed to sell or trade commercial air time or commercial production services of a Station in consideration for any property or service in lieu of cash.

"Trademark License Agreement" has the meaning specified in Section 2.9(a)(v).

"<u>Trademarks</u>" means trademarks, service marks, Internet domain names, trade dress, trade names, and corporate names, all applications and registrations for the foregoing, and all goodwill connected with the use thereof and symbolized thereby.

"Transfer Taxes" means all transfer, documentary, excise, sales, value added, goods and services, use, stamp, registration and other similar taxes, and all conveyance fees, recording charges and other similar fees and charges, incurred in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

"Transition Services Agreements" has the meaning specified in Section 2.9(a)(iii).

"<u>Treasury Regulations</u>" means regulations promulgated by the United States Department of the Treasury under the Code.

"TV Repack" means the repacking of broadcast spectrum following the Broadcast Incentive Auction.

"Unaudited Financial Statements" has the meaning specified in Section 3.3.

"Ungranted Licenses" has the meaning specified in Section 6.9.

"<u>Union Employees</u>" shall mean all Employees whose terms of employment are subject to a CBA and who are members of the applicable union.

"<u>WARN Act</u>" shall mean the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Act of 1988, as amended, or any similar state or local plant closing or mass layoff statute, rule or regulation.

#### ARTICLE II

#### PURCHASE AND SALE OF PURCHASED ASSETS

Section 2.1 Purchase and Sale of Purchased Assets. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, at the Closing, Seller shall, and shall cause its Affiliates, including the Quincy Group, to sell, transfer, assign, convey and deliver to Buyer (and/or one or more Affiliates of Buyer designated by Buyer set forth on Annex 2.1, "Buyer Designees"), and Buyer (or, if applicable, Buyer Designee(s)) shall purchase from Seller and its Affiliates, including the Quincy Group, pursuant to this Agreement, free and clear of all Encumbrances (except for Permitted Encumbrances), all of the right, title and interest of Seller, including the Quincy Group, to the assets, properties and business (excepting only the Excluded Assets) of every kind and

description, real, personal or mixed, tangible or intangible, then owned or held by Seller, including the Quincy Group, and used primarily in the Business (herein collectively referred to as the "<u>Purchased Assets</u>"), including, all right, title and interest of Seller, including the Quincy Group, as of Closing to the following (excepting only the Excluded Assets):

- (a) (x) The Seller FCC Authorizations and (y) all other Governmental Permits (including any under Environmental Laws) that may be transferred under applicable Law primarily related to the Stations and necessary to operate the Business, and including any applications therefor and renewals or modifications thereof between the date hereof and Closing;
- (b) All Owned Real Property together with all of the fixtures and improvements thereon;
- (c) All machinery, equipment (including cameras, computers and office equipment), auxiliary and translator facilities, transmitting towers, transmitters, broadcast equipment, antennae, supplies, inventory (including all films, programs, records, tapes, recordings, compact discs, cassettes, spare parts and equipment), vehicles, furniture and other tangible personal property owned by Seller or its Affiliates, including the Quincy Group, and used primarily in the Business except for any retirements or dispositions thereof made between the date hereof and Closing in accordance with Section 5.4 ("Tangible Personal Property");
- (d) All Intellectual Property owned by Seller or its Affiliates, including the Quincy Group, and used primarily in the Business (the "Purchased Intellectual Property"), including the Stations' call signs KVOA, WKOW, WREX, WSIL, KPOB, KWWL, WXOW, WQOW, WAO and WMOW and all copyrighted works and clips produced by or for the Stations or the Business but, for the avoidance of doubt, excluding any Intellectual Property used primarily in connection with any Other Seller Stations;
- (e) Subject to Section 5.6, all Contracts primarily related to the Business, including (i) all Contracts of the Stations to the extent such Contracts are for the sale or barter of broadcast time on the Stations for advertising or other purposes; (ii) all Contracts of Seller or its Affiliates, including the Quincy Group, to the extent such Contracts are for the purchase or lease, as applicable, of merchandise, supplies, equipment or other personal property, or for the receipt of services, in each case used primarily in the Business; (iii) all Contracts listed or described in Schedule 3.14, and (iv) any other Contract entered into by Seller or its Affiliates, including the Quincy Group, primarily for the Business that (A) is of the general nature described in Section 3.14, but which, by virtue of the threshold amounts or other specific terms set forth in such section, is not required to be listed in Schedule 3.14 or (B) is entered into after the date hereof and that primarily relates to the Business, which shall be entered into consistent with the provisions of Section 5.4 of this Agreement;
- (f) All accounts and notes receivable (whether current or noncurrent) outstanding at the Cutoff Time generated by the Business prior to the Closing;
- (g) All claims or causes of action of Seller or the Quincy Group, as applicable, against third parties solely to the extent that any such claims or causes of action arise out of the Purchased Assets or Assumed Liabilities, the Stations or the Business;

- (h) All management and other systems (including computers and peripheral equipment), databases, computer software, disks and similar assets owned by Seller or the Quincy Group, which are used primarily in the Business, and all licenses of Seller or the Quincy Group, to the extent relating thereto;
- (i) All prepaid expenses, credits, advance payments, security deposits, charges, sums and fees related to the Purchased Assets; and, including without limitation, prepayments by, or deposits received from, customers;
- (j) All personnel records relating to the Continuing Employees, to the extent the transfer thereof is not prohibited by applicable Law;
- (k) All attorney work product and privileged communications of the Business, other than the Deal Communications;
- (l) All available supplies, sales literature, promotional literature, customer, supplier, and distributor lists, art work, telephone and fax numbers, and purchasing records related to the Business;
- (m) All rights under or pursuant to all warranties, representations, indemnities and guarantees and similar rights against third parties to the extent related to the Purchased Assets;
- (n) All insurance benefits, including rights and proceeds, arising from or relating to the Business, the Purchased Assets or the Assumed Liabilities;
  - (o) All goodwill and going-concern value of the Business;
- (p) All Books and Records of Seller or the Quincy Group, to the extent primarily related to the Business, the Purchased Assets, the Assumed Liabilities or the employment of the Continuing Employees, but excluding any Books and Records relating to Excluded Assets or the Other Seller Stations (except for copies thereof to the extent such Books and Record relate to the Business, the Purchased Assets, the Assumed Liabilities or the employment of the Continuing Employees);
- (q) Subject to Section 6.1(c), Tax Returns (or the portions thereof) relating to Prorated Taxes;
  - (r) The Control Room Hub;
  - (s) The Purchased JV Interests; and
  - (t) The items designated in <u>Schedule 2.1(t)</u> as "Purchased Assets".
- Section 2.2 <u>Excluded Assets</u>. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Purchased Assets shall not include the following (herein referred to as the "<u>Excluded Assets</u>"):

- (a) Any cash or cash equivalents (including any marketable securities or certificates of deposit) of Seller or the Quincy Group, other than petty cash held at the Stations or as provided for in Section 2.1(i);
  - (b) All bank and other depository accounts of Seller or the Quincy Group;
- (c) All Tangible Personal Property of Seller or the Quincy Group, sold, transferred, retired or otherwise disposed of between the date of this Agreement and Closing in compliance with the terms of this Agreement;
- (d) All Station Agreements that are terminated or expire (and are not renewed or extended by Seller or the Quincy Group) prior to Closing;
- (e) All claims, rights and interests of Seller or the Quincy Group, in and to any refunds of Taxes relating to the Business, the Purchased Assets or the Assumed Liabilities for, or applicable to, taxable periods (or portions thereof) ending on or prior to the Closing Date;
- (f) Any rights, claims or causes of action of Seller or the Quincy Group, against third parties (including in respect of Taxes) relating to the assets, properties or operations of the Business prior to the Closing Date (including all amounts payable to Seller, if any, from the United States Copyright Office or such arbitration panels as may be appointed by the United States Copyright Office that relate to the Business prior to the Closing that have not been paid as of the Closing);
- (g) All bonds held, Contracts or policies of insurance and prepaid insurance with respect to such Contracts or policies, other than those set forth in Section 2.1(n);
- (h) Minute books, stock transfer books, records relating to formation or incorporation, Tax Returns and related documents and supporting work papers and any other records and returns relating to Taxes, assessments and similar governmental levies (other than Tax Returns (or the portions thereof) described in Section 2.1(q)) and any Books and Records that are not (i) exclusively related to the Business, the Purchased Assets, the Assumed Liabilities or the employment of the Continuing Employees or (ii) otherwise set forth in Section 2.1(p) or Section 2.1(q) (including the original versions of the Books and Records set forth in Section 2.1(p) and Section 2.1(q), as applicable);
- (i) Any rights under any non-transferable shrink-wrapped or click-wrapped licenses of computer software and any other non-transferable licenses of computer software;
- (j) All records prepared in connection with or relating to the sale or transfer of the Stations, including bids received from others and analyses relating to the Stations and the Purchased Assets;
- (k) All attorney work product and privileged communications to the extent relating to the negotiation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement ("<u>Deal</u> Communications");
  - (1) The items designated in <u>Schedule 2.2(1)</u> as "Excluded Assets";

- (m) The Retained Names and Marks;
- (n) All Intellectual Property of Seller and the Quincy Group (other than the Purchased Intellectual Property);
- (o) Except for the items designated in <u>Schedule 2.1(t)</u>, all real and personal, tangible and intangible assets of Seller and the Quincy Group, that are used or held for use primarily in the operation of the Other Seller Stations;
- (p) All Books and Records to the extent not (i) exclusively related to the Business, the Purchased Assets, the Assumed Liabilities or the employment of the Continuing Employees or (ii) otherwise set forth in Section 2.1(p) or Section 2.1(q) (including the original versions of the Books and Records set forth in Section 2.1(q));
- (q) Except for the Purchased JV Interests, all capital stock or other equity securities of Seller and the Quincy Group, and all other equity interests in any entity that are owned beneficially or of record by Seller, the Quincy Group or their Affiliates;
- (r) All of the employee benefit agreements, plans or arrangements sponsored or maintained by Seller, the Quincy Group and/or any of their respective Affiliates (including, without limitation, all Employee Plans) and any assets held in trust to fund the liabilities of any Employee Plan;
- (s) Any intercompany receivables of the Business from Seller or the Quincy Group; and
- (t) Any rights of or payment due to Seller or the Quincy Group, under or pursuant to this Agreement or the Ancillary Agreements.

# Section 2.3 Assumption of Liabilities.

- (a) Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, as of the Closing, Buyer (or Buyer Designee(s), as applicable) shall assume and shall thereafter be obligated for, and shall agree to pay, perform and discharge in accordance with their terms, the following Liabilities (whether imposed on Buyer or Seller), whether direct or indirect, known or unknown (except to the extent such Liabilities constitute Excluded Liabilities) (collectively, the "Assumed Liabilities"):
- (i) all Current Liabilities included in the calculation of the Closing Date Working Capital Amount or Closing Date Working Capital Deficit;
- (ii) the Liabilities arising with, or relating to, the operation of the Stations, including the owning or holding of the Purchased Assets, on and after the Closing (except to the extent that such Liabilities were required by the terms thereof to be discharged prior to the Closing and excluding, for clarity, all Employee Plans);
- (iii) all Liabilities relating to the Business or the Purchased Assets arising out of Environmental Laws after the Closing Date, whether or not presently existing, except

for Liabilities arising out of a breach of <u>Section 3.19</u> or that are disclosed on <u>Schedule 3.19</u> or required to be disclosed on <u>Schedule 3.19</u> but which are not so disclosed;

- (iv) subject to <u>Section 5.6</u>, all Liabilities under the Station Agreements and other Contracts included as Purchased Assets on or after Closing (except to the extent that such Liabilities were required by the terms thereof to be discharged prior to the Closing and excluding, for clarity, all Employee Plans);
- (v) (x) all Taxes imposed on or with respect to the Purchased Assets or the Business for any taxable period beginning after the Closing Date, (y) any Prorated Taxes for the portion of any Straddle Period beginning after the Closing Date (determined in accordance with Section 6.1) and (z) any Transfer Taxes that are the responsibility of Buyer pursuant to Section 6.1(e); and
- (vi) all Liabilities of Buyer or its Affiliates pursuant to <u>Section 6.2</u> hereof.
- (b) Notwithstanding the provisions of <u>Section 2.3(a)</u> or any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, Buyer (and the Buyer Designee(s), as applicable) shall not assume or be obligated for any of or become responsible for, and Seller and the Quincy Group, shall solely retain, pay, perform, defend and discharge all of the Liabilities of any and every kind whatsoever, direct or indirect, known or unknown, absolute or contingent, not expressly assumed by Buyer under <u>Section 2.3(a)</u> (herein referred to as "<u>Excluded Liabilities</u>") and, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in <u>Section 2.3(a)</u>, none of the following shall be "Assumed Liabilities" for purposes of this Agreement (and shall instead be Excluded Liabilities):
- (i) any and all Liabilities, whether arising before, on or after the Closing Date, relating to or arising out of the past, present, or future ownership or use of any of the Excluded Assets;
- (ii) (x) all Taxes (other than any Prorated Taxes or Transfer Taxes) of Seller or any of its Affiliates, including the Quincy Group, for any Tax period, including without limitation any liability of Seller or any of its Affiliates for the Taxes of any other Person under Treasury Regulations Section 1.1502-6 (or any similar provision of state, local or foreign Law), as a transferee or successor, or by Contract (other than any Contract that is a Purchased Asset), and (y) any Prorated Taxes for the portion of any Straddle Period ending on the Closing Date (determined in accordance with Section 6.1) and any Taxes otherwise imposed on or with respect to the Purchased Assets or the Business for any taxable period ending on or before the Closing Date, and (z) any Transfer Taxes that are the responsibility of Seller pursuant to Section 6.1(e);
  - (iii) all Seller Employee Liabilities;
- (iv) any intercompany payables of the Business owing to Seller or the Quincy Group;
- (v) any Liabilities of Seller or the Quincy Group, arising out of or relating to the operation of the Business or the Purchased Assets (or the operation of the JV) prior

to the Cut-off Time (other than Current Liabilities included in the calculation of the Closing Date Working Capital Amount or Closing Date Working Capital Deficit);

- (vi) any Liabilities for funded indebtedness, loans or credit facilities;
- (vii) any Liabilities arising or incurred in connection with the negotiation, preparation, investigation and performance of this Agreement, the Ancillary Documents and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, including, fees and expenses of counsel, accountants, consultants, advisers and others;
- (viii) except to the extent such Liability is an Assumed Liability under <u>Section 2.3(a)(iii)</u>, (x) all Liabilities relating to any contamination by Hazardous Materials at, from or under any Real Property prior to the Closing Date, and (y) all Liabilities arising from any noncompliance of the Business with any Environmental Law prior to the Closing Date;
- (ix) Liabilities that Seller has expressly has agreed to be responsible for pursuant to this Agreement;
- (x) Any cost and expense of or other Liability for remediation of any environmental condition that is identified in any environmental assessment (or the results thereof) in accordance with the Purchase Agreement that is not remediated prior to the Closing;
- (xi) Any Liability owed to any current, former or purported direct or indirect equityholder of the Quincy Group (in their capacity as such) related to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; and
- (xii) any Seller Liabilities under this Agreement or the Ancillary Agreements.
- Closing Date. Subject to any prior termination of this Agreement pursuant Section 2.4 to Section 10.1, the purchase and sale of the Purchased Assets provided for in Section 2.1 (the "Closing") shall be consummated at 10:00 A.M., central time, on the first of the month following the month in which the conditions set forth in Articles VII and VIII are satisfied or, if legally permissible, waived (other than those conditions that by their nature are to be satisfied (or validly waived) at the Closing, but subject to such satisfaction or waiver), at the offices of Cooley LLP, 1299 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W., Suite 700, Washington, DC 20004, unless such time or date is changed by mutual agreement of Seller and Buyer (the "Closing Date"); provided, that, if the Marketing Period has not ended on or before the date on which all of the conditions precedent set forth above have been satisfied or waived, the Closing shall not occur until the first of the month following the month in which the earlier of the following occurs: (x) a date during the Marketing Period specified by Buyer on three (3) Business Days' written notice to the Seller or (y) the third (3rd) Business Day immediately following the end of the Marketing Period; provided, further, that if the first of the month occurs on a date that is not a Business Day, such Closing Date shall be the following Business Day; provided, further, that, in such event, the Cutoff Time shall be deemed 12:01 a.m., central time on the first of such month.

- Section 2.5 <u>Purchase Price</u>. The purchase price for the Purchased Assets (the "<u>Purchase Price</u>") shall be determined in accordance with this <u>Section 2.5</u> and <u>Section 2.7</u> and shall be equal to:
  - (i) Three Hundred Eighty Million Dollars (\$380,000,000), plus
  - (ii) the Closing Date Working Capital Amount, or minus
  - (iii) the Closing Date Working Capital Deficit.

At least two (2) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, Seller shall deliver to Buyer a statement, setting forth, in reasonable detail, Seller's good faith estimate of (i) the Closing Date Working Capital Amount or the Closing Date Working Capital Deficit, as the case may be, and (ii) the Purchase Price (the "Estimated Purchase Price").

Section 2.6 Payment on Closing Date. On the Closing Date, (a) Buyer shall pay Seller an amount equal to the Estimated Purchase Price minus the amount of the Escrow Deposit (the "Closing Date Payment") by bank wire transfer of immediately available funds to such bank account or accounts designated by Seller for such purpose not less than two (2) Business Days before the Closing Date, and (b) Buyer and Seller shall jointly instruct the Escrow Agent to pay the Escrow Deposit to Seller by bank wire transfer of immediately available funds to such bank account or accounts designated by Seller for such purpose not less than two (2) Business Days before the Closing Date.

# Section 2.7 Determination of Closing Date Working Capital and Purchase Price.

- (a) Not later than thirty (30) days after the Closing Date, Buyer shall:
- (i) prepare, in accordance with the Agreed Accounting Principles, a balance sheet setting forth the Current Assets and Current Liabilities as of the Cutoff Time with respect to the Purchased Assets and the Assumed Liabilities (the "Preliminary Closing Date Balance Sheet");
- (ii) determine the Purchase Price in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement (such Purchase Price as determined by Buyer being called the "<u>Preliminary Purchase Price</u>"); and
- (iii) deliver to Seller a certificate executed by Buyer setting forth or attaching the Preliminary Closing Date Balance Sheet and Buyer's calculation of the Closing Date Working Capital Amount or the Closing Date Working Capital Deficit, as the case may be (the "Preliminary Closing Date Working Capital Calculation") derived therefrom and the Preliminary Purchase Price.
- (b) Seller shall have thirty (30) Business Days following receipt of the certificate referenced in Section 2.7(a) (the "Review Period") in which to review the Preliminary Closing Date Balance Sheet, the Preliminary Purchase Price and the Preliminary Closing Date Working Capital Calculation. In the event Seller does not object to the Preliminary Closing Date Balance Sheet, the Preliminary Purchase Price or the Preliminary Closing Date Working Capital

Calculation prior to expiration of the Review Period, the Preliminary Closing Date Balance Sheet, the Preliminary Purchase Price and the Preliminary Closing Date Working Capital Calculation shall become (i) the "Closing Date Balance Sheet," (ii) the "Purchase Price" and (iii) the "Closing Date Working Capital Amount" or the "Closing Date Working Capital Deficit," as the case may be, respectively, for all purposes of this Agreement, including for purposes of determining the adjustment payment (if any) specified in Section 2.12. In the event Seller objects to the Preliminary Closing Date Balance Sheet, the Preliminary Purchase Price or the Preliminary Closing Date Working Capital Calculation, Seller shall give written notice to Buyer specifying its objections in reasonable detail and the basis therefor prior to the expiration of the Review Period (the "Objection Notice"). During the fifteen (15) Business Day period following Buyer's receipt of the Objection Notice (the "Resolution Period"), Buyer and Seller shall attempt to resolve the differences specified in the Objection Notice, and any resolution by them (evidenced in writing) of such differences (the "Agreed Adjustments") shall be final, binding and conclusive. In the event Buyer and Seller resolve all disputed items set forth in the Objection Notice by the Agreed Adjustments, the Preliminary Closing Date Balance Sheet, the Preliminary Purchase Price and the Preliminary Closing Date Working Capital Calculation, in each case as adjusted by the Agreed Adjustments, shall become (x) the "Closing Date Balance Sheet," (y) the "Purchase Price" and (z) the "Closing Date Working Capital Amount" or the "Closing Date Working Capital Deficit," as the case may be, respectively, for all purposes of this Agreement, including for purposes of determining the adjustment payment (if any) specified in Section 2.12.

- If at the conclusion of the Resolution Period, any objections raised by Seller (c) remain unresolved, then the amounts so in dispute (the "Disputed Items") shall be submitted to PricewaterhouseCoopers or another firm of independent public accountants (the "Arbitrator") mutually selected by Seller and Buyer within ten (10) Business Days after the expiration of the Resolution Period. The Arbitrator shall determine and resolve, based solely on presentations by Buyer and Seller, and not by independent review, the proper calculation of the Disputed Items, consistent with GAAP. In resolving the Disputed Items, the Arbitrator's determination shall be no higher or lower than the respective amounts proposed by Buyer and Seller. The Arbitrator's determination shall be made within thirty (30) Business Days of its selection, shall be set forth in a written statement delivered to Buyer and Seller and shall be final, binding and conclusive on the parties hereto. The Preliminary Closing Date Balance Sheet, the Preliminary Purchase Price and the Preliminary Closing Date Working Capital Calculation shall be adjusted to reflect all Agreed Adjustments and the resolution of all Disputed Items by the Arbitrator and, as so adjusted, shall be (i) the "Closing Date Balance Sheet," (ii) the "Purchase Price" and (iii) the "Closing Date Working Capital Amount" or the "Closing Date Working Capital Deficit," as the case may be, respectively, for all purposes of this Agreement, including for purposes of determining the adjustment payment (if any) specified in Section 2.12.
- (d) The parties hereto shall maintain and make available to Buyer, Seller and, if applicable, the Arbitrator, such books, records and other information (including work papers) as any of the foregoing may reasonably request to prepare or review the Preliminary Closing Date Balance Sheet, the Preliminary Purchase Price and the Preliminary Closing Date Working Capital Calculation or any matters submitted to the Arbitrator; provided that any access provided to a party hereto or its Representatives pursuant to this Section 2.7(d) shall be (A) upon advance notice and during regular business hours and in compliance with and subject to such party's health, safety and security requirements (including relating to COVID-19 Pandemic), and (B) in a manner which

will not unreasonably interfere with the operation of the Business. The fees and expenses of the Arbitrator shall be paid proportionately by Buyer and Seller based on the determination of the Arbitrator of the unresolved objections submitted to it pursuant to Section 2.7(c). The calculation of such proportionate payments shall be based on the relative position of the determination of the Arbitrator in comparison to the positions submitted to it by Buyer and Seller pursuant to Section 2.7(c).

(e) The "Purchase Price" and the "Closing Date Working Capital Amount" or the "Closing Date Working Capital Deficit," as the case may be, and the determinations and calculations contained in each of them, shall be prepared and calculated in accordance with GAAP, except that such statements, calculations and determinations: (i) shall not include any purchase accounting or other adjustment arising out of the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and (ii) shall follow the Agreed Accounting Principles and the defined terms contained in this Agreement.

**Section 2.8** Escrow Deposit. By May 3, 2021, Buyer shall deposit (or cause to be deposited) a cash amount equal to Ten Million Dollars (\$10,000,000) (the "Escrow Deposit") with the Escrow Agent pursuant to the Escrow Agreement. At Closing, the Escrow Deposit shall be treated as an advance on the Purchase Price. Buyer and Seller shall jointly instruct the Escrow Agent in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the Escrow Agreement to disburse the Escrow Deposit and all interest and earnings thereon to the party entitled thereto, and neither party shall, by act or omission, delay or prevent any such disbursement.

# Section 2.9 Closing Date Deliveries.

- (a) At the Closing, Seller shall deliver or cause to be delivered to Buyer:
- (i) a bill of sale and assignment and assumption agreement from Seller and the applicable members of the Quincy Group in substantially the form of Exhibit B (the "Bill of Sale and Assignment and Assumption Agreement"), providing for the conveyance of all of the Purchased Assets (other than the Owned Real Property and the Seller FCC Authorizations) and the assumption of all of the Assumed Liabilities;
- (ii) an assignment of the Seller FCC Authorizations from the applicable members of the Quincy Group in substantially the form of <u>Exhibit C</u> (the "<u>Assignment of Seller FCC Authorizations</u>"), assigning to Buyer the Seller FCC Authorizations for which the FCC has granted the applicable FCC Application;
- (iii) (a) a transition services agreement for the provision of transition services by Seller and the applicable members of the Quincy Group in substantially the form of Exhibit D (the "Seller Transition Services Agreements") and (b) a transition services agreement for the provision of transition services by Buyer in substantially the form of Exhibit E (the "Reverse Transition Services Agreement", and together with the Seller Transition Services Agreement, the "Transition Services Agreements");
- (iv) special or limited warranty deeds (in the customary and recordable form for the jurisdiction in which the applicable Owned Real Property is located), duly executed and properly notarized, conveying to Buyer the Owned Real Property;

- (v) a trademark license agreement with respect to the license of certain Trademarks owned by Seller or the Quincy Group to Buyer in substantially the form of <u>Exhibit F</u> (the "<u>Trademark License Agreement</u>");
- (vi) all of the documents and instruments required to be delivered by Seller pursuant to <u>Article VIII</u>;
- (vii) specific assignment and assumption agreements duly executed by Seller and the applicable members of the Quincy Group relating to any agreements included as Purchased Assets that Buyer or Seller have determined to be reasonably necessary to assign such agreements to Buyer and for Buyer to assume the Assumed Liabilities thereunder;
- (viii) a properly completed and duly executed IRS Form W-9 of Seller; and
- (ix) such other documents and instruments as Buyer has determined to be reasonably necessary to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby, including without limitation, (i) owner's affidavits, gap indemnities such other affidavits, certificates and documents as the title company insuring Buyer's title may reasonably require and (ii) customary intellectual property transfer and recordation instruments.
  - (b) At the Closing, Buyer shall deliver to Seller:
    - (i) the Closing Date Payment;
    - (ii) the Bill of Sale and Assignment and Assumption Agreement;
    - (iii) the Transition Services Agreements;
    - (iv) the Trademark License Agreement;
- (v) all of the documents and instruments required to be delivered by Buyer pursuant to Article VII;
- (vi) specific assignment and assumption agreements duly executed by Buyer (or Buyer Designee(s), as applicable) relating to any agreements included as Purchased Assets that Buyer or Seller have determined to be reasonably necessary to assign such agreements to Buyer and for Buyer to assume the Assumed Liabilities thereunder; and
- (vii) such other documents and instruments as Seller has determined to be reasonably necessary to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby.

#### Section 2.10 Further Assurances.

(a) From time to time following the Closing, Seller shall execute and deliver, or cause its Affiliates, including the Quincy Group, to execute and deliver, to Buyer such other instruments of conveyance and transfer as Buyer may reasonably request or as may be otherwise necessary to effectively convey and transfer to, and vest in, Buyer (or Buyer Designee(s), as

applicable) and put Buyer (or Buyer Designee(s), as applicable) in possession of any part of the Purchased Assets.

- (b) Without limiting Section 5.3(e), to the extent that any Station Agreement or other agreement or contract included as a Purchased Asset cannot be assigned without consent and such consent is not obtained prior to the Closing, Seller shall, and shall cause its Affiliates and the Quincy Group to, use all commercially reasonable efforts to provide Buyer the benefits of any such agreement and if Seller or its Affiliates, including the Quincy Group, are able to do so, Buyer shall perform or discharge on behalf of Seller or the Quincy Group, the obligations and liabilities under such agreement that constitute Assumed Liabilities. In addition to Buyer's obligation pursuant to the foregoing sentence, as to any Station Agreement or other agreement or contract included as a Purchased Asset that is not effectively assigned to Buyer as of the Closing Date but is thereafter effectively assigned to Buyer, Buyer shall, from and after the effective date of such assignment, assume, and shall thereafter pay, perform and discharge as and when due, all Assumed Liabilities of Seller or the Quincy Group, arising under such agreement from and after the effective date of such assignment.
- (c) From time to time following the Closing, Buyer shall execute and deliver, or cause to be executed and delivered, to Seller such other undertakings and assumptions as Seller may reasonably request or as may be otherwise necessary to effectively evidence Buyer's assumption of and obligation to pay, perform and discharge the Assumed Liabilities.
- (d) Buyer may obtain, at its sole option and expense, ALTA extended owner's policies of title insurance for the Owned Real Property in form reasonably satisfactory to Buyer, and Seller shall take commercially reasonable actions as reasonably requested by Buyer to facilitate Buyer's procurement of such title insurance (including, if requested by Buyer, by providing access to the Owned Real Property for survey and/or inspection, by providing an owner's affidavit, a gap indemnity and other affidavits, certificates and documents as the title company may reasonably request).
- Section 2.11 Allocation of Purchase Price. No later than ninety (90) days after the Closing Date, Seller shall provide to Buyer a proposed allocation of the Purchase Price (and Assumed Liabilities to the extent properly taken into account for income Tax purposes) among the Purchased Assets in accordance with Section 1060 of the Code and the Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder (and any similar provisions of state, local, or non-U.S. Law, as appropriate) (the "Proposed Purchase Price Allocation"). Buyer shall provide Seller with any comments to the Proposed Purchase Price Allocation within thirty (30) days after the date of receipt by Buyer, and Buyer and Seller shall negotiate in good faith to finalize such allocation no later than sixty (60) days prior to the earliest due date (taking into account, for these purposes, any applicable extension of a due date) for the filing of a Tax Return to which such allocation is relevant (unless Buyer does not provide any comments within such thirty-day period, in which case the Proposed Purchase Price Allocation shall be deemed final). The Proposed Purchase Price Allocation, (a) as prepared by Seller if Buyer does not provide any comments within the required period, or (b) as adjusted pursuant to any agreement among Seller and Buyer (in any such case, the "Final Purchase Price Allocation"), shall be conclusive and binding upon the parties to the extent provided in this Section 2.11. Seller and Buyer agree to file all Tax Returns (including IRS Form 8594) in a manner consistent with the Final Purchase Price Allocation unless required by a

Governmental Body; provided, that, if Buyer provides comments on the draft allocation in accordance with this <u>Section 2.11</u> and Seller and Buyer are unable to mutually agree upon a Final Purchase Price Allocation then the Seller and Buyer shall have no further obligation under this <u>Section 2.11</u>, and each of Seller and Buyer shall make its own determination of such allocation for financial and tax reporting purposes, which determination, for the avoidance of doubt, shall not be binding on the other party. If the Purchase Price is adjusted pursuant to <u>Section 6.1(f)</u>, any Final Purchase Price Allocation shall be adjusted in a manner consistent with the procedures set forth in this Section 2.11.

- **Section 2.12** <u>Purchase Price Adjustment</u>. Promptly (but not later than five (5) Business Days) after the determination of the Purchase Price pursuant to <u>Section 2.7</u> that is final and binding as set forth herein:
- (a) if the Purchase Price as finally determined pursuant to <u>Section 2.7</u> exceeds the Estimated Purchase Price, Buyer shall pay to Seller, by wire transfer of immediately available funds to such bank accounts of Seller as Seller shall designate in writing to Buyer, the difference between the Purchase Price and the Estimated Purchase Price; or
- (b) if the Purchase Price as finally determined pursuant to <u>Section 2.7</u> is less than the Estimated Purchase Price, Seller shall pay to Buyer, by wire transfer of immediately available funds to such bank accounts of Buyer as Buyer shall designate in writing to Seller, the difference between the Purchase Price and the Estimated Purchase Price.
- Section 2.13 Withholding. Buyer, its Affiliates and the Escrow Agent shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from the consideration otherwise payable pursuant to this Agreement to Seller or any other Person such amounts as Buyer, its Affiliates and the Escrow Agent are required to deduct and withhold under the Code, or any Tax Law, with respect to the making of such payment. To the extent that amounts are so withheld and paid to the applicable Governmental Body in accordance with applicable Law, such withheld amounts shall be treated for all purposes of this Agreement as having been paid to the Person in respect of whom such deduction and withholding was made.

#### ARTICLE III

# REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLER

As an inducement to Buyer to enter into this Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby, Seller represents and warrants to Buyer, as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date, as follows:

**Section 3.1** Organization. Each of Seller and each member of the Quincy Group is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of its state of incorporation. Each of Seller and each member of the Quincy Group has the requisite organizational power and authority to operate the Stations as now operated by it, to use the Purchased Assets as now used by it and to carry on the Business as now conducted by it. Each member of the Quincy Group is licensed or qualified to do business under the laws of each jurisdiction in which the character of

its properties or the transaction of its business makes such licensure or qualification necessary, except where the failure to be so licensed or qualified would not have a Material Adverse Effect.

# Section 3.2 Authority of Seller and the Quincy Group.

- (a) Each of Seller and the members of the Quincy Group has the requisite organizational power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements to be executed and delivered by it pursuant hereto, to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder and to comply with the terms, conditions and provisions hereof and thereof.
- (b) The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements by each of Seller and the members of the Quincy Group (to the extent a party thereto) has been duly authorized and approved by all necessary organizational action on the part of Seller and the members of the Quincy Group and does not require any further authorization or consent on the part of Seller, its Affiliates or the Quincy Group. This Agreement is, and each other Ancillary Agreement when executed and delivered by Seller and the members of the Quincy Group (to the extent a party thereto) will be, a legal, valid and binding agreement of Seller and the members of the Quincy Group, enforceable in accordance with its respective terms, except in each case as such enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, moratorium, insolvency, reorganization or other similar Laws affecting or limiting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally and except as such enforceability is subject to general principles of equity (regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law).
- (c) Except for the FCC Consent and as set forth in <u>Schedule 3.2(c)</u>, none of the execution, delivery and performance by each of Seller and the members of the Quincy Group of this Agreement or the Ancillary Agreements (to the extent a party thereto), the consummation by Seller and the members of the Quincy Group of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby or the compliance by Seller and the members of the Quincy Group with or fulfillment by Seller and the members of the Quincy Group of the terms, conditions and provisions hereof or thereof will:
- (i) conflict with, result in a violation or breach of the terms, conditions or provisions of, or constitute a default, an event of default or an event which with the giving of notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute an event of default or give others rights of acceleration, amendment, termination or cancellation or a loss of rights under, or result in the creation or imposition of any Encumbrance upon any of the Purchased Assets under, (A) the certificate of incorporation, bylaws or other organizational documents of Seller, its Affiliates, or any member of the Quincy Group, (B) any Station Agreement, (C) any Governmental Permit, (D) any Order to which Seller or the Quincy Group is a party or any of the Purchased Assets is subject or by which Seller or the Quincy Group is bound, (E) any material indenture, note, mortgage, lease, guaranty or material agreement to which Seller or the Quincy Group is a party or (F) the Laws applicable to the Business, except, in the case of each of the foregoing clauses (B), (C), (D), (E) or (F), as would not, individually or in the aggregate, be reasonably likely to (i) prevent or materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or (ii) have a Material Adverse Effect; or

- (ii) require the approval, consent, authorization or act of, or the making by Seller, its Affiliates or the Quincy Group of any declaration, filing or registration with, any third Person or any Governmental Body, except for such of the foregoing as are necessary pursuant to the HSR Act, and except, in any case, as would not, individually or in the aggregate, be reasonably likely to (i) prevent or materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or (ii) have a Material Adverse Effect.
- Section 3.3 Financial Statements. Schedule 3.3 contains true and complete copies of (a) the unaudited balance sheets of each Station as of (i) except with respect to KVOA and WSIL/KPOB, December 31, 2018 and (ii) December 31, 2019, respectively, and the related statements of income for the fiscal years then ended (b) the unaudited balance sheet (the "Balance Sheets") of each Station as of December 31, 2020 (the "Balance Sheet Date") and the related statements of income for the fiscal year then ended (collectively, the "Financial Statements"). Except as set forth in Schedule 3.3 or in the accompanying notes, each of the Financial Statements (i) have been prepared in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis throughout the period involved, subject to the absence of footnotes and year-end adjustments and other adjustments necessary to reflect the stand alone financial operations of each Station for the periods indicated, (ii) are based on the books of account and other financial records of each Station and (iii) present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position and results of operations of each Station as of their respective dates and for the respective periods covered thereby.

# **Section 3.4** Operations Since Balance Sheet Date.

- (a) Except as set forth in <u>Schedule 3.4(a)</u>, from the Balance Sheet Date through the date of this Agreement, there has been no change, event, occurrence, or state of facts which, individually or in the aggregate, has had or would be reasonably likely to have had a Material Adverse Effect.
- (b) Except as set forth in <u>Schedule 3.4(b)</u>, from the Balance Sheet Date through the date of this Agreement, the Business has been conducted in all material respects in the ordinary course of the business consistent with past practice other than in connection with the Quincy Sale and the process relating to the sale of the Business.
- Section 3.5 No Undisclosed Liabilities. Except as set forth in Schedule 3.5, neither Seller nor the Quincy Group is subject, with respect to the Business, to any Liability (including unasserted claims), whether absolute, contingent, accrued or otherwise, that would be required to be disclosed on a balance sheet of each Station prepared in accordance with the Agreed Accounting Principles or the notes thereto, except for liabilities that are (a) reflected or reserved for on the Balance Sheets, (b) liabilities incurred in the ordinary course of business since the Balance Sheet Date, (c) liabilities to be performed in the ordinary course of business pursuant to the Station Agreements and other agreements included in the Purchased Assets, or (d) which, individually or in the aggregate, are not material.

#### Section 3.6 Taxes.

(a) Seller or the Quincy Group, as applicable, have filed or caused to be filed on a timely basis (including all extensions) all income Tax Returns and all material other Tax

Returns with respect to the Business and the Purchased Assets required to be filed by them, and all such Tax Returns are true, correct and complete in all material respects. All Taxes shown as due on any Tax Return filed by Seller or the Quincy Group, as applicable, have been timely paid, and Seller and the Quincy Group have no material liability for unpaid Taxes with respect to the Business and the Purchased Assets (whether or not shown on any Tax Return). Neither Seller nor the Quincy Group, as applicable, is currently the beneficiary of any extension of time within which to file any Tax Return relating to the Business or the Purchased Assets. No claim has ever been made in writing by an authority in a jurisdiction in which Seller or the Quincy Group, as applicable, does not file a Tax Return that a member of the Quincy Group is or may be subject to taxation, by or required to file a Tax Return in, that jurisdiction.

- (b) Seller or the Quincy Group, as applicable, is in compliance with the provisions of the Code relating to the withholding and payment of income and other material Taxes with respect to the Business and the Purchased Assets and has, within the time and in the manner prescribed by Law in all material respects, withheld from employee wages and paid over to the proper Governmental Body all required amounts with respect thereto.
- (c) There are no Encumbrances for Taxes on any of the Purchased Assets other than Permitted Encumbrances.
- (d) Neither the Quincy Group nor Seller, as applicable, has received written notice of, and to the Knowledge of Quincy (as defined in the Purchase Agreement) or the Knowledge of Seller, as applicable, there is not currently pending or threatened in writing, any audit, examination, investigation or Action by any Governmental Body of any material Tax Return or material Taxes relating to the Business or the Purchased Assets. Seller or the Quincy Group, as applicable, has not waived any statute of limitations in respect of material Taxes or agreed to any extension of time with respect to a material Tax assessment or deficiency with respect to the Business or the Purchased Assets.
- (e) The Financial Statements reflect all material liabilities for unpaid Taxes of the Quincy Group with respect to the Business and the Purchased Assets for taxable periods (or portions of periods) through the Balance Sheet Date to the extent required under GAAP. Since the Balance Sheet Date, neither Seller nor the Quincy Group, as applicable, has incurred any material liability for Taxes with respect to the Business and the Purchased Assets outside the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, except as contemplated in this Agreement or the Purchase Agreement.

#### Section 3.7 Condition and Sufficiency of Assets

- (a) Except as set forth in <u>Schedule 3.7(a)</u>, the material items of Tangible Personal Property included in the Purchased Assets are in good operating condition and repair, ordinary wear and tear excepted.
- (b) Except as set forth in <u>Schedule 3.7(b)</u>, the Purchased Assets, taken together with the assets and services to be provided pursuant to the Seller Transition Services Agreement, (i) constitute all of the material assets and rights of Seller, its Affiliates and the Quincy Group (x) that are used or held for use in the conduct of the Business as presently conducted and as conducted

in the twelve (12) months prior to the Closing and (y) that are sufficient to conduct the Business in substantially the manner as presently conducted by Seller, its Affiliates and the Quincy Group and as conducted in the twelve (12) months prior to the Closing, except for such assets and rights the absence of which would not reasonable be expected to materially impair the ability of Buyer to conduct the Business as presently conducted and as conducted in the twelve (12) months prior to the Closing.

# Section 3.8 Governmental Permits; FCC Matters.

- (a) As of the date of this Agreement, Seller or the Quincy Group holds or possesses all material registrations, licenses, permits, approvals and regulatory authorizations from a Governmental Body that are reasonably necessary to entitle it to own or lease, operate and use the assets of the Stations and to carry on and conduct the Business substantially as conducted immediately prior to the date of this Agreement (herein collectively called "Governmental Permits"). Schedule 3.8(a) sets forth a list of each of the Seller FCC Authorizations, held by Seller or the Quincy Group as of the date of this Agreement. The Seller FCC Authorizations constitute all material registrations, licenses, franchises, permits, approvals and regulatory authorizations issued by the FCC to Seller or the Quincy Group in respect of the Stations and held by Seller or the Quincy Group as of the date of this Agreement.
- Seller or the Quincy Group, as applicable, has fulfilled and performed in all (b) material respects its obligations under each of the Governmental Permits. Each of the Governmental Permits is valid, subsisting and in full force and effect and has not been revoked, suspended, canceled, rescinded or terminated. The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby shall not materially and adversely affect any Governmental Permit, or, except for the FCC Consent, require consent from, or notice to, any Governmental Body with respect to such Governmental Permit, other than any such approvals, permits or licenses that are ministerial in nature and are normally issued in due course upon application therefore without further action by the applicant. The Quincy Group is not in violation of any material term or provision or requirement of any Governmental Permit, and to the Knowledge of Seller, no Governmental Body has threatened in writing to revoke or suspend or commence Actions to revoke or suspend any such material Governmental Permit. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.8(b), to the Knowledge of Seller, no event has occurred or circumstance exists that would (with or without notice or lapse of time) (i) constitute or result directly or indirectly in a violation of, or a failure to comply with, any term or requirement of any Governmental Permit, or (ii) result directly or indirectly in the revocation, withdrawal, suspension, cancellation or termination of, or material adverse modification to, any Governmental Permit.
- (c) The Stations are being operated in all material respects in accordance with the Seller FCC Authorizations and in compliance in all material respects with the Communications Act and all other Laws applicable to the Stations. Except as disclosed in Schedule 3.8(c), there is not (i) pending, or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened, any material action or legal proceeding, other than Actions affecting broadcast television stations generally, by or before the FCC to revoke, suspend, cancel, rescind, terminate, materially adversely modify or refuse to renew in the ordinary course any Seller FCC Authorization (other than, in the case of modifications, proceedings to amend the FCC rules of general applicability), or (ii) issued or outstanding, by or before the FCC, any (A) order to show cause, (B) notice of violation, (C) notice of apparent liability

or (D) order of forfeiture, in each case, against any Station, Seller or the Quincy Group with respect to any Station that has resulted or would reasonably be expected to result in any action or legal proceeding described in the foregoing clause (i) with respect to such Seller FCC Authorizations. Neither Seller nor Quincy Group, nor any of their respective subsidiaries, nor any of the Stations, has entered into a tolling agreement or otherwise waived any statute of limitations relating to the Stations during which the FCC may assess any fine or forfeiture or take any other action or agreed to any extension of time with respect to any FCC investigation or proceeding as to which the statute of limitations time period so waived or tolled or the time period so extended remains open as of the date of this Agreement. The Seller FCC Authorizations have been issued by the FCC for full terms customarily issued by the FCC for each class of Station, and the Seller FCC Authorizations are not subject to any condition except for those conditions appearing on the face of the Seller FCC Authorizations and conditions applicable to broadcast licenses generally. Seller and the Quincy Group have (i) paid or caused to be paid all FCC regulatory fees due and payable by it in respect of the Stations, (ii) timely filed or caused to be filed all material registrations and reports required to have been filed by it with the FCC relating to the Seller FCC Authorizations (which registrations and reports were accurate in all material respects as of the time such registrations and reports were filed) and (iii) have completed or caused to be completed the construction of all facilities or changes contemplated by any of the Seller FCC Authorizations or construction permits issued to modify the Seller FCC Authorizations to the extent required to be completed as of the date hereof. This Section 3.8 does not relate to Governmental Permits for environmental, health and safety matters, which are the subject solely of Section 3.19.

# Section 3.9 Real Property; Real Property Leases.

- (a) Schedule 3.9(a) contains a true, complete and accurate list, by address, of all real property owned by Seller and the Quincy Group as of the date of this Agreement primarily for use in the Business (the "Owned Real Property"). Seller or the Quincy Group, as applicable, has, and immediately prior to Closing will have, good, marketable and valid fee simple title (free and clear of any Encumbrances other than Permitted Encumbrances) to the Owned Real Property. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.9(a), neither Seller nor the Quincy Group is obligated under, nor is a party to, any option, right of first refusal or other contractual right to purchase, acquire, sell, assign or dispose of any of the Owned Real Property or any portion thereof or interest therein. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.9(a), neither Seller nor the Quincy Group has leased or otherwise granted to any Person the right to use or occupy any of the Owned Real Property or any portion thereof.
- (b) <u>Schedule 3.9(b)</u> sets forth a true, complete and accurate list of each and every lease, sublease, license, use or occupancy agreement or similar contract or agreement under which Seller or the Quincy Group is a lessee or licensee of, or occupies or uses, primarily for use in the Business, any real property owned by any third Person (each such lease, contract or agreement, whether or not material, a "<u>Real Property Lease</u>," and the property leased under the Real Property Leases is referred to herein as the "<u>Leased Real Property</u>" and, together with the Owned Real Property, as the "<u>Real Property</u>") that is in effect as of the date of this Agreement. Seller or the Quincy Group, as applicable, has a good and valid leasehold interest in, sub-leasehold interest in, or other use or occupancy right with respect to, the Leased Real Property and, to the Knowledge of Seller, each Real Property Lease is in full force and effect. Seller has made available

to Buyer a true, correct and accurate copy of each Real Property Lease, including all amendments, modifications, supplements, waivers and side letters related thereto.

- (c) None of Seller or the Quincy Group, nor, to the Knowledge of Seller, any other party to any Real Property Lease has failed to perform its obligations under such Real Property Lease in any material respect. To the Knowledge of Seller, (i) no event has occurred which would constitute a breach or default (with or without notice or lapse of time or both) or permit termination, modification or acceleration under any Real Property Lease, and (ii) no party to a Real Property Lease has repudiated any material provision thereof.
- (d) Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 3.9(d)</u>, neither Seller nor the Quincy Group has subleased, licensed or otherwise granted any Person the right to use or occupy any portion of the Leased Real Property. The Owned Real Property and Leased Real Property constitute all real property used primarily in the present conduct of the Business.
- (e) The buildings, structures, fixtures and other improvements upon any Real Property, including all material components thereof, are in reasonable condition and repair in accordance with normal and customary industry practices (ordinary wear and tear excepted).
- (f) Seller or the Quincy Group, as applicable, has all certificates of occupancy and other material land use permits, approvals and entitlements from all applicable Governmental Bodies necessary for the current use and operation of the Real Property (collectively, the "Entitlements"). To the Knowledge of Seller, no material default or material violation (with or without notice or lapse of time or both) has occurred in the due observance of any Entitlement. All Entitlements are in full force and effect in all material respects.
- (g) Neither the whole nor any part of the Owned Real Property nor, to the Knowledge of Seller, the Leased Real Property is subject to any pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened suit for condemnation or other taking by any public authority or proceeding to impose any special assessment relating to any Real Property or any material portion thereof, which, in either such case, would reasonably be expected to curtail or interfere with the use of such property for the present conduct of the Business. Seller's or the Quincy Group's, as applicable, use and occupancy of the Real Property complies with all regulations, codes, ordinances and statutes of all applicable Governmental Bodies in all material respects.

#### Section 3.10 Intellectual Property.

- (a) <u>Schedule 3.10(a)</u> contains a list of all registered patents and patent applications (including provisional applications), registered trademarks, registered service marks, applications to register trademarks and service marks, registered and applications to register trade dress, intent-to-use trademark or service mark applications, other registrations or applications for trademarks and service marks or trade dress, copyright registrations and applications for registration, and Internet domain name registrations, in each case, that are included in the Purchased Intellectual Property. To the Knowledge of Seller, each material registration included in the Purchased Intellectual Property (i) is valid and enforceable and (ii) is subsisting.
- (b) Except as set forth in <u>Schedule 3.10(b)</u>, (i) the Business is not infringing, misappropriating or otherwise violating any Intellectual Property owned by any third party and,

- (ii) to the Knowledge of the Seller, the material Purchased Intellectual Property is not being infringed, misappropriated or otherwise violated with by any third party, in either case, in any material respect.
- (c) To the Knowledge of Seller, there are no Actions which are pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened regarding or disputing the infringement, misappropriation, ownership, registrability or enforceability, or use by Seller or the Quincy Group, of any Purchased Intellectual Property, other than the review of pending patent and trademark applications by applicable Governmental Bodies. There is no outstanding Order that restricts the validity, use, enforceability ownership of any Purchased Intellectual Property. In the past three (3) years, neither Seller nor the Quincy Group has received any written claim or notice asserting that the Business infringes, misappropriates, violates or otherwise conflicts with the Intellectual Property of any other Person or challenging the ownership, use, validity or enforceability of any material Purchased Intellectual Property.
- (d) There have been no breakdowns, continued substandard performance or other adverse events affecting the computer software, hardware, communications devices, networks or other information technology owned, leased or licensed by Seller or the Quincy Group in the conduct of the Business in the past twelve (12) months that have caused a material disruption or interruption outside of the ordinary course in the operation of the Business.
- Section 3.11 <u>Title to Assets</u>. Except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, be material to the Business, Seller and the Quincy Group have good and valid legal title or a valid and binding leasehold, license or similar interest in or to all Purchased Assets. All Purchased Assets are free and clear of all Encumbrances, except for Permitted Encumbrances.
- Section 3.12 <u>Employees</u>. <u>Schedule 3.12</u> contains: (a) a list of all full-time and part-time Employees of Seller and/or the Quincy Group as of the date of this Agreement whose employment relates primarily to the Business; and (b) the current rate of annual base salary provided by Seller or the Quincy Group, as applicable, to each such Employee as of the date hereof, along with such Employee's bonus opportunity, hire date, accrued vacation and paid time off balance, principal work location, employing entity, current leave status (*e.g.*, active, inactive, on leave, furloughed), status as being a Union Employee (and the applicable union for Union Employees), and status as being exempt or nonexempt from the overtime provisions of applicable wage and hour laws. The Employees comprise all of the employees of Seller, the Quincy Group and their respective Affiliates who perform material services specific to the Business, not including administrative functions, in the course of employment.

#### Section 3.13 Employee Relations.

(a) Except as disclosed on Schedule 3.13(a), neither Seller nor the Quincy Group is a party to any CBA in respect of the Stations or covering any Employee as of the date hereof, and no labor union, works council or other labor organization or representative body represents any Employee or, to the knowledge of Seller, is attempting or purporting to represent any Employee. With respect to the Employees, each of the Seller, the Quincy Group and their respective Affiliates is in compliance in all material respects with the terms and conditions of each CBA, as applicable.

- (b) Except as disclosed on <u>Schedule 3.13(b)</u>, as of the date of this Agreement, no unfair labor practice charge against Seller or the Quincy Group in respect of any Station is pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened before the National Labor Relations Board, any state labor relations board or any court or tribunal. As of the date of this Agreement, there is no (and during the past three (3) years there has not been any) strike, lock-out, organized slowdown or other material labor dispute pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened in respect of any Station.
- (c) Seller, the Quincy Group and their respective Affiliates are in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Laws, statutes, rules and regulations respecting employment and employment practices, terms and conditions of employment, wages and hours, discrimination in employment, wrongful discharge, classification, collective bargaining, fair labor standards, occupational health and safety, or any other labor and employment-related matters, in each case, with respect to the Employees. Without limiting the foregoing, each of Seller and the Quincy Group is in compliance in all material respects with the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986, as amended.
- (d) Each Service Provider engaged by Seller, the Quincy Group and/or any of their respective Affiliates primarily in relation to the Business who has been paid and classified as an independent contractor by Seller, the Quincy Group or such Affiliate has been correctly classified as an independent contractor.
- (e) During the ninety (90) days prior to the date of this Agreement, neither Seller, the Quincy Group nor any Affiliate thereof has engaged in or effectuated any "plant closing" or employee "mass layoff" (in each case, as defined in the WARN Act), or any similar action, giving rise to a notice obligation under the WARN Act or any similar state or local Law, statute, rule or regulation affecting any of the former Employees.
- (f) Since January 1, 2020, neither Seller, the Quincy Group nor any of their respective Affiliates has materially reduced the compensation or benefits of any Employee or otherwise reduced the working schedule of any Employee, in each case for any reason relating to the COVID-19 pandemic.
- Section 3.14 <u>Contracts</u>. Except as set forth in <u>Schedule 3.14</u>, as of the date of this Agreement, neither Seller nor the Quincy Group is party to or bound by:
- (a) any Contract for the purchase, sale, license or lease of material assets used or to be used primarily in the Business which it would reasonably be expected that the Business would make annual payments of \$100,000 or more during any twelve (12) month period or the remaining term of such Contract;
- (b) any programming Contract relating primarily to the Business under which it would reasonably be expected that the Business would make annual payments of \$100,000 or more during any twelve (12) month period or the remaining term of such Contract;
- (c) any retransmission consent Contract with any MVPDs with more than 5,000 paid subscribers with respect to any Station for November 2020 in such Station's Market with respect to such Station;

- (d) any Contract that is a "local marketing agreement" or time brokerage agreement, joint sales agreement, shared services agreement, management services agreement, local news sharing agreement or similar Contract primarily related to the Business;
- (e) any partnership, joint venture or other similar Contract related to the Business;
- (f) any affiliation Contract with a Big 5 national television network for any Station;
- (g) any Contract for capital expenditures with respect to the Business for an amount in excess of \$100,000 during any twelve (12) month period or the remaining term of such contract;
- (h) any Contract with any Service Provider providing annual aggregate compensation that may exceed \$250,000;
  - (i) any material Real Property Lease;
- (j) any CBA or other labor Contract under which the Business has any obligation or Liability;
- (k) any sales agency, advertising representative or advertising or public relations Contract with respect to the Business which (i) is not terminable without penalty on thirty (30) days' notice or less, and (ii) provides for payments in an amount in excess of \$100,000 during any twelve (12) month period;
- (l) except for such Contracts that shall not apply to the Business upon Closing, any contracts that relate to funded debt (excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, Contracts evidencing immaterial Liabilities with respect to deposits and accounts, trade payables, letters of credit or capital leases made in the ordinary course of business) and are related to the Business;
- (m) any Contract with a broker, consultant or other third party which provides for or relates to the payment of a commission or other compensation based on the amount of revenue received by any Station under any Contract described in clause Section 3.14(c) above;
- (n) any Contract granting or containing Encumbrances (other than Permitted Encumbrances) upon any Purchased Assets;
- (a) any Contract (i) containing covenants that limit or restrict the Business from (A) engaging in any business or (B) engaging in any line of business or competing with any Person, in any geographic area, or (ii) that materially limits the ability of the Business to own, operate or transfer the Purchased Assets;
- (p) any Contract with any Governmental Body relating to the Business, excluding advertising Contracts; or

- (q) any Contract (other than any Contract of the type described in clauses (a) through (u) above) (1) that relates to the Business that is not terminable by Seller or the Quincy Group without penalty on sixty (60) days' notice or less and which is reasonably expected to involve the payment by Seller or the Quincy Group after the date hereof of more than \$100,000 during any twelve (12) month period or the remaining term of such contract (2) reasonably deemed necessary to maintaining the ongoing operations and financial position of the Business; (3) otherwise considered by Seller or the Quincy Group to be material to the financial condition, profitability, results of operations, or business of the Business; and
- (r) any other Contract not made in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice that is material to the Business.
- Section 3.15 Status of Contracts. Except as set forth in Schedule 3.15 or as individually or in the aggregate, is not material to the Business, each of (a) the leases, contracts and other agreements required to be listed in Schedule 3.14 (collectively, the "Station Agreements") and (b) the Purchase Agreement constitutes a valid and binding obligation of Seller or the Quincy Group, as applicable, and, to the Knowledge of Seller, the other parties thereto and is in full force and effect (in each case, subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other similar laws relating to or affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally and except as such enforceability is subject to general principles of equity (regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law)). Each of Seller and the Quincy Group is not (and has not received any notice that it is) in breach of, or default under, any Station Agreement or the Purchase Agreement in any material respect and, (i) to the Knowledge of Seller, no other party to any Station Agreement or the Purchase Agreement is in material breach of, material default under, any Station Agreement or the Purchase Agreement and (ii) to the Knowledge of Seller, no event has occurred which would result in a material breach of, material default or event of noncompliance under, by any party under any Station Agreement or the Purchase Agreement (in each case, with or without notice or lapse of time or both). True, complete and accurate copies of each of the Station Agreements, together with all amendments thereto, have heretofore been made available to Buyer by Seller.

# Section 3.16 No Violation, Litigation or Regulatory Action. Except as set forth in Schedule 3.16:

- (a) Seller and the Quincy Group are in compliance in all material respects with all Laws and Orders which are applicable to the Purchased Assets, any Station or the Business;
- (b) since January 1, 2018 and through the date of this Agreement, neither Seller nor the Quincy Group has received any written notice or other written communication or, to the Knowledge of Seller, oral communications of material violation of or noncompliance with any applicable Laws or Orders which are applicable to the Purchased Assets, any Station or the Business and there are no material temporary restraining orders or other Orders handed down, adopted or imposed by, including any consent decree, settlement agreement or similar written agreement with any Governmental Body which are applicable to the Purchased Assets, the Assumed Liabilities, the Continuing Employees, any Station or the Business; and

- (c) as of the date of this Agreement, there are no Actions by or before any court or any Governmental Body which are pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened against Seller or the Quincy Group, in respect of the Purchased Assets, any Station or the Business other than matters arising in the ordinary course of business or that are not material to the Business.
- Section 3.17 <u>Insurance</u>. Seller, its Affiliates or the Quincy Group maintain, in respect of the Purchased Assets, the Assumed Liabilities, the Continuing Employees, the Stations and the Business, policies of fire and extended coverage and casualty, Liability and other forms of insurance in such amounts and against such risks and losses as are in the good-faith, reasonable judgment of Seller and the Quincy Group, as applicable, prudent for the Business. Seller has made available to Buyer copies of all of the material insurance policies or binders for which Seller is a policyholder in respect to insurance that covers the Purchased Assets, the Assumed Liabilities, the Continuing Employees, the Stations and the Business. Except as set forth in <u>Schedule 3.17</u>, with respect to the Business, there are no outstanding claims under any insurance policy other than claims arising in the ordinary course of business or that are not material to the Business. None of Seller, its Affiliates or the Quincy Group has received any written notice of cancellation, material change in premium or denial of renewal in respect of any of such insurance policies.

# Section 3.18 Employee Plans; ERISA.

- (a) Schedule 3.18(a) sets forth a list of each material Employee Plan in effect as of the date of this Agreement. A true and correct copy of (i) each Employee Plan (including any amendments thereto) and descriptions of all material terms of any such plan that is not in writing; (ii) the summary plan description (or other written summary of the material terms) of each such Employee Plan, as applicable; (iii) the most recent annual reports with accompanying schedules and attachments, filed with respect to each Employee Plan required to make such a filing; (iv) the most recently received determination letter, if any, issued by the Internal Revenue Service and each currently pending application for a determination letter with respect to any Employee Plan that is intended to qualify under Section 401(a) of the Code, and (v) the most recent actuarial or financial statements of such Employee Plan, if applicable, has in each case been made available to Buyer.
- (b) All Employee Plans are (and have been) maintained and operated in compliance in all material respects with their applicable terms and with the provisions of ERISA, the Code and other applicable Laws and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder to the extent that ERISA, the Code and other applicable Laws and such rules and regulations are intended to apply. None of Seller, the Quincy Group nor any ERISA Affiliate thereof has, with respect to any Service Provider, incurred any obligation or liability with respect to or under any employee benefit plan, program or arrangement (including any Employee Plan) which has created or will create any obligation with respect to, or has resulted in or will result in any liability to, Buyer or any of its Affiliates.
- (c) Each Employee Plan that is intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code has received a favorable determination letter from the Internal Revenue Service or is the subject of a favorable opinion letter from the Internal Revenue Service on the form of such Employee Plan and, to the Knowledge of Seller, there are no facts or circumstances that would be reasonably likely to adversely affect the qualified status of any such Employee Plan.

- (d) No Employee Plan is, and neither Seller, the Quincy Group nor any of their respective Affiliates (or their respective ERISA Affiliates) has, with respect to any Service Provider, sponsored, maintained, participated in, contributed to, or has been required to participate in or contribute to, or has any liability with respect to, a "multiemployer plan" (as defined in Section 3(37) of ERISA) or other pension plan subject to Title IV or Part 3 of Title I of ERISA or Section 412 of the Code. None of the Purchased Assets are, or could reasonably be expected to become, the subject of any lien under ERISA or the Code. No event has occurred and there does not now exist, nor does any condition or circumstances exist, in any case, with respect to any Purchased Asset that would reasonably be expected to result in any material liabilities of Buyer or its Affiliates following the Closing.
- (e) Seller, the Quincy Group and their respective Affiliates are each in compliance in all material respects with the requirements of the applicable health care continuation and notice provisions of COBRA and any similar state or local Law. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.18(e), none of Seller, the Quincy Group or any of their respective Affiliates has any obligation to provide (whether under an Employee Plan or otherwise) health, accident, disability, life or other welfare benefits to any current or former employee or such employee's beneficiary beyond the termination of employment, other than health continuation coverage pursuant to COBRA.
- (f) Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement, nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, either alone or in combination with another event (whether contingent or otherwise) will (i) entitle any current or former Service Provider to any payment or benefit; (ii) increase the amount of compensation or benefits due to any such Service Provider(s); or (iii) accelerate the vesting, funding or time of payment of any compensation, equity award or other benefit. Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement, nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, either alone or in combination with another event (whether contingent or otherwise) will result in any "parachute payment" under Section 280G of the Code (or any corresponding provision of state, local, or foreign Tax law).

#### Section 3.19 Environmental Protection.

# (a) Except as set forth in <u>Schedule 3.19(a)</u>:

- (i) The Business is in compliance in all material respects with all Environmental Laws. The Business is not the subject of any pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened action alleging material Liability of the Business under, or any failure of the Business to comply materially with, any Environmental Laws. Since January 1, 2018, Seller has not received any written notice of potential Liability under Environmental Law related to the Business's prior use of Owned Real Property or Leased Real Property and/or disposal or arrangement for disposal of a Hazardous Substance;
- (ii) Seller and the Quincy Group have, in respect of the Business, obtained all material Governmental Permits required under Environmental Law necessary for its operation, all such Governmental Permits are valid, subsisting and in full force and effect, and a list of all such permits is provided at Schedule 3.19(a)(ii). Seller and the Quincy Group are now

and always have been in compliance in all material respects with all terms and conditions of such Governmental Permits. No action needs to be taken prior to the Closing with respect to any such Governmental Permits in order for such Governmental Permits to remain valid and in full effect immediately following the Closing, other than any such approvals, permits or licenses that are ministerial in nature and that are normally issued in due course upon application therefore without further action by the applicant;

- (iii) As of the date of this Agreement, Seller and the Quincy Group, with respect to the Business, are not the subject of any pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened action, claim, order, complaint, decree, agreement, judgment, settlement, inquiry, investigation or notice of noncompliance or potential responsibility or other proceedings alleging or relating to any material failure of the Business to comply with, or material Liability of the Business under, any Environmental Law; and
- (iv) To the Knowledge of Seller, there has been no release, generation, storage, treatment, disposal or arrangement for disposal of, or exposure of any Person to, Hazardous Materials at, under, about or from any Real Property. Neither Seller nor the Quincy Group has received any written notice of potential Liability or responsibility to conduct any investigation, remediation, cleanup or other response action, or incur Losses, under Environmental Law with respect to the Business.
- (b) Seller has made available to Buyer true, complete and accurate copies of all environmental Governmental Permits, material sampling results, environmental or safety audits or inspections, Phase I or II environmental site assessments, or other material written reports or documents concerning the Business, in each case, which are in the possession or control of Seller or the Quincy Group.
- Section 3.20 MVPD Matters. Schedule 3.20 contains, as of the date hereof, a list of each Station's retransmission consent contract(s) existing as of the date hereof to which Seller, its Affiliates or the Quincy Group is a party with any MVPD that has more than 5,000 paid subscribers in such Station's Market for November 2020. To the Knowledge of Seller, Seller or Quincy Group has entered into retransmission consent contracts with respect to each MVPD that has more than 5,000 paid subscribers in each Station's Market as of November 2020. Seller or Quincy Group has entered into retransmission consent contracts with respect to each MVPD that has more than 5,000 paid subscribers in each Station's Market as of November 2020.
- Section 3.21 <u>Transactions with Affiliates</u>. Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 3.21</u>, neither Seller nor the Quincy Group is a party to any transaction or agreement with any Affiliate, stockholder, director or executive officer of the Seller or the Quincy Group or "associate" (as such term is defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act) of any of the foregoing with respect to the Business, and no such Person has any interest in any material Purchased Assets.
- Section 3.22 <u>Governmental Programs</u>. No agreements, loans, funding arrangements or assistance programs are outstanding in favor of Seller or the Quincy Group in connection with the Business from any Governmental Body. Neither Seller nor the Quincy Group applied for or received any loan provided pursuant to that certain SBA Paycheck Protection Program under the CARES Act in connection with the Business.

Section 3.23 No Finder. None of Seller, its Affiliates or the Quincy Group is obligated to pay any fee or commission to any broker, finder or intermediary for or on account of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement for which Buyer may become liable.

#### ARTICLE IV

#### REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BUYER

As an inducement to Seller to enter into this Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby, Buyer represents and warrants to Seller, as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date, as follows:

Section 4.1 <u>Organization</u>. Each of Buyer and Buyer Guarantor is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the state of its organization. Each of Buyer and Buyer Guarantor has the requisite organizational power and authority to own, lease and operate the properties and assets used in connection with its business as currently being conducted or to be acquired pursuant hereto.

# Section 4.2 Authority of Buyer.

- (a) Each of Buyer and Buyer Guarantor has the requisite organizational power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and all of the other agreements and instruments to be executed and delivered by Buyer or Buyer Guarantor, as applicable, pursuant hereto (collectively, the "Buyer Ancillary Agreements"), to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder and to comply with the terms, conditions and provisions hereof and thereof.
- Ancillary Agreements by each of Buyer and Buyer Guarantor have been duly authorized and approved by all necessary organizational action on the part of Buyer, Buyer Guarantor and their Affiliates and do not require any further authorization or consent on the part of Buyer, Buyer Guarantor or any of their Affiliates. This Agreement is, and each other Buyer Ancillary Agreement when executed and delivered by Buyer, Buyer Guarantor or any of their Affiliates and the other parties thereto will be, a legal, valid and binding agreement of Buyer, Buyer Guarantor or such Affiliates party thereto enforceable in accordance with its respective terms, except in each case as such enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, moratorium, insolvency, reorganization or other similar laws affecting or limiting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally and except as such enforceability is subject to general principles of equity (regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law).
- (c) Except for the FCC Consent and as set forth in <u>Schedule 4.2</u>, none of the execution, delivery and performance by Buyer or Buyer Guarantor of this Agreement, or by Buyer, Buyer Guarantor or any of their Affiliates, as applicable, of the Buyer Ancillary Agreements to which it is a party, the consummation by Buyer, Buyer Guarantor or their Affiliates, as applicable, of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby or compliance by Buyer, Buyer Guarantor or any of their Affiliates, as applicable, with or fulfillment by Buyer, Buyer Guarantor or their Affiliates, as applicable, of the terms, conditions and provisions hereof or thereof will:

- (i) conflict with, result in a violation or breach of the terms, conditions or provisions of, or constitute a default, an event of default or an event which with the giving of notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute an event of default or give others rights of acceleration, amendment, termination or cancellation or a loss of rights under, or result in the creation or imposition of any Encumbrance upon any assets of Buyer under, (A) the certificate of incorporation, bylaws or other organizational documents of Buyer or Buyer Guarantor, or (B) any material indenture, note, mortgage, lease, guaranty or material agreement, or any judgment, order, award or decree, to which Buyer, Buyer Guarantor or any of their Affiliates is a party; or
- (ii) require the approval, consent, authorization or act of, or the making by Buyer, Buyer Guarantor or any of their Affiliates of any declaration, filing or registration with, any third Person or any foreign, federal, state or local court, governmental or regulatory authority or body, except for such of the foregoing as are necessary pursuant to the HSR Act.
- Section 4.3 <u>Litigation</u>. None of Buyer, Buyer Guarantor or any of their Affiliates is a party to any action, suit or proceeding pending or, to the knowledge of Buyer, threatened which, if adversely determined, would reasonably be expected to restrict the ability of Buyer to consummate promptly the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. There is no order to which Buyer, Buyer Guarantor or any of their Affiliates is subject which would reasonably be expected to restrict the ability of Buyer or Buyer Guarantor to consummate promptly the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- **Section 4.4** No Finder. None of Buyer, Buyer Guarantor or any of their Affiliates, or any party acting on any of their behalf has paid or become obligated to pay any fee or commission to any broker, finder or intermediary for or on account of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- Section 4.5 Qualifications as FCC Licensee. Subject to obtaining the Satellite Waiver, Buyer is legally, financially and otherwise qualified to be the licensee of, and to acquire, own, operate and control, the Stations under the Communications Act, including the provisions relating to media ownership and attribution, foreign ownership and control, and character qualifications. There are no facts or circumstances that would, under the Communications Act or any other applicable Laws, disqualify Buyer as the assignee of the Seller FCC Authorizations with respect to the Stations or as the owner and operator of the Stations. There are no facts or circumstances that might reasonably be expected to: (i) materially delay the FCC's processing of the FCC Applications, or (ii) cause the FCC to impose a material condition or conditions on its granting of the FCC Consent. Except with respect to the Satellite Waiver, no waiver of or exemption from, whether temporary or permanent, any provision of the Communications Act, or any divestiture or other disposition by Buyer or any of their respective Affiliates of any asset or property, is necessary for the FCC Consent to be obtained under the Communications Act.

#### Section 4.6 Financial Capacity; Solvency.

(a) Buyer has delivered to the Seller complete and correct copies of (i) a fully executed commitment letter from Royal Bank of Canada (the "<u>Debt Commitment Letter</u>") and a fully executed fee letter in connection therewith (with only fee amounts, economic terms (including pricing flex), other sensitive numbers and syndication levels redacted) (the "<u>Debt Fee Letter</u>"), (ii) a fully

executed commitment letter from Boundary Creek Master Fund LP (the "BC Commitment Letter") and a fully executed fee letter in connection therewith (with only fee amounts, economic terms (including pricing flex) and other sensitive numbers redacted) (the "BC Fee Letter"), (iii) a fully executed commitment letter from NSE Poppy LLC (the "Ripple Commitment Letter") and a fully executed fee letter in connection therewith (with only fee amounts, economic terms (including pricing flex) and other sensitive numbers redacted) (the "Ripple Fee Letter"), (iv) a fully executed commitment letter from Triple8, LLC (the "Eldridge Commitment Letter") and a fully executed fee letter in connection therewith (with only fee amounts, economic terms (including pricing flex) and other sensitive numbers redacted) (the "Eldridge Fee Letter" and together with the BC Fee Letter, the Ripple Fee Letter and the Debt Fee Letter, the "Fee Letters"), (iv) a fully executed commitment letter from Byron Allen (the "BA Commitment Letter") and (v) a fully executed commitment letter from Allen Media Broadcasting Evansville, Inc. (the "AMBE Commitment Letter" and together with the BA Commitment Letter, the BC Commitment Letter, the Ripple Commitment Letter and the Eldridge Commitment Letter, collectively, the "Equity Commitment Letters", and together with the Debt Commitment Letter, collectively, the "Commitment Letters"), pursuant to which such Persons have committed, upon the terms and subject only to the conditions set forth therein, to provide the debt financing and equity financing, as applicable, in the amounts described therein in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. The financing contemplated pursuant to the Commitment Letters is hereinafter referred to as the "Financing."

As of the date hereof, each Commitment Letter is in full force and effect and is the valid (assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by the other parties thereto) and binding obligation of Buyer and, to the knowledge of Buyer, the other parties thereto, except as enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent transfer, reorganization, moratorium or other similar Laws relating to for affecting the rights of creditors generally and by equitable principles, including those limiting the availability of specific performance, injunctive relief and other equitable remedies and those providing for equitable defenses; and no event has occurred which, with or without notice, lapse of time or both, would constitute a material breach or default by Buyer thereunder. All commitment fees required to be paid under any Commitment Letter have been paid in full or, if not yet due, will be duly paid in full when due. The consummation of the Financing is subject to no conditions precedent other than those set forth in the Commitment Letters and the unredacted portions of the Fee Letters delivered to the Seller (or as set forth in any such documents as amended, or in documents replacing such documents, in each case after the date hereof and not in violation of the provisions hereof). Assuming the accuracy of the Seller's representations and warranties in this Agreement and the performance by the Seller of its obligations hereunder, the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Article VII and Article VIII and the completion of the Marketing Period, (i) as of the date of this Agreement, Buyer does not have reason to believe that any of the conditions to the Financing that are in Buyer's control will not be satisfied or the Financing will not be consummated as contemplated by the Commitment Letters and (ii) the aggregate proceeds of the Financing available on the Closing Date, together with cash on hand, will be sufficient if funded in accordance with the Commitment Letters to enable Buyer to pay or cause to be paid in cash all amounts required to be paid by it in cash at Closing in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Purchase Price and all payments, fees and expenses (each due and payable on the Closing Date) of Buyer related to or arising out of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (assuming that all rights to flex the terms of the Financing are exercised to their maximum extent).

(c) Buyer is Solvent as of the date of this Agreement and will, immediately after giving effect to all of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including payment of the Purchase Price and all other amounts required to be paid, borrowed or refinanced in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and all related fees and expenses, be Solvent at and after the Closing Date.

#### ARTICLE V

#### ACTIONS PRIOR TO THE CLOSING DATE

The respective parties hereto covenant and agree to the following covenants between the date hereof and the Closing Date:

# Section 5.1 Access to the Business.

- Upon the written request of Buyer, Seller shall use commercially reasonable (a) efforts to cause (including by enforcing its rights under the Purchase Agreement) the Quincy Group to afford to the Representatives of Buyer (including independent public accountants, attorneys and consultants) reasonable access during normal business hours under the supervision of Buyer's or its Affiliates' personnel in compliance with and subject to Buyer's or its Affiliates' health, safety and security requirements (including relating to COVID-19 Pandemic), and upon reasonable prior notice, to the offices, properties, employees and business and financial records of the Business to the extent reasonably necessary for Buyer's transition planning and shall furnish to Buyer or its Representatives such additional information concerning the Business as shall be reasonably requested to the extent reasonably necessary for Buyer's transition planning; provided, however, that Seller and the Quincy Group shall not be required to violate any obligation of confidentiality or other obligation under applicable Law to which Seller or the Quincy Group is subject in discharging their obligations pursuant to this Section 5.1. Buyer agrees that any such access shall be conducted in such a manner as not to interfere unreasonably with the operations of Business, the Quincy Group or Seller. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Seller shall not be required to (and shall not be required to cause the Quincy Group to) (i) take any action that would constitute a waiver of attorney-client or other privilege or would compromise the confidential information of Seller or the Quincy Group not related to the Business or (ii) supply Buyer with any information that, in the reasonable judgment of Seller or the Quincy Group, Seller or the Quincy Group, as applicable, is under a contractual or legal obligation not to supply. Any information disclosed to Buyer by Seller or the Quincy Group under this Section 5.1 shall be held in accordance with the Non-Disclosure Agreement, dated as of February 5, 2021 (the "Confidentiality Agreement"), by and among Seller, Quincy and Buyer.
- (b) Prior to Closing, Buyer shall have the right, at its sole cost and expense, to, within sixty (60) days from the date of this Agreement, engage an environmental consultant to conduct a Phase I Environmental Assessment and Compliance Review (the "Phase I Environmental Assessment") with respect to any and all Real Property, provided that any such Phase I Environmental Assessment shall be conducted only (i) during regular business hours, (ii) with no less than five (5) Business Days prior written notice to Seller, (iii) in a manner which will not unduly interfere with the operation of the Business or the use of access to or egress from the Real Property, (iv) with respect to Leased Real Property, if the owner has the right to deny access

for a Phase I Environmental Site Assessment, shall only be done if the owner of such property consents, provided that Seller shall use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain such consent as promptly as practicable, and (v) in a manner which will not involve any subsurface sampling. Any damage to the Real Property caused by Buyer and its consultants in conducting any such Phase I Environmental Assessment shall be repaired by Buyer at its sole cost and expense. Following the Phase I Environmental Assessment and prior to Closing, Buyer shall have the right, at its sole cost and expense, to order a Phase II environment assessment or any other test, investigation, or supplemental assessment recommended in the Phase I Environmental Assessment. In the event that either such Phase I or Phase II environmental assessment identifies any recognized environmental conditions or noncompliance, Seller shall, at Seller's sole cost and expense up to an amount not in excess of \$10,000,000 in the aggregate for all Owned Real Property, promptly cause such identified conditions to be remediated so that the Owned Real Property is in compliance with Environmental Laws.

# Section 5.2 Notification of Certain Matters.

- (a) Buyer or Buyer Guarantor, on the one hand, and Seller, on the other hand, shall promptly notify the other upon becoming aware of any material breach of any representation or warranty contained in this Agreement (including, in the case of Buyer or Buyer Guarantor, upon any of their Representatives becoming aware of such a breach as a result of the access to the Business permitted by Section 5.1), which breach would be reasonably likely to result in the failure of any condition to the Closing set forth in Article VII or Article VIII to be satisfied.
- (b) Each party shall promptly notify the other of any Action that shall be instituted or threatened against such party to restrain, prohibit or otherwise challenge the legality of any transaction contemplated by this Agreement. Seller shall promptly notify Buyer and Buyer Guarantor, and Buyer and Buyer Guarantor shall promptly notify Seller, of any Action that may be threatened, brought, asserted or commenced against the other that would have been listed in Schedule Section 3.16 or would be an exception to Section 4.3 if such Action had arisen prior to the date hereof.
- (c) Each party shall promptly notify the other party hereto and provide copies to the other party of (i) any materials and information such party is obligated to provide notice and copies of pursuant to Section 5.2(a) and Section 5.2(b); (ii) any other written notice that is material from any Person alleging that the approval or consent of such Person is or may be required in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; or (iii) the occurrence of any event which would or would be reasonably likely to (x) prevent or materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or (y) result in the failure of any condition to the Closing set forth in Article VII or Article VIII to be satisfied; provided, that the delivery of any notice pursuant to this Section 5.2(c) shall not (A) affect or be deemed to modify any representation, warranty, covenant, right, remedy, or condition to any obligation of any party or (B) update any section of the Disclosure Schedule.

# Section 5.3 FCC Consent; HSR Act Approval; Other Consents and Approvals.

(a) As promptly as practicable after the date hereof, but in any event no later than ten (10) Business Days hereafter, Buyer and its Affiliates, as applicable, shall file, and Seller

shall use reasonable best efforts (including by enforcing its rights under the Purchase Agreement) to cause the Quincy Group or its Affiliates to file, with the FCC the necessary applications requesting its consent to the Assignment of Seller FCC Authorizations to Buyer as contemplated by this Agreement (the "FCC Applications"). Seller shall, and shall use reasonable best efforts (including by enforcing its rights under the Purchase Agreement) to cause the Quincy Group and its Affiliates to, and Buyer shall, or shall cause its Affiliates to, cooperate in the preparation of such applications and shall diligently take, or cooperate in the taking of, all necessary, desirable and proper steps, provide any additional information required by the FCC and shall use reasonable best efforts to obtain promptly the FCC Consent; provided, however, that the parties hereto acknowledge and agree that Seller and the Quincy Group may take various actions related to obtaining necessary approvals for the Quincy Sale and to consummate the Quincy Sale, including amending the FCC Applications (which may affect the timing of FCC action with respect to the FCC Applications), but that would not otherwise adversely affect Buyer's interests in the transaction, and such actions shall not be deemed a violation of this obligation. Seller, on the one hand, and Buyer, on the other hand, shall bear the cost of FCC filing fees relating to the FCC Applications equally. Buyer and Seller shall (including, in the case of Seller, by using reasonable best efforts (including by enforcing its rights under the Purchase Agreement) to cause the Quincy Group to) oppose any petitions to deny or other objections filed with respect to the FCC Applications to the extent such petition or objection relates to any such party. Neither Seller nor Buyer shall, and each shall cause its Affiliates not to, take (and, in the case of Seller, shall use reasonable best efforts (including by enforcing its rights under the Purchase Agreement) to prevent the Quincy Group and its Affiliates from taking) any intentional action that would, or intentionally fail to take such action the failure of which to take would, reasonably be expected to have the effect of materially delaying the receipt of the FCC Consent; provided, however, that the parties hereto acknowledge and agree that Seller and the Quincy Group may take various actions related to obtaining necessary approvals for the Quincy Sale and to consummate the Quincy Sale, including amending the FCC Applications (which may affect the timing of FCC action with respect to the FCC Applications) but that would not otherwise adversely affect Buyer's interests in the transaction, and such actions shall not be deemed a violation of this obligation. The parties hereto agree that they will cooperate to amend the FCC Applications as may be necessary or required to reflect the consummation of the Quincy Sale or to otherwise obtain the timely grant of the FCC Consent. In the event that in order to obtain the FCC Consent in an expeditious manner it is necessary for Buyer or any of its Affiliates to enter into a customary assignment, assumption, tolling, or other similar arrangement with the FCC to resolve any complaints with the FCC relating to the Stations, Buyer shall enter, or cause its Affiliates, as applicable, to enter, into such a customary assignment, assumption, tolling or other arrangement with the FCC as may reasonably be necessary to facilitate the grant of the FCC Consent. If the Closing Date shall not have occurred for any reason within the original effective period of the FCC Consent, and neither party hereto shall have terminated this Agreement pursuant to Article X, Seller and Buyer shall jointly request extensions of the effective period of the FCC Consent until the Closing Date occurs or this Agreement is otherwise terminated; provided, however, no such extension of the FCC Consent shall limit the right of either party hereto to exercise such party's rights under Article X.

(b) As promptly as practicable after the date hereof, but in any event no later than ten (10) Business Days thereafter, to the extent required by applicable Laws, Seller and Buyer shall file (and, in the case of Seller, shall use reasonable best efforts (including by enforcing its rights under the Purchase Agreement) to cause the Quincy Group and its Affiliates to file), and

shall cause their respective Affiliates to file (if necessary), with the FTC and the Antitrust Division of the DOJ any notifications and other information required to be filed with such commission or department under the HSR Act, or any rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and shall request early termination of the waiting period thereunder (if available). Each of Seller and Buyer shall file (and, in the case of Seller, shall use reasonable best efforts (including by enforcing its rights under the Purchase Agreement) to cause the Quincy and its Affiliates to file), and shall cause their respective Affiliates to file, as promptly as practicable such additional information as may be requested to be filed by such commission or department. Seller and Buyer shall bear the cost of any filing fees payable under the HSR Act in connection with the notifications and information described in this Section 5.3(b) equally.

- Subject to the terms and conditions herein, Seller and Buyer shall use their (c) respective reasonable best efforts to consummate and make effective the transactions contemplated hereby and to cause the conditions set forth in Article VII and Article VIII to be satisfied as promptly as reasonably practicable after the date hereof, including (i) in the case of Buyer and Seller, the obtaining of all necessary consents, approvals, waivers and authorizations of, actions or nonactions by, and making of all required filings and submissions with, any Governmental Body or any third party required in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, (ii) cooperating with each other in (A) determining which filings are required to be made prior to the Closing with, and which consents, approvals, permits, notices or authorizations are required to be obtained prior to Closing from, Governmental Bodies or third parties in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement and related agreements, and consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby and (B) timely making all necessary filings and timely seeking all consents, approvals, permits, notices or authorizations, (iii) the defending of any lawsuits or other legal proceedings, whether judicial or administrative, challenging this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions performed or consummated by such party in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, including seeking to have any stay or temporary restraining order entered by any court or other Governmental Body vacated or reversed and (iv) taking, or causing to be taken (including, in the case of Seller, by using reasonable best efforts (including by enforcing its rights under the Purchase Agreement) to cause the Quincy Group to take or cause to be taken), all other actions and doing, or causing to be done, and cooperating with each other in order to do, all other things necessary or appropriate to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby as soon as practicable; provided, however, that the parties hereto acknowledge and agree that Seller and the Quincy Group may take various actions related to obtaining necessary approvals for the Quincy Sale and to consummate the Quincy Sale, including amending the FCC Applications (which may affect the matters referred to in clauses (ii), (iii) and (iv) above), and such actions shall not be deemed a violation of this obligation. Buyer agrees not to, and shall cause its Affiliates not to, take any action that would reasonably be expected to materially delay, materially impede or prevent receipt of the Governmental Consents.
- (d) In furtherance of and without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Buyer shall, and shall cause its Affiliates to, (i) use their respective reasonable best efforts to (x) obtain approval of the transactions by the DOJ or the FTC as required under the HSR Act (if necessary) and the DOJ Final Judgment, including using such reasonable best efforts prior to the filing of the DOJ Final Judgment in any court, and (y) take promptly any and all steps necessary to avoid or eliminate each and every impediment and obtain all consents under any Antitrust Laws or

communications or broadcast Laws that may be required by any U.S. federal, state or local antitrust or competition Governmental Body, or by the FCC or similar Governmental Body, in each case with competent jurisdiction or by the DOJ Final Judgment, so as to enable the parties to close the transactions contemplated by this Agreement as promptly as practicable, (ii) vigorously contest (including by means of litigation) (x) any actions, arbitrations, litigations, suits or other civil or criminal proceedings brought, or threatened to be brought, by any Governmental Body or any other Person seeking to enjoin, restrain, prevent, prohibit or make illegal the consummation of any of the transactions contemplated hereby or seeking damages or to impose any terms or conditions in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, and (y) any Order that enjoins, restrains, prevents, prohibits or makes illegal the consummation of any of the transactions contemplated hereby or imposes any damages, terms or conditions in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby and (iii) resolve any objections any Governmental Body may assert under any applicable Law with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and to obtain any clearance required under the HSR Act, any DOJ Final Judgment or broadcast Laws or any objection that any other third party relating to the obtaining of any consent, approval, waiver or authorization required from such third party in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement other approval, consent or authorization necessary under applicable Law for the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby (including agreeing to and making divestitures, entering into hold separate arrangements, terminating, assigning or modifying contracts (or portions thereof) or other business relationships, accepting restrictions on business operations and entering into of commitments and obligations). Further, and for the avoidance of doubt, Buyer shall, and shall cause its Affiliates to, take any and all actions necessary in order to ensure that (x) no requirement for any non-action, consent or approval of the FTC, the DOJ, any authority enforcing applicable Antitrust Laws or communications or broadcast Laws, any state attorney general or other Governmental Body, (y) no decree, judgment, injunction, temporary restraining order or any other order in any suit or proceeding, and (z) no other matter relating to any Antitrust Laws or any communications or broadcast Laws, would preclude consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement by the Termination Date; provided, however, that if the FTC or DOJ rejects Buyer as the acquirer of the Stations in writing, Seller may terminate this Agreement with immediate effect. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this Agreement shall require Buyer to undertake any of the foregoing obligations in this Section 5.3 to the extent such obligations would be reasonably likely to have an adverse effect on any asset, equity holdings, business or any portion of the foregoing, or any contractual or business relationship, in each case that is owned or operated by Buyer or any of its Affiliates, or that Buyer or any of its Affiliates is a party to, as of the date of this Agreement.

(e) Seller and Buyer shall, and shall cause their respective Affiliates to, (including, in the case of Seller, by using reasonable best efforts (including by enforcing its rights under the Purchase Agreement) to cause the Quincy Group to) use reasonable best efforts to obtain all consents and amendments from the parties to the Station Agreements that are required by the terms thereof or this Agreement for the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; provided, however, that neither Seller, Buyer, the Quincy Group nor any of their respective Affiliates shall have any obligation to offer or pay any consideration in order to obtain any such consents or amendments, including, with respect to Seller and the Quincy Group, any obligation to amend, modify or otherwise alter the terms of any contract or agreement with any such party that is not included in the Purchased Assets or, insofar as any Multi-Station Contract relates to Other Seller Stations, the terms thereof relating to Other Seller Stations; provided,

further, that the parties acknowledge and agree that such third party consents are not conditions to Closing, except for the certain third party consents applicable to the Stations and Station Contracts set forth on Schedule 5.3(e) (the "Required Consents").

(f) Buyer and Seller acknowledge that under the rules and policies of the FCC in effect as of the date of this Agreement, a waiver of the FCC's local television ownership rule is necessary to obtain the FCC Consent to Buyer's assumption of the FCC Licenses for WXOW(TV) and WQOW(TV)/WAOW(TV) and WMOW(TV) (the "Satellite Waiver"). Buyer shall pay all costs of third parties incurred in the preparation of the request for the Satellite Waiver. Seller shall (including by enforcing its rights under the Quincy Sale Agreement) cause the Quincy Group and its Affiliates to cooperate fully in the preparation of the request for the Satellite Waiver and shall promptly respond to requests from the FCC to provide information concerning the Satellite Waiver or the FCC Applications.

## Section 5.4 Operations of the Stations Prior to the Closing Date.

- Prior to the Closing Date, except as approved in writing in advance by Buyer (which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned), Seller (x) shall and, prior to the Quincy Sale Closing Date, shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause (including by enforcing its rights under the Purchase Agreement) the Quincy Group and its Affiliates to, and (y) following the Quincy Sale Closing Date shall, and shall cause its Affiliates, including the Quincy Group to, use commercially reasonable efforts to operate and carry on the Business in all material respects in the ordinary course of the Business consistent with past practice and in compliance with applicable Laws, and to the extent consistent therewith (i) continue to promote and conduct advertising on behalf of the Stations at levels substantially consistent with past practice, (ii) keep and maintain the Purchased Assets in good operating condition and repair (ordinary wear and tear excepted), (iii) preserve the goodwill of and commercial relationships with the suppliers, contractors, licensors, employees, customers, distributors and others having business relations with the Business, (iv) maintain the business organization of the Stations intact, (v) pay the debts, Taxes and other obligations of the Business in the ordinary course and subject to good faith disputes with respect to such debts, Taxes and obligations, and (vi) collect trade accounts and other receivable in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice.
- (b) Notwithstanding Section 5.4(a) and subject to Section 6.3 regarding control of the Stations, except (w) as expressly contemplated by this Agreement, (x) as set forth in Schedule 5.4(b), (y) as required by applicable Laws or by any Governmental Body of competent jurisdiction, or (z) with the prior written consent of Buyer (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned), Seller, (i) prior to the Quincy Sale Closing Date, shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Quincy Group and its Affiliates (including by enforcing Seller's rights under the Purchase Agreement) not to, and (ii) following the Quincy Sale Closing Date, shall not, and shall cause each of its Affiliates not to, in respect of the Purchased Assets, any Station or the Business:
- (i) other than in the ordinary course of the Business, enter into any Contract that would be binding on the Business after the Closing Date and that involves the payment or potential payment by the Business of more than \$100,000 per annum or cannot be

terminated without penalty at the discretion of Seller or the Quincy Group upon not more than thirty (30) calendar days' notice;

- (ii) make or authorize any new capital expenditures, other than capital expenditures to address exigent circumstances that do not exceed \$100,000 individually or \$250,000 in the aggregate; provided, that the foregoing shall not apply to capital expenditures necessary for emergency repairs, provided that Seller informs Buyer of such expenditures within five (5) Business Days;
- (iii) sell, lease (as lessor), transfer or otherwise dispose of or mortgage or pledge, or impose or suffer to be imposed any Encumbrance on, any of the material assets or properties relating to the Purchased Assets, other than (x) the sale, lease (as lessor), transfer or other disposal of property in the ordinary course of the Business or pursuant to existing Contracts not to exceed \$150,000 individually or \$500,000 in the aggregate, and (y) Permitted Encumbrances;
- (iv) fail to use all reasonable best efforts to maintain in full force and effect any of the material Seller FCC Authorizations;
- (v) (a) enter into any new, or materially modify the terms of any existing, Employment Agreement, offer letter, or consulting agreement with any Employee or other Service Provider whose annual aggregate compensation would exceed \$100,000 after giving effect to such action, (b) enter into, adopt, materially amend or terminate any Employee Plan applicable to the Employees; (c) hire or engage any Service Provider to engage in services primarily relating to the Business with an annual salary or wage rate or consulting fees (as applicable) in excess of \$100,000;
- (vi) increase or accelerate (or commit to increase or accelerate) the compensation or consulting fees (as applicable), bonus, pension, welfare, fringe or other benefits, severance or termination pay of any Service Provider of the Business, other than (a) increases in annual salary or wage rate in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice that do not exceed 3% individually or in the aggregate, and (b) in accordance with existing obligations to increase under employment agreements in effect as of the date hereof (which are set forth on Schedule 3.18(a));
- (vii) adopt, or institute any increase in, any profit sharing, bonus, incentive, deferred compensation, insurance, pension, retirement, medical, hospital, disability, welfare or other employee benefit plan, with respect to its employees, other than in the ordinary course of business or as required by any such plan's existing terms or requirement of Law;
- (viii) in respect of the Business, materially change any accounting period or change in any material respect its accounting methods (or underlying assumptions), principles or practices affecting its assets, Liabilities or business, in each case, in effect on the date hereof;
- (ix) (A) enter into or amend any CBA or recognize or certify any union, works council or other labor union organization as the bargaining representative, in all cases, covering or with respect to any Employee and (B) except as otherwise contemplated by Section 6.2 of this Agreement or to the extent directed by Buyer, layoff or terminate Employees in a

manner that could result in a material liability to the Business or, following the Closing, Buyer under the WARN Act;

- (x) make, change or revoke any Tax election, file any amended Tax Return, enter into any closing agreement, settle or compromise any Tax claim or assessment, or consent to any extension or waiver of the limitation period applicable to any claim or assessment with respect to Taxes, in each case, to the extent such action would adversely affect the Purchased Assets or the Business;
- (xi) amend or modify in any material respect, accelerate in any material respect or terminate any Station Agreement, other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;
- (xii) terminate or cancel any insurance coverage maintained by Seller with respect to any material assets without replacing such coverage with a comparable amount of insurance coverage other than in the ordinary course of business;
- (xiii) enter into any channel sharing agreement, interference acceptance agreement, or other agreement providing for (x) the use by any Person of any portion of any Station's spectrum, (y) any Station's use of any portion of broadcast spectrum licensed to any Person, and/or (z) any material restriction on, or modification of, a Station's license, technical operations, hours of operation, coverage area, and/or population served;
- (xiv) settle or compromise any material rights or claims, or any material litigation or arbitration to be transferred or that is transferrable to the Buyer as a Purchased Asset hereunder, unless the aggregate amount paid or payable in connection therewith does not exceed \$20,000 or is paid in full prior to the Closing; or
  - (xv) agree or commit to do any of the foregoing.
- Public Announcement. Neither Seller, Buyer nor any of their Affiliates Section 5.5 shall, (and Seller will use commercially reasonable efforts (including by enforcing its rights under the Purchase Agreement) to cause the Quincy Group not to) without the approval of the other, make any press release or other public announcement concerning the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, except as and to the extent that any such party shall be so obligated by Laws or by the rules, regulations or policies of any national securities exchange or association; provided, that if permitted by applicable Laws, the disclosing party provides copies of such disclosure or announcement (as applicable) to the other party prior to such disclosure or announcement. Buyer and Seller shall consult with each other and seek one another's prior written consent (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld delayed or conditioned) before issuing any press release, or otherwise making any public statements, with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby, and shall not issue any such press release or make any such public statement prior to such consultation and consent. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing contained or implied herein shall preclude any party from releasing any information in connection with enforcing its rights under this Agreement or the Ancillary Agreements or in connection with the preparation and filing such party's Tax Returns.

# Section 5.6 Multi-Station Contracts.

- (a) Except as agreed by the parties in writing, prior to the Closing, Buyer and Seller shall, and shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause their respective Affiliates and the Quincy Group to, cooperate in good faith and use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain any consents required in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby from any third parties pursuant to the terms of any Contracts transferred as a Purchased Asset and any Multi-Station Contract (defined below); provided, however, that such efforts shall not include any requirement that either party or any of its respective Affiliates commence, defend or participate in any litigation or offer or grant any accommodation (financial or otherwise) to any third party.
- (b) Schedule 5.6(b) contains a list as of the date hereof of all Station Agreements to which one or more television stations of Seller or the Quincy Group other than the Stations (each, an "Other Seller Station") is party to, or has rights or obligations thereunder (any such contract or agreement, a "Multi-Station Contract"). The rights and obligations under the Multi-Station Contracts that are assigned to and assumed by Buyer (and included in the Purchased Assets and Assumed Liabilities, as the case may be) shall include only those rights and obligations under such Multi-Station Contracts that are applicable to the Stations. The rights of each Other Seller Station with respect to such Contracts and the obligations of each Other Seller Station to such contract or agreement shall not be assigned to and assumed by Buyer (and shall be Excluded Assets and Excluded Liabilities, as applicable). Buyer and Seller shall, and shall each cause their Affiliates to, cooperate in good faith and use their commercially reasonable efforts to assign the rights and obligations of the Business to Buyer (or Buyer Designee(s), as applicable) prior to the Closing. For purposes of determining the scope of the rights and obligations of the Multi-Station Contracts, the rights and obligations under each Multi-Station Contract shall be equitably allocated among (1) the Stations, on the one hand, and (2) the Other Seller Stations, on the other hand, on a reasonable, good-faith and arms' length basis pursuant to a framework to be agreed mutually by Seller and Buyer.
- (c) Subject to any applicable third-party consents, such allocation and assignment with respect to any Multi-Station Contract shall be effectuated, upon agreement between Buyer and Seller, by termination of such Multi-Station Contract in its entirety with respect to the Stations and the execution of new contracts with respect to the Stations or by an assignment to and assumption by Buyer of the related rights and obligations under such Multi-Station Contract. The parties shall use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain any such new contracts or assignments to, and assumptions by, Buyer in accordance with this Section 5.6; provided, that completion of documentation of any such allocation under this Section 5.6 is not a condition to Closing other than with regards to those conditions described in Section 8.8 below.

#### Section 5.7 Financing Commitment.

(a) Buyer shall obtain the Financing on the terms and conditions set forth in the Commitment Letters (including, as necessary, any "flex" provisions of the Debt Fee Letter), including by (i) maintaining in effect the Commitment Letters and negotiate the definitive agreements (the "Financing Agreements") with respect to the Commitment Letters on the terms and conditions set forth in the Commitment Letters, (ii) complying with all covenants and agreements of Buyer set forth in the Commitment Letters and the Financing Agreements and (iii) assuming the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Article VII and Article VIII, the completion

of the Marketing Period and the satisfaction of the other conditions set forth in the Commitment Letters, consummating the Financing on the terms set forth in the Commitment Letters at the Closing; provided, that, Buyer may amend or amend and restate the Commitment Letters and/or the Fee Letters or enter into additional commitment documents with the Financing Sources under the Commitment Letters or replace any Commitment Letter with a commitment for Alternative Financing (as defined below) so long as such amendment, amendment and restatement or replacement does not reduce the amount of the Financing, add any conditionality to the terms and conditions of applicable to the Financing, or delay the obtaining of the FCC Consent; provided further that Buyer may terminate or amend any Commitment Letter and/or Fee Letter so long as it is able to meet the representation set forth in Section 4.6(b)(ii) after such termination and any such termination or amendment does not delay the obtaining of the FCC Consent.

- (b) Buyer shall keep Seller reasonably informed concerning material developments relating to the Financing and shall give Seller prompt notice of any material adverse change with respect to the Financing. Without limiting the foregoing, Buyer agrees to notify Seller promptly if at any time prior to the Closing Date (i) any Commitment Letter expires, is modified, or is terminated for any reason, (ii) any Financing Source refuses in writing to provide the portion of the Financing contemplated by the applicable Commitment Letter on the terms set forth therein or on terms permitted by this Section 5.7 with respect to an Alternative Financing or (iii) Buyer no longer believes in good faith that it will be able to obtain all or any portion of the Financing on or prior to the Termination Date on the terms and conditions of any Commitment Letter with respect to such Financing Source after giving effect to any applicable "flex" provisions of the Debt Fee Letter (other than as a result of the failure of the conditions set forth in Article VII and Article VIII to be satisfied or the Marketing Period to be completed); provided that in no event shall Buyer be required to disclose any information the disclosure of which in the reasonable good faith opinion of legal counsel to Buyer, is prohibited by applicable law or court order or that is subject to attorney-client or similar privilege if Buyer shall have used its commercially reasonable efforts to disclose such information in a way that would not waive such privilege.
- If all or any portion of the Financing becomes unavailable on the terms (c) (including any "market flex" terms) and conditions contemplated in any Commitment Letter or any Financing Agreement (other than a breach by Buyer of this Agreement which prevents or renders impracticable the consummation of the Financing) or Buyer and the Financing Sources determine that it is in Buyer's best interest to replace all or a portion of the Financing contemplated by any Commitment Letter with a commitment with respect to an alternative financing, Buyer shall arrange to promptly obtain such Financing from alternative sources on terms and conditions no less favorable in the aggregate to Seller than the terms and conditions in such Commitment Letter (including any "market flex" provisions in the Debt Fee Letters) and in an amount sufficient, when added to the portion of the Financing that is otherwise available, to pay in cash all amounts required to be paid by it in cash in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including all payments, fees and expenses of Buyer related to or arising out of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (an "Alternative Financing") and obtain one or more new financing commitment letters (each, an "Alternative Commitment Letter") and one or more new definitive agreements (each, an "Alternative Financing Agreement") providing therefor; provided that Buyer shall have no obligation to obtain an Alternative Commitment Letter or Alternative Financing to the extent its cash on hand is sufficient to make the representations set forth in Section 4.6(b)(ii). In the event that Alternative Financing is contemplated, the term

"Financing" as used in this Agreement shall be deemed to include any Alternative Financing, the term "Commitment Letters" as used in this Agreement shall be deemed to include any Alternative Commitment Letter, the term "Financing Agreements" as used in this Agreement shall be deemed to include any Alternative Financing Agreement, and the term "Financing Sources" as used in this Agreement shall be deemed to include the lending institution(s) under any Alternative Commitment Letter or Alternative Financing Agreement. Buyer will furnish correct and complete copies of any Alternative Commitment Letter or Alternative Financing Agreement to Seller promptly upon the execution thereof.

- (d) Prior to the Closing, Seller shall use its reasonable best efforts to provide to Buyer all timely cooperation reasonably requested by Buyer in causing the conditions and covenants related to any Financing to be satisfied and such cooperation as is otherwise reasonably requested by Buyer in connection with obtaining any Financing in accordance with its terms, including cooperation that consists of:
- (i) (A) furnishing (and using its reasonable best efforts to cause the Quincy Group to furnish) Buyer and any Financing Sources as promptly as practicable with the Required Information and (B) assisting (and using its reasonable best efforts to cause the Quincy Group to assist) Buyer in the preparation (i) by Buyer of customary rating agency presentations, lender presentations, bank offering memoranda, syndication memoranda, private offering memoranda, registration statement, prospectus and other marketing materials or memoranda, including pro forma financial statements and (ii) by Buyer's auditors of audited balance sheets and income statements for the Stations on a consolidated basis for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2020, in each case, in connection with any Financing, filing or other regulatory or other disclosure requirement of Buyer (the "Offering Materials");
- (ii) participating (and using its reasonable best efforts to cause the Quincy Group to participate) in a reasonable number of due diligence sessions and drafting sessions in connection with any Financing;
- (iii) executing and delivering authorization and representation letters (including representations with respect to material non-public information) to any Financing Sources authorizing the distribution of information to prospective lenders or investors;
- Group to facilitate) the execution and delivery on the Closing Date of any securities purchase agreement, credit agreement, indenture, note, guarantee, pledge and security document, supplemental indenture, currency or interest rate hedging arrangement, other definitive financing document, representation letter to auditors and other certificates or documents and back-up therefor and for legal opinions as may be reasonably requested by Buyer or any Financing Sources or their respective counsel (including consents of accountants for use of their reports in any materials relating to any Financing or any filings by Buyer with the SEC) and otherwise reasonably facilitating the pledging of collateral; provided neither Seller nor the Quincy Group nor their respective officers and employees shall be required to execute any document in connection with this Section 5.7(d)(iv) that would be effective at any time before the time immediately prior to the Closing or that is not conditioned upon the occurrence of the Closing (other than any representation

letters to auditors, which shall be delivered prior to the pricing of any bonds or securities being offered in any Financing);

- (v) cooperating (and using its reasonable best efforts to cause the Quincy Group to cooperate) with Buyer and Buyer's efforts to obtain customary and reasonable corporate and facilities ratings, consents, legal opinions, surveys and title insurance (including providing reasonable access to Buyer and its Representatives to all Real Property) as reasonably requested by any Financing Sources;
- (vi) obtaining (and using its reasonable best efforts to cause the Quincy Group to obtain) customary payoff letters, Lien terminations and instruments of discharge to be delivered at Closing to allow for the payoff, discharge and termination in full on the Closing Date of all Indebtedness;
- (vii) at least three (3) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, furnishing (and using its reasonable best efforts to cause the Quincy Group to furnish) Buyer and any Financing Sources promptly with all documentation and other information that any Financing Source has reasonably requested at least ten (10) Business Days prior to the Closing Date and that such Financing Source has determined is required by regulatory authorities in connection with any Financing under applicable "know your customer" and anti-money laundering rules and regulations, including without limitation the PATRIOT Act;
- (viii) furnishing (and using its reasonable best efforts to cause the Quincy Group to furnish) Buyer and any Financing Sources as promptly as practicable within the periods specified in Section 5.7(d)(i) above, with information regarding the Purchased Assets, including customary "comfort" (including "negative assurance" comfort), together with drafts of customary comfort letters that such independent accountants are prepared to deliver (and causing such independent accountants to deliver) upon "pricing" of any bonds being issued in lieu of any portion of any Financing, with respect to the financial information to be included in such Offering Materials; and
- the Quincy Group to cooperate) with the marketing efforts of Buyer and its Financing Sources for any Financing as necessary or reasonably requested by Buyer or its Financing Sources, including, without limitation, by exercise of its rights under Section 5.5 of the Purchase Agreement; provided that (w) nothing in this Section 5.7(c) shall require such cooperation to the extent it would require Seller to waive or amend any terms of this Agreement or agree to pay any fees or reimburse any expenses prior to the Closing for which it has not received prior reimbursement by or on behalf of Buyer (except to the extent Buyer has provided the indemnities set forth in Section 5.7(e)), (x) nothing herein shall require such cooperation from Seller to the extent it would unreasonably interfere with the ongoing operations of Seller or the Quincy Group, and (y) neither Seller, nor any of Seller's Representatives, shall have any liability or obligation under any certificate, agreement, arrangement, document or instrument relating to any Financing that is not contingent upon the Closing (including the entry into any agreement) or that would be effective prior to the Closing (other than customary authorization and representation letters described above).

- (e) Buyer shall indemnify and hold harmless Seller, its Affiliates and their respective Representatives from and against any and all losses suffered or incurred by them in connection with the arrangement of any Financing (including any action taken in accordance with this Section 5.7) and any information utilized in connection therewith, other than to the extent any of the foregoing arises from (i) the Fraud, willful misconduct, gross negligence or material breach of its obligations by any of Seller or the Quincy Group or their respective Affiliates or Representatives or (ii) any incorrect information provided by any of Seller or the Quincy Group or their respective Affiliates or Representatives. Buyer shall, promptly upon request by Seller, reimburse Seller, as applicable, for all of its and its Affiliates' documented reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred by Seller or its Affiliates in connection with this Section 5.7. Buyer's indemnification obligation pursuant to this Section 5.7(e) shall be on a dollar-for-dollar basis and shall not be subject to any limitation of liability set forth in this Agreement.
- (f) Seller shall cause the Quincy Group to consent to the use of the Quincy Group's logos in connection with any Financing; provided that such logos are used solely in a manner that is not intended to or reasonably likely to harm or disparage the Quincy Group or the reputation or goodwill of the Quincy Group.
- Exclusivity. From the date of this Agreement until the earlier of the Closing Section 5.8 or termination of this Agreement in accordance with Article X, Seller shall not, and shall not permit its Affiliates (or its or their Affiliates' Representatives to) directly or indirectly, and shall cause the Ouincy Group not to (including by enforcing its rights under the Purchase Agreement): (a) solicit, initiate or encourage the submission of any proposal from any Person relating to the acquisition of the Purchased Assets, Assumed Liabilities and Continuing Employees or any similar transaction or any alternative to the transaction contemplated hereby; (b) enter into or consummate any transaction relating to, the acquisition of the Purchased Assets, Assumed Liabilities and Continuing Employees or any similar transaction or any alternative to the transaction contemplated hereby; or (c) participate in any discussions regarding, furnish any information with respect to, assist or participate in, or facilitate in any other manner, any attempt by any Person to do any of the foregoing; provided, that the foregoing clauses (a) and (c) (and the foregoing clause (b), but only to the extent that any purchase agreement entered into is expressly subject to and not consummated prior to the termination of this Agreement in accordance with Article X) shall not apply after such time that a reasonable person under similar circumstances would determine that it is more likely than not that: (i) the FCC Consent or any approval of the transaction that may be required under any communications or broadcast Laws by the FCC or similar Governmental Body; or (ii) any approval by the DOJ (or the FTC) as required under the HSR Act (if necessary), the DOJ Final Judgment, or any other consents under any Antitrust Laws or any U.S. federal, state or local antitrust or competition Governmental Body, in each case with competent jurisdiction, will not be obtained. Seller will promptly notify Buyer if any Person makes any proposal, offer, inquiry or contact with respect to any of the foregoing.
- Section 5.9 <u>Purchase Agreement Covenants</u>. From the date of this Agreement until the earlier of the Quincy Sale Closing Date or termination of this Agreement in accordance with <u>Article X</u>, Seller shall use commercially reasonable efforts not, and shall use commercially reasonable efforts not to permit any of its Affiliates, to take any action in connection with the Purchase Agreement, including amending, waiving or modifying any provision thereof or granting any consent thereunder, that would materially and adversely affect (i) Buyer, the Business, the

Stations, the Purchased Assets or Assumed Liabilities, without the prior written consent of Buyer or (ii) the Financing Sources, without the prior written consent of the Financing Sources.

Section 5.10 <u>Monthly Statements</u>. As soon as reasonably practicable after they become available, but in no event more than twenty-one (21) Business Days after the end of each calendar month ending after the date of this Agreement, Seller shall furnish to Buyer (i) final monthly general ledger reports for each Station and (ii) entity-only financial statements (including balance sheets and statements of operations) for each Station of and for such month then-ended, in each case prepared on the same basis as and in a manner consistent with the Company Financial Statements (collectively, the "Monthly Statements").

Seller shall not, directly or indirectly through another Person, (including the Quincy Group) encourage, induce, solicit or attempt to encourage, induce or solicit any employee of Buyer or any of its Affiliates that Seller is aware is employed by Buyer or any of its Affiliates to leave the employ of Buyer or any of its Affiliates; provided, however, that this provision shall not preclude Seller from engaging in public advertising or placing general solicitations not specifically directed at any of the employees of Buyer or Buyer's Affiliates or using search firms so long as such firms are not advised to solicit any of the employees of Buyer or Buyer's Affiliates and, in each case, engaging in discussions with or hiring any such employee of Buyer or Buyer's Affiliates responding thereto.

#### ARTICLE VI

#### ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS

## Section 6.1 Taxes.

- (a) The party legally obligated to file any Tax Return for Prorated Taxes shall prepare and timely file such Tax Return and timely pay to the applicable Governmental Body any Taxes due with respect to such Tax Return. Upon receipt of any bill for Prorated Taxes, Buyer or Seller, as applicable, shall present a statement to the other setting forth the amount of reimbursement to which each is entitled under Section 6.1(b) together with such supporting evidence as is reasonably necessary to calculate the proration amount. The proration amount shall be paid by the party owing it to the other within ten (10) days after delivery of such statement. In the event that Buyer or Seller makes any payment for which it is entitled to reimbursement under Section 6.1(b), the applicable party shall make such reimbursement promptly but in no event later than ten (10) days after the presentation of a statement setting forth the amount of reimbursement to which the presenting party is entitled along with such supporting evidence as is reasonably necessary to calculate the amount of reimbursement.
- (b) In the case of any Prorated Taxes for any Straddle Period, the portion of such Prorated Taxes that are allocable to the portion of such Straddle Period ending on the Closing Date and that constitute an Excluded Liability shall be deemed to equal the amount of such Taxes for the entire Straddle Period multiplied by a fraction the numerator of which is the number of calendar days in the portion of the Straddle Period ending on the Closing Date and the denominator of which is the number of calendar days in the entire Straddle Period, and the remaining portion

of such Prorated Taxes shall be allocable to the portion of such Straddle Period beginning after the Closing Date and shall constitute an Assumed Liability.

- Seller and Buyer shall (i) provide assistance to each other party as reasonably requested in writing in preparing and filing Tax Returns, the making of any election relating to Taxes, the preparation for any audit by any Governmental Body and the prosecution or defense of any claim, suit or proceeding relating to any Tax; (ii) make available to each other party as reasonably requested in writing all information, records, documents and Tax Returns to the extent relating solely to Taxes concerning the Business or the Purchased Assets for any Pre-Closing Tax Period or Straddle Period; (iii) retain any Books and Records that could reasonably be expected to be necessary or useful in connection with any preparation by any other party of any Tax Return, or for any audit, examination or other proceeding relating to Taxes, with respect to the Business or the Purchased Assets for any Pre-Closing Tax Period or Straddle Period, for a period of at least six (6) years following the Closing Date; and (iv) cooperate fully, as and to the extent reasonably requested by any other party in writing in connection with audit, examination or other proceeding with respect to Taxes relating to the Business or the Purchased Assets, which shall be governed by Section 9.4, except to the extent of any inconsistency with this Section 6.1(c) or Section 6.1(d); provided, that, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, Seller and its Affiliates shall not be required to provide any consolidated, combined or unitary income Tax Return filed by Seller, its Affiliates or the Quincy Group.
- (d) Seller shall promptly notify Buyer in writing upon receipt by Seller of notice of any pending or threatened Tax audits or assessments relating to the income, properties or operations of Seller that reasonably may be expected to relate to or give rise to a Encumbrance on the Purchased Assets or the Business. Each of Buyer and Seller shall promptly notify the other in writing upon receipt of notice of any pending or threatened Tax audit or assessment (i) challenging the Final Purchase Price Allocation or (ii) that may reasonably be expected to result in an indemnity claim under Article IX.
- (e) Buyer and Seller shall each pay fifty percent (50%) of any Transfer Taxes. Seller and Buyer shall reasonably cooperate in the preparation, execution and filing of all Tax Returns, questionnaires, applications or other documents regarding any such Transfer Taxes.
- (f) Any payments pursuant to <u>Section 2.12</u> or <u>Article IX</u> shall be treated as an adjustment to the Purchase Price for all applicable Tax purposes, unless otherwise required by applicable Law.

#### Section 6.2 Employees; Employee Benefit Plans.

(a) Buyer shall (or shall cause one of its Affiliates to) extend an offer of employment to all of the Employees, including any Employee who is absent due to any approved leave of absence (it being understood that any such leave employees shall only commence employment with Buyer or its Affiliate upon his or her return from such leave). Each Employee who accepts such an offer of employment shall be referred to as a "Continuing Employee". Buyer will employ each Continuing Employee for at least sixty (60) days following the Closing Date, except in the event of such Continuing Employee's death, disability (consistent with applicable Law), retirement, termination for "cause", or voluntary termination (such period, the

"Continuation Period"). Buyer shall (or shall cause an Affiliate of Buyer that will employ the Continuing Employee to) provide to each Continuing Employee who continues to be employed by Buyer or by an Affiliate of Buyer as of the Closing Date during the Continuation Period: (i) a base salary or hourly wage rate, as applicable, and target annual cash incentive compensation as in effect that is the same or greater than the base salary or hourly wage rate and target annual cash incentive compensation provided by Seller or its Affiliate to such Employee immediately prior to the Closing and (ii) health and retirement benefits, including those pursuant to qualified retirement and savings plans (excluding any defined benefit pension benefits, equity or other incentive compensation, and any severance or termination benefits, if applicable) that are at least as favorable, in the aggregate, as those provided to similarly situated employees of Buyer and its Affiliates. For the purposes hereof, the "Employment Commencement Date" as referred to herein shall mean the Closing Date or such later date on which the Continuing Employee begins employment with Buyer or any of its Affiliates for any employees absent due to approved leave of absence as of the Closing Date (as applicable). Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything herein to the contrary, any offer of employment made to any Union Employee shall be made on terms and conditions consistent with the applicable CBA without regard to the foregoing.

- (b) Prior to the Closing Date, each of Seller and the Quincy Group shall pay in full to its Service Providers, and neither Buyer nor any of its Affiliates shall have any responsibility for, any and all compensation and benefits, including, without limitation, base salary, wages, bonuses, commissions and other forms of incentive compensation, accrued vacation and other paid-time-off (if any) and other employee benefits in each case, that have been earned or accrued, as applicable, through the Closing Date. By action taken prior to the Closing, Seller shall (or shall cause the Quincy Group to) take all actions necessary or appropriate to cause all Continuing Employees to cease any active participation in, and any benefit accrual under, all Employee Plans.
- (c) Buyer, Seller and the Quincy Group each intend that the Continuing Employees shall have continuous and uninterrupted employment immediately before and immediately after the Closing and for a period of at least sixty (60) days. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, Buyer shall not have any responsibility for, and Seller shall retain and hold Buyer harmless and indemnify Buyer with respect to, any and all liabilities (including statutory or contractual severance benefits) arising as a result of the actual or constructive termination of an Employee's employment by Seller and/or the Quincy Group, except to the extent any such termination is directed by Buyer or Buyer fails to comply with its obligation under Section 6.2(a), as a result of the transactions contemplated hereby, including, without limiting the foregoing, any obligations or liability under the WARN Act or any similar state, local or foreign Law (but excluding, for clarity, any such liabilities arising as a result of any actual or constructive termination by Buyer after the Closing). Following the Closing Date, Sellers shall have no WARN Act liabilities and obligations.
- (d) To the extent required by applicable Law, Buyer shall (i) notify any union or employee representative under the CBA of the transactions contemplated this Agreement and (ii) engage in effects bargaining with such union or employee representative with respect to any effects, impact or other consequences of the transactions contemplated hereby. Buyer shall (x) comply with the National Labor Relations Act and other applicable Law regarding the transition of employment of any Union Employee to employment with Buyer following the Closing (if

applicable); and (y) if applicable, assume (or cause its Affiliates to assume) the obligations of Seller, the Quincy Group or any of their respective Affiliates' under each applicable CBA (if any case, an "Assumed CBA").

- (e) As of the Closing Date, Buyer shall (or shall cause its Affiliates to) provide to each Continuing Employee under each employee benefit plan, program, arrangement, policy or practice, including without limitation severance, vacation and paid time off plans, established or maintained by Buyer in which any Continuing Employee is eligible to participate after the Employment Commencement Date (the "Post-Closing Plans"), credit for all purposes (including eligibility to participate, vesting, benefit accrual, early retirement subsidies and severance) for full or partial years of service with Seller or the Quincy Group or its Affiliates performed at any time prior to the Closing Date; provided, that no such prior service shall be taken into account to the extent it would result in the duplication of benefits to any Continuing Employee.
- (f) For purposes of each Post-Closing Plan providing medical, dental, prescription drug, and/or vision benefits to any Continuing Employee, Buyer shall (or shall cause its Affiliates to) use commercially reasonable efforts to: (i) cause all pre-existing condition exclusions, actively-at-work requirements, and waiting periods of such Post-Closing Plan to be waived for such Continuing Employee and his or her covered dependents, to the extent any such exclusions or requirements were waived or were inapplicable under the analogous Employee Plan immediately prior to the Closing Date; and (ii) cause any Post-Closing Plan to provide each Continuing Employee with credit for any co-payments and deductibles paid by such Continuing Employee and his or her covered dependents prior to the Closing Date and in the same plan year as the plan year in which the Closing Date occurs for purposes of satisfying any applicable deductible, coinsurance or maximum out-of-pocket requirements under the analogous Post-Closing Plan for its plan year in which the Closing Date occurs, to the extent consistent with the governing terms of the Post-Closing Plan.
- (g) Notwithstanding any contrary provision of this Agreement, Buyer shall be responsible and liable for providing, or continuing to provide, health care continuation coverage as required under Section 4980B of the Code with respect to any Continuing Employees who experiences a COBRA "qualifying event" following the Closing Date under any Buyer employee benefit plan subject to COBRA.
- (h) Without limiting the generality of Section 11.6, nothing in this Section 6.2, express or implied, is intended to confer on any Person (including any Continuing Employees and any current or former Employees or other Service Providers) other than the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns, any rights, benefits, remedies, obligations or liabilities (including any third-party beneficiary rights) under or by reason of this Section 6.2. Accordingly, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 6.2, the parties expressly acknowledge and agree that this Agreement is not intended to create a contract between Buyer, Seller or any of their respective Affiliates, on the one hand, and any Service Provider of Seller or the Quincy Group on the other hand, and no employee of Seller may rely on this Agreement as the basis for any breach of contract claim against Buyer, Seller or any of their respective Affiliates. Nothing in this Section 6.2 shall constitute an amendment to or modification of any Employee Plan or other compensation or benefit plan, program, policy, agreement or arrangement. Except as expressly provided in Section 6.2(a) above, nothing in this Agreement will, or will be construed so as to (i)

prevent or restrict in any way the right of Buyer or its Affiliates to terminate, reassign, promote or demote any Continuing Employee, or to change the title, powers, duties, responsibilities, functions, locations, salaries, other compensation or terms or conditions of employment or service of any such Continuing Employee, in each case, at any time after the Continuation Period; or (ii) obligate Buyer or any of its Affiliates to adopt or maintain any Employee Plan or other compensation or benefit plan, program, policy, agreement or arrangement at any time or prevent Buyer or any of its Affiliates from modifying or terminating any such compensatory or benefits arrangement at any time or from time to time.

- (i) Following the date of this Agreement, Seller and Buyer shall reasonably cooperate in all matters reasonably necessary to effect the transactions contemplated by this Section 6.2.
- (j) The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that all Seller Employee Liabilities shall be and remain solely obligations of Seller, and neither Buyer nor its Affiliates shall assume or otherwise incur any obligation with respect to any Seller Employee Liability. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, neither Buyer nor its Affiliates shall assume any of the Employee Plans or any obligation or liability thereunder or with respect thereto, and Seller shall be and remain solely responsible for any liabilities arising under or with respect to all such Employee Plans and all obligations and liabilities thereunder (including, without limitation, any severance or similar obligations under any Employee Plan or otherwise that becomes payable as a result of the termination of employment or service of any Service Provider in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- Section 6.3 <u>Control of Operations Prior to Closing Date</u>. Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, the sale of the Purchased Assets contemplated hereby shall not be consummated prior to the grant by the FCC of the FCC Consent. Seller and Buyer acknowledge and agree that at all times commencing on the date hereof and ending on the Closing Date, (x) nothing in this Agreement, including <u>Section 5.4</u>, shall be construed to give Buyer any right to control, direct or otherwise supervise, or attempt to control, direct or otherwise supervise, any of the management or operations of any Station(s) and (y) (A) prior to the Quincy Sale Closing Date, the Quincy Group and (B) following the Quincy Sale Closing Date, Seller shall have complete control and supervision of the programming, operations, policies and all other matters relating to the Stations until the Closing.
- Section 6.4 <u>Bulk Transfer Laws</u>. Buyer hereby waives compliance by Seller and the Quincy Group with the provisions of any so-called bulk sales or bulk transfer Law of any jurisdiction in connection with the sale of the Purchased Assets to Buyer hereunder.
- Section 6.5 <u>Use of Names</u>. Seller is not conveying ownership rights or granting Buyer a license to use any of the Retained Names and Marks and, after the Closing, Buyer shall not and shall not permit any of its Affiliates to use in any manner the Retained Names and Marks or any word that is similar in sound or appearance to such names or marks (other than limited and incidental uses of the Retained Names and Marks (including in existing footage and clips), which are hereby authorized). In the event Buyer violates any of its obligations under this <u>Section 6.5</u>, Seller may proceed against Buyer in law or in equity for such damages or other relief as a court may deem appropriate. Buyer acknowledges that a violation of this <u>Section 6.5</u> may cause Seller

irreparable harm, for which money damages may not be adequate compensation. Buyer therefore agrees that in the event of any actual or threatened violation of this <u>Section 6.5</u>, any of such parties shall be entitled, in addition to other remedies that they may have, to a temporary restraining order and to preliminary and final injunctive relief against Buyer or any such Affiliate of Buyer to prevent any violations of this <u>Section 6.5</u>, without the necessity of posting a bond.

Section 6.6 <u>R&W Insurance Policy</u>. Following the execution of this Agreement, at Buyer's sole election, Buyer may elect to obtain a representations and warranties insurance policy (an "R&W Insurance Policy"). Any such R&W Insurance Policy shall provide that (i) the insurers under the R&W Insurance Policy shall have no, and shall waive any, right of subrogation against Seller or any of Seller's Affiliates, except in the case of Fraud; and (ii) that Seller shall be the express third party beneficiary of such waiver. Seller shall pay the lesser of: (a) fifty percent (50%) of any R&W Insurance Costs and (b) \$500,000 in the aggregate of any R&W Insurance Costs, and Buyer shall pay any remaining R&W Insurance Costs. Seller shall use commercially reasonable efforts to assist Buyer in obtaining any such R&W Insurance Policy.

Section 6.7 <u>Post-Closing Access to Insurance</u>. If at any time after the Closing, any Person (other than Buyer or any of its Affiliates) asserts a claim with respect to any casualty or damage to any Purchased Asset occurring prior to the Closing Date (a "<u>Purchased Asset Claim</u>") against Buyer or any of its Affiliates, then Seller shall use commercially reasonable efforts to provide Buyer with reasonable access to any insurance policies covering the Purchased Assets that relate to such Purchased Asset Claim. Seller will reasonably cooperate with Buyer with respect to such insurance coverage for any such Purchased Asset Claim. Seller shall not assign or otherwise transfer any interest or right in or to any such insurance policy without obtaining the prior written consent of Buyer, which shall not be unreasonably withheld.

Section 6.8 <u>Treatment of Other Party's Assets</u>. In the event that following the Closing Seller or Buyer (and/or any applicable Buyer Designee(s)) receives or discovers that it holds any asset belonging to the other party, such party shall promptly remit or otherwise transfer such asset to the other party.

Section 6.9 <u>Ungranted Licenses</u>. In the event that the FCC has not granted its consent to the assignment of certain non-broadcast Seller FCC Authorizations as of the Closing (the "<u>Ungranted Licenses</u>"), at Closing, Seller and Buyer will enter into a Sharing Agreement in a form to be mutually acceptable with respect to such Ungranted Licenses, pending review and approval by the FCC of the applications for consent to assignment of such Ungranted Licenses to Buyer, which Sharing Agreement shall provide for Buyer's use of such Ungranted Licenses, subject to Seller's supervision and control, at no cost, and the automatic transfer of such Ungranted Licenses to Buyer once FCC consent is obtained.

## ARTICLE VII

#### CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATIONS OF SELLER

The obligations of Seller under this Agreement to consummate the sale of the Purchased Assets contemplated hereby shall be subject to the satisfaction, fulfillment or, where legally possible, waiver, on or prior to the Closing Date, of the following conditions:

#### Section 7.1 No Breach of Covenants and Warranties.

- (a) Buyer shall have performed and complied in all material respects with its covenants and agreements contained herein required to be performed or complied with by it as of or prior to the Closing.
- (b) (i) Each of the representations and warranties of Buyer contained in Article IV of this Agreement (other than the Buyer Fundamental Representations) shall be true and correct on the Closing Date as though made on the Closing Date (except to the extent that they expressly speak as of a specific date or time other than the Closing Date, in which case they need only have been true and correct as of such specified date or time), except where the failure of such representations and warranties to be true and correct (without giving effect to any qualifiers or exceptions relating to "materiality" set forth in such representations and warranties), individually or in the aggregate, has not had and would not be reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on the ability of Buyer to perform its obligations under this Agreement or the Buyer Ancillary Agreements and (ii) the Buyer Fundamental Representations shall be true and correct in all material respects on the Closing Date as though made on the Closing Date (except to the extent that they expressly speak as of a specific date or time other than the Closing Date, in which case they need only have been true and correct as of such specified date or time).
- (c) Buyer shall have delivered to Seller a certificate, dated as of the Closing Date, signed by an executive officer on behalf of Buyer (without personal liability) and certifying as to the satisfaction of the conditions specified in this Section 7.1.
- Section 7.2 <u>No Restraint</u>. There shall not be in effect any Law or Order (whether temporary, preliminary or permanent) issued by any U.S. federal or state court of competent jurisdiction preventing the consummation of the sale of the Purchased Assets contemplated hereby.

#### Section 7.3 Certain Governmental Approvals.

- (a) The FCC Consent shall have been granted and shall be effective; and
- (b) Any waiting period (and any extension thereof) applicable to consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement under the HSR Act shall have expired or shall have been terminated, if necessary and/or approval by the DOJ pursuant to the DOJ Final Judgment has been obtained.
  - Section 7.4 Quincy Sale. The Quincy Sale shall have been consummated.
- Section 7.5 <u>Closing Deliveries</u>. Buyer shall have made, or stands ready at the Closing to make, the deliveries contemplated by <u>Section 2.9</u> to Seller.

#### ARTICLE VIII

#### CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATIONS OF BUYER

The obligations of Buyer under this Agreement to consummate the sale of the Purchased Assets contemplated hereby shall, be subject to the satisfaction, fulfillment or, where legally possible, waiver on or prior to the Closing Date, of the following conditions:

## Section 8.1 No Breach of Covenants and Warranties.

- (a) Seller shall have performed and complied with in all material respects its covenants and agreements contained herein required to be performed or complied with by it as of or prior to the Closing.
- (b) (i) Each of the representations and warranties of Seller contained in Article III of this Agreement (other than the Seller Fundamental Representations) shall be true and correct on the Closing Date as though made on the Closing Date (except to the extent that they expressly speak as of a specific date or time other than the Closing Date, in which case they need only have been true and correct as of such specified date or time), except where the failure of such representations and warranties to be true and correct (without giving effect to any qualifiers or exceptions relating to "materiality" or "Material Adverse Effect" set forth in such representations and warranties), would not, individually or in the aggregate, be reasonably likely to have a Material Adverse Effect and (ii) the Seller Fundamental Representations shall be true and correct in all material respects on the Closing Date as though made on the Closing Date (except to the extent that they expressly speak as of a specific date or time other than the Closing Date, in which case they need only have been true and correct as of such specified date or time).
- (c) Seller shall have delivered to Buyer a certificate, dated as of the Closing Date, signed by an executive officer of Seller and certifying as to the satisfaction of the conditions specified in this Section 8.1 and Section 8.6.
- **Section 8.2 No Restraint**. There shall not be in effect any Law or Order (whether temporary, preliminary or permanent) issued by any U.S. federal or state court of competent jurisdiction preventing the consummation of the sale of the Purchased Assets contemplated hereby.
- Section 8.3 <u>Conduct of Quincy and its Affiliates</u>. From and after the date of this Agreement, Quincy and its Affiliates shall have (i) operated and carried on the Business in all material respects in the ordinary course of the Business in accordance with <u>Section 5.4(a)</u> and (ii) complied in all material respects with the restrictions set forth in <u>Section 5.4(b)</u>, subject to the exceptions set forth in clauses (w)-(z) of the introductory sentence of <u>Section 5.4(b)</u>.

#### Section 8.4 Certain Governmental Approvals.

- (a) The Satellite Waiver and FCC Consent shall have been granted and shall be effective; and
- (b) Any waiting period (and any extension thereof) applicable to consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement under the HSR Act shall have expired or shall

have been terminated, if necessary and/or approval by the DOJ pursuant to the DOJ Final Judgment has been obtained.

- Section 8.5 Quincy Sale. The Quincy Sale shall have been consummated.
- Section 8.6 <u>Material Adverse Effect</u>. There shall not have occurred any Material Adverse Effect since the date of this Agreement.
- Section 8.7 <u>Closing Deliveries</u>. Seller shall have made, or stands ready at the Closing to make, the deliveries contemplated by <u>Section 2.9</u> to Buyer.
  - Section 8.8 <u>Certain Approvals</u>. The Required Consents shall have been obtained.
- Section 8.9 <u>Release of Encumbrances</u>. Effective immediately prior to or as of the Closing, Seller shall have obtained full release of all Encumbrances set forth on <u>Schedule 8.9</u> over the Purchased Assets as evidenced in writing from Seller's or the Quincy Group's lenders in a manner reasonably satisfactory to Buyer (accompanied by draft UCC termination statements).

#### ARTICLE IX

#### INDEMNIFICATION

- Section 9.1 <u>Indemnification by Seller</u>. From and after the Closing and subject to <u>Section 11.1</u>, Seller agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Buyer from and against any and all Losses and Expenses imposed upon, or incurred or suffered by, any Buyer Group Member as a result of or arising out of:
- (i) any breach by Seller of, or any other failure of Seller to perform, any of its covenants, agreements or obligations pursuant to this Agreement;
  - (ii) any Excluded Liabilities; or
- (iii) any breach or inaccuracy of the Seller Fundamental Representations.
- Section 9.2 <u>Indemnification by Buyer</u>. From and after the Closing and subject to <u>Section 11.1</u>, Buyer agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Seller from and against any and all Losses and Expense imposed upon, or incurred or suffered by, any Seller Group Member as a result of or arising out of:
- (i) any breach by Buyer of, or any other failure of Buyer to perform, any of its covenants, agreements or obligations in this Agreement;
  - (ii) any Assumed Liabilities; or
- (iii) any breach or inaccuracy of the Buyer Fundamental Representations.

#### Section 9.3 Notice of Claims; Determination of Amount.

- (a) Any party seeking indemnification hereunder (the "<u>Indemnified Party</u>") shall give promptly to the party or parties, as applicable, obligated to provide indemnification to such Indemnified Party (the "<u>Indemnitor</u>") a written notice (a "<u>Claim Notice</u>") describing in reasonable detail the facts giving rise to the claim for indemnification hereunder and shall include in such Claim Notice (if then known) the amount or the method of computation of the amount of such claim, and a reference to the provision of this Agreement upon which such claim is based. Subject to <u>Section 11.1</u>, the failure of any Indemnified Party to give the Claim Notice promptly as required by this <u>Section 9.3</u> shall not affect such Indemnified Party's rights under this Article IX except to the extent such failure is actually prejudicial to the rights and obligations of the Indemnitor.
- (b) In calculating any Loss or Expense there shall be deducted (i) any insurance recovery in respect thereof and (ii) any recovery in respect thereof that is obtained from any other third Person (and no right of subrogation shall accrue hereunder to any such insurer or other third Person).
- (c) After the giving of any Claim Notice pursuant hereto, the amount of indemnification to which an Indemnified Party shall be entitled under this <u>Article IX</u> shall be determined: (i) by the written agreement between the Indemnified Party and the Indemnitor; (ii) by a decree of any court of competent jurisdiction; or (iii) by any other means to which the Indemnified Party and the Indemnitor shall agree.
- (d) For the purposes of determining whether there has been a breach of a representation, warranty or covenant, and for the purposes of determining the amount of any Losses suffered or Expenses incurred by a Buyer Group Member resulting therefrom, the representations, warranties and covenants of Seller set forth in this Agreement shall be considered without regard to any materiality or Material Adverse Effect qualification therein.

#### Section 9.4 Third Person Claims.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in <u>Section 9.3</u>, in order (a) for a party to be entitled to any indemnification provided for under this Agreement in respect of, arising out of or involving a claim or demand made by any third Person against the Indemnified Party, such Indemnified Party must notify the Indemnitor in writing, and in reasonable detail, of the third Person claim promptly after receipt by such Indemnified Party of written notice of the third Person claim, which notification must include a copy of the written notice of the third Person claim that was received by the Indemnified Party (the "Third Person Claim Notice"). Thereafter, the Indemnified Party shall deliver promptly to the Indemnitor, after the Indemnified Party's receipt thereof, copies of all notices and documents (including court papers) received by the Indemnified Party relating to the third Person claim. Notwithstanding the foregoing, should a party be physically served with a complaint with regard to a third Person claim, the Indemnified Party must notify the Indemnitor with a copy of the complaint promptly after receipt thereof and shall deliver to the Indemnitor promptly after the receipt of such complaint copies of notices and documents (including court papers) received by the Indemnified Party relating to the third Person claim. Subject to Section 11.1, the failure of any Indemnified Party to promptly provide such notices as required by this <u>Section 9.4</u> shall not affect such Indemnified Party's rights under this <u>Article IX</u> and shall not relieve the Indemnitor of its indemnification obligations hereunder, except and only to the extent such failure is materially prejudicial to the rights or defenses of the Indemnitor.

In the event of the initiation of any legal proceeding against the Indemnified (b) Party by a third Person, the Indemnitor shall have the sole and absolute right after the receipt of a Third Person Claim Notice, at its option and at its own expense, to be represented by counsel of its choice and to control, defend against, negotiate, settle or otherwise deal with any proceeding, claim, or demand which relates to any loss, liability or damage indemnified against hereunder; provided, however, that the Indemnified Party may participate in any such proceeding with counsel of its choice and at its expense. The parties hereto agree to cooperate fully with each other in connection with the defense, negotiation or settlement of any such proceeding, claim or demand. Prior to the time the Indemnified Party is notified by the Indemnitor as to whether the Indemnitor will assume the defense of such proceeding, claim or demand, the Indemnified Party shall take all actions reasonably necessary to timely preserve the collective rights of the parties with respect to such proceeding, claim or demand, including responding timely to legal process. To the extent the Indemnitor elects not to defend such proceeding, claim or demand (or fails to confirm its election) within thirty (30) days after the giving by the Indemnified Party to the Indemnitor of a Third Person Claim Notice, the Indemnified Party may retain counsel, reasonably acceptable to the Indemnitor, at the expense of the Indemnitor, and control the defense of, or otherwise deal with, such proceeding, claim or demand. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Indemnitor will not be entitled to control, and the Indemnified Party will be entitled to have control over, the defense or settlement of any Third Person Claim if (i) the Third Person Claim involves a criminal proceeding, action, indictment, allegation or investigation against the Indemnified Party, (ii) if the Third Person Claim seeks material injunctive or nonmonetary equitable relief, (iii) if the applicable claimant in the Third Person Claim is a Governmental Body, or (iv) a conflict of interest arises that, under applicable principles of legal ethics, in the reasonable judgment of counsel to the Indemnified Party, would prohibit a single counsel from representing both the Indemnitor and the Indemnified Party in connection with the defense of such Third Person Claim. The Indemnitor will be liable for the reasonable and documented fees and expenses of counsel employed by the Indemnified Party for any period during which the Indemnified Party is controlling the defense. Regardless of which party assumes the defense of such proceeding, claim or demand, the parties agree to cooperate with one another in connection therewith. Such cooperation shall include providing records and information that are relevant to such proceeding, claim or demand, and making each parties' employees and officers available on a mutually convenient basis to provide additional information and explanation of any material provided hereunder and to act as a witness or respond to legal process. Whether or not the Indemnitor assumes the defense of such proceeding, claim or demand, the Indemnified Party shall not admit any liability with respect to, or settle, compromise or discharge, such proceeding, claim or demand without the Indemnitor's prior written consent (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed). The Indemnitor shall not consent to a settlement of, or the entry of any judgment arising from, any such proceeding, claim or demand without the Indemnified Party's prior written consent (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed) unless such settlement or judgment (a) relates solely to monetary damages for which the Indemnitor shall be responsible and (b) includes as an unconditional term thereof the release of the Indemnified Party from all liability with respect to such proceeding, claim or demand, in which event no such consent shall be required. After any

final judgment or award shall have been rendered by a court, arbitration board or administrative agency of competent jurisdiction and the time in which to appeal therefrom has expired, or a settlement shall have been consummated, or the Indemnified Party and the Indemnitor shall arrive at a mutually binding agreement with respect to each separate matter alleged to be indemnified by the Indemnitor hereunder, the Indemnified Party shall forward to the Indemnitor notice of any sums due and owing by it with respect to such matter and the Indemnitor shall pay all of the sums so owing to the Indemnified Party by wire transfer, certified or bank cashier's check within thirty (30) days after the date of such notice.

(c) The party that has assumed the control or defense of any such proceeding, claim or demand made by a third Person against the other party shall (a) provide the other party with the right to participate in any meetings or negotiations with any Governmental Body or other third Person and reasonable advance notice of any such meetings or negotiations, (b) provide the other party with the right to review in advance and provide comments on any draft or final documents proposed to be submitted to any Governmental Body or other third Person, and (c) keep the other party reasonably informed with respect to such proceeding, demand or claim, including providing copies of all documents provided to, or received from, any Governmental Body or any other third Person in connection with such proceeding, demand or claim. Buyer Group Members, on the one hand, and Seller Group Members, on the other hand, covenant and agree to maintain the confidence of all such drafts and comments provided by the other.

#### Section 9.5 Limitations; Exclusive Remedies.

- (a) In any case where the Indemnified Party recovers from third Persons any amount in respect of a matter with respect to which the Indemnitor has indemnified it pursuant to this <u>Article IX</u>, the Indemnified Party shall promptly pay over to the Indemnitor the amount so recovered (after deducting therefrom the full amount of the expenses incurred by it in procuring such recovery), but not in excess of any amount previously so paid by the Indemnitor to or on behalf of the Indemnified Party in respect of such matter.
- (b) Except for remedies that cannot be waived as a matter of law and injunctive and provisional relief, claims arising from Fraud, this <u>Article IX</u> shall be the exclusive remedy for breaches of this Agreement (including any covenant, obligation, representation or warranty contained in this Agreement or in any certificate delivered pursuant to this Agreement) or otherwise relating to the subject matter of this Agreement, including any claims arising under any Environmental Laws. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this <u>Section 9.5</u> shall not (i) interfere with or impede the operation of the provisions of <u>Section 2.7</u> providing for the resolution of certain disputes in accordance with the procedures set forth therein, (ii) interfere with or impede the operation of the provisions of <u>Section 6.1</u> related to Taxes, (iii) limit the rights of the parties to injunctive and provisional relief, including specific performance in accordance with <u>Section 11.15</u> or (iv) prevent a party from bringing a claim arising from Fraud.
- (c) Subject to Section 9.7, after the Closing, the Buyer's sole and exclusive remedy for, and sole and exclusive source of funds for payment of, any Losses (whether such Losses result from a claim framed in tort, contract or otherwise) arising out of or in connection with this Agreement, any of the Ancillary Agreements, or the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, other than in respect of Excluded Assets or Excluded Liabilities, shall be a claim for

indemnification under this <u>Article IX</u> for which the Buyer is entitled to indemnification from Seller pursuant to this <u>Article IX</u>; provided, that, the maximum total liability of Seller with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall not exceed the Purchase Price.

Section 9.6 <u>Damages; Mitigation</u>. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, none of the parties hereto (nor shall any Financing Source) shall have any liability under any provision of this Agreement for any punitive or exemplary damages, except to the extent such damages are payable to a third Person, or any incidental, consequential, special or indirect damages, including loss of future profits, revenue or income, damages based on any multiple of revenue or income, diminution in value or loss of business reputation or opportunity relating to the breach or alleged breach of this Agreement, regardless of whether such damages were foreseeable except to the extent such damages are actually awarded to a third Person. Each of the parties agrees to take steps to mitigate their respective Losses and Expenses as required by applicable Laws upon and after becoming aware of any event or condition which could reasonably be expected to give rise to any Losses and Expenses that are indemnifiable hereunder.

Section 9.7 Special Rule for Fraud. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, any Ancillary Agreement or any Buyer Ancillary Agreement, no party shall be precluded from seeking any and all available remedies that are based upon any Fraud by or on behalf of any other party hereto (including any Fraud committed by any Representative of any party) in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, any Ancillary Agreement or any Buyer Ancillary Agreement (regardless of whether such claim's basis also constitutes a breach of a representation, warranty, covenant, agreement or obligation in this Agreement, any Ancillary Agreement or any Buyer Ancillary Agreement). For the avoidance of doubt, the limitations set forth in this Article IX shall not apply to any Losses or Expenses that a Buyer Group Member or a Seller Group Member, may suffer, sustain or become subject to, as a result of, arising out of, relating to or in connection with any such claim based upon any Fraud by or on behalf of any other Party hereto.

#### ARTICLE X

#### **TERMINATION**

## Section 10.1 <u>Termination.</u>

- (a) Notwithstanding anything contained in this Agreement to the contrary, this Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the Closing:
  - (i) by the mutual written consent of Seller and Buyer;
- (ii) by Seller, if (x) Seller is not in material breach of its obligations under this Agreement, (y) Buyer materially breaches its representations or warranties, or defaults in the performance of its covenants, contained in this Agreement, and (z) all breaches and defaults that are not cured within the Cure Period, if any, would prevent the conditions to the obligations of Seller set forth in Section 7.1 from being satisfied
- (iii) by Buyer, if (i) Buyer is not in material breach of its obligations under this Agreement, (ii) Seller materially breaches its representations or warranties, or defaults

in the performance of its covenants, contained in this Agreement, and (iii) all breaches and defaults that are not cured within the Cure Period, if any, would prevent the conditions to the obligations of Buyer set forth in <u>Section 8.1</u> from being satisfied;

- (iv) by Seller or Buyer, if any U.S. federal or state court of competent jurisdiction shall have issued an Order or any other Action permanently enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, and such Order or Action has become final and non-appealable; provided, that, notwithstanding the foregoing, the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 10.1(a)(iv) shall not be available to any party whose breach or failure to perform or observe the covenants and agreements of such party set forth in this Agreement has been the cause of, or resulted in, such Order or other Action;
- (v) by Seller or Buyer if the Closing shall not have been consummated on or before January 31, 2022 (the "Termination Date"); provided, that (i) if the "Outside Date" is extended pursuant to Section 11.1(d) of the Purchase Agreement as in effect on January 31, 2021, then the Termination Date shall be extended automatically to the same date as the "Outside Date" under the Purchase Agreement and (ii) if the Outside Date under the Purchase Agreement is otherwise extended, then Buyer shall have the option to extend the Termination Date to the same date as the Outside Date under the Purchase Agreement; provided, further, that, notwithstanding the foregoing, the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 10.1(a)(v) shall not be available to any party if the failure of the Closing to occur by such date shall be due to the failure of such party to perform or observe the covenants and agreements of such party set forth in this Agreement;
- (vi) by Seller or Buyer, upon the termination of the Purchase Agreement for any reason; or
- (vii) by Seller, if Buyer fails to deliver the Escrow Deposit to the Escrow Agent by May 3, 2021.
- (b) The party desiring to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 10.1(a) (other than pursuant to Section 10.1(a)(i)) shall give written notice of such termination to the other party or parties, as applicable.
- (c) In the event that this Agreement shall be terminated pursuant to Section 10.1(a), subject to Section 10.1(f) below, all further obligations of the parties under this Agreement (other than Section 4.4, Section 5.5, this Article X and Article XI, and, for the avoidance of doubt, the Confidentiality Agreement, which, in each case, shall remain in full force and effect) shall be terminated without further liability of any party; provided, that nothing herein shall relieve any party from liability for any breach of this Agreement or liability for Fraud.
- (d) If this Agreement is terminated by Seller pursuant to Section 10.1(a)(ii), and Seller is not in material breach of this Agreement (a "Buyer Termination Event"), then Seller shall be entitled to the Escrow Deposit and all interest and earnings thereon as liquidated damages. The parties understand and agree that the amount of the Escrow Deposit and all interest and earnings thereon represents Seller's and Buyer's reasonable estimate of actual damages and does not constitute a penalty. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, in the

event that this Agreement is terminated as a result of a Buyer Termination Event, payment of the Escrow Deposit and all interest and earnings thereon pursuant to this <u>Section 10.1(d)</u> shall be Seller's sole and exclusive remedy for damages of any nature or kind that Seller may suffer under this Agreement, and Seller shall have no further remedy against Buyer for any claim or damages arising out of, relating to or in connection with this Agreement or the transaction contemplated hereby, except in the case of fraud or willful misconduct.

- (e) Upon termination, (i) if this Agreement is terminated for any reason other than a Buyer Termination Event, the Escrow Deposit and any interest or earnings thereon shall be returned to Buyer by the Escrow Agent and (ii) subject to Section 10.1(f) below, (1) if neither Seller nor Buyer is in material breach of any provision of this Agreement, neither shall have any further liability to each other; and (2) if either party shall be in material breach of any provision of this Agreement, the non-breaching party shall have the rights and remedies provided in Section 11.15, or otherwise available at law or equity; for the avoidance of doubt, Buyer's failure to deliver the Escrow Deposit by May 3, 2021 shall be deemed a material breach of this Agreement by Buyer.
- (f) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, in the event that this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Section 10.1(a)(vi), Seller shall reimburse Buyer for its reasonable and documented out-of-pocket fees, costs and expenses (including the fees and disbursements of attorneys, accountants and other advisors), incurred in connection with the evaluation, negotiation, execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.
- (g) Each party agrees to take such action as is necessary or desirable to effectuate the distribution of the Escrow Deposit and all interest or earnings thereon as set forth in this Section 10.1, including promptly providing to the Escrow Agent written instructions related to the payment thereof in the manner set forth in the Escrow Agreement.
- Section 10.2 <u>Withdrawal of Certain Filings</u>. In the event of termination under the provisions of this <u>Article X</u>, all filings, applications and other submissions relating to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement as to which termination has occurred shall, to the extent practicable, be withdrawn from the Governmental Body or other Person to which made.

#### ARTICLE XI

#### GENERAL PROVISIONS

# Section 11.1 Survival of Obligations.

(a) None of the representation and warranties (other than the Buyer Fundamental Representations and the Seller Fundamental Representations), covenants, agreements and obligations contained in this Agreement shall survive the consummation of the Closing, except to the extent such covenants, agreements and obligations contemplate performance after the Closing, in which case each such covenant, agreement and obligation shall survive in accordance with its terms; provided, that, if the terms do not provide for a survival period, then such covenant, agreement and obligation shall survive and remain in full force and effect for two

years; provided, further, solely with respect to Seller's indemnification obligation under Section 9.1, such obligation shall survive until the date ending thirty (30) days following the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations for each of the applicable matters set forth therein.

- (b) The Buyer Fundamental Representations and the Seller Fundamental Representations shall survive and remain in full force and effect until the date ending sixty (60) days following the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations for each of the matters set forth therein.
- (c) No claim may be brought under this Agreement unless written notice describing in reasonable detail the facts giving rise to the claim is given on or prior to the last day of the applicable survival period. In the event such notice is given, the right to indemnification with respect thereto shall survive the applicable survival period until such claim is finally resolved and any obligations with respect thereto are fully satisfied.

Section 11.2 Confidential Nature of Information. Each party agrees that it will treat in confidence all documents, materials and other information which it shall have obtained regarding the other party or parties during the course of the negotiations leading to the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby (whether obtained before or after the date of this Agreement), the investigation provided for herein and the preparation of this Agreement and other related documents, and, in the event the transactions contemplated hereby shall not be consummated, each party will return to the other party or parties all copies of nonpublic documents and materials which have been furnished in connection therewith. Without limiting the right of either party to pursue all other legal and equitable rights available to it for violation of this Section 11.2 by the other party, it is agreed that other remedies cannot fully compensate the aggrieved party for such a violation of this Section 11.2 and that the aggrieved party shall be entitled to injunctive relief to prevent a violation or continuing violation hereof.

Section 11.3 Governing Law. This Agreement and all claims or causes of action (whether in contract, tort or otherwise) that may be based upon, arise out of or relate to this Agreement or the negotiation, execution or performance of this Agreement (including any claim or cause of action based upon, arising out of or related to any representation or warranty made in or in connection with this Agreement or as an inducement to enter into this Agreement) shall be governed and construed in accordance with the internal Laws of the State of Delaware applicable to contracts made and wholly performed within the State of Delaware, without regard to any applicable conflicts of law principles that would result in the application of the Laws of any other jurisdiction. Each of the parties to this Agreement irrevocably agrees that, except as specifically set forth in the Commitment Letters, all claims or causes of action, whether at law or in equity, whether in contract, in tort or otherwise, against any Financing Source in any way relating to this Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including, but not limited to, any dispute arising out of or relating in any way to any Commitment Letter or the performance thereof, shall be exclusively governed by, and construed in accordance with, the internal laws of the State of New York, without giving effect to the principles or rules or conflict of laws to the extent such principles or rules would require or permit the applicable of laws of another jurisdiction. Each of the parties to this Agreement hereto agrees that it will not bring or support any action, cause of action, claim, cross claim or third party claim of any kind or description, whether in law or in equity, whether in contract or in tort or otherwise, against any Financing

Source in any way relating to this Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including, but not limited to, any dispute arising out of or relating in any way to any Commitment Letter or the performance thereof, in any forum other than any state or federal court sitting in the State of New York.

Section 11.4 Exclusive Jurisdiction; Court Proceedings. The parties hereto agree that any suit, action or proceeding seeking to enforce any provision of, or based on any matter arising out of or in connection with, this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby shall be brought exclusively in the Chancery Court of the State of Delaware and any state appellate court therefrom or, if such court lacks subject matter jurisdiction, the United States District Court sitting in New Castle County in the State of Delaware, and each of the parties hereby irrevocably consents to the exclusive jurisdiction of such courts (and of the appropriate appellate courts therefrom) in any such suit, action or proceeding and irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by Law, any objection that it may now or hereafter have to the laying of the venue of any such suit, action or proceeding in any such court or that any such suit, action or proceeding brought in any such court has been brought in an inconvenient forum. Process in any such suit, action or proceeding may be served on any party anywhere in the world, whether within or without the jurisdiction of any such court. Without limiting the foregoing, each party agrees that service of process on such party as provided in this Section 11.4 shall be deemed effective service of process on such party. EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY AND ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING (WHETHER IN CONTRACT OR TORT OR OTHERWISE) ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY (INCLUDING ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING, CLAIM OR COUNTERCLAIM INVOLVING ANY FINANCING SOURCE AND THEIR RESPECTIVE NONPARTY AFFILIATES).

Section 11.5 Notices. Any notice or other communication required or permitted to be delivered to any party under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed properly delivered, given and received (a) when delivered by hand, by registered mail, by courier or express delivery service or (b) upon confirmation of receipt (other than an automatically-generated confirmation) when sent by electronic mail to the address or email address, as applicable, set forth beneath the name of such party below (or to such other address or email address, as applicable, as such party shall have specified in a written notice given to the other parties hereto):

If to Seller:

Gray Television, Inc. 4370 Peachtree Rd NE Atlanta, GA, 30319 Attention: Kevin P. Latek Email: Kevin.Latek@gray.tv with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Cooley LLP 1299 Pennsylvania Ave., NW Suite 700 Washington, DC 20004 Attention: John Feore Email: jfeore@cooley.com

## If to Buyer, to:

Allen Media Broadcasting Evansville III, LLC 1925 Century Park East, 10th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90067 Attention: General Counsel Email: legal@es.tv and mark@es.tv

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Latham & Watkins LLP 10250 Constellation Blvd., Ste. 1100 Los Angeles, CA 90067 Attention: Joseph A. Calabrese, Jason H. Silvera and Rick Offsay Email: joseph.calabrese@lw.com, jason.silvera@lw.com and rick.offsay@lw.com

# Section 11.6 Successors and Assigns; Third Party Beneficiaries.

- (a) This Agreement and all of its terms shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns, including any successor by a merger or conversion referenced below. Except as provided in this Section 11.6(a), this Agreement shall not be assigned by any party hereto. Any party (including, for this purpose, Seller) may assign or transfer any of its rights and obligations under this Agreement to any of its Affiliates, provided that no such assignment or transfer materially delays the grant of the FCC Consent, clearance under the HSR Act, if necessary, or approval by the DOJ pursuant to the DOJ Final Judgment, and, provided further, that no such assignment or transfer shall operate to relieve a party of any of its liabilities or obligations hereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Buyer shall be permitted to collaterally assign its rights, benefits and remedies under this Agreement to any Financing Source in respect of the Financing.
- (b) Nothing in this Agreement, expressed or implied, is intended or shall be construed to confer upon any Person other than the parties and successors and assigns permitted by this Section 11.6 any right, remedy or claim under or by reason of this Agreement; provided, however, that the provisions of Section 4.6, Section 5.7, Section 5.9, Section 5.10, Section 9.6, Section 11.3, Section 11.4, this Section 11.6, Section 11.8, Section 11.15 and Section 11.18 are intended for the benefit of the Financing Sources and their respective Representatives, successors and assigns.

#### Section 11.7 Access to Records after Closing.

- For a period of six (6) years after the Closing Date, Seller and its (a) representatives shall have reasonable access to all of the Books and Records of the Business transferred to Buyer hereunder to the extent that such access may reasonably be required by Seller in connection with matters relating to or affected by the operations of the Business prior to the Closing Date. Such access shall be afforded by Buyer upon receipt of reasonable advance notice and during normal business hours under the supervision of Buyer's or its Affiliates' personnel in compliance with and subject to Buyer's or its Affiliates' health, safety and security requirements (including relating to COVID-19 Pandemic). Seller shall be solely responsible for any costs or expenses incurred by it pursuant to this Section 11.7(a). If Buyer shall desire to dispose of any of such Books and Records prior to the expiration of such six (6) year period, it shall, prior to such disposition, give Seller a reasonable opportunity, at Seller's expense, to segregate and remove such Books and Records as the other party may select. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Buyer shall not be required to (i) take any action which would constitute a waiver of attorney-client privilege or would compromise the confidential information of Buyer not related to the Business or (ii) supply Seller with any information which, in the reasonable judgment of Buyer, is under a contractual or legal obligation not to supply.
- (b) For a period of six (6) years after the Closing Date, Buyer and its representatives shall have reasonable access to all of the Books and Records relating to the Business that Seller may retain after the Closing Date. Such access shall be afforded by Seller upon receipt of reasonable advance notice and during normal business hours under the supervision of Seller's or its Affiliates' personnel in compliance with and subject to Seller's or its Affiliates' health, safety and security requirements (including relating to COVID-19 Pandemic). Buyer shall be solely responsible for any costs and expenses incurred by it pursuant to this Section 11.7(b). If Seller shall desire to dispose of any of such Books and Records prior to the expiration of such six (6) year period, such party shall, prior to such disposition, give Buyer a reasonable opportunity, at Buyer's expense, to segregate and remove such Books and Records as the other party may select. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Seller shall not be required to (i) take any action which would constitute a waiver of attorney-client privilege or would compromise the confidential information of Seller not related to the Business or (ii) supply Buyer with any information which, in the reasonable judgment of Seller, is under a contractual or legal obligation not to supply.
- (c) Seller agrees that it shall, and shall cause its Affiliates to, cooperate with and provide reasonable assistance to Buyer and its auditors and accounting advisors to conduct financial and accounting review of the Business, the Stations, the Purchased Assets and the Assumed Liabilities, as reasonably requested by Buyer
- Section 11.8 Entire Agreement; Amendments. This Agreement, the Exhibits, the Annexes and Schedules referred to herein and the other documents delivered pursuant hereto contain the entire understanding of the parties hereto with regard to the subject matter contained herein or therein, and supersede all prior agreements, understandings or intents between or among any of the parties hereto. The parties hereto, by mutual agreement in writing, may amend, modify and supplement this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing and Section 11.10 below, to the extent any amendment or waiver to this Section 11.8, Section 4.6, Section 5.7, Section 5.9, Section 5.10, Section 9.6, Section 11.3, Section 11.4, Section 11.6, Section 11.15 and

Section 11.18 is sought which is materially adverse to the rights of the Financing Sources or their respective Representatives, successors and assigns (or any definition set forth in, or other provisions of, this Agreement to the extent that an amendment or modification of such definition or other provision would amend or modify the substance of any such Section), the prior written consent of the Financing Sources shall be required before such amendment or waiver is rendered effective.

Section 11.9 Interpretation. Article titles and headings to Sections herein are inserted for convenience of reference only and are not intended to be a part of or to affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement. The Schedules, Annexes and Exhibits referred to herein shall be construed with and as an integral part of this Agreement to the same extent as if they were set forth verbatim herein. For purposes of this Agreement, (i) the words "include," "includes" and "including" shall be deemed to be followed by the words "without limitation," (ii) the word "or" is not exclusive and (iii) the words "herein", "hereof", "hereby", "hereto" and "hereunder" refer to this Agreement as a whole. Unless the context otherwise requires, references herein (a) to Articles, Sections, Exhibits, Annexes and Schedules mean the Articles and Sections of, and the Exhibits, Annexes and Schedules attached to, this Agreement and (b) to an agreement, instrument or other document means such agreement, instrument or other document as amended, supplemented and modified from time to time to the extent permitted by the provisions thereof and by this Agreement. This Agreement, the Buyer Ancillary Agreements and the Ancillary Agreements shall be construed without regard to any presumption or rule requiring construction or interpretation against the party drafting an instrument or causing any instrument to be drafted. References to a "party hereto" or the "parties hereto" or similar phrases shall refer to Seller and Buyer. An asset or right shall be deemed to be "primarily related" to or "primarily used in" the Business if in the ordinary course of the Business such asset or right is used in the Business to a greater extent than it is used by the other businesses and operations of Seller. For the avoidance of doubt, all members of the Quincy Group shall be deemed to be Affiliates of Seller as of the Quincy Closing Date.

Section 11.10 <u>Waivers</u>. Any term or provision of this Agreement may be waived, or the time for its performance may be extended, by the party or parties entitled to the benefit thereof. The failure of any party hereto to enforce at any time any provision of this Agreement shall not be construed to be a waiver of such provision, nor in any way to affect the validity of this Agreement or any part hereof or the right of any party thereafter to enforce each and every such provision. No waiver of any breach of this Agreement shall be held to constitute a waiver of any other or subsequent breach.

Section 11.11 Expenses. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, each of Seller and Buyer will pay all of its own respective costs and expenses incident to its negotiation and preparation of this Agreement and to its performance and compliance with all agreements and conditions contained herein on its part to be performed or complied with, including the fees, expenses and disbursements of its counsel and accountants.

Section 11.12 <u>Partial Invalidity</u>. Wherever possible, each provision hereof shall be interpreted in such manner as to be effective and valid under applicable law, but in case any one or more of the provisions contained herein shall, for any reason, be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any

other provisions of this Agreement, and this Agreement shall be construed as if such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision or provisions had never been contained herein.

Section 11.13 Execution in Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be considered an original instrument, but all of which shall be considered one and the same agreement, and shall become binding when one or more counterparts have been signed by each of the parties and delivered to each of Seller and Buyer.

Section 11.14 Disclaimer of Warranties. Seller makes no representations or warranties with respect to any projections, forecasts or forward-looking information provided to Buyer. There is no assurance that any projected or forecasted results will be achieved. EXCEPT AS TO THOSE MATTERS EXPRESSLY COVERED BY THE REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES IN Article III OF THIS AGREEMENT AND THE CERTIFICATES DELIVERED BY SELLER PURSUANT TO SECTION 8.1, (A) SELLER IS SELLING THE BUSINESS AND THE PURCHASED ASSETS ON AN "AS IS, WHERE IS" BASIS AND SELLER DISCLAIMS ALL OTHER WARRANTIES, REPRESENTATIONS AND GUARANTIES WHETHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED AND (B) SELLER MAKES NO REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY AS TO MERCHANTABILITY, SUITABILITY OR FITNESS FOR ANY PARTICULAR PURPOSE AND NO IMPLIED WARRANTIES WHATSOEVER. Buyer acknowledges that neither Seller nor any of its Representatives or Affiliates nor any other Person has made any representation or warranty, express or implied, as to the accuracy or completeness of any memoranda, charts, summaries or schedules heretofore made available by Buyer or its Representatives or Affiliates or any other information which is not included in this Agreement or the Schedules hereto, and neither Seller nor any of its Representatives or Affiliates nor any other Person will have or be subject to any liability to Buyer, any Affiliate of Buyer or any other Person resulting from the distribution of any such information to, or use of any such information by, Buyer, any Affiliate of Buyer or any of their Representatives, except in the case of Fraud. In making its determination to proceed with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement Buyer and its Affiliates have relied solely on (a) the results of their own independent investigation and (b) the representations and warranties of Seller expressly and specifically set forth in Article III of this Agreement. Buyer and its Affiliates expressly and specifically disclaim that they are relying upon or have relied upon any representation or warranty of any kind or nature, whether express or implied, not included in this Agreement that may have been made by any Person, and acknowledge and agree that Seller expressly and specifically disclaims any such other representations and warranties.

Section 11.15 Specific Performance. The parties agree that irreparable damage would occur in the event that any provision of this Agreement was not performed in accordance with its specific terms or was otherwise breached or the Closing was not consummated, and that money damages would not be an adequate remedy, even if available. It is accordingly agreed that the parties shall be entitled to an injunction or injunctions, or any other appropriate form of specific performance or equitable relief, to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions hereof (including the parties' obligations to consummate the Closing) in any court of competent jurisdiction, this being in addition to any other remedy to which they are entitled at law or in equity. Each of the parties agrees that it will not oppose the granting of an injunction, specific performance and other equitable relief on the basis that any other party has an adequate remedy at law or that any award of specific performance is not an appropriate remedy for any reason at law or in equity. Any party seeking an injunction or injunctions to prevent

breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions of this Agreement shall not be required to post any bond or other security in connection with any such order or injunction. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall Seller or the Quincy Group be entitled to seek the remedy of specific performance of this Agreement against any Financing Source, solely in its respective capacity as a lender or arranger in connection with the Financing.

Section 11.16 Guarantee. As consideration for the benefits that Buyer and Buyer Guarantor will receive as a result of Buyer entering into this Agreement, Buyer Guarantor hereby agrees that it shall be responsible for all of the obligations of Buyer (and any Person to whom Buyer assigns any of its rights or delegates any of its obligations under this Agreement, in whole or in part) under any of the provisions of this Agreement, and Buyer Guarantor hereby guarantees to Seller the due and punctual performance and payment in full of all financial obligations of Buyer or its assignee hereunder. This guaranty by Buyer Guarantor is an absolute, unconditional, present and continuing guaranty of payment and performance (as opposed to a guaranty only of collection) and Seller may enforce its rights under this guaranty without notice of default or undertaking any proceeding or filing any cause of action against Buyer (or any Person to whom Buyer assigns any of its rights or delegates any of its obligations under this Agreement, in whole or in part). Buyer Guarantor hereby waives any and all defenses applicable to a guarantor or a surety under applicable Law in connection with its obligations under this guaranty and, without limiting the foregoing, the terms and conditions of the obligations of Buyer (or any Person to whom Buyer assign any of its rights or delegates any of its obligations under this Agreement, in whole or in part) under this Agreement may be modified, amended or supplemented without the consent or approval of Buyer Guarantor and the guaranty of Buyer Guarantor shall continue in full force and effect as so modified, amended or supplemented. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Buyer Guarantor does not waive, and shall have all defenses to the payment of its obligations hereunder that would be available to Buyer under this Agreement with respect to the obligations guaranteed by the Buyer Guarantor (other than defenses arising from bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, or moratorium on Buyer).

Section 11.17 Seller Release. Effective upon the Closing, Seller, on behalf of itself and its Affiliates (including the Quincy Group) and each of their current or former officers, directors, managers, stockholders, members, employees, agents, attorneys, heirs, executors, administrators, advisors and other successors and assigns (collectively, the "Seller Releasing Parties"), shall be deemed to have remised, released and forever discharged Buyer and its Affiliates and each of their current or former officers, directors, managers, stockholders, members, employees, agents, attorneys, heirs, assigns, executors, administrators, advisors and other successors and assigns (collectively, the "Buyer Released Parties"), of and from any and all claims that the Seller Releasing Parties, or any of them, now have, ever had, or at the Closing may have, or hereafter can, shall or may have, against the Buyer Released Parties, or any of them, for, upon or by reason of any matter, cause or thing whatsoever, from the beginning of time through the date of the Closing, arising out of or relating to the organization, management or operation of the Business, the Stations or the Purchased Assets, except to the extent (1) arising under this Agreement, any Ancillary Agreement or any Buyer Ancillary Agreement, (2) arising out of, relating to or in connection with any such claim based upon any Fraud by or on behalf of any Buyer Release Party or (3) arising in the ordinary course of business between Seller and members of the Quincy Group under Contracts listed on the Disclosure Schedules hereto. Seller, on behalf of each of the Seller Releasing Parties, hereby agree that if any Seller Releasing Party hereafter commences, joins in, or in any manner seeks relief through any suit arising out of, based upon, or relating to any claim released hereunder, or in any manner asserts against any Buyer Released Party any claim released hereunder, then such Seller Releasing Party or Seller will pay to such Buyer Released Party, in addition to all other direct or indirect Losses suffered by such Buyer Released Party as a result of such suit or claim, including all attorneys' fees incurred in defending or otherwise responding to such suit or claim.

Section 11.18 Non-Recourse Against Financing Sources; Waiver of Certain Claims. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, the parties hereto hereby agree that no Financing Source shall have any liability to Seller or the Quincy Group or any other Person relating to or arising out of this Agreement, any of the other Ancillary Agreements or the Financing (including any claim for any Losses suffered as a result of any breach of this Agreement, any of the other Ancillary Agreements or the terms of the Financing), or any document related thereto (including any willful breach thereof), or the failure of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby to be consummated), whether at law or equity, in contract or in tort or otherwise, and Seller and the Quincy Group shall not have any rights or claims whatsoever against any of the Financing Sources under this Agreement, any of the other Ancillary Agreements or in connection with the Financing, whether at law or equity, in contract or in tort, or otherwise. Seller hereby agrees, that none of the Financing Sources shall have any liability or obligations to Seller or the Quincy Group relating to this Agreement, any of the other Ancillary Agreements or any of the transactions contemplated herein or therein (including with respect to the Financing). Seller hereby waives any and all claims and causes of action (whether at law, in equity, in contract, in tort or otherwise) against the Financing Sources that may be based upon, arise out of or relate to this Agreement, any of the other Ancillary Agreements, any financing commitment or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby (including the Financing). This Section 11.18 is intended to benefit and may be enforced by the Financing Sources and shall be binding on all successors and assigns of Seller.

[Signatures on following page]

**IN WITNESS WHEREOF**, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the day and year first above written.

# **SELLER**

GRAY TELEVISION, INC.

By:

Name: Kevin P. Latek

Title: Executive Vice President

# **BUYER**

ALLEN MEDIA BROADCASTING EVANSVILLE III, LI	LC
---------------------------------------------	----

By: Byron Allen Folks
Title: Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

# **BUYER GUARANTOR**

ALLEN MEDIA HOLDINGS II, LLC

By: Byron Allen Folks

Title: Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

# Exhibit 2 WREX Carriage Agreement

#### **CARRIAGE AGREEMENT**

This carriage agreement ("Agreement") is made and entered into as of April 28, 2021 ("Effective Date"), by and between Gray Media Group, Inc. ("Gray"), and WREX Television, LLC ("Station Owner") (each, a "Party" and collectively, the "Parties").

WHEREAS, Station Owner owns television station WREX(TV) ("Station") in Rockford, IL;

WHEREAS, Gray owns television station WIFR-LD in Rockford, IL, and wishes to simulcast WIFR-LD's high-definition primary program stream ("**Program Stream**") on Station's D2 multicast channel;

WHEREAS, pursuant to that certain Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of January 31, 2021, as it may be amended from time to time ("SPA"), Gray Television, Inc. ("Gray Television") has agreed to acquire Quincy Media, Inc. ("Quincy") and its direct and indirect subsidiaries, subject to the divestiture of assets associated with certain of Quincy's stations including WREX(TV) to a third-party (the "Buyer");

WHEREAS, Gray Television, Quincy, and the Buyer will consummate the transactions set forth in the SPA and the purchase agreements relating to the associated station divestitures to the third-party on the "Closing Date";

WHEREAS, upon the Closing Date, Station will cease broadcasting CW Plus Network programming on its D2 multicast channel, and, pursuant to this Agreement, will commence simulcasting the Program Stream on its D2 multicast channel utilizing essentially the same amount of bandwidth currently utilized by the CW Plus Network programming, and such substitution will not cause Station to reduce the bandwidth currently utilized for the Station's primary channel or any of its other multicast channels; and

WHEREAS, Station Owner agrees to permit such simulcast of the Program Stream, as set forth below.

NOW, THEREFORE, the Parties, incorporating the foregoing recitals, agree as follows:

## 1. Obligations of the Parties.

(a) **Program Stream**. Commencing on the Closing Date and provided that Gray is delivering at its end-to-end cost, the Program Stream to Station in a manner that permits Station Owner to comply with its obligations under this Section 1(a), Station Owner shall transmit the 24/7 high-definition feed of the Program Stream to Station's transmitter and shall cause Station to broadcast (over the air only) the Program Stream in pattern and without any changes on Station's D2 multicast channel in the Rockford, IL DMA, as a simulcast of the Program Stream broadcast on WIFR-LD. Gray hereby grants Station Owner the rights necessary to fulfill Station Owner's obligations hereunder and, pursuant to 47 C.F.R. § 73.1207, consents to the rebroadcast contemplated herein. Station Owner will

allocate sufficient bandwidth within Station's signal to rebroadcast the Program Stream in 1080i HD format; provided, however, that Gray shall have the right to access an average bit rate of up to 8.0 megabits per second to rebroadcast such Program Stream. The Parties acknowledge that the performance of this Agreement does not violate any of the Station's or WIFR-LD's affiliation agreements in existence as of the Effective Date as applicable to such Party. If the Station's existing encoder(s), including any redundant encoder(s), is (are) not the latest-generation encoder(s) currently capable of (1) employing statistical multiplexing, (2) processing the Program Stream to at least an equal level as any of the Station's program streams, and (3) setting the target average bit rate for the Program Stream of 8.0 mbps with a minimum bit rate of 3.5 mbps and a maximum of 13.5 mbps (the "Target Settings"), Gray shall replace Station's existing encoder(s) at its expense (including purchase, installation, and related costs) with the latest-generation encoder(s) that permit(s) the Station to achieve the Target Settings ("New Encoder(s)"). In either case, the Station shall operate with the Target Settings during the Term of this Agreement. The New Encoder(s) shall be owned by Station Owner, and the Station's existing encoder(s) shall be transferred to Gray (and each party hereby agrees to execute any reasonable documentation evidencing such ownership).

- (b) Inventory/Advertising. Neither Station Owner nor Station shall have any right to use, sell, control, or otherwise exploit any commercial or promotional inventory or any other advertising in, or relating to, the Program Stream, and all such commercial and promotional inventory and other advertising shall be solely for the benefit of Gray.
- (c) Reservation of Rights/Non-exclusive. Any rights with respect to the Program Stream and the Equipment not expressly granted herein to Station Owner or Station in this Agreement are reserved entirely for Gray. The rights granted to Station Owner by Gray in this Agreement are non-exclusive. Rights granted by Station Owner to Gray under this Agreement shall be non-subleasable and, except as provided in Section 5(h), non-assignable and non-transferrable.
- Gray will cooperate to identify, install, and test all new equipment (including software updates) reasonably necessary to permit Station Owner to comply with its obligations in Section 1(a) (the "Equipment"), provided, however, that Gray shall be solely responsible for all reasonable costs to acquire, install, and test such Equipment. Except as described in Section 1(a) above with respect to the New Encoder(s), all Equipment provided by Gray will remain Gray's equipment, Station Owner will at all times maintain such equipment in good repair and condition, and Gray may remove such equipment upon the termination or expiration of this Agreement. Installation, repair, replacement, and maintenance costs related to the Equipment shall be borne by Gray, provided that Station Owner shall not incur any costs associated with Station Owner's obligation to maintain the equipment without Gray's prior consent, and provided further that Gray shall promptly reimburse Station Owner for all such costs. Gray shall

promptly provide the Buyer with a list of the Equipment and timely updates on the installation and testing of Equipment, provided that the manner of installation of the Equipment, and any access by Gray to the Station throughout the Term, shall be subject to Station Owner's reasonable consent and supervision.

- (e) **No Satellite/Cable Carriage**. Station Owner will <u>not</u> grant to any cable system, satellite system, MVPD, streaming service, or any other media platform the right to retransmit or otherwise carry the Program Stream.
- (f) Music Performance Rights. Station Owner represents that it has music performance licenses administered by ASCAP, SESAC and/or BMI for the Station, and will so throughout the term of this Agreement.
- (g) **Compliance.** Each Party shall comply with all applicable laws in connection with its respective performance under this Agreement.

#### 2. Term, Termination, and Carriage Fee.

- (a) **Term**. The term of this Agreement ("**Term**") shall commence on Closing Date and shall expire on the tenth anniversary of the Closing Date, unless earlier terminated as set forth herein. The Agreement may be renewed or extended only by written instrument signed by both parties.
- (b) **Termination by Gray**. Gray will have the right to terminate this Agreement by providing sixty (60) days advance written notice to Station Owner.
- (c) Fee. Gray will pay Station Owner the Carriage Fee as provided for in Exhibit A.
- 3. <u>Limited Preemption/Interruptions.</u> Except as set forth below in this Section 3, Station Owner will not permit any preemptions or other interruptions of the broadcast of the Program Stream on Station's D2 multicast channel:(a) FCC. Nothing in this Agreement shall limit Station Owner's rights in good faith to reject or refuse any programming that Station Owner reasonably believes violates FCC rules. Station Owner shall provide written notice to Gray (email to WIFR-LD's GM is sufficient) of any such rejection or refusal as soon as possible.
  - (b) **Emergency Alert System**. Station Owner may interrupt the Program Stream for Emergency Alert System ("EAS") messages, when and as required.

#### 4. Indemnification.

(a) Indemnification. Except for music performance rights as set forth in Section 1 above, Gray agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless Station Owner, including the Station, from and against any and all third party and/or governmental claims and/or actions arising out of the content of the Program Stream or the simulcast of the Program Stream by Station in accordance with this Agreement. This Section 4 shall survive the termination or expiration of this Agreement.

#### 5. Miscellaneous.

- (a) **Expenses**. Except as otherwise provided for in this Agreement, each of Station Owner and Gray shall be responsible for the costs and expenses relating to its respective performance under this Agreement and the operation of its respective stations.
- (b) **Notices**. All notices to any Party hereunder shall be in writing and shall be given by reputable overnight courier, on the next business day, or certified or registered mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, at the addresses set forth below or such other addresses as either Party may hereafter specify to the other Party.

#### If to Gray:

Attn: General Counsel Gray Media Group, Inc. 4370 Peachtree Rd., NE, Suite 400 Atlanta, GA 30319

#### If to Station Owner:

Attn: General Manager WREX License, LLC 10322 Auburn Road Rockford, IL 61103

- (c) Entire Agreement/Amendments. This Agreement, including the exhibits, constitutes the complete and exclusive statement of the agreement by and between the Parties with respect to the subject matter contained herein. This Agreement shall not be altered, changed, supplemented or amended, except by written instruments signed by both Parties.
- (d) Specific Performance. In addition to any other available remedies, in the event of failure or threatened failure by a Party to comply with the terms of this Agreement, the other Party may seek an injunction restraining such failure or threatened failure and, subject to obtaining any necessary FCC consent, enforcing this Agreement by a decree of specific performance requiring compliance with this Agreement.
- (e) Remedies Cumulative. All rights and remedies provided in this Agreement are cumulative and not exclusive of any other rights or remedies that may be available to the Parties, whether provided by law, equity, statute, in any other agreement between the Parties or otherwise.
- (f) Confidentiality. Subject to the requirements of applicable law, all non-public information regarding the Parties and their respective businesses and properties that is disclosed in connection with the performance of this Agreement shall be confidential and shall not be disclosed to any other person

- or entity, except on a confidential basis to the parties' representatives. This Section 5(f) shall survive any termination or expiration of this Agreement.
- (g) Governing Law. The laws of the State of Illinois, without reference to conflict of laws principles, shall govern the validity, construction and interpretation of this Agreement.
- (h) Successors and Assigns; Assignment. This Agreement is not assignable by either Party without the other Party's prior written consent. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Station Owner (including any successors, assignees or transferees of Station Owner) shall assign this Agreement in its entirety to any person or entity acquiring all (or substantially all) of the assets of WREX(TV) or equity of Station Owner, and Gray shall not be required to obtain consent from Station Owner for an assignment of this Agreement to any person or entity acquiring all (or substantially all) of the assets of WIFR-LD or equity of Gray (in each case the assigning Party will require the purchaser to assume all of the obligations hereunder after such assignment). The Parties agree that this Agreement shall be binding on all successors, assignees, and transferees.
- (i) **Relationship of Parties.** Neither Party will be deemed to be the agent, partner, or representative or joint venturer of the other Party, and neither Party is authorized to bind the other to any contract, agreement, or understanding.
- (j) Severability. If any court or governmental authority holds any provision of this Agreement invalid, illegal, or unenforceable under any applicable law, then so long as no Party is deprived of the benefits of this Agreement in any material respect, this Agreement shall be construed with the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision(s) deleted and the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions contained herein shall not be affected or impaired thereby.
- (k) Waiver. No consent or waiver, express or implied, by a Party to or of any breach or default by the other Party in the performance by such other Party of its obligations hereunder shall be deemed or construed to be a consent to or waiver of any other breach or default in the performance by such other Party of the same or any other obligation of such other Party hereunder.
- (1) Force Majeure. Neither Party shall be liable to the other Party for loss, injury, delay or damages or other casualty suffered or incurred by the other Party due to governmental regulations or directions, outbreak of a state of emergency, act of God, warlike hostilities, civil commotion, riots, terrorism, storms, fires, strikes, lockouts, and any other similar cause or causes beyond the reasonable control of the Party whose performance is affected by such cause or causes.
- (m) **Counterparts**. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts with the same effect as if the Parties executing the several counterparts had all executed one counterpart. Any counterpart may be executed by facsimile signature or PDF

or other electronic transmission and such facsimile or electronic signature shall be deemed an original.

### Accepted & Agreed:

WREX Television, LLC		Gray Media Group, Inc.
Ву:	5202 m. Odez	Ву:
Name:	Ralph M. Oakley	Name:
Γitle:	President/CEO	Title:

or other electronic transmission and such facsimile or electronic signature shall be deemed an original.

WREX Television, LLC	Gray Media Group, Inc.  By:
Ву:	By: Clim! latele
Name:	Name: Kevin P. Latek
Title:	Title: Executive Vice President

Accepted & Agreed:

## **EXHIBIT A**Carriage Fee

Gray shall pay to Station Owner \$1.00 on Closing Date and on each anniversary thereafter until such time the agreement expires or is terminated in accordance with this Agreement.

# **Exhibit 3 WMOW Satellite Waiver Decision**

# Before the Federal Communications Commission Washington, D.C. 20554

In the Matter of	)
Application of	) File No. BALCT -20090211ABY
Selenka Communications, LLC, (Assignor)	) Facility ID No. 81503
and	)
WAOW-WYOW Television, Inc, (Assignee)	)
	)
For Consent to Assign the License of Station	)
WBIJ(TV), Crandon, Wisconsin	)
	)
Request for Satellite Waiver	)

#### MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

Adopted: January 13, 2010 Released: January 14, 2010

By the Chief, Media Bureau:

#### I. INTRODUCTION

1. The Commission, by the Chief, Media Bureau, pursuant to delegated authority, has before it for consideration the above-captioned, unopposed application seeking consent to assign the license of station WBIJ(TV), channel 12 (FamilyNet), Crandon, Wisconsin ("WBIJ(TV)"), from Selenka Communications, LLC ("Selenka Communications") to WAOW-WYOW Television, Inc. ("WAOW-WYOW Television"). WAOW-WYOW Television is the licensee of WAOW(TV), channel 9 (ABC), Wausau, Wisconsin ("WAOW(TV)").¹ WBIJ(TV) and WAOW(TV) have noise-limited overlap and are located within the Wausau-Rhinelander, Wisconsin Designated Market Area ("Wausau DMA"). To permit common ownership of WBIJ(TV) and WAOW(TV), WAOW-WYOW Television proposes to operate WBIJ(TV), which is currently a full-service station, as a satellite of WAOW(TV), and requests grant of its assignment application pursuant to Note 5 of Section 73.3555 of the Commission's rules, which exempts satellite stations from the duopoly prohibition.

#### II. BACKGROUND

2. In Television Satellite Stations, the Commission adopted "a presumption that TV satellite operations are in the public interest if individual applicants can satisfy certain public interest criteria." The presumptive satellite exemption to the duopoly rule is therefore met if the following three public interest criteria are satisfied: (1) there is no City Grade overlap between the parent and the satellite; (2) the proposed satellite would provide service to an underserved area; and (3) no alternative operator is ready and able to construct or to purchase and operate the satellite as a full-service station. If an applicant does not qualify for the presumption, the Commission will evaluate the proposal on an ad hoc

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> WAOW-WYOW Television currently operates station WYOW(TV), Eagle River, Wisconsin as a satellite of WAOW(TV).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Television Satellite Stations Review of Policy and Rules, MM Docket No. 87-8, Report and Order, 6 FCC Rcd 4212, 4213 (1991) ("Television Satellite Stations") (subsequent history omitted).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> *Id.* at 4213-14.

basis and grant the application if there are compelling circumstances that warrant approval.<sup>4</sup>

#### III. DISCUSSION

- 3. As to the first criterion, WAOW-WYOW Television submits an engineering study, which demonstrates that there was no analog City Grade contour overlap between WBIJ(TV) and WAOW(TV). However, the digital transition has occurred and analog City Grade contours no longer exist. Instead, full-power television stations have Principle Community contours that serve much larger areas than their former analog City Grade contours. As a result, the digital Principle Community contour is not an equivalent standard to use in determining whether a proposed satellite station qualifies for the presumptive satellite exemption to the duopoly rule.
- 4. With respect to the second criterion, WAOW-WYOW Television demonstrates, using the Commission's transmission test, that the respective area is underserved. The "transmission" test deems an area underserved if there are two or fewer full-service television stations licensed to a proposed satellite's community of license. WBIJ(TV) is the only full-power television station licensed to Crandon, Wisconsin.
- 5. Regarding the third criterion, an applicant must show that there is no alternative operator ready and able to construct, or to purchase and operate, the proposed satellite as a full-service station. In support of its satellite waiver request, WAOW-WYOW Television submits a declaration from Brian N. Byrnes, the President of Paramount Media Advisors, Inc. ("Paramount"), a media brokerage company, which demonstrates that there are no alternative operators ready and able to purchase and operate the proposed satellite as a full-service station. In this regard, Byrnes states that Selenka Communications retained Paramount in November 2006, and Paramount marketed WBIJ(TV) to approximately 25 buyers. Despite Paramount's marketing efforts, Byrnes explains that only one prospective buyer, an out-of-market broadcaster, expressed interest in purchasing WBIJ(TV). Following the site inspection of WBIJ(TV), however, Byrnes states that the potential buyer informed Paramount that "in their judgment the additional costs involved in making WBIJ(TV) a viable part of the Wausau-Rhinelander, Wisconsin market as a stand-alone station would not result in a successful investment."
- 6. Furthermore, in Byrnes opinion, Paramount could not market WBIJ(TV) to an out-of-market buyer for three reasons. First, Byrnes opines that "buyers usually look for revenue ranking to match or exceed the television home's size ranking," and that in this case the Wausau DMA is ranked 134<sup>th</sup> in size, yet is ranked 141<sup>st</sup> in television revenue. Next, he asserts that all five of the major broadcast networks already have current affiliations in the Wausau DMA. Finally, Byrnes explains that WBIJ(TV) requires a considerable investment to implement its digital television facility. Based on the information presented, we are satisfied that WAOW-WYOW television has demonstrated the unfeasibility of finding an out-of-market purchaser willing to operate the station on a stand-alone basis.
- 7. While the instant request does not satisfy the Commission's presumptive satellite standard, this proposal can be evaluated under an *ad hoc* analysis taking into account other compelling circumstances. As explained by the applicants, Mr. Dennis Selenka, the sole member and manager of Selenka Communications, suffered a debilitating stroke in July of 2008 and subsequently passed away on September 20, 2008. On February 10, 2009, the Commission granted an application for involuntary transfer of control of Selenka Communications to Joanne L. Selenka, personal representative of Mr.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> *Id.* at 4212.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Id. at 4215.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Supra  $\P$  3.

Selenka's estate and widow of Mr. Selenka.<sup>8</sup> Prior to his death, Mr. Selenka sought to sell the station, and since his death, his widow does not wish to continue to operate the station. WBIJ(TV) is currently silent and Selenka Communications does not have the funds necessary to complete construction of the station's DTV facilities.<sup>9</sup> The assignment of WBIJ(TV), Crandon, Wisconsin to WAOW-WYOW Television is Crandon's only hope to restore local service, as Selenka Communications currently has neither the funds nor interest to continue to operate the station.

#### IV. CONCLUSION

- 8. Based on our review of the information submitted, including the circumstances surrounding the death of Mr. Dennis Selenka and Selenka Communications' current financial inability to construct WBIJ(TV)'s DTV facilities, we find that the WAOW-WYOW Television has set forth information sufficient to warrant satellite operation for WBIJ(TV) under our *ad hoc* analysis. We, therefore, find that the operation of WBIJ(TV) as a satellite of WAOW(TV) would be in the public interest. In view of the foregoing, and having determined that the applicants are qualified in all respects, we find that a grant of the application to assign the license for station WBIJ(TV) from Selenka Communications, LLC to WAOW-WYOW Television, Inc. will serve the public interest, convenience, and necessity.
- 9. ACCORDINGLY, IT IS ORDERED, That the request of WAOW-WYOW Television, Inc. to operate station WBIJ(TV), Crandon, Wisconsin, pursuant to the satellite exemption to the duopoly rule, Section 73.3555, Note 5, of the Commission's rules, IS GRANTED.
- 10. FURTHERMORE, IT IS ORDERED, That the above-captioned application to assign the license of station WBIJ(TV), Crandon, Wisconsin, from Selenka Communications, LLC to WAOW-WYOW Television, Inc., File No. BALCT-20090211ABY, IS GRANTED.

FEDERAL COMMUNICATIONS COMMISSION

William T. Lake Chief, Media Bureau

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> File No. BTCCT-20081022AAC.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> File No. BLSTA-20090616ABH, Exhibit 1.

# **Exhibit 4 WQOW Satellite Waiver Decision**

## Federal Communications Commission Washington, D.C. 20554

APR 1 7 2001

SMH-1800E3

Kenneth Satten, Esq. Wilkinson Barker Knauer, LLP 2300 N Street, NW Suite 700 Washington, DC 20037-1128

Re: WAOW-TV, Wausau, Wisconsin
WYOW(TV), Eagle River, Wisconsin
WQOW-TV, Eau Claire, Wisconsin
WXOW-TV, La Crosse, Wisconsin
Applications for Assignment of License
Request for Continued Satellite Exemption

Shockley Communications Acquisition, LLC File Nos. BALCT-20010123ABK-ABN

Quincy Newspapers, Inc.
File Nos. BALCT-20010129ACK-CAN

#### Dear Counsel:

This is in reference to the above-captioned applications for assignment of license from Shockley Communications Corp. ("Shockley") to Shockley Communications Acquisition, LLC ("Shockley LLC") and from Shockley LLC to Quincy Newspapers, Inc. ("Quincy"). The stations will first be assigned from Shockley Communications Corp. to Shockley LLC and then immediately assigned from Shockley LLC to Quincy. As part of this transaction, Shockley and Quincy request continuing satellite authority for WQOW-TV, Eau Claire, Wisconsin, which operates as a satellite of WXOW-TV, LaCrosse, Wisconsin and WYOW(TV), Eagle River, Wisconsin, which operates as a satellite of WAOW-TV, Wausau, Wisconsin. See 47 C.F.R. § 73.3555, Note 5. Stations WQOW-TV and WXOW-TV are within the La Crosse-Eau Claire, Wisconsin DMA and stations WYOW(TV) and WAOW-TV are located in the Wausau-Rhinelander, Wisconsin DMA.

The above-captioned applications are involved in a three-part transaction. In Part I, Shockley, the licensee of six television and six radio stations (including the four television stations referenced above) seeks to assign all twelve stations to Shockley LLC. The eight remaining stations to be assigned to Shockley LLC include: WKOW-TV, Madison, WI (File No. BALCT-20010123ABJ); KXLT-TV, Rochester, MN (File No. BALCT-20010123ABO); KDAL(AM), Duluth, MN (File No. BAL-20010123ABP); KDAL-FM, Duluth, MN (File No. BALH-20010123ABQ); KTCO(FM), Duluth, MN (File No. BALH-20010123ABR); KRBR-FM, Superior, WI (File No. BALH-20010123ABS); KXTP(AM), Superior, WI (File No. BAL-20010123ABU). In Part II, Shockley LLC seeks to assign five of the six television stations, including the four above-captioned stations and station WKOW-TV, Madison, Wisconsin (File No. BALCT-20010129ACJ) to Quincy Newspapers, Inc. In Part III, Shockley LLC seeks to assign the remaining television station, KXLT-TV, Rochester, New York (File No. BALCT-20010123ABO), to Shockley Broadcasting, LLC. Shockley LLC will remain as the licensee of the six radio stations.

In Television Satellite Stations, 6 FCC Rcd 4212, 4215 (1991) (subsequent citations omitted), the Commission established the requirement that all applicants seeking to transfer or assign satellite stations justify continued satellite status by demonstrating compliance with a three-part "presumptive" satellite exemption standard applicable to new satellite stations. The presumptive satellite exemption is met if the following three public interest criteria are satisfied: (1) there is no City Grade overlap between the parent and the satellite; (2) the proposed satellite would provide service to an underserved area; and (3) no alternative operator is ready and able to construct or to purchase and operate the satellite as a full-service station. Id. at 4213-14. If an applicant does not qualify for the presumption, the Commission will evaluate the proposal on an ad hoc basis, and grant the application if there are compelling circumstances that warrant approval. Id. at 4212.

As to the first criterion, the applicants have submitted an engineering study, which demonstrates that there is no City Grade contour overlap between WQOW-TV and WXOW-TV or between WYOW(TV) and WAOW-TV. Thus, the proposed satellite operations meet the first component of the presumption. With respect to the second criterion, applicants can use two different tests to demonstrate that an area is underserved. Under the "transmission test" a proposed satellite community of license is considered undeserved if there are two or fewer television stations already licensed to it. Television Satellite Stations, 6 FCC Rcd at 4215. The applicants assert that WYOW(TV) is the only full service station licensed to Eagle River. Furthermore, the applicants state that WQOW-TV is one of only two full-service television stations licensed to Eau Claire. Accordingly, Eagle River and Eau Claire qualify as underserved areas.

Regarding the third criterion, an applicant must show that no alternative operator is ready and able to construct, or to purchase and operate, the proposed satellite as a full-service station. 6 FCC Rcd at 4215. Initially, we note that the applicants do not base their satisfaction of the third criteria on efforts to sell stations WYOW(TV) and WQOW-TV. In support of the waiver request, the applicants submit a letter from Mr. Richard L. Beesemyer, Vice President of Kalil & Co., Inc., a media brokerage firm dealing in television, radio and cable properties. Mr. Bessemyer has served as Vice President of Kalil & Co. for 15 years. In addition, he has over 50 years of experience in the broadcast industry. Based on his experience in the broadcast industry and, more particularly, the media brokerage business, as well as his familiarity with the Wausau/Rhinelander and La Cross-Eau Claire DMAs, Mr. Beesemyer states that neither WYOW(TV) nor WQOW-TV could successfully operate as a stand-alone facility.

Based on our review of the materials submitted, we find that the applicants have set forth information sufficient to warrant continued satellite operation for WQOW-TV and WYOW(TV) under our ad hoc analysis. Station WQOW-TV has been a satellite of station WXOW-TV for 20 years, and the Commission last approved its continued operation as a satellite in 1995. See Tak Communications, Inc., 10 FCC Rcd 2564 (1995). Station WYOW(TV) was granted authority to operate as a satellite of station WAOW-TV in 1998. See Northwoods Educational Television Association, 13 FCC Rcd 24138 (MMB 1998). In making these determinations, the Commission relied, in part, on statements from Mr. Beesemyer, demonstrating that it would not be feasible to find a purchaser willing to operate the stations on a stand alone basis due to their small viewer and advertising bases. The applicants have submitted further evidence demonstrating the unfeasibility of finding a purchaser willing to operate these stations on a stand alone basis. We, therefore, find that

#### REDACTED FOR PUBLIC INSPECTION

the continued operation of WQOW-TV as a satellite of WXOW-TV and WYOW(TV) as a satellite of WAOW-TV would be in the public interest. In view of the foregoing, and having determined that the applicants are qualified in all respects we find that a grant of the above-referenced applications would serve the public interest, convertience and necessity.

ACCORDINGLY, the requests of the applicants for the continued operation of WQOW-TV, Eau Claire, Wisconsin and WYOW(TV), Factor, Wisconsin, pursuant to the satellite exception to the duopoly rule, Section 73.35% of the Commission's rules, ARE GRANTED. FURTHERMORE, the above-referenced applications for consent to assign the licenses for the above-referenced stations ARE GRANTED.

Sincerely,

Barbara A. Kreisman

Chief, Video Services Division

Mass Media Bureau

Please see Comprehensive Exhibit for Other Broadcast Licenses

LMS 2100, Schedule 314 Parties to the Application Exhibit

Please see Comprehensive Exhibit for Parties to the Application

### AGREEMENTS FOR SALE OF STATIONS

Please refer to the assignee's comprehensive exhibit.

\* \* \* \* \*

### OTHER AUTHORIZATIONS

Please refer to the assignee's comprehensive exhibit.

\* \* \* \* \*

LMS 2100, Schedule 314 Transaction Documents Exhibit

Please see Comprehensive Exhibit for Transaction Documents

LMS 2100, Schedule 314 WMOW Satellite Waiver Exhibit

Please see Comprehensive Exhibit for WMOW Satellite Waiver Request